
 

 

 

 

Location: 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
1105 Terminal Way, 1st Floor Great Room, Reno, NV 
Date/Time: 10:00 A.M. Friday, July 19, 2024 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

I. The Regional Transportation Commission Great Room is accessible to individuals with disabilities. Requests for 
auxiliary aids to assist individuals with disabilities should be made with as much advance notice as possible. For 
those requiring hearing or speech assistance, contact Relay Nevada at 1-800-326-6868 (TTY, VCO or HCO). 
Requests for supporting documents and all other requests should be directed to Michelle Kraus at 775-348-0400 
and you will receive a response within five business days. Supporting documents may also be found on the RTC 
website: www.rtcwashoe.com. 

II. This meeting will be televised live and replayed on RTC’s YouTube channel at: bit/ly/RTCWashoeYouTube 
III. Members of the public in attendance at the meeting may provide public comment (limited to three minutes) after 

filling out a request to speak form at the meeting. Members of the public that would like to provide presentation aids 
must bring eight (8) hard copies to be distributed to the Board members at the meeting. Alternatively, presentation 
aids may be emailed, in PDF format only, to mkraus@rtcwashoe.com prior to 4:00 p.m. on the day preceding the 
meeting to be distributed to the Board members in advance of the meeting. Members of the public may also provide 
public comment by one of the following methods: (1) emailing comments to: rtcpubliccomments@rtcwashoe.com; 
or (2) leaving a voicemail (limited to three minutes) at (775) 335-0018. Comments received prior to 4:00 p.m. on the 
day preceding the meeting will be entered into the record. 

IV. The Commission may combine two or more agenda items for consideration and/or may remove an item from the 
agenda or delay discussion relating to an item on the agenda at any time. 

V. The supporting materials for the meeting will be available at https://rtcwashoe.com/news/board-meeting-notes/. In 
addition, a member of the public may request supporting materials electronically from Michelle Kraus at the 
following email address: mkraus@rtcwashoe.com. 

1. Call to Order: 
1.1. Roll Call 
1.2. Pledge of Allegiance 

2. Public Comment: Public comment taken under this item may pertain to matters both on and 
off the agenda. The Chair may take public comment on a particular item on the agenda at the 
time it is discussed. Comments are to be made to the Board as a whole and not to individual 
commissioners. 

3. Approval of Agenda (For Possible Action) 

4. Consent Items (For Possible Action): 
4.1. Minutes 

4.1.1 Approve the meeting minutes for the 06/21/2024 RTC Board meeting. (For 
Possible Action) 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPr-AJ62P9b3ejt74A3UBcg
mailto:mkraus@rtcwashoe.com
mailto:rtcpubliccomments@rtcwashoe.com
https://rtcwashoe.com/news/board-meeting-notes/
mailto:mkraus@rtcwashoe.com


 
 

4.2. Reports 
4.2.1 Acknowledge Receipt of the monthly Procurement Activity Report. (For Possible 

Action) 
4.2.2 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Planning Activity Report. (For Possible 

Action) 
4.2.3 Acknowledge receipt of the Summary Report for the Technical, Citizens 

Multimodal, and Regional Road Impact Fee Advisory Committees. (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.4 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Engineering Activity Report. (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.5 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Public Transportation and Operations Activity 
Report. (For Possible Action) 

4.2.6 Acknowledge receipt of monthly Community and Media Outreach Activities 
Report. (For Possible Action) 

4.3. Engineering Department 
4.3.1 Authorize staff to pursue efforts to deliver the Sierra Street Bridge Replacement 

Project using the Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) project delivery method, 
on a parallel path with planned and ongoing efforts to use the Design-Bid-Build 
project delivery method. (For Possible Action) 

4.3.2 Approve an Interlocal Cooperative Agreement with the University of Nevada, 
Reno for research and engineering support activities from the Pavement 
Engineering and Science (PES) program in the amount of $250,000. (For 
Possible Action) 

4.3.3 Approve an administrative settlement in the amount of $92,118 authorizing RTC 
to acquire certain property interests related to APN: 013-084-01 from Jentz Family 
Trust for the Mill Street Capacity and Safety Project. (For Possible Action) 

4.3.4 Adopt a resolution declaring an intention to sell property (APN 004-082-18; APN 
004-061-29; APN 004-061-20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-
033-02) to the City of Reno. (For Possible Action) 

4.4. Public Transportation/Operations Department 
4.4.1 Approve Amendment #1 to the contract with Spare Labs, Inc., (Order Form #SL-

5055) for the Spare Platform software and services that RTC uses to manage its 
FlexRIDE service, to integrate additional modules (Spare Engage, Spare 
Dispatch, and Optimization Pro) and extend the contract term through July 31, 
2027. (For Possible Action) 

4.4.2 Approve a contract with Token Transit, Inc., to upgrade the mobile fare collection 
hardware and software across all services, in an amount not-to-exceed $429,500. 
(For Possible Action) 

5. Public Hearing: 
5.1. Conduct a public hearing regarding approval of Amendment No. 3 to the 2050 Regional 

Transportation Plan (RTP); adopt a resolution approving Amendment No. 3 to the 2050 
Regional Transportation Plan (RTP). (For Possible Action) 

a. Staff Presentation 
b. Public Hearing 
c. Action 



6. Discussion Items and Presentations:
6.1. Discuss and provide potential direction to staff regarding any legislative measures to 

be considered by the 83rd Session of the Nevada Legislature (2025). (Discussion 
Only) 

6.2. Approve a Construction Manager-at-Risk (CMAR) contract with Granite Construction 
Company for the construction of the Arlington Avenue Bridges Project for a 
Guaranteed Maximum Price of $32,340,102. (For Possible Action) 

6.3. Acknowledge receipt of a presentation on the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented 
Development (TOD) Plan. (For Possible Action) 

6.4. Acknowledge receipt of the RTC Strategic Roadmap for FY 2025-2027 and provide 
input and direction regarding next steps. (For Possible Action) 

6.5. Approve the RTC Goals for Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 (July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025). (For 
Possible Action) 

7. Reports (Information Only):
7.1. Monthly verbal update/messages from RTC Executive Director Bill Thomas - no action 

taken. 
7.2. Monthly verbal update/messages from Paul Nelson, RTC Government Affairs Officer on 

federal matters related to the RTC - no action will be taken. 
7.3. Monthly verbal update/messages from NDOT Director Tracy Larkin Thomason or 

designated NDOT Deputy Director - no action will be taken. 

8. Commissioner Announcements and Updates: Announcements and updates to include 
requests for information or topics for future agendas. No deliberation or action will take place on 
this item.

9. Public Comment: Public comment taken under this item may pertain to matters both on and 
off the agenda. The Chair may take public comment on a particular item on the agenda at the 
time it is discussed. Comments are to be made to the Board as a whole and not to individual 
commissioners.

10. Adjournment (For Possible Action)

Posting locations: RTC, 1105 Terminal Way, Reno, NV, RTC website: www.rtcwashoe.com, State website: https://notice.nv.gov/ 

https://notice.nv.gov/


  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.1.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Michelle Kraus, Clerk of the Board

  SUBJECT: Draft Meeting Minutes for 06/21/2024 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve the meeting minutes for the 06/21/2024 RTC Board meeting. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See attached for Background and Discussion 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this item. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



 

  
    

 

 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA 

FRIDAY 8:00 A.M. June 21, 2024 

PRESENT: 
Alexis Hill, Vice Chair, Washoe County Commissioner (Via Zoom) 

Mariluz Garcia, Washoe County Commissioner (Via Zoom) 
Kristopher Dahir, City of Sparks Alternate (Via Zoom) 

Dale Keller, RTC Deputy Executive Director 
Adam Spear, Legal Counsel 

Tracy Larkin Thomason, Director of NDOT (Via Zoom) 

ABSENT: 
Ed Lawson, Mayor of Sparks 

Devon Reese, Reno City Council 
Hillary Schieve, Mayor of Reno 

Bill Thomas, RTC Executive Director 

The regular monthly meeting, held in the 1st Floor Great Room at Regional Transportation 
Commission of Washoe County, Reno, Nevada, was called to order by Vice Chair Hill. The Board 
conducted the following business: 

Item 1 CALL TO ORDER 

1.1 Roll Call 
1.2 Pledge of Allegiance 

Item 2 PUBLIC INPUT 

Vice Chair Hill opened the meeting to public input and called on anyone wishing to speak on topics 
relevant to the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) that are not included in the current agenda. 
There being no one wishing to speak, Vice Chair Hill moved to Approval of the Agenda. 

Item 3 APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

On motion of Commissioner Garcia to approve agenda, seconded by Commissioner Dahir, which 
motion unanimously carried, Vice Chair Hill ordered that the agenda for this meeting be approved. 

Items 4 CONSENT ITEMS 

4.1 Minutes 
4.1.1 Approve the meeting minutes for the 05/17/2024 RTC Board meeting. 

(For Possible Action) 
4.1.2 Approve the meeting minutes for the 05/23/2024 RTC Specia Board meeting. 

(For Possible Action) 

June 21, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 1 



 

  

 

 

  

 

  
     

  
 

  

  
 

 

  
  

 

 
 

   

4.2. Reports 
4.2.1 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Procurement Activity Report. (For Possible 

Action) 
4.2.2 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Planning Activity Report. (For Possible Action) 
4.2.3 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly summary report for the Technical, Citizens 

Multimodal, and Regional Road Impact Fee Advisory Committees. (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.4 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Engineering Activity Report. (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.5 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Public Transportation and Operations Activity 
Report. (For Possible Action) 

4.2.6 Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Outreach Report from the Communications staff. 
(For Possible Action) 

4.3 Planning Department 
4.3.1 Approve Cooperative Agreement No. PR284-24-802 between the Nevada Department 

of Transportation (NDOT) and the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) for 
fiscal year (FY) 2025 federal planning funds. (For Possible Action) 

4.4 Engineering Department 
4.4.1 Approve an administrative settlement in the amount of $109,336 authorizing RTC to 

acquire certain property interests related to APN 013-084-02 from Galantuomini Family 
Holdings, LLC, for the Mill Street Capacity and Safety Project. (For Possible Action) 

4.4.2 Approve an administrative settlement in the amount of $123,631 authorizing RTC to 
acquire certain property interests related to APN 012-201-21 and APN 012-201-22 from 
Vaughn, Rory R., for the Mill Street Capacity and Safety Project. (For Possible Action) 

4.4.3 Approve a contract with J-U-B Engineers, Inc., to perform a feasibility study, 
conceptual alternatives analysis, and environmental studies for the Geiger Grade 
Realignment Project, in an amount not-to-exceed $1,373,975. (For Possible Action) 

4.4.4 Approve a Regional Road Impact Fee (RRIF) Offset Agreement between RTC, 
Lemmon Drive Villas Property LLC, and the City of Reno for offset-eligible 
improvements to be made to the intersection of Lemmon Drive, Vista Knolls Parkway, 
and Sunset View Drive. (For Possible Action) 

4.4.5 Approve a Regional Road Impact Fee (RRIF) Offset Agreement between RTC, 
Lemmon Drive Villas Property LLC, and Washoe County for offset-eligible 
improvements to be made to the intersection of Lemmon Drive, Vista Knolls Parkway, 
and Sunset View Drive. (For Possible Action) 

4.5 Public Transportation/Operations Department 
4.5.1 Approve a contract with Qual-Econ U.S.A. LLC., for janitorial and porter services for 

the RTC facilities, for a total not-to-exceed amount of $3,162,190.12 beginning FY25 
for four years. (For Possible Action) 

4.6 Executive, Administrative and Finance Departments 
4.6.1 Authorize the Executive Director to bind annual insurance coverage effective July 1, 

2024, for automobile liability, general liability, public officials’ errors and omissions 
(E&O), property, earthquake/flood, crime, cyber, pollution liability, social engineering, 
fiduciary liability, employment practices liability, and workers’ compensation; and 
approve the RTC’s continued membership in in the Nevada Public Agency Insurance 
Pool (POOL) and Public Agency Compensation Trust (PACT). (For Possible Action) 

June 21, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 2 

https://3,162,190.12


 

 
 

  
  

   

 

  
  

    

     
  

 

  

  
  

 

   

 
   

 
  

  
  

On motion of Commissioner Dahir to approve agenda, seconded by Commissioner Garcia, which 
motion unanimously carried, Vice Chair Hill ordered that the consent items for this meeting be 
approved. 

Item 5 PUBLIC HEARING 

5.1 Conduct a public hearing regarding approval of Amendment No. 3 to the FFY 2023-2027 
Regional Transportation Improvement Program (RTIP); adopt a resolution approving 
Amendment No. 3 to the FFY 2023-2027 Regional Transportation Improvement Program 
(RTIP). (For Possible Action) 

a. Staff Presentation 
b. Public Hearing 
c. Action 

Graham Dollarhide, RTC Planning Manager, made a presentation and spoke on this item. 

The RTIP is a federally required program of projects document. It advances the goals from the long-
range Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and prioritizes projects and advances them forward into the 
shorter-range program of projects prior to the implementation phase. The programed amounts do not 
need to be amended retroactively to match actual expenditures to the document itself, however, as 
projects evolve, any significant changes to things like scope, budget limits, things like that will need to 
be reflected in this document. 

There are five projects included in this proposed amendment. The first one is Tahoe Pyramid Trail East 
feasibility study. This is a new project to the RTIP and is being used to identify the feasibility of filling 
in some of the gaps in the trail and creating connections between Sparks and the Tri Center with a bit 
of a spur, so to speak, between Wadsworth and Fernley. This project was awarded through NDOT's 
Transportation Alternatives Program and is proposed to be included in this amendment so that the 
project can move forward with that study. 

The South Meadows Connector Alignment Study Project is another new project to the RTIP. This is a 
very preliminary phase of a proposed project. It is an alignment study looking at the preferred 
alternatives and the feasibility of extending South Meadows Parkway from its current terminus just 
east of Veterans Parkway and carrying through to connect to USA Parkway. Again, very preliminary. 
This would determine the feasibility of moving to next steps, including environmental and NEPA 
design and then eventually construction. 

The I-580 Bowers to Mount Rose Highway Preservation Project is an existing project in the RTIP. It is 
being amended to increase the funding, add federal funds to the funding mix, and to move back the 
construction date. 

The SR659 North McCarran Intersection Improvements Project is also being amended. This project 
would decrease the total project cost and change the project limits. This project will add safety 
improvements to the area of North McCarran and Keystone. 

The I-80 East final design project is being amended to fund the design phase only of the capacity 
project between Vista Boulevard and USA Parkway. The construction phase is not yet included, 
however, the RTC is working with NDOT to amend the RTP to change the model year. There will be a 
hearing on that potentially next month, so more details to come on that project. 

June 21, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 3 



 

  
    

  

 
  

  

  
  

   
 

  
 

  
   

   
 
  

  

 
   

  
  

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

This proposed action does require RTC Board Approval, as well as State and NDOT approval, and 
Federal approvals. We had a public comment period from May 29th to June 18th that was advertised 
through RTC typical channels, including a Spanish language newspaper and the RTC website. It was 
also reviewed by CMAC and TAC, and today's meeting includes a public hearing of this item. 

A letter was received from Northern Nevada Public Health Air Quality Management Division, which 
is included in your packets and makes comments specifically on the I-80 project. The bottom line is 
that the letter is not in opposition to this action item. A presentation on transportation issues related to 
the Tri Center will be included in item 6.1. 

Public comment was received from Michael Gawthrop-Hutchins on June 20, 2024, at 8:20am, as 
follows: I would like to provide public comment on agenda item 5.1. In particular, the amendment 
related to the widening of I-80 between Vista to USA Parkway. While I can definitely appreciate the 
concerns of traffic delays and congestion on I-80, widening I-80 is not the best way to address those 
concerns at this time. While I personally would advocate for transit-based solutions, I must 
begrudgingly concede Councilwoman Duerr's point that we are still a very car dependent community 
and that isn't going to be a problem that I solved overnight, we are going to need car-based solutions 
for the near-term future. With that in mind, there are really two problems plaguing I-80 between Vista 
and USA Parkway. One of those problems is indeed the volume of traffic relative to the capacity of the 
road, which adding an additional lane would, at least temporarily, alleviate (I say temporarily because 
we need to remember that induced demand is a very well documented phenomenon). The second 
problem is reliability. Far too often there are extended delays due to crashes completely closing the 
freeway. Adding another lane will do little to alleviate this problem. The only solution for this is to 
offer viable alternative routes (such as the ones discussed in Agenda Item 6.1). Offering alternative 
routes would also allow a significant portion of the people currently driving along that section of 
roadway to use the alternative route, addressing the capacity concern by reducing the demand on that 
particular roadway (though, I will note, doing nothing to reduce overall demand for our road network, 
which is what the long term goal should be). Given that only the construction of an alternate route, as 
described in Agenda Item 6.1 will address both of the greatest concerns for the I-80 corridor between 
Vista and USA Parkway, it seems most prudent to postpone the widening of I-80 and to instead put 
additional resources into being able to complete one (or more) of those alternative routes sooner. 

Vice Chair Hill asked how comments received from the CMAC, TAC and Health District were 
incorporated for the concerns and recommendations like carpool lanes and studies like this? 

Graham Dollarhide, there are several recommendations in the letter from the Air Quality Management 
Division. The RTC is already enacting a lot of those recommendations, as there are employer shuttles 
and RTC Vanpools that go out there. We'll be looking to undertake a feasibility study of passenger rail 
in the coming months. 

Dale Keller, Deputy Executive Director, I believe they looked into different solutions on I-80 East 
through NDOT study. Director Larkin Thomason can probably speak further about that. 

Vice Chair Hill That's helpful. Thank you for putting that on the record so community members can 
understand why we're looking at alternatives, including the trail connectivity out to TRIC, which is 
exciting. 

Being no public comment, on motion of Commissioner Garcia to accept the report, seconded by 
Commissioner Dahir, which motion unanimously carried, Vice Chair Hill ordered that Item 5.1 is 
approved. 

June 21, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 4 



 

   

 
  

  
 

  

 
  

   
 

   
  

  

  
   

 
   

 
 

 

  
  

 
  

   
  

  
   

Item 6 DICUSSION ITEMS AND PRESENTATIONS 

6.1 Discuss transportation issues and needs in relation to the Tahoe-Reno Industrial Center as 
requested by Chair Lawson and provide input and direction to the Executive Director. (For 
Possible Action) 

Dale Keller, Deputy Executive Director for the record. One of RTC’s FY24 goals is to lead a 
multi-county effort to define transportation future related to Washoe County and the Tahoe Reno 
Industrial Center (Tri Center) in Fernley. With this goal in mind, RTC staff have been working 
with various public agencies as well as private stakeholders to better understand and address some 
of the unique regional challenges that is presented. Today's presentation will discuss those 
transportation challenges and needs related to the Tri Center, and we'll jump right into it. 

The area between Reno-Sparks and Fernley is rapidly developing, the most significant 
development, the Tri Center encompasses approximately 160 miles. This area is larger than the 
entire Reno-Sparks proper city limits. Tri Center is one of the largest industrial developments in 
the World. Tri Center has sold out its roughly 30,000 developable acres and is slated to 
accommodate roughly 300,000,000 square feet of building space. Major companies with land 
ownership in the Tri Centers include Tesla, Google, Blockchain, and Switch. Tri Center has 
created over 15,000 jobs and is estimated to produce roughly 35,000 to 50,000 jobs by 2040. All 
that job growth results in about 40,000 average annual daily trips by 2050. Interstate 80 is the 
primary access to and from the Tri Center, and with this increase of traffic, it will push the existing 
I-80 beyond its current capacity. Current high traffic volumes and incidences of weather, crashes 
and vehicle breakdowns cause delays lasting for hours. 

For the existing transportation challenges, safety is the highest concern. The Safety Division 
collected and evaluated crash data for the corridor, and crashes have nearly doubled in the last 
three years compared to the two previous three-year periods. As for congestion, RTC's regional 
traffic travel demand model predicts major traffic growth in the corridor, with a roughly 30% 
increase by 2050. The freight movement is significant, and roughly about 20% of the vehicles on I-
80 are trucks. It's interesting to note that I-80 is the second longest Interstate highway in the nation. 
With the unreliability and instability, and with those adverse impacts we talked about from safety 
and congestion, it really hinders some of that significant freight corridor between California and 
Utah. This transportation bottleneck is limiting the economic growth of our region. 

NDOT performed the I-80 Corridor Study, which was a comprehensive evaluation of studies and 
ideas for feasibility and to establish a performance-based priority option. The study concluded that 
widening I-80 east between Vista Boulevard and USA Park was the most feasible option. Other 
alternatives were also considered in this report and are currently being explored. We talked about 
alternative modes of transportation being RTC Vanpool Park and Rides and commuter rail. There 
are roadway alternatives being considered besides the widening of I-80, which is the South Moses 
Parkway extension, as well as the La Posada Drive connection. 

Currently the RTC Vanpool sees roughly 1800 passengers a day utilizing roughly 257 vans on the 
private side. My Ride to Work sees roughly 2000 passengers a day. In addition, RTC is working 
with private industry and exploring a commuter rail transport service, so funding for this commuter 
rail study is included in our FY25 budget. Staff are currently finalizing that request for 
qualifications to have a firm support that study. 

June 21, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 5 



 

 
  

  
 

  

   
  

   

 
  

  
 

   
 

 
   

 

 
  

     
 

    
 

 
  

  
  

NDOT is leading the I-80 East Widening project, where the project proposes to widen I-80 from 
two lanes to three lanes in each direction for 13 miles. The project would also improve safety and 
interchange operations. In 2023, NDOT initiated the environmental clearance or environmental 
study process, and they anticipate a finding of no significant impact by early 2025. This project 
cost is roughly over $500 million. I do want to applaud NDOT for being aggressive in pursuing 
different USDOT mega grant opportunities, and we hope to hear some good news later this fall. 

NDOT is also evaluating a new alignment that would provide a connection from South Meadows 
Parkway to USA Parkway in Southeast Reno, otherwise known as the South Road. This alternative 
would mostly go through privately owned property. The alignment would provide an alternate 
route for commuters traveling from South Reno to the Tri Center, as well as reducing the number 
of vehicles on I-80. Having a secondary route to Tri Centers would significantly benefit should I-
80 be closed, or if there's an incident that does occur on the roadway. 

Another solution being considered would be a new alignment from the La Posada Drive in Sparks 
to the Tri Center, otherwise known as that North Road. This would provide an alternate route for 
commuters traveling from the Sparks and Spanish Springs area. 

Commissioner Dahir, thank you for that presentation. I think by 2050, we're going to need all of 
this and it's exciting actually. I would like to see us be able to direct staff to proceed with the 
process of acquiring the roadway easement for permit from BLM for the connection of La Posada 
and USA Parkway, because that easement would make such a difference. I want to add that on my 
Health District Board side, we're also dealing with air pollution and that as cars sit there, we're 
already very close to nonattainment. Making sure our cars are moving will also affect our 
economic development pretty quickly. 

Tracy Larkin Thompson, NDOT Director, I wanted to add a couple of comments. Obviously, this 
is under our jurisdiction, and there's a lot of things that we've been putting into it. We have been 
very aggressive both on our own and working with RTC to go after grants and mega grants to help 
this project move forward. The project is expected to be between $500 and $600 million at this 
time, and we will be looking at dividing it into three projects. There are significant canyons, so 
there would be structures. We’re looking at the potential of using some private land that could 
reduce some of the cost. The alignment study still needs the environmental part, but after the 
environmental part is done, then we need to put a fiscal note on it and there is no funding for that. 
We certainly support the efforts that have been made by RTC and the City of Sparks. 

Again, I thank RTC for their partnership and also for kind of putting this in front of all of us as we 
look regionally at how we can actually promote interconnectivity and get a more robust network in 
the area. 

Commissioner Garcia, I really appreciate the multi-county effort and thinking of it in that way. I 
agree that we're going to need all possible solutions on deck, and the investment is going to be 
significant. I think a lot of our constituents would really be interested to learn more about the 
commuter rail study or being able to utilize that option. I'm on the NDOT Nevada State Rail Plan 
online and there's already existing infrastructure there. Have we ever done a commuter rail study 
going out this direction? If so, what were the findings and what is the process moving forward? I 
know that with 80% coming from Reno-Sparks, this could truly be a viable option for a lot of 
folks. 

June 21, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 6 



 

 
 

 
  

 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

   
 

     
  

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

Jim Gee, RTC Director of Public Transit. We did a commuter rail study about 6 or 7 years ago, but 
it was an in-house staff director study that basically documented just the expected costs. It was also 
pre-growth of TRIC, and the world has changed quite a bit since then. We think it's really 
important to have a more robust study now that will have participation from our friends in the 
private side, participation from other governmental units and an outside consultant to really 
quantify the costs and the benefits of such a project. Our staff are already working on that. 

Public Comment: 

My name is Will Adler on behalf of Story County. Story County is in conversations with RTC, 
Washoe County, NDOT, and officials coordinating assistance with the road projects and the transit 
corridors. We just discussed a substantial amount of effort and submitted deregulatory code efforts 
to ease the housing efforts in the southern part of the county towards the Highway 50 side of the 
NDOT corridor access. I thought it was pretty relevant that Director Larkin Thomason brought up 
the expansion of the Highway 50 side of traffic, because in the future, I do think that will be a big 
part of the formula on how to relieve Highway 80, which will relieve the stress burden on the 
whole region. I think having additional housing on the Story County and Lyon County side of 50 
ultimately will help with that drawdown of the mass traffic we see. That is where we want to see 
mass coordination throughout the region to address these issues as they come up. Story County is 
in conversations with the region about the east-west corridor as well. The Board has approved the 
resolution for the Truckee Meadows Lands bill, and we are looking into the rail corridor for 
commuter traffic. Basically, we're here at the table for all these issues, and we'd like to be part of 
the solutions of the future. So, thank you very much for having us and thanks for having this 
discussion today. 

Laurie Rodriguez, Reno resident. In 2019 I approached NDOT, this Board and all the counties 
involved; Story County, Lyon County, Churchill County, and cities of Fernley and Fallon, and 
they were all interested in the rail project. If we took into account when designing the I-80 
widening, putting an elevated system down the center of it and get it funded as part of our 
widening that would be great. I understand you would have to have stations, parking lots, and bus 
routes that would go to these stations to bring the people in, but I would just like to remind you 
that there are alternative systems other than just on the ground passenger rail. Thank you. 

Item 7 REPORTS (Informational Only) 

7.1 RTC Executive Director Report 
1. Last Monday, we hosted Even Wessel from the U.S. Department of Transportation. 

 Commissioner Hill joined RTC Staff and Evan for a meeting and tour of some of our 
projects that are receiving federal funding – or could receive funding in the future. 

 The tour included the Villanova Maintenance Facility, our three downtown bridge projects, 
and some of the projects that the board designated as federal priorities. 

 We think this was a valuable chance to show what the RTC is doing to improve 
transportation in our region. 

2. We are very happy to provide free transit for kids during the summer break. 
 We launched this pilot program June 8th and it will run through August 11th, a day before 

school starts back up. 
 This program is for anyone 17 and under and it allows them to get to the Kids Café summer 

meals program to get free lunch while school is out. 
 It also helps teens get to and from their summer jobs. 

June 21, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 7 



 

  

 

 And it provides another option to get to various recreational activities throughout the 
Truckee Meadows. 

3. Last week, the Trail Fire burned near the Raleigh Heights and Golden Valley areas. 
 RTC requested transit contractors Keolis and MTM to identify transportation staff and 

assets for possible emergency evacuations. 
 Both organizations were responsive and timely in their preparation for an emergency 

response. 
 Fortunately, no evacuation assistance was needed.  Thank you Keolis and MTM for being 

such a great resource to our community! 
4. Earlier this week, we held a media event for the groundbreaking of the South Virginia Street and I-

580 Exit 29 Capacity and Safety Project. 
 Thank you to Commissioner Hill, Maria Paz Fernandez and Vice Mayor Duerr for letting 

the public know about this important project. 
 We are adding a northbound lane on South Virginia Street, installing a traffic signal and a 

second right-hand turn lane at the northbound offramp, and improving sidewalks, bike 
lanes, and ADA facilities among many other upgrades. 

5. I would like to introduce you to our newest employees, LaShonn Ford and Brandon Kase. 
 LaShonn is our new Traffic Engineer who came to us from NDOT. 
 He worked there as a Senior ITS Project Manager in the Traffic Operations Division. 
 Brandon is our new Engineering Technician. 
 He is currently attending the University of Nevada, Reno. 
 He will be with us through the summer. 
 Welcome, LaShonn and Brandon to the RTC Team! 

6. I would like to congratulate Austin McCoy and his wife Erin on the birth of their baby boy. 
 The McCoys welcomed Jackson into their family on May 2nd. 
 Austin is one of our Project Managers in the Engineering Department. 
 We wish them all the best in their adventures as parents. 
 We’re already scouting Jackson to join the RTC Engineering team in about 22 years. 

7. Please join us congratulating Jules Powell as the MTM Employee of the Month for May. 
 Jules has been with MTM for a year and has made a good impact with her passengers. She 

has also received multiple commendations. She finds the job very calming and “Zen” like. 
 She enjoys interacting with her customers and goes home with a sense of pride knowing she 

has helped her community. Jules is a gamer at heart, and occasionally delves into the world 
of Dungeons and Dragons. We want to thank Jules for her first year with us and hope that 
there are many more to come. 

8. Earl Brynelson is the Keolis Driver of the Month of May. 
 Earl has worked for Keolis since April of 2008. His accomplishments last month consist of 

a 93 percent on-time performance, zero preventable accidents, and no customer complaints. 
Earl is originally from Chicago, so he’s a big Cubs fan and enjoys spending quality time 
with his family. 

9. The Keolis Driver of the month receives a 250-dollar gift card and a parking spot.  
 The Technician and Utility Worker of the month both receive a $250-dollar gift card, as 

well. 

7.2 RTC Federal Report 

Paul Nelson, RTC Government Affairs Officer. We submitted an application for the Safe Streets and 
Roads For All Planning Grant this week. We're asking for $1.6 million, and this is really to go towards 

June 21, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 8 



 

   

  

 
 

  
  

  
 

  

 
   

 

______________________________ 

our planning efforts in terms of making our road network safer for all users. We should find out if we 
were successful in August. 

The Senate Public Lands, Forests and Mining Subcommittee held a hearing last week that included 
20 bills, and one of them was the Truckee Meadows Lands Management Act. Senator Cortez 
Masto chairs this committee, and she gave a brief overview of the bill. There is written testimony 
online that you can look at from the BLM and the USDA. We are definitely following this bill, and 
we're hoping to see some progress over the next few months. Congress is turning its attention to 
appropriations, and the House GOP has a plan to pass all 12 bills by the end of July. Five of those 
bills failed to pass last year, and we're kind of expecting the same kind of scenario this year. The 
Senate is moving a little bit slower on appropriations, so it's kind of a wait and see. Hopefully they 
can get this stuff done before the fiscal year ends. The House Subcommittee on Highways and 
Transit held a hearing last week where it discussed post pandemic lessons. Topics covered 
ridership, safety and other post pandemic concerns. The upcoming FHWA August redistribution is 
a chance for states to flex funds from FHWA to FTA to support transit projects, and we'll be 
looking at this moving forward. We'll discuss whether or not this is something that RTC would be 
interested in doing. That concludes my report, Thank you. 

7.3 NDOT Director Report 

NDOT Director Tracy Larkin Thomason gave a presentation and spoke on the following: 
 AGC Work Zone Safety Campaign 
 Tour of Pyramid Highway Project 
 Routine Bridge Inspection Program: We are required by law to inspect every single bridge in 

the State of Nevada every two years 
 Political Signage – Federal and State Regulations: Just a reminder that political advertising is 

not allowed within State run highways. I do want to point out that if you have a question 
about whether it is our property or not, please contact our District office and we'll work 
with you. 

Item 8 COMMISSIONER ANNOUNCEMENTS AND UPDATES 

Being no commissioner announcements, Vice Chair Hill moved onto public input. 

Item 9 PUBLIC INPUT 

Vice Chair Hill opened the meeting to public input and called on anyone wishing to speak on topics 
relevant to the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) that are not included in the current agenda.  
There being no one wishing to speak, Vice Chair Hill moved to Adjournment. 

Item 10 ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 8:55 a.m.  

ALEXIS HILL, Vice Chair 
Regional Transportation Commission 

**Copies of all presentations are available by contacting Michelle Kraus at mkraus@rtcwashoe.com. 

June 21, 2024 RTC Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT Page 9 

mailto:mkraus@rtcwashoe.com


  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Christian Schonlau, Director of Finance/CFO

  SUBJECT: Procurement Activity Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge Receipt of the monthly Procurement Activity Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See attached for Background and Discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

PROJECTS CURRENTLY ADVERTISED 

Invitations for Bids (IFB) 

Project Due Date 
N/A 

Request for Proposals (RFP) 

Project Due Date 
Construction Management for the Arlington Avenue Bridge Project July 9, 2024 
Active Transportation Plan - Neighborhood Development Plans 1 and 2 August 1, 2024 

REPORT ON INVITATION FOR BID (IFB) AWARDS 

Per NRS 332, NRS 338 and RTC’s Management Policy P-13 “Purchasing,” the Executive Director has authority 
to negotiate and execute a contract with the lowest responsive and responsible bidder on an Invitation for Bid 
(IFB) without Commission approval. 

Project Contractor Award Date Contract Amount 

Somersett Parkway, Mae Anne 
Avenue to Del Webb Parkway Sierra Nevada Construction 06/26/2024 $5,831,007 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES/CONSULTING AGREEMENTS 

Per RTC’s Management Policy P-13 Executive Director has authority to approve contracts greater than $25,000 
and less than (or equal to) $100,000. 

Project Contractor Contract Amount 

LCP Tracker Bulk Project Pricing LCP Tracker $35,999 

Engineering Feasibility Studies Task 
Order No. 4 CA Group, Inc. $37,325 

CHANGE ORDERS AND CONTRACT AMENDMENTS WITHIN EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S 
RTC’s P-13 PURCHASING POLICY AUTHORITY 

Project Contractor Approval 
Date 

CO / 
Amend. 
Number 

CO / Amend. 
Amount 

Revised Total 
Contract 
Amount 

N/A 



  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.2

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Xuan Wang, PHD, PE, PTP, RSP2, Planning Manager

  SUBJECT: Planning Activity Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Planning Activity Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See Attachment A for Background and Discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



 
 

 
  

 

  

 
    

 
  

 
 

 

I 

I 

I 

PLANNING STUDIES 

Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Planning Study 
Graham Dollarhide, Project 
Manager 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/south-
virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/ 

Status: Draft plan under review with presentation to RTC TAC and CMAC, as well as to RTC 
Board in the month of July. Formal adoption anticipated in August. 

Active Transportation Plan 
Marquis Williams, Project 
Manager 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/active-
transportation-plan/ 

Status: Draft to open for public review in July 2024 along with a virtual public presentation to be 
posted on the project webpage. Anticipated adoption is scheduled for August or September 2024. 

Regional Freight Study 
Marquis Williams, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/regional-

freight-plan/ 
Status: Revised draft document is under review by RTC and local agency partners. The 
corresponding public survey is open until late July 2024, with a scheduled completion date of 
August 2024. 

RTC REGIONAL TRAVEL CHARACTERISTICS STUDY 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/survey2023/ 
Status: Data collection has been completed. The consultant team is working on processing the 
data and developing the project report. 

RTC REGIONAL TRAVEL DEMAND MODEL UPDATE 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/model2023/ 
Status: A base year model has been built. The project team is working on developing refined 
employment data and calibration targets. 

RTC REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN UPDATE 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/rtp/ 
Status: The online public survey has been completed. The project team is working on the first four 
chapters of the RTP and preparing for the upcoming AWG meeting. 

ONGOING PROGRAMS 

Data Collection Program 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager https://dlm.maps.arcgis.com/apps/mapviewer/ 

index.html?webmap=06f3673e1e40454cbabbb57e67b424e2 
Status: Data collection started for scheduled sites. Continue to identify sites for data collection. 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Planning 
RTC Planning and Engineering 
Staff 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/metropolitan-planning/ 

Status: Ongoing collaboration with partner agencies on several initiatives to improve bicycle and 
pedestrian safety & facilities: 

 Coordinating with Engineering to develop design details on roadway network concepts and 
outreach activities. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/south-virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/south-virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/active-transportation-plan/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/active-transportation-plan/
https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/regional-freight-plan/
https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/regional-freight-plan/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/survey2023/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-reports/model2023/
https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/regional-planning/rtp/
https://dlm.maps.arcgis.com/apps/mapviewer/index.html?webmap=06f3673e1e40454cbabbb57e67b424e2
https://dlm.maps.arcgis.com/apps/mapviewer/index.html?webmap=06f3673e1e40454cbabbb57e67b424e2
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/metropolitan-planning/


 

Vision Zero Truckee Meadows 
RTC Planning Staff https://visionzerotruckeemeadows.com/ 

Status: Task Force meeting held 5/13/24. Application for SS4A planning funds to update the 
Action Plan and High Injury Network submitted 5/16/24. Next Task Force meeting tentatively 
scheduled for 8/12/24. Results of SS4A awards anticipated late July. 

https://visionzerotruckeemeadows.com/


  

 

 

  

 

 
 

    

 
  

 

  
 

   
  

  

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.3

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Xuan Wang, PHD, PE, PTP, RSP2, Planning Manager

  SUBJECT: Advisory Committee Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Technical, Citizens Multimodal, and Regional Road Impact Fee 
Advisory Committees Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The RTC has three advisory committees that provide input on a wide range of policy and planning issues 
as well as key planning documents and the RTC Budget.  The committees include: 

• The Citizens Multimodal Advisory Committee (CMAC), which includes members from the 
community.  The RTC Board approves appointments to this advisory committee.  

• The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC), which includes local public works directors, 
community development directors, and staff from other key agencies. 

• The Regional Road Impact Fee Technical Advisory Committee (RRIF TAC), which was created to 
oversee and advise the local governments regarding land use classification assumptions and the 
Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) used in the impact fee program. The RRIF TAC consists of three 
representatives from each local entity, two RTC representatives, and four private sector members 
who are appointed by the RTC Board. 

The CMAC and the TAC met on July 10th, 2024 and July 8th, 2024, respectively. TAC recommend 
approval of the Proposed Amendment No. 3 to the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP), and received a 
presentation on the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Study. For the TOD study, 
the group discussed potential barriers to high-density multifamily development, with Angela Fuss (City of 
Reno) clarifying that most of the corridor has mixed-use zoning with no limitation on density. Scott Carey  
(City of Sparks) raised concerns about transit service expansion at the expense of declining services of 
existing routes, indicating the desire to budget for and preserve existing services with the potential addition 
of fixed route service in south Reno. The CMAC received a presentation on the South Virginia Street 
Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Study. Members expressed their support for the plan and 
recommended additional public outreach channels, improved connectivity between FlexRide and fixed 



  
   

Advisory Committee Report 
Page 2 

routes in South Meadows, reduced fares for the regional connector, and enhanced collaboration between 
the RTC and the City of Reno on development and zoning. The group also received a presentation on RTP 
Amendment #3, where they discussed regional transit connector options to the TRI Center, a transit-first 
approach, external partnerships, and safety on I-80. 

There has not been a RRIF TAC meeting since the Board previously met. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.4

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Dale Keller, Deputy Executive Director

  SUBJECT: Engineering Activity Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Engineering Activity Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See Attachment A for Background and Discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



   
 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
    

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
   

 
    

 
 

 
 

 
 

     
  

 
 

1----

1------

ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS 

Downtown Reno Micromobility Project 
Sara Going, Project Manager www.downtownrenomicromobility.com 

Status: Preliminary design for the project is underway. The public will have the first opportunity to 
provide input on the 30% design in September 2024. 

Truckee River Shared Use Path 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/truckee-river-

shared-use-path-project/ 

Status: The RTC is continuing to coordinate with the Reno Sparks Indian Colony (RSIC) for the 
maintenance, security, and property rights necessary for the pathway.  There is no update on this 
during last reporting period. 

CAPACITY/CONGESTION RELIEF PROJECTS 

Buck Drive Circulation 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/buck-drive-

circulation/ 

Status: Kimley Horn is the selected firm for design and construction engineering services. Ongoing 
coordination with City of Reno staff. Fifty percent (50%) design plans expected by the end of 
September. Construction is tentatively scheduled for spring 2025. 

Butch Cassidy Drive Extension 
Kim Diegle, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/butch-cassidy-drive-

extension/ 

Status: Preliminary design is underway. 

Eagle Canyon Safety and Operations 
LaShonn Ford, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/eagle-canyon-safety-and-operations/ 

Status: The project design is 60% complete. Construction is scheduled for summer 2025. 

Geiger Grade Realignment 
Kim Diegle, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/geiger-

grade-road-realignment/ 

Status: RTC has selected J-U-B Engineers, Inc. to perform a feasibility study to further investigate 
preliminary design alternatives, traffic, and environmental impacts. This effort will be kicked off in 
summer 2024. 

http://www.downtownrenomicromobility.com/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/truckee-river-shared-use-path-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/truckee-river-shared-use-path-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/buck-drive-circulation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/buck-drive-circulation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/butch-cassidy-drive-extension/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/butch-cassidy-drive-extension/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/eagle-canyon-safety-and-operations/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/geiger-grade-road-realignment/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/geiger-grade-road-realignment/


 

 
 

 
  

 
 

   
 

    
 

 
   

 
     

 
 
 

  
 

  
 

        
 
 

 
  

 
 

      

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
       
  

 
 

 
  

 
     

  
 
 
 
 
 

1------

1-----

Kietzke Lane ITS 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/kietzke-lane-

its-project/ 

Status: Bids were opened April 25, 2024. Sierra Nevada Construction (SNC) was awarded the 
Contract. Pre-construction coordination is ongoing. Construction activities are anticipated to begin in 
early Summer 2024. 

Military Road Capacity & Safety 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/military-road-capacity-safety/ 

Status: Intermediate design is complete. Right of Way Setting is scheduled and Project team is 
advancing towards 90% Design Submittal.     

North McCarran Boulevard & Pyramid Hwy Fiber 
Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/n-mccarran-boulevard-pyramid-

highway-fiber/ 

Status: Construction is substantially complete; contractor is working on punch list items. 

North Valleys North Virginia Street Capacity 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-valleys-

north-virginia-street-capacity/ 

Status: The traffic analysis study and conceptual design is complete. Project team is advancing 30% 
Design Submittal.  

Pembroke Drive Capacity & Safety 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project 
Manager 

https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/pembroke-drive-capacity-safety/ 

Status: Nichols Consulting Engineers (NCE) was the selected design consultant. Preliminary design 
alternatives were updated to include widening to two (2) lanes in each direction. Thirty percent (30%) 
design plans comments from the City were expected by the beginning of July.  

Pyramid Highway Intelligent Corridor 
Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-intelligent-corridor/ 

Status: Installation of the new fiber is substantially complete. Testing of software for the notification 
system and dynamic traffic signal control is in progress. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/kietzke-lane-its-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/kietzke-lane-its-project/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/military-road-capacity-safety/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/n-mccarran-boulevard-pyramid-highway-fiber/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/n-mccarran-boulevard-pyramid-highway-fiber/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-valleys-north-virginia-street-capacity/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-valleys-north-virginia-street-capacity/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/pembroke-drive-capacity-safety/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-intelligent-corridor/


 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    
  

 
  

 
 

 
       

    
 

 
 

  
 

     
 

 
  

 
  

 
   

  
 

 
 

  
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

1--

Pyramid Highway Operations Improvements 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/pyramid-highway-

operations-improvements/ 

Status: Preliminary Engineering ongoing; RTC is coordinating with NDOT to develop preferred 
preliminary alignment alternative. 

Pyramid Way, Sparks Boulevard, Highland Ranch Interchange 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/pyramid-

highway-us-395-connection-project/ 

Status: NDOT LPA Agreement has been executed and a notice to proceed from NDOT has been 
received. Data collection, traffic analysis, and preliminary design is underway with Parametrix. 

South Meadows Traffic Enhancements 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/south-

meadows-traffic-enhancements/ 

Status: Sierra Nevada Construction (SNC) is advancing construction; completion is expected for 
around mid-summer. 

South Virginia Street & I-580 Exit 29 Capacity & Safety 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/south-virginia-street-and-i-

580-exit-29-capacity-and-safety/ 

Status: Q&D Construction started the construction on June 17; completion is expected by the end of 
October. Most of the construction work will be performed during nighttime hours to minimize impact 
to businesses and residents. Traffic has been shifted with the northbound lane closed. 

Sparks Boulevard – North Phase 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager SparksBLVDproject.com. 

Status: One hundred percent (100%) Design Submittal received in May 2024. Final Design Submittal 
expected later this summer. Right-of-way acquisition is under way.   

Sparks Boulevard/Ion Drive Traffic Signal Project 
LaShonn Ford, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-boulevard-ion-drive-traffic-

signal/ 

Status: Headway Transportation, LLC has been selected as the design consultant for this project. 
Scoping and negotiations are underway. The Professional Services Agreement (PSA) is expected to 
appear on the agenda for the August Board Meeting. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/pyramid-highway-operations-improvements/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/pyramid-highway-operations-improvements/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/pyramid-highway-us-395-connection-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/pyramid-highway-us-395-connection-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/south-meadows-traffic-enhancements/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/south-meadows-traffic-enhancements/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/south-virginia-street-and-i-580-exit-29-capacity-and-safety/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/south-virginia-street-and-i-580-exit-29-capacity-and-safety/
https://sparks-boulevard-project.constantcontactsites.com/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-boulevard-ion-drive-traffic-signal/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/sparks-boulevard-ion-drive-traffic-signal/


 

 
 

 
   

  
  
 

  
  

 
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
  

 
 
 
 

Steamboat Parkway Improvement 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/steamboat-parkway-

improvement-damonte-ranch-pkwy-to-veterans-pkwy/ 

Status: Construction started April 2, 2024. Crews are performing utility relocations and preparing for 
roadway widening operations. 

Traffic Signal Fiber 25-01 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-fiber-25-01/ 

Status: Preliminary design is underway. 

Traffic Signal Installations 23-01 
Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

installations-23-01/ 

Status: Work is substantially complete at all locations in Reno and Sparks. 

Traffic Signal Modifications 23-01 
Sara Going, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

modifications-23-01/ 

Status: Summit Line Construction, Inc. will begin construction on the project on July 8, 2024. 

Traffic Signal Modifications 24-01 
Sara Going, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

modifications-24-01/ 

Status: The project design is 60% complete. 

Traffic Signal Modifications 25-01 
LaShonn Ford, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-modifications-25-

01/ 

Status: Preliminary design of the improvements is in progress.  In addition, the consultant is working 
on intersection evaluations at several locations. 

Traffic Signal Timing 7 
Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

timing-7-project/ 

Status: New signal timing plans have been implemented on the following corridors: 
- East McCarran Blvd between Greg St and Probasco Way 

https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/steamboat-parkway-improvement-damonte-ranch-pkwy-to-veterans-pkwy/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/steamboat-parkway-improvement-damonte-ranch-pkwy-to-veterans-pkwy/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-fiber-25-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-installations-23-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-installations-23-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-23-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-23-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-24-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-24-01/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-modifications-25-01/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/traffic-signal-modifications-25-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-timing-7-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-timing-7-project/


 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

   
 

    
     

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  
  

 
 

   
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
  

     
 
 
 
 
 

Veterans Parkway ITS 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-

parkway-its/ 

Status: Intermediate design is complete. Project team is advancing towards 90% Design Submittal 

Veterans Roundabout Modifications 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-

roundabout-modifications/ 

Status: Preliminary Design (30%) with RTC Comments incorporated anticipated July 2024.  Submittal 
to NDOT, local agencies and Utilities for review July 2024. 

Vista Boulevard/Disc Drive Intersection Improvement 
Alex Wolfson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/vista-boulevard-disc-drive-

intersection-improvements/ 

Status: Final design and right of way acquisition is underway. 

Vista Boulevard/Prater Way ITS 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/vista-

boulevard-prater-way-its/ 

Status: Final design is underway. 

CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 

Arlington Avenue Bridges 
Bryan Byrne, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arlington-

avenue-bridges-project/ 

Status: The Final PS&E was received by RTC in May 2024. The project is looking to have the 
Guaranteed Maximum Price in June 2024. Construction is tentatively scheduled for 2025 and 2026. 

Keystone Bridge Replacement 
Sara Going, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/keystone-

avenue-bridge-replacement/ 

Status: The project team is approaching completion of the Feasibility Study for the project. The 
details of the feasibility study and proposed improvements for the project will be presented to the 
public in July 2024. A public meeting will be held at McKinley Arts and Culture Center form 4:00 – 
7:00 pm on July 11, 2024, where the public can learn more about the project. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-parkway-its/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-parkway-its/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-roundabout-modifications/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/veterans-roundabout-modifications/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/vista-boulevard-disc-drive-intersection-improvements/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/vista-boulevard-disc-drive-intersection-improvements/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/vista-boulevard-prater-way-its/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/vista-boulevard-prater-way-its/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arlington-avenue-bridges-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arlington-avenue-bridges-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/keystone-avenue-bridge-replacement/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/keystone-avenue-bridge-replacement/


 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

   
  

 
      

  
 

 
 

  
 

   
 

 
  

 
  

 
  

  
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
    

 
    

 
   

  
 

 
    

  
 

1---

1---

Lemmon Drive Traffic Improvements and Resiliency 
Bryan Byrne, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/lemmon-drive-traffic-

improvements-and-resiliency/ 

Status: The project is making significant progress in conducting the required NEPA studies. The 
project team is incorporating public feedback and working towards the 60% design submission. 
Additionally, the team is coordinating the next public meeting, scheduled for August 2024. 

Mill Street Capacity & Safety (Kietzke Lane to Terminal Way) 
Kimberly Diegle, Project Manager http://millstreetwidening.com 

Status: Final design is underway. The right-of-way acquisition activities and utility coordination is 
ongoing. Construction is anticipated to start in spring 2025 

McCarran Boulevard Safety and Operational Improvements 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/mccarran-boulevard-safety-and-

operational-improvements/ 

Status: Project Prioritization Phase underway; preliminary design in summer 2025. 

Oddie/Wells Multimodal Improvements 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager http://oddiewellsproject.com/ 

Status: 
Phase 1 (Pyramid Way to Sullivan Lane in Sparks) 
Phase 2 (Sullivan Ln in Sparks to Silverada Blvd in Reno) 
Phase 3 (Silverada Blvd to east of US 395 in Reno) 
Phase 4 (Sutro Street to I-80) 

Punchlist work items with intermittent lane closures are expected throughout the corridor. 

Overall construction, including the remaining phases, is anticipated to be substantially completed by 
mid- August.  

Sierra Street Bridge Replacement 
Bryan Byrne, Project Manager https://sierrastreetbridge.com/ 

Status: RTC has received the 30% design submittal and is currently reviewing it. The project team has 
engaged our Aesthetic Stakeholders Working Group to outline aesthetic design features to take to the 
public for voting. This is expected to take place in August 2024. 

Sun Valley Boulevard Corridor Improvements – Phase 2 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/sun-valley-

boulevard-corridor-improvements-phase-2/ 

Status: Preferred Alternatives resulting from the Draft Conceptual Drainage Design Report advancing 
to the next level of analysis.  Categorical Exclusion for Geotech ongoing. 

https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/lemmon-drive-traffic-improvements-and-resiliency/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/lemmon-drive-traffic-improvements-and-resiliency/
http://millstreetwidening.com/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/mccarran-boulevard-safety-and-operational-improvements/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/mccarran-boulevard-safety-and-operational-improvements/
http://oddiewellsproject.com/
https://sierrastreetbridge.com/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/sun-valley-boulevard-corridor-improvements-phase-2/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/sun-valley-boulevard-corridor-improvements-phase-2/


 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
      

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
   

 
   

 
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

      

 
 

 
 

 
    

 
   

 

I 

1-----

1----

West Fourth Street Downtown 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-

street-downtown/ 

Status: Thirty percent (30%) design plans have been completed and Reno comments are being 
reviewed and addressed. 

West Fourth Street Safety 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-

street-safety/ 

Status: Wood Rodgers has submitted 60% design plans for review and is responding to comments from 
both RTC and the City of Reno.  Work on NEPA and coordination with NDOT environmental division 
continues. Coordination with UPRR is ongoing. 

PAVEMENT PRESERVATION PROJECTS 

2024 Preventive Maintenance Program 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-preventive-maintenance-project/ 

Status: Construction ongoing; Substantial Completion anticipated in fall/winter 2024. 

2025 Bridge Maintenance 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2025-bridge-maintenance/ 

Status: Preliminary design is underway. 

Arrowcreek/Wedge Rehabilitation 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arrowcreek-

parkway-wedge-rehabilitation/ 

Status: Preliminary design (50%) anticipated summer 2024. 

Las Brisas and Los Altos Resurfacing 
Jessica Dover, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/las-brisas-and-

los-altos-resurfacing/ 

Status: Las Brisas Boulevard mill and overlay (Robb Drive to Brittania Drive) and signage throughout 
the corridor has achieved Final Acceptance.  Los Altos Parkway mill and overlay (S. Vista Boulevard 
to Goodwin Road) and utility adjustments throughout the corridor has achieved Final Acceptance.  
Anticipate Substantial Completion of slurry and associated remaining Contract Items at both locations 
July 2024. 

Meadowood Rehabilitation 
Garrett Rodgers, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/meadowood-rehab/ 

Status: Preliminary design is underway. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-street-downtown/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-street-downtown/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-street-safety/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/west-fourth-street-safety/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-preventive-maintenance-project/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2025-bridge-maintenance/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arrowcreek-parkway-wedge-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arrowcreek-parkway-wedge-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/las-brisas-and-los-altos-resurfacing/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/las-brisas-and-los-altos-resurfacing/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/meadowood-rehab/


 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 
 

 
 

      
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1------

N Virginia Street University Rehabilitation 
Bryan Byrne, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-virginia-

street-university-rehabilitation/ 

Status: The construction bid was awarded to Granite Construction.  Construction is underway and is 
scheduled to be completed in mid-August 2024. 

Raleigh Heights Rehabilitation 
Austin McCoy, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/raleigh-

heights-rehabilitation/ 

Status: Construction is tentatively scheduled to start in August and go through November 2024. 

Somersett Parkway Corrective Project 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-corrective-maintenance-

somersett/ 
Status: The construction contract was awarded to SNC and RTC anticipates a construction start in 
Early August. 

OTHER PROJECTS 

4th Street Station Expansion 
Ian Chamberlain, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/4th-street-

station-expansion/ 

Status: This project is on hold due to issues with property acquisition for proposed improvements. 

Virginia Line BRT Improvements 
Kimberly Diegle, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/virginia-

line-brt-improvements/ 

Status: Sixty percent (60%) design is complete. Coordination with the City of Reno, FTA, and affected 
utility companies continues. NEPA re-evaluation of the original Virginia Street Bus RAPID Transit 
Extension project is anticipated to be completed this summer. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-virginia-street-university-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/north-virginia-street-university-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/raleigh-heights-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/raleigh-heights-rehabilitation/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-corrective-maintenance-somersett/
https://rtcwashoe.com/projects/2024-corrective-maintenance-somersett/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/4th-street-station-expansion/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/4th-street-station-expansion/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/virginia-line-brt-improvements/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/virginia-line-brt-improvements/


 

 
 

  
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
    

    

  
 

  

 
   

 
   

 
  

 

 
    

    

 
 
 
 

I I 

REPORT ON NEGOTIATED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS FOR THE ACQUISITION OF 
PROPERTY 

Project Property Owner Purchase 
Amount 

Amount 
Over 

Appraisal 
Mill Street Capacity & Safety Three L’s Building Co. $28,911.00 $0 

Mill Street Capacity & Safety Rory R. Vaughn $212,200.00 $123,631.00 

Mill Street Capacity & Safety Galantuomini Family 
Holdings, LLC 

$326,699.00 $109,336.00 

Sparks Boulevard Capacity 
Improvement 

The Kaplan Living Trust $1,000.00 $0 

Sparks Boulevard Capacity 
Improvement 

Glenna Marie Smith - Smith 
Trust 

$1,000.00 $0 

CONTRACTS UP TO $100,000 

Project Vendor Scope Amount 
n/a 



  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.5

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: James Gee, Director of Public Transportation and Operations

  SUBJECT: Public Transportation and Operations Monthly Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Public Transportation and Operations Activity Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See Attachment A for Background and Discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no prior Board action taken. 



    

   
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

    
 

Americans with Disabilities Act 
Celebrate the ADA! July 26 , 2024 

FRE~. RIDE 
JULY W.4TH 

Free transit service on 
RAPID Lincoln Line (4 pm to 8 pm) and 

Route 11 from 4 pm to Midnight. 

View schedule information at rtcwashoe.com. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

Highlights 

ATTACHMENT A 

34th Anniversary of the ADA – The Regional 
Transportation Commission (RTC) is proud to 
support the Americans with Disabilities (ADA) 
34th Anniversary. In honor of this 34th Anniversary 
signed into law on July 26, 1990, RTC will offer 
free rides on all of its transit services to 
commemorate this important civil rights law that 
prohibits discrimination against individuals with 
disabilities in all areas of public life, including 

jobs, schools, transportation, and all public and private places that are open to the general public. 
The purpose of the law is to make sure that people with disabilities have the same rights and 
opportunities as everyone else. 

RTC Provides Free Bus Rides to Star Spangled Sparks on 
Fourth of July - free transit service was offered to the 
community on RTC’s RAPID Lincoln Line (4 p.m. to 8 p.m.) 
and Route 11 (4 p.m. to midnight) to attend Star Spangled 
Sparks on Tuesday, July 4, 2024. These RTC transit routes 
dropped off event goers at RTC CENTENNIAL PLAZA in 
Victorian Square near The Nugget Casino Resort. RTC also 
provided free rides to and from The Nugget Casino Resort on 
RTC ACCESS. The free service was provided to encourage 
more people to take transit given limited parking availability. 

RTC RIDE Key Highlights – June 

 6 trainees released to Operations for revenue 
service 

 4 operator resignations 
 Driver of the Month:  Earl Brynelson (May 

Accomplishments) 
 99% for completed hours and trips 
 June 12, Bus Request:  Kids Café / Free RIDE 

Press Conference 
 Employee Engagement: 

o Keolis Way Week 
 Meet the Managers at 4SS 
 Ice Cream Truck at 4SS and Villanova for employees 

 CUTA Training 
 1 new grievance filed and settled 
 No new ULPs filed in June 



 
 

 

 

 

Keolis represented staffing headcount as of June 25, 2024: 
Position Total 

Employed 
#Needed 

Coach Operator Trainees 10 6+ 
Coach Operators 163 2 
Dispatchers 7 0 
Road Supervisors 4 0 
Mechanic A 6 0 
Mechanic B 4 0 
Mechanic C 4 0 
Facilities Technician 2 0 
EV Technician 1 0 
Utility Worker 13 0 
Electronics Tech 2 0 
Body Technician 1 0 

RTC ACCESS Key Highlights – June 

Classes: Class held June 4, 2024 (4 in service/1 resigned) 

Safety: 
 Accidents: 

o  2 - Preventable 
o  1 - Non-Preventable 

 Incidents 
o  2 

 Injuries: 
o 1 

 YTD Preventable Accident Count:    7 
 YTD Injury Count:  2 

 June Safety Blitz 
o Trackit DVI, Trends, NSC safety month 

 June Safety Meeting 
o Bloodborne Pathogens and Heat Awareness 

MTM represented staffing headcount as of June 30, 2024: 
Position Total Employed #Needed 
Drivers 57FT – 4PT 5-8FT – 0 PT 
Dispatchers 4 FT 0 
Reservationists 4FT – 2PT 0 
Mechanic A 3 FT 0 
Maintenance Technician 1 0 
Utility Worker 1 0 



 

 
 

    

  
 

  
 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

~ -~ I~ II ~ ~ ,~I I~ i 11~ ~ I~ j 
■ 

■ 

TRANSIT DEMAND MANAGEMENT (TDM) Update 

 Vanpools added 1 vanpool increasing to 335. The Truckee North Tahoe TMA 
(Transportation Management Association) and South Shore TMA have received grants to 
give further subsidies to help the vanpools. Staff is working with a group in Tahoe to increase 
the number of vans going to the Lake. The program currently has 19 vans servicing the Lake 
Tahoe area. 

 RTC staff meets weekly with its marketing company Celtis to discuss deliverables for the 
ED Pass program. Those include a new “ED Pass” tablecloth, posters, updated Smart Trips 
brochure, and digital and social media ads. 

 Staff was interviewed by Griffin Hadlock with the Nevada Business Environmental Program 
at UNR highlighting RTC’s vanpool program for their Business Environmental Program 
newsletter. 

Ridership numbers from the ED Pass Program through the month of May 2024: 

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun 
FY 2019 4 521 3,669 4,198 3,137 2,178 2,227 3,017 3,200 3,217 2,890 1,993 
FY 2020 2,779 5,218 8,159 9,127 6,808 6,592 7,312 9,084 5,873 1,818 1,877 2,410 
FY2021 2,991 3,723 4,156 4,185 3,502 3,455 3,329 3,409 3,881 4,471 4,333 4,330 
FY2022 4,670 3,581 6,584 0 0 2,447 3,376 4,924 5,936 6,410 5,716 6,033 
FY2023 6,539 7,482 11,046 11,291 8,857 7,399 6,215 7,973 8,138 9,470 7,640 6,833 
FY2024 7,650 8,824 13,841 13,631 11,414 9,231 8,864 11,077 10,309 11,024 8,445 

0 

2,000 

4,000 

6,000 

8,000 

10,000 

12,000 

14,000 

16,000 

FY 2019 

FY 2020 

FY2021 

FY2022 

FY2023 

FY2024 

UNR Ridership by Month 



 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

16 

14 

12 

10 

320 

310 

300 

290 

280 

270 

260 

250 

240 

8 

6 

4 

2 

0 

Weii:hted Avi:. Daily Ridership 

May2023 May 2024 Jun 2022 - Jun 2023 -
May2023 May 2024 

Weighted Avg. Daily Ridership 

230 +---------------4 
May '23 May '24 Jun '22 - Jun '23 -

May "23 May '24 

Rides Per Vehicle Revenue Hour 

May 2023 May2024 Jun 2022- Jun 2023-
May2023 May 2024 

Rides per Vehicle Revenue Hour 

May '23 May '24 Jun '22 - Jun '23 -
May '23 May '24 

100% 

95% 

90% 

85% 

80% 

75% 

On-Time Performance 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

70% +------~---~----l 

100% 

95% 

90% 

85% 

80% 

75% 

70% 

May 2023 May 2024 Jun 2022 - Jun 2023 -

May2023 May 2024 

On-Time Performance 

May '23 May '24 Jun '22 - Jun '23 -

May '23 May '24 

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun 
FY2019 6 431 3,582 4,798 3,648 2,516 1,767 4,206 4,049 4,491 4,456 3,241 
FY2020 1,933 4,086 8,193 9,311 7,479 5,413 5,945 9,668 6,227 2,193 1,968 2,310 
FY2021 2,414 3,090 3,187 3,535 1,712 2,493 2,402 2,459 2,800 3,225 3,126 3,124 
FY2022 2,208 1,584 3,516 0 0 1,480 1,858 2,875 3,773 3,889 3,585 3,287 
FY2023 2,533 3,913 5,233 5,103 4,231 3,195 3,335 4,690 4,213 4,314 5,051 4,292 
FY2024 4,725 7,045 7,727 8,596 7,244 5,440 6,081 8,520 7,569 8,768 8,510 

0 

2,000 

4,000 

6,000 

8,000 

10,000 

12,000 

FY2019 

FY2020 

FY2021 

FY2022 

FY2023 

FY2024 

TMCC Ridership by Month 

Both UNR and TMCC had their highest ridership for May to date and UNR has had the highest 
ridership for each month in FY24. 

MAY 2024 TRANSIT PERFORMANCE 

RTC RIDE 

RTC ACCESS 



L 

300 

250 

200 

150 

100 

so 
0 

100 

90 

80 

70 

60 
so 
40 

30 
20 
10 

Weighted Avg. Daily Ridership 

28,7--------1. 

4.0 

3.0 

2.0 

1.0 

0.0 

May 2023 May 2024 Jun 2022 · Jun 2023 · L 
May2023 May 2024 --

Weighted Avg. Daily Ridership 

14 

12 

10 

0+--------------..... 

L May 2023 May 2024 Jun 2022 - Jun 2023 . 
May20B May 2024 

- 1 Monthly Trips 

• 70 
3SO -g 

~ 60 300 5 
~ 50 2SO 

40 200 

30 ISO 

100 
20 

so 
10 

0 
May 2023 May 2024 Jun 2022 - Jun 2023 -

May2023 May 2024 
L 

Rides per Vehicle Revenue Hour 

May 2023 May 2024 Jun 2022 - Jun 2023 • 
May2023 May 2024 

Rides per Vehicle Revenue Hour 

May 2023 May 2024 Jun 2022 • Jun 2023 -
May2023 May 2024 

Number of Vans 

-334--

May 2023 May 2024 

25 

20 

15 

10 

5 

Median Wait Time (Minutes) -----i 

20.7 

0 +---~------~---\ 
May 2023 May 2024 Jun 2022 - Jun 2023 -

May2023 May 2024 

RTC FlexRIDE 

TART 

RTC VANPOOL 



  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.2.6

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Josh MacEachern, Public Information Officer

  SUBJECT: Community and Media Outreach Activity Report 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of monthly Community and Media Outreach Activities Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See Attached for Background and Discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



  
  

 
  

 
 

    
   

   
 
 
 

 
 

      
 

   
  
     
    
   

 
 

     
    
   
      

 
   
     
     

  
      

 
  

 
 

 
       
     

      
       
      
      
     

 

COMMUNITY AND MEDIA OUTREACH ACTIVITIES 
June 2024 

Outreach Summary (Josh MacEachern, PIO): 

June was a busy month for RTC, with major outreach focusing on the beginning of the South 
Virginia & I-580 Capacity and Safety Project as well as the pilot “Kids Ride Free” program 
running through August 11. RTC staff and consultants also held several informational pop-
up events to speak with residents about the upcoming Lemmon Drive Resiliency Project. 

Outreach Activities 
Josh MacEachern, Project Manager 
Status: RTC staff conducted the following outreach activities from June 1 through June 30 
Press Releases 
6.5.24 – RTC Provides Free Rides for Kids through August 11 
6.13.24 – Construction Begins on South Virginia & I-580 Project 
6.14.24 – Media Alert: Interview Opportunity for South Virginia & I-580 Project 
6.19.24 – RTC Activates New Traffic Signal at Moana Lane Intersection 
6.26.24 – Lane Closures begin for Steamboat Parkway Improvement Project 

Public Outreach 
6.7.24 – Lemmon Drive Project Informational Popup (Bryan, CA Group, MJT) 
6.11.24 – Lemmon Drive Project Informational Popup (Bryan/Paul/Josh, CA Group, MJT) 
6.10.24 – North Valleys CAB (Paul/Amanda) 
6.12.24 – Kids Café Media Event – RTC Free Rides for Kids (Commissioner Hill, 
Bill/Josh/Jim) 
6.13.24 – Spanish Springs CAB (Paul, Amanda, Alex W.) 
6.19.24 – ASCE Luncheon on the Future of Transportation (Dale/Commissioner Hill) 
6.20.24 – South Truckee Meadows & Washoe Valley CAB – RTC Project, Planning & 
Transit Overview (Paul/Jeff) 
6.26.24 – Nevada Legislature Silver Haired Forum – RTC Services for Seniors (Jim/Paul) 

Media Mentions 
Josh MacEachern, Project Manager 
6.5.24 – (KOLO 8) – RTC offering free rides for kids during summer break 
6.5.24 – (KTVN 2) – Kids Can Ride Free on RTC RIDE During Summer Break 
6.10.24 – (KTVN 2) – RTC Offering Free Rides to Kids 
6.11.24 – (NV Indy) – OPINION: Getting people out to vote creates a more perfect union 
6.13.24 – (KUNR) – Local food bank and RTC collaborate to keep kids fed over summer 
6.16.24 – (KTVN 2) – RTC to Begin Construction on South Virginia Street on Sunday 
6.18.24 – (News 4) – Major safety improvements coming to South Virginia Street near 
East Patriot Boulevard 



   
 

     
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

     
  
  
  
     

 

6.18.24 (FOX 11) - Major safety improvements coming to South Virginia Street near East 
Patriot Boulevard 
6.28.24 – (RGJ) – Critics call for tax cap, new vote as Washoe County fuel tax goes up 
July 1 

Social Media engagement and reach has increased across all platforms. 

Informational Materials and Video Production 
Paul Nelson, Project Manager 
Status: Four (4) topics were broadcast on KOLO-TV for The Road Ahead with RTC. 

• S. Virginia Street & I-580 Capacity & Safety Project (Jeff) 
• Oddie Wells Project Update (Josh) 
• North Virginia Street Rehabilitation (Bryan) 
• Kids Ride Free (Jim) 



  

 

 

 
  

  

  
  

  

 

  

 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.3.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Amanda Callegari, Engineering Manager

  SUBJECT: Sierra Street Bridge Replacement Project CMAR Delivery Method 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Authorize staff to pursue efforts to deliver the Sierra Street Bridge Replacement Project using the 
Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) project delivery method, on a parallel path with planned and 
ongoing efforts to use the Design-Bid-Build project delivery method. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

There are three (3) main types of project delivery methods for publicly funded transportation projects in 
Nevada: Design-Bid-Build (DBB); Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR); and Design-Build (DB). As 
design has progressed on the Project, RTC staff began to identify potential advantages of using the CMAR 
delivery method, in particular the potential to offer valuable insight on diversions, safety, and access ideas 
for pedestrians, river users, and local traffic. 

The CMAR delivery method involves procuring a general contractor with specialized experience to serve 
as a construction manager who assists the RTC in designing the project during the pre-construction phase, 
and then constructing the project if a construction price, as validated by an Independent Cost Estimator 
(ICE), is agreed upon by the contractor and the RTC. This general contractor is the “Construction 
Manager.” The CMAR delivery method is statutorily authorized in NRS 338.1685 et seq. 

The CMAR process largely follows the typical DBB process through both the pre-construction and 
construction phases. However, the uniqueness of CMAR is the involvement of the Construction Manager 
and ICE during the pre-construction phase to provide constructability and estimating input into the typical 
design workshops, risk and innovation discussions, and construction schedule development meetings. The 
other uniqueness of the CMAR process is the Construction Manager's and ICE's development of Opinion 
of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC) estimates at each major design milestone, all culminating in a 
Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) for construction to secure a construction contract. 



  

  
 

 
  

  
  

 
   

  
  

    

    
  

 

 
 

  

 

Sierra Street Bridge Replacement Project CMAR Delivery Method 
Page 2 

In May 2024, the project team held a meeting and used a Project Delivery Selection Approach (PDSA) 
tool to identify and analyze the advantages and disadvantages associated with both the DBB and CMAR 
delivery methods, considering the project's goals, challenges, opportunities, risks, and complexities, to 
form a consensus opinion of the most appropriate delivery method. 

Using this systematic PDSA approach, staff has determined that CMAR is the recommended project 
delivery method for the Project. The CMAR delivery method offers value in terms of potential innovative 
construction solutions and aesthetic design, reductions in permitting risk, and improved understanding and 
pricing of construction risk. The Construction Manager may be able to shorten the construction schedule, 
which could generate cost savings and limit community impacts along the river walk and to adjacent 
businesses. Additionally, the CMAR delivery method will ensure that the limitations of construction 
activities are carefully managed and coordinated, thereby minimizing the disruption and potential negative 
impacts on adjacent businesses. 

There will be upfront expenditures associated with the CMAR delivery method during the pre-construction 
phase, including the costs of the construction manager, the ICE, the design team, outside legal counsel, 
and other consultants, which are estimated to total approximately $750,000 to $1,250,000. There will be 
substantial staff time and resources required. In the event that RTC pivots back to the DBB delivery 
method, RTC will still be able to benefit from many (but not all) of those expenditures in terms of benefits 
to the project (design and cost certainty).   

Schedule: The project design is currently at the 30% design level. The RTC and the project team are 
drafting an updated schedule to reflect the implementation of a CMAR delivery method. Despite the shift 
in delivery method, the project remains on its original timeline, with final design expected to conclude in 
February 2026. 

Staff recommends that the Board approve this item. If the Board approves this item, RTC will pursue 
efforts to use the CMAR delivery method. If the Board does not approve this item, RTC will move forward 
with the DBB delivery method. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The approval of necessary contracts and agreements would be presented to the RTC Board at a later 
meeting. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

4/21/2023 Approved a contract with Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc., for professional services for the 
Sierra Street Bridge Replacement Project NEPA and Design, in an amount not-to-exceed 
$3,653,128. 



  

  

 
  

 
 

    
   

 
  

   

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.3.2

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Scott Gibson, Project Manager

 SUBJECT: 2025-2026 University of Nevada Reno (UNR) Pavement/Materials Interlocal 
Cooperative Agreement 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve an Interlocal Cooperative Agreement with the University of Nevada, Reno for research and 
engineering support activities from the Pavement Engineering and Science (PES) program in the amount 
of $250,000. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

This cooperative agreement provides funding for the UNR Pavement/Materials Program to perform 
research and improve efficiency in the design and construction of roadway pavements in Washoe County.  
The UNR Engineering Department Pavement/Materials Program is a nationally recognized research 
facility that includes the Western Region Superpave Center. For nearly twenty years, this valuable local 
resource has allowed the RTC to implement the latest technological innovations and maximize the benefit 
of advances in materials for our unique local conditions. Staff will coordinate research efforts with the 
City of Reno, City of Sparks and Washoe County. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for this item is included in the FY 2025 and FY 2026 budgets. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

7/15/2022 Approved an Interlocal Cooperative Agreement with the Board of Regents, Nevada System 
of Higher Education, on behalf of the University of Nevada, Reno (UNR), Civil Engineering 
Department, for the UNR Pavement/Materials Cooperative Research Program in an amount 
not-to-exceed $200,000. 



 

 

  

 

        

   

 

 

  

  

 

 

   

   

  

  

  

  

      

  

        

    

   

  

 

   

      

 

        

    

   

  

    

INTERLOCAL COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement is dated and effective as of July __, 2024, by and between the Regional 

Transportation Commission of Washoe County, Nevada, hereinafter called the RTC, and the Board 

of Regents, Nevada System of Higher Education, on behalf of the University of Nevada, Reno, 

hereinafter called the UNIVERSITY. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement are public agencies and authorized to enter into 

agreements in accordance with NRS 277.080 through 277.180; and 

WHEREAS, NRS 277.110 authorizes any two or more public agencies to enter into 

agreements for the “joint exercise of powers, privileges and authority”; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 277.180, if it is reasonably foreseeable that a public agency 

will be required to expend more than $25,000 to carry out such an agreement, the agreement must 

set forth fully the purposes, powers, rights, objectives and responsibilities of the parties, be ratified 

by appropriate official action of the governing body of each party, and be in writing; and 

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Agreement is for the RTC to provide funding to the 

UNIVERSITY to perform certain research and engineering support activities critical to the design 

and construction of long lasting regional streets and highways in Washoe County, Nevada; and 

WHEREAS, the RTC and the UNIVERSITY have been entering into substantially similar 

biennial agreements since 2003. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants herein 

contained, it is agreed as follows: 

ARTICLE I - UNIVERSITY AGREES: 

1. To perform the tasks, and provide the deliverables, identified in Exhibit A, within 

the agreed upon budget attached as Exhibit B. 

2. To invoice the RTC quarterly for reimbursement of direct and indirect costs in an 

amount not to exceed One Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($125,000.00) for 

the first year through June 30, 2025, not to exceed One Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand and 

00/100 Dollars ($125,000.00) for the second year through June 30, 2026, and not to exceed Two 

Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($250,000.00) overall. The UNIVERSITY will 

https://250,000.00
https://125,000.00
https://125,000.00


 

 

  

   

   

 

 

     

   

 

    

  

     

    

   

 

  

     

 

     

    

  

     

   

   

  

     

 

 

  

 

 

provide supporting documentation that the work performed conforms to the description of the tasks 

and deliverables. 

3. To complete all tasks, and provide all deliverables, pursuant to schedules agreed to 

by the RTC, but no later than June 30, 2026. 

ARTICLE II - RTC AGREES: 

1. To provide funding to the UNIVERSITY upon the receipt of valid quarterly 

invoices.  The total amount to be provided to the UNIVERSITY shall not exceed One Hundred 

Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($125,000.00) annually and Two Hundred Fifty 

Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($250,000.00) overall. 

2. To allow the UNIVERSITY to observe, review, and inspect associated pavement 

engineering related projects with the understanding that the UNIVERSITY will report all items of 

concern to the RTC’s Project Manager. 

ARTICLE III - IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED 

1. The term of this Agreement shall be from the date first written above through and 

including June 30, 2026. 

2. This Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party without cause, 

provided that a termination shall not be effective until thirty (30) days after a party has served 

written notice upon the other party.  The parties expressly agree that this Agreement shall be 

terminated immediately if, for any reason, RTC’s funding ability to satisfy this Agreement is 

withdrawn, limited, or impaired. If this agreement is terminated pursuant to the foregoing, the 

UNIVERSITY shall be paid for services provided prior to termination in an amount equal to the 

percentage of the task and deliverable completed prior to termination. 

3. All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given under this 

Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered personally 

in hand, by telephonic facsimile or electronic mail with simultaneous regular mail, or mailed 

certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid on the date posted, and addressed to the 

other party at the address set forth below: 

https://250,000.00
https://125,000.00


 

 

      
      
        
      
      
       
      
 

 
 

        
      

                                       
                                       
                                      
                                       
                                       
 

   
      
                                           
                                           
                                           
                                            
 

   

   

  

  

      

  

     

  

   

 

  

  

 

   

FOR RTC: Dale Keller, P.E., Engineering Director 
Attn.:  Scott Gibson, PE, Project Manager 
Regional Transportation Commission 
1105 Terminal Way, Suite 108 
Reno, NV  89502 
Phone:  (775) 335-1897 
E-mail:  bstewart@rtcwashoe.com 

FOR UNIVERSITY: 

TECHNICAL MATTERS: Dr. Peter Sebaaly 
Pavements/Materials Program 
Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering 
University of Nevada, Reno 
Reno, NV 89557-0152 
Phone: (775) 784-6565 
E-mail: psebaaly@unr.edu 

CONTRACTUAL MATTERS: Thomas Landis 
Grants and Contracts Manager 
Office of Sponsored Projects/325 
University of Nevada, Reno 
Phone: (775) 784-4040 
E-mail: tlandis@unr.edu 

4. Reserved. 

5. Any and all completed reports, materials, studies, photographs, negatives, drawings 

or other documents prepared in the performance obligations under this Agreement shall be deemed 

public information unless specifically and lawfully classified confidential. Both parties shall 

ensure no such documents are used for commercial purposes other than performance of obligations 

under this Agreement. 

6. To the fullest extent of NRS Chapter 41 liability limitations, each party agrees to 

indemnify, hold harmless and defend the other from and against all liability, claims, actions, 

damages, losses, and expenses, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, 

caused by the negligence, errors, omissions, recklessness or intentional misconduct of the party, 

its officers, employees and agents.  Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or 

otherwise reduce any other right or obligation of indemnity which would otherwise exist as to any 

party or person described herein.  This indemnification obligation is conditioned upon the 

performance of the duty of the party seeking indemnification (indemnified party), to serve the 

other party (indemnifying party) with written notice of actual or pending claim, within 30 days of 

mailto:tlandis@unr.edu
mailto:psebaaly@unr.edu
mailto:bstewart@rtcwashoe.com


 

 

   

 

 

   

  

    

 

    

 

  

    

 

  

  

    

  

 

   

   

 

 

   

  

 

   

  

 

 

   

the indemnified party’s notice of actual or pending claim or cause of action.  The indemnifying 

party shall not be liable for reimbursement of any attorney’s fees and costs incurred by the 

indemnified party due to said party exercising its right to participate with legal counsel. 

7. The parties do not waive and intend to assert available NRS Chapter 41 liability 

limitations in all cases.  Agreement liability of both parties shall not be subject to punitive damages.  

Actual damages for any RTC breach shall never exceed the amount of funds which have been 

appropriated for payment under this Agreement, but not yet paid, for the fiscal year budget in 

existence at the time of the breach. 

8. Failure to declare a breach or the actual waiver of any particular breach of the 

Agreement or its material or nonmaterial terms by either party shall not operate as a waiver by 

such party of any of its rights or remedies as to any other breach. 

9. An alteration ordered by the RTC which substantially changes the services provided 

for by the expressed intent of this Agreement will be considered extra work, and shall be specified 

in an Amendment which will set forth the nature and estimated scope thereof.  The method of 

payment for extra work shall be specified at the time the amendment is written. 

10. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be 

governed by, and construed according to, the laws of the State of Nevada. The parties consent to 

the jurisdiction of the Nevada district courts for enforcement of this Agreement. 

11. The illegality or invalidity of any provision or portion of this Agreement shall not 

affect the validity of the remainder of the Agreement and this Agreement shall be construed as if 

such provision did not exist.  The unenforceability of such provision shall not be held to render 

any other provision or provisions of this Agreement unenforceable. 

12. All or any property presently owned by either party shall remain in such possession 

upon termination of this Agreement, and there shall be no transfer of property between the parties 

during the course of this Agreement. 

13. It is specifically agreed between the parties executing this Agreement that it is not 

intended by any of the provisions of any part of the Agreement to create in the public or any 

member thereof a third party beneficiary status hereunder, or to authorize anyone not a party to 

this Agreement to maintain a suit for personal injuries or property damage pursuant to the terms 

or provisions of this Agreement. 

14. Each party agrees to keep and maintain under generally accepted accounting 

principles full, true and complete records and documents pertaining to this Agreement and present, 



 

 

 

      

   

 

   

   

   

   

  

  

    

  

    

   

  

   

  

   

   

 

   

 

    

   

 

  

  

  

 

 

at any reasonable time, such information for inspection, examination, review, audit and copying 

at any office where such records and documentation is maintained.  Such records and 

documentation shall be maintained for three (3) years after final payment is made. 

15. The parties are associated with each other only for the purposes and to the extent 

set forth in this Agreement.  Each party is and shall be a public agency separate and distinct from 

the other party and each party only has the right to supervise, manage, operate, control and direct 

performance of the details incident to its respective duties under this Agreement.  Nothing 

contained in this Agreement shall be deemed or construed to create a partnership or joint venture, 

to create relationships of an employer-employee or principal-agent, or to otherwise create any 

liability for one agency whatsoever with respect to the indebtedness, liabilities, and obligations of 

the other agency or any other party. 

16. Neither party shall assign, transfer, subcontract, or delegate any rights, obligations 

or duties under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. 

17. The parties hereto represent and warrant that the person executing this Agreement 

on behalf of each party has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement and that the 

parties are authorized by law to engage in the cooperative action set forth herein. 

18. Pursuant to NRS 239.010, information or documents may be open to public 

inspection and copying.  The parties will have the duty to disclose unless a particular record is 

confidential by law or a common law balancing of interests. 

19. Each party shall keep confidential all information, in whatever form, produced, 

prepared, observed or received by that party to the extent that such information is confidential by 

law or otherwise required by this Agreement. 

20. This Agreement shall not become effective until and unless approved by 

appropriate official action of the governing body of each party. 

21. This Agreement, including the program elements to be incorporated herein per 

Article I, paragraph 3, constitutes the entire agreement of the parties and such is intended as a 

complete and exclusive statement of the promises, representations, negotiations, discussions, and 

other agreements that may have been made in connection with the subject matter hereof.  Unless 

an integrated attachment to this Agreement specifically displays a mutual intent to amend a 

particular part of this Agreement, general conflicts in language between any such attachment and 

this Agreement shall be construed consistent with the terms of this Agreement.  Unless otherwise 

expressly authorized by the terms of this Agreement, no modification or amendment to this 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  

 
 

 
 
 

       
             

  
 
 
       

      
    

 
 

Agreement shall be binding upon the parties unless the same is in writing and signed by the 

respective parties hereto. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year first 

above written. 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

Bill Thomas, AICP 
Executive Director 

BOARD OF REGENTS, 
NEVADA SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATON  
on behalf of the University of Nevada, Reno 

Thomas A. Landis 
Associate Director, Sponsored Projects 



    

  
 

 
 

    
 

     
 

      
    

   
 

 
  

     
  

    
 

    
    

  
    

    

       

  
   

  

    
    

       
      

       
  

   
 

   
 
 

  
  
  

Exhibit A – Work Plan 

COOPERATIVE RESEARCH AGREEMENT FOR PAVEMENT TECHNOLOGY 

Principle Investigators: Peter E. Sebaaly, Elie Y. Hajj, and Adam J.T. Hand – CEE 
Sponsor: Washoe Regional Transportation Commission 

Duration: July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2026 

The pavement technology agreement is a bi-annual cooperative agreement between the Regional 
Transportation Commission of Washoe County (RTC) and the Pavement Engineering and Science 
(PES) program at the University of Nevada, Reno (UNR). The agreement is designed to work on 
issues that are critical to the design and construction of long-lasting roads throughout Washoe 
County.  
Accomplishments under the Current Agreement 
The last agreement was established on July 1, 2022 and will be completed on June 30, 2024. The 
following tasks were accomplished: 

• Task A: Assess the Implementation of Percent within Limit Specification 
This task evaluated the QA testing data from several RTC projects under the NDOT 
Percent within Limit Specification (PWL). A report was produced presenting the 
recommended actions to be taken based on the PWL in terms of bonuses or penalties for 
each produced lot of asphalt mixture. 
The PWL Overall for a given lot of AC mix was determined by the following: 

PWL Overall = 0.25xPWLGradation+0.33xPWLAC + 0.42xPWLIn-Place Density 

The Pay Factor (PF) for each lot of asphalt mix was determined by the following: 
PF = 55 + (0.5 x PWL Overall) 

The Progress Payment Adjustment (PPA) for each lot is the dollar amount (rounded to the 
nearest dollar), positive or negative, and was determined by the following: 

�PF−100 PPA = � x L x C 
100 

Where: 
PF = Pay Factor for each lot of the plant-produced asphalt mix 
L = Tonnage amount per lot 
C = Bid price per ton of the plant-produced asphalt mix 

• Task B: Percent Passing #200 Sieve Specification Assessment 
The objective of this task was to evaluate the influence of reducing the amount of material 
passing the #200 sieve (p200) on the durability performance of asphalt mixtures designed 
following the current RTC mix design method and gradation specifications (Orange Book 
Section 200.02).  Samples of virgin materials were obtained and laboratory mixtures were 
prepared and evaluated for the following properties: 

o Moisture Sensitivity (TSR) 
o Resistance to rutting in the Hamburg Wheel Tracking Test 

Page 1 of 3 



    

  
 

   
   

   

     

  
 
 

  
  

  
     
  
  
  
   

  
 

  
  

  
 

 
  

 
  
   
  
  

  
  

  
    

 
 

   
  
   
  
  
  

Exhibit A – Work Plan 

o Resistance to cracking in the Ideal CT test 
This task is still in-progress. Once completed, a technical report will be prepared 
summarizing the influence of p200 on mixture performance of the lab-produced asphalt 
mixtures along with the appropriate analyses to propose revised Section 200.02 p200 
gradation limits to improve asphalt mixtures durability.  

• Task C: Quality Assurance of Slurry Mixtures 
This task was conducted as collaboration with a current research project funded by 
NDOT’s Maintenance Division. The objective of this task was to develop a system for 
determining the various components of the field-produced slurry seal and microsurfacing 
mixtures. This task developed the following: 

o Field sampling procedure to obtain representative field-produced mixture 
o A process to extract the water, emulsion, and aggregate from the mixture 
o Test to determine the gradation of the extracted aggregate 
o Test to determine the amount of water in the mixture 
o Test to determine the amount emulsion in the mixture 
o Test to determine the amount asphalt residue in the mixture 

A technical guide was prepared to describe the entire system and how it should be used for 
the quality assurance of the field produced slurry mixture.     

• Task D: Technical Assistance 
Responded to various inquiries on the RTC Pavement Design Guide. 

Tasks to be completed under the 2024-2026 Agreement 
Task A: Implementation of Percent within Limit Specification 
The work completed under the 2022-2024 Agreement proved that it is feasible to implement the 
NDOT PWL system on RTC projects. The objective of this task will be to collect data from several 
RTC projects and calculate the following parameters: 

o The PWL values for gradation, asphalt content, and in-place density for each lot. 
o The overall PWL value for each lot. 
o The PF for each lot. 
o The PPA for the entire project in terms of bonus or penalty. 

Based on the analyses of the data generated from the various projects, this task will develop a plan 
for the implementation of the PWL system on RTC projects. 
Task B: Development of Superpave Mix Design Method 
Based on the research efforts conducted under the previous Agreements, it was concluded that a 
Superpave mix design can be developed for RTC projects. This task will develop a Superpave mix 
design manual which will include the following parts: 

• Aggregate gradation specifications. 
• Aggregate properties specifications. 
• Selection of number of gyrations for various mix types. 
• Selection of laboratory performance tests. 
• Mix design criteria for various mix types. 
• Selection of optimum binder content. 

Page 2 of 3 



    

  
 

       
    

    
   

   
 

 
  

 
  

    
   

    
  

      
   

  
       

    
    

   
   

      
   

      
    

  
 

   
 

  
  

   
  

   

  
 

Exhibit A – Work Plan 

This Task will leverage and benefit from changes that various State Departments of Transportation 
(DOTs) have successfully made to the Superpave volumetric mix design method to ensure the 
durability of asphalt mixtures with high reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) content (i.e., more than 
20%). Some changes that can be considered include regressed air voids, increased VMA 
requirements, Superpave 5, and corrected optimum binder content (COAC). The developed mix 
design manual will cover all the necessary laboratory test methods and analyses procedures.  
Task C: Specifications for a Stress Relief Course 
Mill and fill is the most common rehabilitation activity of asphalt concrete (AC) pavements. 
However, as this activity is applied over cracked AC pavements, the appearance of reflective 
cracking becomes very likely. The interface between the AC overlay and the cracked AC layer 
becomes a high stress concentration point which forces the existing cracks to propagate through 
the overlay at the rate of 1-icnh per year. Therefore, a 4-icnh AC overlay over a cracked AC 
pavement is expected to experience reflective cracking in 4 years, which will significantly reduce 
the service life of the pavement. 
A stress relief course (SRC) is a balanced fine graded asphalt mixture with high resistance to 
reflective cracking without jeopardizing rutting. The high resistance to reflective cracking is 
achieved through polymer modified binder, high binder content, and low air voids. The SRC is 
constructed as a 1-inch layer sandwiched between the existing cracked AC pavement and the new 
AC overlay. The UNR-PES Program developed an SRC mix for Nevada DOT (NDOT), which has 
been successfully applied on several projects. The SRC mix must meet performance criteria for 
overlay test, flexural bending beam fatigue test, and Hveem stability test. The performance criteria 
were established to meet NDOT traffic and environmental conditions. The objective of this task is 
to develop an SRC mix to be used on RTC projects under the Truckee Meadows and Incline 
Village conditions for traffic and environment following the Superpave Mix Design that will be 
developed in Task B. 
Task D: Assist RTC to apply for LCTM Grant 
The Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) established the Low-Carbon Transportation Materials (LCTM) 
Grants program which provides funding for the use of construction materials that have 
substantially lower levels of greenhouse gas emissions. FHWA anticipates $800 million will be 
available to non-State applicants, such as Washoe RTC, for LCTM award under a Notice of 
Funding Opportunity (NOFO) in the coming months. 
The objective of this task is to assist Washoe RTC to prepare application for funds under the IRA-
LCTM Program. Possible projects to be proposed include: use of higher RAP material (i.e., 30-
45%) in HMA mixtures, use warm mix asphalt technology to reduce production and construction 
temperatures, and use recycled rubber/plastics as binder replacement. Balanced mix design can be 
used as the technology to assess the potential performance of HMA mixtures incorporating LCTM. 
The PES program will conduct applicable literature reviews and provide technical input to RTC 
engineering staff during the preparation and submittal of the application.   

Page 3 of 3 



 

1---------------------------··-------------------1--------------1 
1---------------------------··-------------------1--------------1 
1---------------------------··-------------------1--------------1 

1---------------------------··-------------------1--------------1 
1---------------------------··-------------------1--------------1 
1----------------------------I·•------------------+-------------~ 

1----------------------------I·•------------------+-------------~ 
----------------------------··------------------+-------------~ 
1---------------------------··-------------------1--------------1 
1----------------------------I·•------------------+-------------~ 
----------------------------··------------------+-------------~ 
1---------------------------··-------------------1--------------1 
1---------------------------··-------------------1--------------1 
1----------------------------I·•------------------+-------------~ 

Exhibit B 

PROJECT BUDGET 

Cumulative 
Fringe Rates 

LOA  - All 9.80% 0.00 
Total LOA Salaries 0.00 

Professional Faculty (Acad./Admin) 31.60% 38710.00 
Overload (w/o retirement) 2.50% 0.00 
Postdoctoral 31.60% 0.00 

Total Professional Salaries 38710.00 
Graduate Assistants 15.10% 79200.00 
Classified Personnel 41.60% 0.00 
Hourly Wages 2.50% 8000.00 

Total Other Salaries 87200.00 
Total Salaries 125910.00 

Fringe Benefits-Manual Entry 24391.56 
Total Salaries & Fringe 150302.00 

Travel 0.00 
Materials & Supplies 5109.00 
Services 1928.00 
Rentals-Off Site Facilities 0.00 
Participant Support 0.00 
Subawards first $25,000 0.00 
Subawards over $25,000 0.00 

Total Subawards 0.00 
Tuition & Fees 18711.00 
Fellowships & Scholarships 0.00 
Capital Equipment 0.00 
Other Fixed Assets 0.00 

Total Direct Costs 176050.00 
Modified Total Direct Costs 157339.00 

F&A Rate 
F&A Costs 73950.00 

Total 250000.00 



  

 

    

 

 
   

 

   
 

   

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

Metropolitan Planning • Public Transportation & Operations • Engineering & Construction 

Metropolitan Planning Organization of Washoe County, Nevada 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.3.3

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Michele Payne, Property Agent

  SUBJECT: Administrative Settlement - Jentz Family Trust 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve an administrative settlement in the amount of $92,118 authorizing RTC to acquire certain 
property interests related to APN: 013-084-01 from Jentz Family Trust for the Mill Street Capacity and 
Safety Project. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

RTC is in the process of acquiring property needed for the Mill Street Capacity and Safety Project. RTC 
and Jentz Family Trust have negotiated an agreement to purchase certain property interests related to APN 
013-084-021 contingent upon Board approval. The proposed purchase price is $227,558, which represents 
a proposed administrative settlement of $92,118 above RTC’s original appraised value and offer of 
$135,440. RTC Management Policy P-55 requires Board approval of administrative settlements in excess 
of $50,000. 

Staff recommends approval of the settlement. If the Board approves the settlement, the Executive Director 
will execute the attached agreement and RTC will acquire the property interests. If the Board does not 
approve the settlement, staff will continue to attempt to negotiate for the purchase of the property interests 
until it becomes necessary to file a complaint in eminent domain. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The costs to acquire the subject property interests are included in the FY 2025 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



Project: Mill Street Capacity & Safety Project 
Project #: 0211007 
Parcel: 013-084-01 
Situs': 2100 Mill Street 

PUBLIC HIGHWAY AGREEMENT 

THIS PUBLIC HIGHWAY AGREEMENT ("AGREEMENT'), made this ~7 day of ~ , 
2024 (the "EFFECTIVE DATE"), by and between Jon L. Jentz and Michelle Karen Jentz, trustees of th Jentz 
Family Trust dated September 26, 2016. hereinafter called the r oWNER"), and the REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE COUNTY, hereinafter called the ("RTC"). 

WITNESSETH: 

1. That the OWNER, for and in consideration of the covenants to be performed and payments to 
be paid as herein provided, represents the following: 

(a) OWNER is the owner of that certain real property located in Washoe County, Nevada, 
described as Assessor's Parcel Number 013-084-01 (the "OWNER PROPERTY"). 

{b) OWNER owns fee title to OWNER PROPERTY and there are no prior encumbrances, 
liens, restrictions, covenants or conditions applicable to the OWNER PROPERTY which wilt frustrate or 
interfere with the purposes of this AGREEMENT. 

(c) That there are no leases, licenses, conditions, actions or threatened or pending 
litigation related to the OWNER PROPERTY which will frustrate or interfere with the purposes of this 
AGREEMENT. 

2. That the OWNER, for and in consideration of the covenants to be performed and payments to 
be paid as herein provided, agrees as follows: 

{a) To sell and convey a portion of the OWNER PROPERTY to the RTC, free and clear of 
any liens or encumbrances created by OWNER, by way of a grant, bargain and sale deed in substantially the 
fonn attached hereto as Schedule 1; this real property is described on Exhibit "A" to Schedule 1 and depicted 
on Exhibit ~B" to Schedule 1, attached hereto and made a part hereof (the "LAND"). 

(b) To grant a temporary construction easement to the RTC upon, over and across a portion 
of the OWNER PROPERTY by way of a temporary construction easement document in substantially the form 
attached hereto as Schedule 2; this temporary construction easement is described on Exhibit ''A" to Schedule 
~ and depicted on Exhibit "B" to Schedule 2, attached hereto and made a part hereof (the "TCE EASEMENT 
AREA"). 

{c) To grant a public utility easement to the RTC upon, over and across a portion of the 
OWNER PROPERTY by way of a public utility easement document in substantially the form attached hereto 
as Schedule 3; this public utility easement is described on Exhibit "A" to Schedule 3 and depicted on Exhibit 
"8" to Schedule 3 attached hereto and made a part hereof (the "PUE AREA"). 

(d) To be responsible for the LAND, PUE AREA and TCE EASEMENT AREA, including 
risk and liability for loss and damage, including all repairs to the premises prior to the CLOSING DATE. 

(e) To acknowledge and hereby does acknowledge, that a public highway and the 
necessary incidents thereto (the "PROJECT"), are to be located upon, over, and across the LAND. 

Page 1 of 8 



(f) To waive, and hereby does waive, all claims and rights that OWNER may have to seek 
consequential, special and/or punitive damages in relation to any breach of the obl igations contemplated in 
this AGREEMENT, and acknowledges that nothing in this AGREEMENT is intended to or shall it be construed 
to waive the rights, limitations and immunities of the RTC under Nevada Revised Statutes Chapter 41 . 

3. The RTC, in consideration of the promises and covenants of the OWNER herein set forth, 
agrees as follows: 

(a) To pay to the OWNER in the manner hereinafter provided the sum of TWO HUNDRED 
TWENTY-SEVEN THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED FIFTY-EIGHT DOLLARS ($227,558). which shall be the 
total purchase price for the LAND, PUE AREA AND TCE EASEMENT AREA. 

(b) To deliver to CONSULTANT such other documentation as CONSULTANT may 
reasonable require to close the transaction and consummate the real property transfers in accordance with 
the terms of this AGREEMENT. 

(c) To acknowledge, and hereby does acknowledge, that the real property conveyed 
hereby is transferred and sold ~AS IS", "WHERE IS", WITH ALL FAUL TS AND CONDITIONS THEREON, and 
that OWNER has not made and specifically disclaims any representations, warranties, promises, covenants 
or guaranties of any kind or character whatsoever, whether express or implied, oral or written, past, present 
or future with respect to the LAND. PUE AREA and TCE EASEMENT AREA, and hereby waives any right to 
make any claim against OWNER based on any of the foregoing. 

{c) To leave the TCE EASEMENT AREA in as neat and presentable condition as existed 
prior to RTC's entry. 

4. In the event of any default by OWNER under this AGREEMENT, the RTC may, as its sole and 
exclusive remedy for such default, either: (1) terminate this AGREEMENT in its entirety by delivery of notice 
of termination to OWNER and receive a refund of all amounts paid by RTC to the OWNER, or (2) continue 
this AGREEMENT pending the RTC's action for injunctive relief and/or specific performance hereunder 
provided appropriate proceedings are commenced by the RTC within ninety (90) days following RTC's written 
notice to OWNER of OWNER's default. Nothing in this Section shall limit or impair the rights of the RTC to 
condemn or exercise its power of condemnation and eminent domain with respect to real property interests 
needed for the PROJECT including, but not limited to, the LAND, PUE AREA and TCE EASEMENT AREA. 

5. With respect to the PROJECT, it is mutually agreed and understood by the RTC and by the 
OWNER as follows: 

(a) Based upon the best information available to RTC for the time frame of the PROJECT, 
the term ofthe TCE EASEMENT shall commence on October 1, 2024 and shall continue through and including 
September 30, 2027. The RTC shall have the option, at its sole discretion, to extend the term of the TCE 
EASEMENT under the same terms and conditions of this AGREEMENT, for One {1) additional successive 
term of Twelve (12) months. for a total TCE EASEMENT term not to exceed four (4) years, by delivering 
written notice to OWNER not later than August 31 , 2027. The RTC's exercise of the term extension option 
shall not be effective or binding upon the RTC unless and until the same has been approved by the appropriate 
official action of the RTC and communicated in writing to the OWNER. 

(b) In the event the RTC exercises its option to extend the term of the TCE EASEMENT, 
the rental rate price to be paid by the RTC to the OWNER shall be that same rental rate as established in this 
AGREEMENT of: FORTY ($40.00) per square foot for Assessor Parcel No. 013-084-01, multiplied by a rental 
rate of NINE percent (9%) multiplied by ONE (1 ) year, for a total amount of FIVE THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED 
TWENTY-SIX DOLLARS ($5, 126). Payment of the foregoing sum to OWNER by the RTC shall be a condition 
to the effectiveness of the option to extend the term of the TCE EASEMENT. Upon completion of the Project, 
the RTC will execute any documentation as may be reasonably necessary to cause the TCE EASEMENT to 
be released of record . 

Page 2 or 8 



(c) That as soon as reasonably practicable following the EFFECTIVE DATE hereof, the 
RTC shall commence and thereafter shalt use its commercially reasonable best efforts to complete the 
PROJECT within the timeline (as may be extended) previously provided to OWNER and as provided for by 
all applicable laws and standards. 

6. It is further mutually agreed and understood by the RTC and by the OWNER as follows: 

(a) The laws of the State of Nevada shall be applied in interpreting and construing this 
AGREEMENT. The party's consent to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the Second Judicial District 
Court in and for the State of Nevada, located in Washoe County, Nevada, for the enforcement of this 
AGREEMENT. 

(b) This AGREEMENT shall constitute the entire contract between the parties hereto, and 
no modification hereof shall be binding upon the parties unless the same is in writing and signed by the 
respective parties hereto. 

(c} All covenants and agreements herein contained shall extend to and be obligatory upon 
the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns, as the case may be, of the respective parties. 

(d) As used herein the term OWNER shall include the plural as well as the singular, and 
the feminine as well as the masculine and the neuter. 

(e) The covenants and agreements expressed in the AGREEMENT shall survive the Close 
of project. 

(f) The regulations pertaining to nondiscrimination and Title V1 of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, as contained in Title 23, Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, and Title 49, Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 21, are hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of this AGREEMENT. 

(g} Except as otherwise provided for by law or this AGREEMENT, the rights and remedies 
of the parties hereto shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by 
law or equity. 

(h) That the persons signing this AGREEMENT and all related documents on behalf of the 
RTC and OWNER are duly authorized to so sign and have the full power and authority to bind them, and to 
enter into and perform the obligations hereunder. 

(i) That this AGREEMENT may be executed in counterpart. 

U) Notices. Except as otherwise expressly specified in this AGREEMENT, all notices, 
requests, consents, approvals, agreements, authorizations, acknowledgments, waivers and other 
communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing to the addresses set forth below and shall 
be deemed given: (i) immediately when delivered by hand; (ii) the next business day when sent by overnight 
delivery by internationally recognized express courier such as Federal Express or UPS; 

or (iii) three (3) days after deposit in the United States mail postage prepaid, registered or certified mail. return 
receipt requested: 

To RTC: To OWNER: 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County Jantz Family Trust 
Attn: Michele Payne Attn: Jon L. Jentz & 
1105 Terminal Way, Suite 108 Michelle Karen Jentz 
Reno, NV 89502 659 Third Avenue, Suite A 

Chula Vista, CA 91910 

Page 3 of 8 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this AGREEMENT the day and year first 
above written. 

OWNER: Jon L. Jentz and Michelle Karen Jentz, trustees of the Jentz Family Trust dated September 26, 
2016. Byi~

J~JeTtee ¥ -~· 
By: t14~ I<-~ . . . 

Michette Karen Jentz, Trustee 

STATE OF ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on ___________ by Jon L. Jentz, Trustee of 
the Jentz Family Trust. 

s See 
E Notary Publ ic 
A 
L 

My commission expires: 

STATE OF ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on ___________ by Michelle Karen Jentz. 
Trustee of the Jentz Family Trust. 0 .t .~-

Cl+-+a..;,,c.J,, 11',M\,+s 
E Notary Public 
A 
L 

My commission expires: 

RTC Signature Page Follows 

Page 4 of 8 



RTC: 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE COUNTY 

William Thomas, Executive Director 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on 

___________________ by William Thomas as Executive Director of the 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County. 

s 
E Notary Public 
A 
L 

My commission expires: 

Page 5 of 8 



ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

A notary public or other officer completing this 
certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is 
attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or 
validi of that document. 

State of California 
County of ScA'f\ \) ·, e q_.,c > 

before me, yesco, 0. O f-\-iz_ 'F"or+o-nc: I 
(insert name and title of the officer) 

personally appeared Jo r- \_ 3"eY\--,- 2 0bd t:\ \c \0:c \\:e_ K. ,'5-e_ \'\i 7-
who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are 
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in 
his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s} on the instrument the 
person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENAL TY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 

fNUftttttltttllltllHtttn,,1n1111!:•IQ zWITNESS my hand and official seal. 'ttSENlA ORTIZ FORTAHEL. :
COMM.t2-487"°4 

I ICWff PlS..IC . r.AUFORN1A ! 
INIDIEGOCOOHTY •

I My~ txpi-11 IM/191202.8 = 
lttfltUIIII..IIIIIUIIIIIUttttUlll' 

(Seal) 



SCHEDULE 1 

FORM OF GRANT, BARGAIN AND SALE DEED 

Page 6 of 8 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION PREPARED BY: 
HALANA D. SALAZAR, PLS 
JACOBS ENGINEERING 
50 W. LIBERTY ST., SUITE 205 
RENO, NV 89501 

EXHIBIT "A" 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Ptn. of APN 013-084-01 
Fee Parcel 

Situate, lying and being in the City of Reno, County of Washoe, State of Nevada, and more 
particularly described as being a portion of the SW 1/4 of Section 7, T. 19 N., R. 20 E., M.D.M.; 
and more fully described by metes and bounds as follows: 

BEGINNING at the intersection of the right or southerly right-of-way line 
of Mill Street with Grantor's westerly boundary line, which is coincident with the 
easterly right-of-way line of Louise Street, 52.00 feet right of and at right angles 
to Highway Engineer's Station "M" 103+55.27 P.O.T.; said point of beginning 
further described as bearing S. 29°44'14" W. a distance of 2,939.59 feet from the 
center quarter corner of said Section 7; said corner further described as being a 
3 inch brass cap in a survey well stamped "Center Sec 7/C ENGR" in Glendale 
Avenue; thence from a tangent which bears N. 40°45'36" E., curving to the right 
along said westerly boundary line and said easterly right-of-way line, with a 
radius of 20.00 feet, through an angle of 76°18'52", an arc distance of 26.64 feet 
to the former right or southerly right-of-way line of Mill Street; thence 
S. 62°55'32" E., along said former southerly right-of-way line, a distance of 
129.59 feet to Grantor's easterly boundary line; thence S. 25°47'53" W., along 
said easterly boundary line, a distance of 13.12 feet to said right or southerly 
right-of-way line of Mill Street; thence N. 63°45'1 O" W., along said southerly 
right-of-way line, a distance of 149.33 feet to the point of beginning; said parcel 
contains an area of 2,041 square feet (0.05 of an acre). 

The Basis of Bearing for this description is the NEVADA STATE PLANE COORDINATE 
SYSTEM, NAO 83/94 DATUM, West Zone as determined b the State of Nevada, Department 
of Transportation. 

Page 1 of 1 

https://2,939.59
https://103+55.27


EXHIBIT "B" 
SEC? 
T 19 N C a 
R20 E 

SCALE: 1 "=50' 

I I FEE ACQUISITION 

I 
~LST. / 

I 

6. = 76°18'52" 
R = 20.00' 
L = 26.64' 
T.B. = N 40°45'36" E 

N 63°45'10" W 
P.O.B. 52.00' RT. 149.33' 
"M" 103+55.27 P.O.T. 

52.00' RT. 
"M" 105+04.60 P.O.T. 

JENTZ FAMILY TRUST 
013-084-01 P/L 

P/L 

P/L 

JON L. JENTZ & MICHELLE KAREN JENTZ, TRUSTEES OF THE 
OWNER: ---------------- - --~J=E=N~T=Z~F~A=M=IL~Y_T~R~U=S~T_,,D=A~T=E=D~S=E=P~T=E=M=B=E~R=2=6~2=0_,_1-"-"'6 
ASSESSOR PARCEL NO's: ___________________________,_A-=P_,_N-'-'0"""'1'""'3_,,-0=8_,_4-_,,_0-'--11 
SECTION, TOWNSHIP, RANGE:_________________~ S_,_W~ 1/_,_4 ~S=E~CT~ l~O~N~7~ T~. 1~9~N~·~R~-~2=0~E'--I. 
AREA: _ _____________ ________________ ~2=0_,_41~ S=Q= U= A~R~E~ FE=E~T'--' 
LOCATION: _______________________~C~ITY~ O~ F ~R=E~N=O~C=O= U= N_,_TY~=O~F _,_W~A=S~H~O=E'--' 

PROPERTY LOCATION MAP 

JOB NO: W7Y47500 

JAcoas· 
50 W. LIBERTY ST. STE #205 
RENO, NV 89501 
(775) 329-7300 

DATE: 05/09/2023 

DRAWN BY: SB 

CHECKED BY: HS 

013--084-01_FEE.dgn 



    

  
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE 2 

FORM OF TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT DEED 

Page 8 of 9 







   

  SCHEDULE 3 

FORM OF PERMANENT UTILITY EASEMENT DEED 

Page 9 of 9 







  

 

 
 

  
  

 

 
   

    

  
    

 
  

 
   

 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.3.4

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Dale Keller, Director of Engineering

  SUBJECT: Resolution regarding Intention to Sell Property to City of Reno 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Adopt a resolution declaring an intention to sell property (APN 004-082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-
061-20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02) to the City of Reno. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

RTC acquired certain property between 1999 and 2004 for a planned US 395/Clear Acre/Sutro Interchange 
Improvement Project which was only partially completed. RTC no longer needs the property for the 
project or another roadway project.  

In October 2023, the RTC Board authorized the Executive Director to negotiate the terms of a property 
exchange with the Truckee Meadows Water Authority (“TMWA”) for a portion of the property, and a sale 
of the remaining property to the City of Reno (“City”). Following additional RTC Board actions, the 
property exchange with TMWA was completed in March 2024. RTC and City staff have negotiated the 
terms of a proposed sale of the remaining property. 

The City wants to acquire the remaining property (APN 004-082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-061-20; 
APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02) for a public use and purpose related to 
affordable housing. When RTC property is no longer needed, and the property is sought by another public 
agency for a public use, RTC may sell the property to that public agency. NRS 277A.255(1)(c), referencing 
NRS 277.050. 

RTC completed an appraisal of the property in October 2023 which valued the property at $2,517,750. By 
letter dated October 31, 2023, RTC offered to sell the property to the City for that appraised value. After 
that offer, RTC completed the property exchange with TMWA. As part of the exchange, TMWA acquired 
the parcel and easements it needed for a specific site plan for the placement of water tanks on the parcel.  
Since then, the City has determined that TMWA’s planned placement of water tanks on its parcel would 
need to be changed to accommodate an affordable housing development on the parcels the City wants to 
purchase. By email on March 12, 2024, TMWA expressed that it is willing to work with the City to change 



 

 
  

   
    

 
   

  

 
  

 

 

 
 

  

Resolution regarding Intention to Sell Property to City of Reno 
Page 2 

the water tank locations but the cost of the changes may be around $400,000 to $500,000 depending on the 
final water tank locations.    

The City completed an appraisal of the property dated May 21, 2024, which valued the property at 
$2,656,000. By letter dated June 17, 2024, the City offered to purchase the property from RTC for 
$2,256,000 to reflect the City’s appraisal and a $400,000 reduction for the TMWA water tank development 
impacts. RTC staff is recommending that the property be sold to the City for $2,256,000. The sale price 
reflects a reasonable assessment of value and is greater than the amount RTC originally paid for the 
property. The proceeds of the sale will be returned to the Street and Highway Fund and used by RTC for 
capital outlay on future roadway projects. 

Approval of this resolution will satisfy the requirements in NRS 277.050(5). RTC would then hold a public 
meeting on July 19, 2024, to provide an opportunity for the public to make objections to the sale as required 
by NRS 277.050(5) and (6). If the RTC Board decides to move forward with the sale, the RTC Board 
would then adopt a resolution to approve the purchase and sale agreement and satisfy the requirements in 
NRS 277.050(7). RTC staff would then enter into the agreement and complete the sale. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The proceeds of the sale will be returned to the Street and Highway Fund and will be used for capital outlay 
on future roadway projects. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

10/20/2023 Authorized the Executive Director to negotiate the terms and conditions of the following 
agreements related to RTC property acquired as part of a planned US 395/Clear Acre/Sutro 
Interchange Improvement Project (APNs: 004-061-20, 004-061-22, 004-061-26, 004-061-
28, 004-082-18, 035-033-02): (1) a property exchange agreement with the Truckee 
Meadows Water Authority (TMWA) whereby TMWA will acquire a portion of the RTC 
property for a water tank site and facilities project, and RTC will acquire a TMWA parcel 
located at 9675 Western Skies Drive (APN: 140-051-23) for a planned roadway project; and 
(2) a purchase and sale agreement with the City of Reno for the sale of the remaining RTC 
property to the City of Reno for a public use related to affordable housing. 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 24-07 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING AN INTENTION TO SELL PROPERTY 
(APN 004-082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-061-20; APN 004-061-26; APN 
004-061-22; APN 035-033-02) TO THE CITY OF RENO 

WHEREAS, the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County, Nevada 
(“RTC”) acquired certain property for a planned US 395/Clear Acre/Sutro Interchange 
Improvement Project that was only partially completed; and 

WHEREAS, the property was purchased under the threat of eminent domain proceedings 
by RTC pursuant to chapter 37 of the Nevada Revised Statutes (“NRS”); and 

WHEREAS, RTC no longer needs APN 004-082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-061-
20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02 (the “Property”) for the project or 
another roadway project; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Reno (“City”) has represented that it intends to purchase the 
Property for a public use and purpose related to affordable housing; and  

WHEREAS, RTC intends to sell the Property to the City pursuant to NRS 277A.255(1)(c) 
and NRS 277.050; and 

WHEREAS, the terms of the sale are more particularly described in the “Purchase and 
Sale Agreement” attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA: 

Section 1. RTC staff has determined that $2,256,000 is a reasonable price for the 
Property. 

Section 2. The City has represented that it will use the Property for a public use and 
purpose related to affordable housing. 

Section 3. RTC hereby declares its intention to sell the Property to the City for the 
minimum price of $2,256,000 upon the terms more particularly described in the “Purchase and 
Sale Agreement” attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

Section 4. As required by NRS 277.050(5)(c), the RTC Board of Commissioners shall 
hold a public hearing at its regular meeting on August 16, 2024, at which objections to the sale 
may be made by the electors of Washoe County. 

Section 5. As required by NRS 277.050(6), RTC staff shall publish notice of the 
adoption of this resolution and of the time and place of the public hearing on August 16, 2024, in 
a newspaper of general circulation published in Washoe County.  The notice must be published 
not less than twice, on successive days, the last publication to be not less than 7 days before the 
date of the public hearing. 

1 



 

 

 
 

 
 

      
 
  

 

Section 6. The authority granted under the foregoing resolutions shall be deemed to 
include, in the case of each such resolution, the authority to perform such further acts and deeds 
as may be necessary, advisable or appropriate, in the judgment of RTC staff, to take such further 
actions in compliance with law as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to the foregoing 
resolutions. 

Section 7. This resolution shall become effective on its passage and adoption. 

PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED on July 19, 2024. 

Chair 
Regional Transportation Commission of  
Washoe County 

2 



 

 
 

Exhibit A 

Purchase and Sale Agreement 



 

 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
   

 
 

 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 

This PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into 
as of the Effective Date (defined below), by and between the Regional Transportation Commission 
of Washoe County, Nevada, a regional transportation commission governed by Nevada Revised 
Statutes Chapter 277A (“Seller” or “RTC”), and City of Reno (“Buyer”) (Seller and Buyer each 
a “Party” and collectively, the “Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, as part of Seller’s US 395/Clear Acre/Sutro Interchange Improvement 
Project (“Project”), Seller acquired title to certain parcels located at the southwest corner of Clear 
Acre Lane and Scottsdale Road in Reno, Nevada: APN 004-082-18; APN 004-061-29; APN 004-
061-20; APN 004-061-26; APN 004-061-22; and APN 035-033-02 (collectively, the “Parcels”). 

WHEREAS, Buyer has represented that it intends to purchase the property for a public 
use and purpose related to affordable housing.  

WHEREAS, on July 19, 2024, Seller’s Board of Commissioners adopted a resolution 
declaring Seller’s intention to sell the Parcels to Buyer. 

WHEREAS, on August 16, 2024, Seller’s Board of Commissioners heard objections, if 
any, to the proposed sale of the Parcels to Buyer.  Seller’s Board of Commissioners thereafter 
adopted a resolution approving the sale of all of Seller’s right, title, and interest in and to the 
Parcels to Buyer, authorizing the RTC Executive Director to execute this Agreement, and 
authorizing the RTC Chair to execute and deliver a quitclaim deed conveying the Parcels to Buyer 
upon performance of all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

WHEREAS, on August 28, 2024, Buyer’s City Council approved the purchase.   

NOW THEREFORE, for valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
hereby acknowledged, and subject only to the contingencies set forth herein, Buyer and Seller 
agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Definitions. For the purpose of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the 
following definitions: 

1.1. “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, a Person that directly or 
indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, has control of, is controlled by, or is under common 
control with, such Person. For these purposes, “control” means the possession, directly or 
indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management of any Person, whether 
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. 

1 



 

 

 
 

    
 

   

  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

1.2. “Closing Date” means the date upon which Closing (defined below) 
actually occurs, as such date may be modified pursuant to mutual agreement of Buyer and Seller; 
provided that such date is on or before October 31, 2024 (the “Outer Closing Date”). 

1.3. “Effective Date” means the later of (i) the date on which the Parties deliver 
a copy of this Agreement to Escrow Holder executed by both Buyer and Seller, and (ii) notice of 
such delivery and execution is given to each Party along with a copy of such executed Agreement. 
For the purposes of determining the “Effective Date,” the date on which the Escrow Holder sends 
an email to all Parties notifying them of the opening of escrow shall be deemed notice to each 
Party of the execution and delivery of the Agreement. 

1.4. “Escrow Holder” means Ticor Title of Nevada, Inc., 5441 Kietzke Lane, 
Suite 100, Reno, Nevada 89511 (attention: Luann Barnes). 

1.5. “Hazardous Substances” means any and all substances, materials and 
wastes which are regulated as hazardous or toxic under applicable local, state or federal law or 
which are classified as hazardous or toxic under local, state or federal laws or regulations, 
including, without limitation, (i) those substances included within the definitions of “hazardous 
substances,” “hazardous materials,” “toxic substances,” “solid waste,” “pollutant” or 
“contaminant” as such terms are defined by or listed in the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.) (“CERCLA”), as 
amended by Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (Pub. L. 99-499 100 Stat. 
1613) (“SARA”), the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. § 1801 et seq.), the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.) (“RCRA”), the Toxic 
Substance Control Act (15 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.), the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and 
Rodenticide Control Act (7 U.S.C. § 136 et seq.), the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 
(29 U.S.C. § 651 et seq.), the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act of 1986 
(42 U.S.C. § 11001 et seq.), the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984 (Public Law 
86-616 Nov. 9, 1984), the Federal Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.), and in the regulations 
promulgated pursuant to such laws, all as amended, (ii) those substances listed in the United States 
Department of Transportation Table (49 CFR 172.101) or 40 CFR Part 302, both as amended, and 
(iii) any material, waste or substance which is (A) oil, gas or any petroleum or petroleum by- 
product, (B) asbestos, in any form, (C) polychlorinated biphenyls, (D) designated as a “hazardous 
substance” pursuant to Section 311 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), as amended, 
(E) flammable explosives, or (F) radioactive materials. 

1.6. “Inspection Period” means the period beginning on the Effective Date and 
ending at 5:00 p.m. (Pacific Time) on the forty-fifth (45th) calendar day following the Effective 
Date. 

1.7. “Person” shall mean all natural persons, corporations, limited partnerships, 
general partnerships, limited liability companies, joint stock companies, joint ventures, 
associations, companies, trusts, banks, trust companies, land trusts, business trusts or other 
organizations, whether or not legal entities, and governments and branches agencies and political 
subdivisions thereof. 

2 



 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

1.8. “Title Company” means Ticor Title of Nevada, Inc., 5441 Kietzke Lane, 
Suite 100, Reno, Nevada 89511 (attention: Luann Barnes). 

2. Sale of Property; Purchase Price. 

2.1. Sale of Property. Subject to the terms, covenants and conditions of this 
Agreement, Seller shall sell to Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase from Seller, all of Seller’s right, 
title and interest in and to the Parcels, as more particularly described in Exhibit A and depicted in 
Exhibit B, with all of Seller's right, title and interest in and to all water, air and mineral rights, 
interests, privileges, entitlements, utility deposits, easements, rights, improvements, hereditaments 
and appurtenances to said Parcels (collectively the “Property”). 

2.2. Purchase Price. The purchase price to be paid by Buyer to Seller for the 
Property is Two Million Two Hundred Fifty-Six Thousand and no/100 Dollars (US 
$2,256,000.00), which shall be in cash or other immediately available funds (the “Purchase 
Price”). 

2.3. No Financing Contingency. Buyer acknowledges that the Buyer’s 
obligation to consummate the transaction contemplated hereby is not contingent upon Buyer’s 
ability to obtain financing and that the Closing (defined below) will not be deferred to allow Buyer 
time to obtain financing. Buyer further acknowledges that no financing for this transaction will be 
provided by Seller, nor shall Buyer be permitted to assume Seller’s existing financing, if any. 

2.4. Payment of the Purchase Price. The Purchase Price shall be payable as 
follows: 

2.4.1. Deposit. On or before the date that is ten (10) calendar days after 
the Effective Date, Buyer shall initiate a wire transfer to Escrow Holder in the amount of five 
thousand and no/100 dollars (US $5,000.00) as a good faith deposit (the “Deposit”), which shall 
be applicable to the Purchase Price at Closing. The Deposit shall be nonrefundable after the 
expiration of the Inspection Period (if Buyer has not terminated the Agreement), except on 
account of the failure of any of Buyer’s Closing Conditions (defined below) and as otherwise 
set forth herein. The benefit of the Deposit shall be retained by Seller pursuant to Section 10.1 
if this Agreement is terminated or if the Closing does not occur by the Closing Date for any 
reason other than (a) upon the failure of a contingency or condition contained in Sections 3 or 
4.1, or (b) if this Agreement is terminated by Buyer in accordance with any of Sections 4.1.2, 
6.1, 6.2, 9.1, or 10.2, in which case the Deposit shall be immediately refunded by Escrow Holder 
to Buyer. 

2.4.2. Balance of Purchase Price. Buyer shall deposit into Escrow an 
amount equal to the Purchase Price, plus Buyer’s Closing Cost, minus the amount of the 
Deposit, less credits due to Buyer under Section 3.9 hereof (the “Cash Balance”) in the form of 
immediately available United States federal funds no later than the Closing Date. 

3 

https://5,000.00
https://2,256,000.00


 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

2.5. Interest. All funds received from or for the account of Buyer shall be 
deposited by Escrow Holder in an interest-bearing account with a federally insured state or national 
bank, redeemable on not more than one day’s notice. Interest shall accrue for the benefit of Buyer. 

3. Escrow; Closing Conditions and Other Closing Matters. 

3.1. Escrow. Upon the execution of this Agreement by Buyer and Seller, and 
the acceptance of this Agreement by Escrow Holder in writing, this Agreement shall constitute the 
joint escrow instructions of Buyer and Seller to Escrow Holder to open escrow (the “Escrow”) for 
the consummation of the sale of the Property to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement. Upon Escrow 
Holder’s receipt of the Deposit and Escrow Holder’s written acceptance of this Agreement, Escrow 
Holder shall send email confirmation of the opening of Escrow to all Parties in accordance with 
Section 1.3 above, and is authorized to act in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. If 
required by Escrow Holder, Buyer and Seller shall promptly execute general escrow instructions 
based upon this Agreement; provided, however, that if there is any conflict or inconsistency 
between such general escrow instructions and this Agreement, this Agreement shall control. Any 
disbursements made to the Parties by Escrow Holder shall be made with immediately available 
United States federal funds. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer and Seller shall retain the right 
to deliver supplemental escrow instructions to Escrow Holder pertaining to the delivery and release 
of documents and similar matters. 

3.2. Closing Date. The consummation of the sale of the Property through 
Escrow shall close (the “Closing” or “Close of Escrow”) on the Closing Date (or such other date 
as may be agreed upon by the Parties) provided that all conditions to the Closing set forth in this 
Agreement have been satisfied or waived in writing by the Party intended to be benefited thereby. 
In the event that the Closing does not occur on or before the Outer Closing Date, this Agreement 
shall terminate and neither Party shall have any further obligation to the other except to the 
extent that failure to close was caused by default of Buyer or Seller, in which case the Parties shall 
have the remedies upon default described in Sections 10.1 and 10.2. 

3.3. Buyer’s Conditions to Closing. The Closing is subject to and contingent 
on the satisfaction of only the following conditions (collectively, “Buyer’s Conditions to 
Closing”) or the waiver of the same by Buyer in writing: 

3.3.1. Accuracy of Seller’s Representations and Warranties. All of the 
representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in 
all material respects as of the date made and as of the Closing. 

3.3.2. Seller’s Performance. Seller shall have timely performed, satisfied 
and complied in all material respects with all material covenants, agreements and conditions 
required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by Seller on or before the Closing 
Date. 

3.3.3. Title Policy. The Title Company is willing to issue the Title Policy 
complying with the requirements of Section 4.2 upon the payment of the premium therefor and the 
provision of any information or assurances from Seller required by the Title Company. 

4 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

3.3.4. No Adverse Action. There shall exist no pending or threatened 
action, suit or proceeding with respect to Seller or the Property before or by any court or 
administrative agency which seeks to restrain or prohibit, or to obtain damages or a discovery order 
with respect to, this Agreement or the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby. 

3.4. Seller’s Conditions to Closing. The obligations of Seller to consummate 
the transactions provided for herein are subject to and contingent upon the satisfaction only of the 
following conditions or the waiver of same by Seller in writing: 

3.4.1. Accuracy of Buyer’s Representations and Warranties. All of the 
representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in 
all material respects as of the date made and as of the Closing. 

3.4.2. Buyer’s Performance. Buyer shall have timely performed, satisfied 
and complied in all material respects with all material covenants, agreements and conditions 
required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by Buyer on or before the Closing Date. 

3.5. Closing Costs and Charges. 

3.5.1. Seller’s Costs. None. 

3.5.2. Buyer’s Costs. Buyer shall pay (a) all of the Escrow Holder’s 
escrow fees in connection with the Escrow; (b) recording fees payable in connection with the 
transfer of the Property to Buyer from Seller; (c) the cost of the Title Policy (including the cost of 
any endorsements); (d) the costs of any due diligence investigations conducted by or for the benefit 
of Buyer; and (e) all documentary and/or transfer taxes on the Deed, if any. 

3.5.3. Other Costs. All other costs relating to the Closing, if any, shall be 
borne by Buyer; provided, however, that, except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, 
each Party hereto shall be responsible for its own attorney’s fees and costs in connection herewith. 

3.6. Deposit of Documents by Seller. On or before the Closing Date, Seller 
shall deposit the following items into Escrow, each of which shall be duly executed and 
acknowledged by Seller where appropriate: 

(a) The Quitclaim Deed; 

(b) A Certification of Non-Foreign Status (the “Certification”); 

(c) All other documents as may reasonably be required by Escrow 
Holder or Buyer to close the Escrow in accordance with this 
Agreement. 

5 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 
    

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
 

  

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

3.7. Deposit of Documents and Funds by Buyer. On or before the Closing 
Date, Buyer shall deposit the following items into Escrow, each of which shall be duly executed 
and acknowledged by Buyer where appropriate: 

(a) The Cash Balance; 

(b) All other funds and documents as may reasonably be required by 
Escrow Holder or Seller to close the Escrow in accordance with this 
Agreement. 

3.8. Delivery of Documents and Funds at Closing. Provided that all conditions 
to Closing set forth in this Agreement have been satisfied or, as to any condition not satisfied, 
waived by the Party intended to be benefited thereby, on the Closing Date, Escrow Holder shall 
conduct the Closing by recording and/or distributing the following documents and funds in the 
following manner: 

3.8.1. Recorded Documents. Record the Quitclaim Deed in the Official 
Records of Washoe County, Nevada; 

3.8.2. Purchase Price. Deliver to Seller the Purchase Price and such other 
funds, if any, as may be due to Seller by reason of net credits under this Agreement; 

3.8.3. Buyer’s Documents. Deliver to Buyer: (a) the original Title Policy 
(as soon as practicable after Closing, but in any event not later than ten (10) calendar days 
following the Closing); (b) the original Certification; and (c) a counterpart of the recorded 
Quitclaim Deed; 

3.8.4. Seller’s Documents. Deliver to Seller an original fully executed 
counterpart of every document executed by Buyer and copies of every other document delivered 
to Buyer. 

3.9. Prorations and Adjustments. Those items described below shall be 
adjusted and prorated and apportioned between the Parties on an accrual basis and/or other 
reasonable method, taking into account the extent to which the same are attributable to periods 
before and after the Closing Date. Net credits in favor of Buyer shall be deducted from the Purchase 
Price and net credits in favor of Seller shall be paid to Seller in cash through Escrow at the Closing. 

3.9.1. Taxes and Assessments. All real estate taxes and assessments 
(including without limitation ad valorem, school, intangible and use taxes) relating to the Property 
shall be prorated based on the current year’s tax bills. 

3.9.2. Operating Expenses. Any and all deposits and charges for services, 
utilities, or any other expenses incurred in the operation of the Property shall be prorated between 
the Parties. Seller and Buyer shall obtain billings and meter readings available as of the Closing 
Date to aid in any such prorations, if available. 

6 



 

 

  
 

 

  
   
 

  
 

      
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

4. Title Matters; Conveyance of the Property. 

4.1. Preliminary Title Report. Within five (5) calendar days of the Effective 
Date, Title Company shall cause to be provided to Buyer and Seller a preliminary title report for 
title insurance to be issued by Title Company with respect to the Property, together with copies of 
all underlying title documents described in such preliminary title report (collectively, the “PTR”). 

4.1.1. If Buyer disapproves of any item in the PTR, then Buyer shall so 
notify Seller in writing on or before the date that is seven (7) calendar days prior to the expiration of 
the Inspection Period. If Buyer does not timely object in writing to any exception or other matter in 
the PTR, then Buyer shall be deemed to have approved the PTR. Seller shall be obligated to cure 
any of Buyer’s objections as to monetary encumbrances, and shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, to notify Buyer on or before the date which is three (3) business days following receipt 
of any Buyer objections that Seller that Seller will cure any exception objected to by Buyer and, 
in such case, shall provide such documents or funds as shall reasonably be required by the Title 
Company to remove or to cure such disapproved items, and/or to obtain a bond or title commitment 
(or endorsement, subject to Buyer’s approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld) removing 
the effect of such items as exceptions from the Title Policy.  Seller’s failure to deliver such notice 
to Buyer with respect to any disapproved item shall be deemed to be an election by Seller not to 
so remove or to cure such non-monetary encumbrance or obtain such a bond, title commitment or 
endorsement. 

4.1.2. If Seller elects not to remove or to cure any non-monetary 
encumbrance (or is otherwise deemed to have elected not to so remove or to cure the same), then 
Buyer shall have the right exercisable on or before the expiration of the Inspection Period to either 
(i) waive such exceptions to the Title Policy, and proceed to take title to the Property (and accept 
the Title Policy) subject to such exceptions, without any deduction or offset in the Purchase Price, 
and without any claim or cause of action against Seller, or (ii) terminate this Agreement, in which 
case the Deposit shall promptly be returned to Buyer, this Agreement shall terminate and the 
parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder, except those that are expressly stated 
to survive the Closing. 

4.2. Buyer’s Title Policy. At the Closing, Escrow Holder shall cause the Title 
Company, at Buyer’s sole cost, to issue to Buyer an ALTA Owner’s Policy of Title Insurance (the 
“Title Policy”) which shall be written with liability in the amount of the Purchase Price, and 
contain only such exceptions as are acceptable to Buyer in accordance with its title review pursuant 
to Section 4.1, and subject to Seller’s election to remove or not remove Buyer’s disapproved items 
pursuant to Section 4.1.1, and such endorsements as Buyer may require. If Buyer elects to obtain 
an ALTA Extended Coverage Policy of Title Insurance, Buyer shall also be responsible for the 
cost of any endorsements to the Title Policy Buyer may request. Escrow Holder shall cause a pro 
forma policy to be delivered to Buyer upon request. 

4.2.1. Conveyance of the Property. Seller shall convey title to the 
Property to Buyer by quitclaim deed in the form of Exhibit C attached hereto (the “Quitclaim 
Deed” or “Deed”). 

7 



 

 

 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

4.3. Delivery of Possession. Seller shall deliver possession of the Property to 
Buyer at the Closing. 

5. Commissions. Buyer and Seller each represent and warrant to the other that there 
are no commissions, finder’s fees or brokerage fees arising out of the transactions contemplated 
by this Agreement as a result of Seller’s or Buyer’s actions. Seller shall be solely responsible for 
any and all liabilities, claims, demands, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in connection with claims for any such commissions, finders’ 
fees or brokerage fees arising out of Seller’s actions. Buyer shall be solely responsible for any and 
all liabilities, claims, demands, damages, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs, in connection with claims for any such commissions, 
finders’ fees or brokerage fees arising out of Buyer’s actions. 

6. Damage or Destruction; Condemnation. 

6.1. Casualty Damage. If the Property is damaged by any casualty prior to the 
Close of Escrow, and the cost to repair such damage is in excess of $50,000.00, Buyer shall have 
the right, by giving notice to Seller before the Closing Date, to terminate this Agreement, in which 
case the Deposit shall promptly be returned to Buyer, this Agreement shall terminate and the 
parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder, except those that are expressly stated 
to survive the Closing. If Buyer does not elect to terminate this Agreement on account of a 
casualty, then this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and, at the Closing, Buyer shall 
take title to the Property subject to such casualty without any reduction or offset to the Purchase 
Price; provided, however, that in such event, Seller shall assign all insurance proceeds relating to 
such casualty event, if any, to Buyer at Closing, together with the amount of any deductible. 

6.2. Eminent Domain. If written notice from a governmental entity is received 
by Seller evidencing notice of intent to exercise its power of eminent domain of all or any portion 
of the Property or proceedings are commenced for the taking by exercise of the power of eminent 
domain of all or any portion of the Property, Buyer shall have the right, by giving notice to Seller, 
to terminate this Agreement, in which case the Deposit shall promptly be returned to Buyer, this 
Agreement shall terminate and the parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder, 
except those that are expressly stated to survive the Closing. If there is any right to terminate this 
Agreement pursuant to the preceding sentence but neither Party exercises such right, then this 
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, and Buyer shall take title to the Property subject 
to such taking without any reduction or offset to the Purchase Price, but with an assignment of all 
rights to awards and compensation (and/or any awards and/or compensation received) on account 
of any such taking. 

6.3. Effect of Section 6. This Section is intended as an express provision with 
respect to the destruction, damage, or condemnation of the Property which supersedes the 
provisions of the Nevada Uniform Vendor and Purchaser Act, NRS 113.030 et seq. 

7. Seller’s Representations and Warranties. Seller represents and warrants to Buyer 
that as of the Effective Date and as of the Closing Date: 

8 

https://50,000.00


 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

   
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
    

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

7.1. Seller has the full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its 
obligations under this Agreement; 

7.2. This Agreement and all agreements, instruments and documents herein 
provided to be executed by Seller, as the case may be, are and as of the Closing shall be duly 
authorized, executed and delivered by and are and shall be binding upon Seller; 

7.3. Seller is not a “foreign person”, “foreign partnership”, “foreign trust”, 
“foreign estate” or “disregarded entity” as those terms are defined in Section 1445 of the Internal 
Revenue Code; 

7.4. Seller has no knowledge of any condition on the Property that is or has been 
in violation of any environmental law and has not received any formal or informal notice from any 
governmental authority alleging that any condition on the Property is or has been in violation of 
any environmental law, or informing Seller that the Property is subject to investigation or inquiry 
regarding Hazardous Substances on the Property; 

7.5. There are no parties other than Seller in possession of any portion of the 
Property; 

7.6. During the term of this Agreement, Seller will not transfer the Property, or 
any part thereof, or create on the Property any easements, liens, mortgages, encumbrances, or other 
interests adversely affecting the use of the Property that will survive Closing or permit any changes 
in the zoning classification of the Property; 

7.7. There are no pending condemnations, litigation or other proceedings against 
or affecting any part of the Property of which Seller has actual notice, and to Seller’s actual 
knowledge no such actions or proceedings are threatened; and 

7.8. There are no service, maintenance, supply, management, or other contracts 
related to the operation of the Property by which Buyer or the Property will be bound after the 
Closing other than those contracts identified in the PTR. 

8. Buyer’s Representations and Warranties. Buyer represents and warrants to 
Seller that as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date: 

8.1. Buyer has the full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform 
Buyer’s obligations under this Agreement; 

8.2. This Agreement and all agreements, instruments and documents herein 
provided to be executed by Buyer, as the case may be, are and as of the Closing shall be duly 
authorized, executed and delivered by and are and shall be binding upon Buyer; and 

8.3. Buyer is not, nor will Buyer become, a person or entity with whom U.S. 
persons or entities are restricted from doing business under regulations of OFAC of the Department 
of the Treasury (including those named on OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked 

9 



 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 
   

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Persons List) or under any statute, executive order (including the September 24, 2001, Executive 
Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to 
Commit, or Support Terrorism), or other governmental action and is not and will not engage in 
any dealings or transactions or be otherwise associated with such persons or entities. 

9. Inspection and Review; Access to the Property. 

9.1. Inspection of the Property. Buyer shall have until the expiration of the 
Inspection Period to make physical inspections of the Property; provided, however, Buyer shall 
notify Seller’s designated representative of its inspection activities and a representative of Seller 
shall have the right (but not obligation) to be present at any such inspections. If Buyer determines, 
in its sole discretion, that the Property is not suitable for Buyer’s intended use, Buyer may, subject 
to the terms hereof, terminate this Agreement by delivering written notice of its intent to terminate 
this Agreement to Seller before the expiration of the Inspection Period, in which case the Deposit 
shall promptly be returned to Buyer, this Agreement shall terminate and the parties shall have no 
further rights or obligations hereunder, except those that are expressly stated to survive the 
Closing. In the event that Buyer fails to deliver such termination notice before the expiration of 
the Inspection Period, Buyer will be deemed to have elected to move forward with the transaction. 
In the event that Buyer elects to terminate this Agreement for any reason, Buyer shall cause any 
reports, investigations, studies or other materials hired or prepared by or for Buyer relating to the 
Property (“Property Studies”) to be furnished to Seller promptly after such election. Access to the 
Property shall be subject to the following additional limitations and conditions: 

9.1.1. Buyer (or its agent as the case may be) shall possess worker’s 
compensation insurance reasonably in accordance with applicable law, and Buyer’s agent(s) shall 
possess commercial general liability or other appropriate insurance in an amount not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence; 

9.1.2. Buyer shall, at its own expense, promptly repair any damage caused 
by its investigation of the Property; 

9.1.3. To the extent limited in accordance with NRS 41.0305 to NRS 
41.039, inclusive, and only to such extent, Buyer shall protect, indemnify, defend and hold the 
Seller and Seller’s commissioners, officers, employees, and agents free and harmless from and 
against any and all claims, damages, liens, stop notices, liabilities, losses, costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs, directly arising from Buyer’s inspection and 
testing of the Property.  Buyer will assert the defense of sovereign immunity as appropriate in all 
cases, including indemnity actions. Buyer’s indemnity obligation for actions sounding in tort is 
limited in accordance with the provisions of NRS 41.035 or other applicable provisions or 
limitations; 

9.1.4. Buyer shall be responsible for the costs of repairing any and all 
damages to any portion of the Property arising from Buyer’s conducting such due diligence, 
inspections, surveys, tests, and studies. Buyer shall keep the Property free and clear of any 
mechanics’ liens or materialmen’s liens related to Buyers’ right of inspection and the activities 
contemplated by Section 9.1 of this Agreement; 

10 



 

 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 
 

 
  

 

   

 
     

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

9.1.5. Without Seller’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, Buyer shall not drill any test wells or engage in 
any other invasive testing or sampling of the Property; and 

9.2. Buyer acknowledges that prior to the Closing: (i) Buyer has or will have 
conducted such surveys and inspections, and made such tests and other studies of the Property to the 
extent Buyer deems necessary or advisable, and (ii) Seller has or will have provided Buyer with 
adequate opportunity to make such inspections and investigations concerning the Property, to the 
extent Buyer has, in Buyer’s discretion, deemed necessary or advisable as a condition precedent 
to Buyer’s purchase of the Property and to determine the physical, environmental, land use and 
other characteristics of the Property (including, without limitation, its subsurface) and its suitability 
for Buyer’s intended use. 

10. Default. 

10.1. BUYER DEFAULT. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE 
CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT, IF BUYER HAS NOT TERMINATED 
THIS AGREEMENT IN WRITING PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION OF THE INSPECTION 
PERIOD AND IF THE SALE OF THE PROPERTY TO BUYER IS NOT CONSUMMATED AS 
AND WHEN CONTEMPLATED HEREIN (TIME BEING OF THE ESSENCE) FOR ANY 
REASON OTHER THAN (A) SELLER’S DEFAULT UNDER THIS AGREEMENT WHICH IS 
NOT PROMPTLY CURED AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 10.2 BELOW, OR (B) A 
TERMINATION PURSUANT TO AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY SECTIONS 
HEREOF, OR (C) A FAILURE OF ANY CONTINGENCY OR CONDITION (OTHER THAN A 
FAILURE TO PERFORM BY SELLER, WHICH SHALL BE SUBJECT TO NOTICE AND 
CURE RIGHTS AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 10.2 BELOW) THEN FOLLOWING WRITTEN 
NOTICE TO BUYER AND THE EXPIRATION OF A TEN (10) CALENDAR DAY CURE 
PERIOD, SELLER SHALL HAVE NO FURTHER OBLIGATIONS OR LIABILITIES TO 
BUYER UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR OTHERWISE (EXCEPT AS TO THOSE THAT 
EXPRESSLY SURVIVE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT) AND SELLER SHALL BE 
ENTITLED, AS ITS SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY, TO RETAIN THE DEPOSIT 
(INCLUDING ANY INTEREST THEREON) AS SELLER’S LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. THE 
PARTIES AGREE THAT IT WOULD BE IMPRACTICABLE AND EXTREMELY 
DIFFICULT TO ASCERTAIN THE ACTUAL DAMAGES SUFFERED BY SELLER AS A 
RESULT OF BUYER’S FAILURE TO COMPLETE THE PURCHASE OF THE PROPERTY 
PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT, AND THAT UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES 
EXISTING AS OF THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
PROVIDED FOR IN THIS SECTION REPRESENTS A REASONABLE ESTIMATE OF THE 
DAMAGES WHICH SELLER WILL INCUR AS A RESULT OF SUCH FAILURE. THE 
PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE PAYMENT OF SUCH LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
IS NOT INTENDED AS A FORFEITURE OR PENALTY, BUT IS INTENDED TO 
CONSTITUTE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES TO SELLER. 

11 



 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
  

  
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

 

THE PARTIES HAVE SET FORTH THEIR INITIALS BELOW TO INDICATE THEIR 
AGREEMENT WITH THE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES PROVISION CONTAINED IN THIS 
SECTION. 

SELLER’S INITIALS BUYER’S INITIALS 

10.2. Seller Default. In the event Seller breaches or defaults with respect to any 
provision of this Agreement, including but not limited to the failure of any of Seller's 
representations and warranties to be accurate (for the purposes of this Section 10.2, collectively, a 
“breach”), then Buyer shall be entitled to deliver to Seller written notice of such breach, which 
notice shall set forth information about the nature of the breach. Seller shall have a period of ten 
(10) calendar days to cure such breach. If such breach remains uncured beyond the cure period 
described above, then Buyer may elect to terminate this Agreement by written notice to Seller and 
Escrow Agent, in which event an amount equal to the Deposit shall be refunded to Buyer as 
Buyer’s sole remedy. 

10.3. No Contesting Liquidated Damages. As material consideration to each 
Party’s agreement to the liquidated damages provisions stated above, each Party hereby agrees to 
and does hereby waive any and all rights whatsoever to contest the validity of the liquidated 
damage provisions for any reason whatsoever, including, but not limited to, that such provision 
was unreasonable under the circumstances existing at the time this Agreement was made.     

11. Property “AS IS”. BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT, 
EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED IN SECTION 7, THE PROPERTY IS BEING SOLD 
“AS IS”, “WHERE IS” AND “WITH ALL FAULTS” AS OF CLOSING, WITHOUT ANY 
REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WHATSOEVER AS TO ITS CONDITION, FITNESS 
FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, MERCHANTABILITY OR ANY OTHER 
WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. SELLER SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY 
WARRANTY, GUARANTY OR REPRESENTATION, ORAL OR WRITTEN, PAST OR 
PRESENT, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, CONCERNING THE PROPERTY, EXCEPT AS 
SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT 
BUYER IS PURCHASING THE PROPERTY BASED SOLELY UPON BUYER’S OWN 
INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATIONS AND FINDINGS AND NOT IN RELIANCE UPON ANY 
INFORMATION PROVIDED BY SELLER OR SELLER’S AGENTS OR CONTRACTORS, 
UNLESS SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. 

12. Additional Covenants and Agreements. 

12.1. Operating Covenants. From the Effective Date through the Closing Date, 
Seller shall cause the Property to be operated and maintained in a manner consistent with current 
practice and shall maintain such insurance policies with respect to the Property as would a 
reasonably prudent property owner. 

12 



 

 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
   

  

 
  

 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 

12.2. Termination of Insurance. The policies of insurance currently in effect 
with respect to the Property (with such modifications as Seller deems appropriate) shall be 
terminated at or after the Closing, at Seller’s option in its sole and absolute discretion. 

13. Notices. All notices, demands, approvals, and other communications provided for 
in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective upon the earliest of the following to 
occur when delivered to the recipient whether by (a) a nationally recognized overnight-guaranteed 
delivery service; or (b) United States mail. If the date on which any notice to be given hereunder 
falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, then such date shall automatically be extended to the 
next business day immediately following such Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. The following 
addresses may be changed by written notice given in accordance with this Section: 

If to Seller: Regional Transportation Commission 
Attn: Bill Thomas 
1105 Terminal Way, Suite 211 
Reno, Nevada 89502 

If to Buyer: City of Reno 
Attn: Jackie Bryant 
1 East Second Street 
Reno City Hall 
Reno, NV 895201 

          If to Escrow Holder: Ticor Title of Nevada, Inc. 
Attn: Luann Barnes 
5441 Kietzke Lane, Suite 100 
Reno Nevada 89511 

14. Amendment; Complete Agreement. All amendments and supplements to this 
Agreement must be in writing and executed by Buyer and Seller. This Agreement, including the 
exhibits, attachments, documents and agreements to be delivered pursuant hereto, contains the 
entire agreement and understanding between Buyer and Seller concerning the subject matter of 
this Agreement and supersedes all prior agreements, terms, understandings, conditions, 
representations and warranties, whether written or oral, made by Buyer or Seller concerning the 
Property or the other matters which are the subject of this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, matters contained in any offering circular or marketing materials relating to the 
Property. 

15. Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in 
accordance with the internal laws of the State of Nevada without regard to rules concerning 
conflicts of law. The exclusive venue for any action to enforce or interpret this Agreement shall 
be the Second Judicial District, Washoe County, Nevada. 

16. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any 
Person or circumstance shall to any extent be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this 
Agreement (including the application of such provision to Persons or circumstances other than 

13 



 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

those with respect to which it is held invalid or unenforceable) shall not be affected thereby, and 
each provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
Without limiting the foregoing, to the extent any provision of this Agreement is prohibited by 
Nevada law, or is otherwise not authorized by Nevada law due to Buyer’s or Seller’s status as an 
instrumentality of the State of Nevada, such provision is unenforceable against such Party. 

17. Counterparts; Electronic Delivery. This Agreement may be executed in 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one 
agreement. Facsimile, DocuSign or other electronic copies of this Agreement and facsimile, 
DocuSign and other electronic signatures thereon shall have the same force, effect, and legal status 
of originals. 

18. Headings. The headings to sections of this Agreement are for convenient reference 
only and shall not be used in interpreting this Agreement. 

19. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 

20. Waiver. Except as expressly stated that a failure to act shall constitute to a waiver, 
no waiver by Buyer or Seller of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement or any of their 
respective rights under this Agreement shall be effective unless such waiver is in writing and 
signed by the Party charged with the waiver. 

21. Third Parties. This Agreement is entered into for the sole benefit of Buyer and 
Seller and their respective permitted successors and assigns. No party other than Buyer and Seller 
and such permitted successors and assigns shall have any right of action under or rights or remedies 
by reason of this Agreement. 

22. Additional Documents; Further Assurances. Each Party agrees to perform any 
further acts and to execute and deliver such further documents which may be reasonably necessary 
to carry out the terms of this Agreement. 

23. Independent Counsel. Buyer and Seller each acknowledge that: (i) they have been 
represented by independent counsel in connection with this Agreement; (ii) they have executed 
this Agreement with the advice of such counsel; and (iii) this Agreement is the result of 
negotiations between the Parties hereto and the advice and assistance of their respective counsel. 
The Parties further acknowledge and agree that the normal rule of construction to the effect that 
any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the 
interpretation of this Agreement or any amendments or Exhibits hereto. 

24. Assignment. Buyer shall neither assign its rights nor delegate its obligations 
hereunder without obtaining Seller’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Any purported or attempted assignment or 
delegation made in violation of this Section shall be void and of no effect. 

14 



 

 

  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

25. Reservation. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to waive or 
limit either Party’s defense of sovereign immunity, which defense is hereby expressly reserved, 
nor to waive or limit the protections afforded to either Party under NRS 41.0305 to 41.039. 

26. Successors and Assigns. Subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth herein, this 
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefits of the heirs, successors and assigns of 
the Parties hereto. 

27. Exhibits. Each reference to a Section, Exhibit or Schedule in this Agreement shall 
mean the sections of this Agreement and the exhibits and schedules attached to this Agreement, 
unless the context requires otherwise. Each such exhibit and schedule is incorporated herein by 
this reference. 

28. Business Days. If the date on which any act or event hereunder is to occur falls on 
a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, then such date shall automatically be extended to the next 
business day immediately following such Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. 

29. Force Majeure. Except as provided elsewhere herein, if an Event of Force Majeure 
or Covid-19 Event of Force Majeure (as hereinafter defined) makes performance of an obligation 
or cure of a breach or default impossible, such performance or cure is excused for the duration of 
the event of force majeure provided that the obligated Party (i) within ten (10) business days after 
the commencement of the force majeure notifies the other Party of the nature of the event of force 
majeure, when it commenced, why it makes performance or cure impossible, and the expected 
duration (if known), and (ii) agrees to and does in fact diligently pursue remediation of the effects 
of the force majeure, and (iii) agrees to notify the other Party immediately when it becomes 
possible to commence efforts to cure the default. “Event of Force Majeure” means strikes, 
lockouts, war, civil unrest, rioting, government restrictions or moratoria, inclement weather, 
unavailability of labor or material despite reasonable diligence, material interruption of utility 
services, disease event, acts of God, terrorism or other similar events, provided that the same are (a) 
not reasonably foreseeable at the time of the execution of this Agreement (other than a COVID-
19 Event of Force Majeure, which Buyer and Seller acknowledge and agree is an Event of Force 
Majeure for purposes of this Agreement); and (b) beyond the reasonable control of Buyer or Seller, 
and not caused by the negligent or other intentional act or omission of Buyer or Seller. “COVID- 
19 Event of Force Majeure” means an Event of Force Majeure caused by the COVID- 19 pandemic 
in existence as of the Effective Date, and any subsequent Events of Force Majeure caused by or 
resulting from such COVID-19 pandemic, including measures taken by any governmental 
authority having jurisdiction that limits or prohibits the transactions contemplated under this 
Agreement. 

30. No Back-Up Offers. From and after the Effective Date until the earlier to occur of 
the Closing or termination of this Agreement, Seller shall deal exclusively and in good faith with 
Buyer and neither Seller nor any of its representatives, brokers, agents, affiliates and employees 
shall directly or indirectly make, accept, negotiate, entertain or otherwise pursue any back-up 
offers to sell the Property or engage in any other financing or other capital transaction regarding 
the Property. 

15 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date 
first above written. 

SELLER: 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe 
County, Nevada 

By: 
Bill Thomas, AICP 
Executive Director 

Date: 

[SIGNATURE PAGES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE] 

16 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

BUYER: 

City of Reno 

Approved: 

By: 
          Hillary L. Shieve, Mayor 

Date: 

Approved as to form: 

By: 
          Jasmine Mehta, Deputy City Attorney 

[SIGNATURE PAGES CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE] 

17 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

By its execution below, Escrow Holder acknowledges receipt of the Deposit described in 
this Agreement, and agrees to hold and deliver the same and perform its other duties pursuant to 
the provisions of this Agreement. 

ACCEPTANCE BY ESCROW HOLDER: 

TICOR TITLE OF NEVADA, INC. 

By: 

Name: 

Its:  

Date: 

18 



 

 

 

  

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 

19 















 

 

 

  

EXHIBIT B 

MAPS 

20 



PLAT TO ACCOMPANY

SHEET 1 OF 1
JOB NO.  8312048

RENO               WASHOE COUNTY               NEVADA

RTC TRANSFER PARCEL (APN 004-061-20)
TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 19 EAST, M.D.M.

BEING A PORTION OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 36



PLAT TO ACCOMPANY

SHEET 1 OF 1
JOB NO.  8312048

RENO               WASHOE COUNTY               NEVADA

RTC TRANSFER PARCEL (APN 004-061-22)
TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 19 EAST, M.D.M.

BEING A PORTION OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 36



PLAT TO ACCOMPANY

SHEET 1 OF 1
JOB NO.  8312048

RENO               WASHOE COUNTY               NEVADA

RTC TRANSFER PARCEL (APN 004-061-26)
TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 19 EAST, M.D.M.

BEING A PORTION OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 36



PLAT TO ACCOMPANY

SHEET 1 OF 1
JOB NO.  8312048

RENO               WASHOE COUNTY               NEVADA

RTC TRANSFER PARCEL (APN 035-033-02)
TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 20 EAST, M.D.M.

BEING A PORTION OF THE NW 1/4 OF SECTION 31







S
R

E
T

T
6

WASHOE CO. 
35 36 

1284.30 CITY OF RENO 587.57 355.17 128.44 

4

28
4.

65
 

53.6 30 3 7.72 

C

12
3.

74
 

13
2.

88
 

HABLIS  DR 
170.50 

19
73

.8
9 

19
73

.8
4 

U.  S.  

CA
BE

RN
ET

  P
KW

Y HWY.  395 

GA
MA

Y L
N 

CH
AB

LIS
 DR

 

Y AW MUSCAT 

CLE
AR

AC
RE

   L
AN

E   IT

19
73

.2
5 

NA CT IHC

BO
OK

 03
 

CLA
RE

T C
T 

629.63 

26
4.

00

29
.7

9 

316.15 

40
.8

2 0 

86
.0

5 0.09

433.17 47
0.

04
 

C H
AR

DO
NN

AY
 ST

 

152.03 

126.19 
68.39 

35
0.

00
 149.41 

85.53 

44
.7

9 

47.12 SELMI   DRIVE 

30
7.

34
 

73 648.43 
184.46 332.46 

545.34 103.09 

15
2.

42
 . Y   N

P K W

15
8.

94
 

31
.4

4 266.80 

8 180.30 176.60 3S

Es
m

t. ELMI DR 

51
7.

76
 

4 8.58

S  
CH

AR
DO

NN
AY

 ST
 

CO
LO

MB
AR

D W
AY

 

SE
MIL

LIO
N D

R 

R
oa

d-
W

ay
 

65
7.

83
 

65
7.

90
 

65
7.

92 30.00 

CA
BE

RN
ET

 

180 

220.00 

14
0.

00 ' 

14
0.

00
 

10
0

19 

REISLING LOOP .35

80
.0

0 327.18 2

220.00 80
.0

0 

368.17 

B O U L E V A R D 

66
9.

52
 

C A R R A N 9 8.145

M c

3 H 3.6 T22 RON

Assessor's Map Number

POR. W 1/2 SEC. 36 004-08
T20N - R19EBOOK 35 BOOK 35 STATE OF NEVADA

WASHOE COUNTY
ASSESSOR'S OFFICE

26 25

Ê Ê 25 30Ê

Joshua G. Wilson, Assessor 

PAR.1
PM 1412 

PAR.B
PM 1283 

1001 East Ninth Street 

25 

004-082-17 36
50,550 sf 082

U
O

S
R

ET
16

.7
8

36 Ê 31 

Building D
Reno, Nevada 89512

(775) 328-2231

004-06 

Ê 

081 
004-06 

004-081-50
54.296 ac. 

004-06 Feet 

0 80 160 240 320 400 

1 inch = 400 feet 

PAR.A
PM 1283 

PAR. A Sparks

004-081-55
63.724 ac. 

P.M. 4787
004-081-58

12925 sf 

Reno

004-07004-081-60
11.32 ac.004-081-59

4.701 ac. 
PAR. B
P.M. 4787 

345.92
ANNEX. TM 3641 

LOT 3
R/S 4288 035-01PAR.1

PM 1401
ANNEX. TM 3641 004-07 

035-67

004-42 
035-38035-0312.71

004-081-57
7.54 ac. 004-081-48

5.103 ac. 
004-06

59.26 004-08 
004-07 

LOT 1
R/S 4288
48398 sf 

E 1/4 COR. 004-14
004-39 

103.09 
003-46 004-29

296.92Ê 003-36 004-13 004-09 004-32

Ê 004-19 004-33 

Å
004-081-56

004-14 
CENTER
SEC. 36 

004-39 004-14 created by CFB 07/17 2009: __________________________/
CFB 01/09/2013last updated: _________________________

area previously shown on map(s)

____________________________________ 

NOTE: This map was prepared for the use of the
Washoe County Assessor for assessment and
illustrative purposes only. It does not represent 
a survey of the premises. No liability is assumed 
as to the sufficiency or accuracy of the data
delineated hereon. 



A
tt

ac
hm

en
t B

 





 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

EXHIBIT C 

QUITCLAIM DEED 

21 



  

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

APNs: 004-082-18, 004-061-29, 004-061-20, 
004-061-26, 004-061-22, 035-033-02 

WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 
[City of Reno 
Attn: 
Address:] 

MAIL TAX STATEMENTS TO: 
Exempt 

QUITCLAIM DEED 

THIS DEED, made this ________ day of__________________________, 2024, between the 
REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE COUNTY, hereinafter called 
GRANTOR, and the CITY OF RENO, hereinafter called GRANTEE, 

WITNESSETH: 

That the GRANTOR, for and in consideration of the sum of ONE DOLLAR ($1.00), lawful money 
of the United States of America and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt whereof is 
hereby acknowledged, does hereby remise, release and forever quitclaim unto the GRANTEE and 
to its assigns forever, all of GRANTOR'S right, title and interest in and to that certain real property, 
said real property, as more particularly described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part 
hereof. 

TOGETHER with all and singular the tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances thereunto 
belonging, or in anywise appertaining. 

SUBJECT TO any and all utility easements whether of record or not. 



  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

___________________________________________ 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said GRANTOR, by and through its officers thereunto duly 
authorized, has caused these presents to be executed the day and year first above written. 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

By: ____________________________________ 
Ed Lawson, Chair 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COUNTY OF WASHOE 

The above-instrument was acknowledged before me this ___________ day of 

______________, 2024, by Ed Lawson as Chair of the Regional Transportation Commission of 

Washoe County. 

Notary Public 

[Exhibits to be attached] 



  

 

 

  

  
  

  

   
 

   
 

 
 

 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.4.1

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: James Gee, Director of Public Transportation and Operations

  SUBJECT: Spare Labs, Inc. Amendment 1 (Order Form #SL-5055) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve Amendment #1 to the contract with Spare Labs, Inc., (Order Form #SL-5055) for the Spare 
Platform software and services that RTC uses to manage its FlexRIDE service, to integrate additional 
modules (Spare Engage, Spare Dispatch, and Optimization Pro) and extend the contract term through 
July 31, 2027. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

RTC Public Transportation uses an application known as Spare Labs to manage its FlexRIDE service. This 
software has been in use by RTC since the elimination of the initial FlexRIDE pilot in 2020. The software 
is also branded as a mobile application called “RTC FlexRIDE” and is used by passengers to plan and 
book their FlexRIDE trips. The software cost also includes variable expenditures used for Lyft trips for 
FlexRIDE passengers who would otherwise experience a long wait time. Such trips are activated and 
controlled by the RTC. 

This contract adds additional functionality to the Spare Platform by adding the Spare Engage Eligibility 
Management Platform, a customer relationship management tool to manage the paratransit eligibility 
process; Spare Dispatch, to manage on-time performance; and Optimization Pro, to maximize efficiency 
of scheduled duties before they begin to improve routes, trip fitting and On-Time Performance. This 
agreement also extends the term of the contract until 2027, and continues the service, integration, and pass-
through funding for trips outsourced to Lyft. By proceeding with these purchases, RTC will be able to 
manage all ACCESS and FlexRIDE functions with one software package instead of two. Additionally, by 
using Spare Labs, RTC will be able to begin the intermingling of ACCESS and FlexRIDE customers on 
the same vehicle which will reduce RTC’s cost and improve connectivity for our passengers. 

This project is in line with the Board’s recent adoption of the Transit Optimization Plans Strategies (TOPS) 
recommendation to improve technology, service delivery and passenger communication. Since September 
2020, RTC has historically spent approximately $141,303 per year on the Spare Platform software and 
services. With this amendment, RTC expects to spend approximately $189,475 per year. 



 

Spare Labs, Inc. Amendment 1 (Order Form #SL-5055) 
Page 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The software and services are included in the FY25 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

4/21/2023 Approved Amendment No. 1 to the contract with Spare Labs, Inc. in an amount not to exceed 
$297,000, to extend the term until 2026, and add the integration with Token Transit, for a 
new total not-to-exceed amount of $372,000; this amount includes the service, integration, 
and pass-through funding for trips outsourced to Lyft. (Term effective through October 31, 
2026.) 



 

 
 

AMENDMENT # 1 
To 

Order Form #SL-5055
 DATED May 19, 2023 BETWEEN 

Spare Labs Inc (“Spare”) 
AND 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County, Nevada (“RTC”) 

THIS Amendment Agreement Amendment  1 to the Order Form #SL-5055 DATED May 19, 2023  (the 
“Agreement”) between Spare and RTC is entered into by and between Spare and RTC, with an 
effective date of August 1 2024 (the “Amendment 1 Effective Date”). 

WHEREAS, Spare and RTC desire to modify and amend the Agreement as set forth in this 
Amendment  1 to purchase additional Spare products on the terms of this Amendment 1 , 

NOW, THEREFORE, Order Form #SL-5055 is hereby amended by adding the following to the 
Summary of Deliverables: 

1. The following  is added to Summary of Deliverables: 

Attachment A - Dispatch Package and Optimization Pro Package - $2,240 annually (per vehicle) 

Attachment B - Spare Engage Eligibility Management Platform - $54,000 annually (for up to 3,000 
riders annually where a rider is defined as a rider profile on the Spare Platform with at least one case 
in Spare Engage). 

If at any time the Customer goes above this amount, the Customer will be invoiced at the following 
tiers: 

SAMPLE
Spare Engage (Number of Riders Annually) Cost (Annually) 

Tier 1: Up to 1,500  $39,000 

Tier 2:Up to 3,000  $54,000 

Tier 3: Up to 4,500  $64,000 

Tier 4:Up to 6,000  $75,000 

2. For greater certainty, the Initial Term of the Agreement shall be amended from "Commencing Nov 
1 2022 until Oct 31 2026" to "Commencing Nov 1 2022 until July 31, 2027”. 

ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Amendment 1, together with the Agreement and all previous 
amendments, sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the matters set 
forth herein and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous discussions or understandings between 
them relating thereto. Capitalized terms used in this Amendment 1 and not defined herein shall 
have the meanings set forth in the Agreement. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, the 
Agreement and each and every provision thereof shall remain in full force and effect. In the event of 
an inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Amendment 1 and the Agreement, the 
terms and conditions of this Amendment 1  shall prevail. 

Doc ID: a8e9e63881e5c1afd5ac8c119267b9bd7289652b 



   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Amendment 1  to the Agreement 
by their respective duly authorized officers to be effective as of the Amendment 1  Effective Date. 

Spare RTC 

Name Kristoffer Hansen Name 

Title CEO Title 

Signature Signature 

Date 06 / 25 / 2024 Date 

SAMPLE

Doc ID: a8e9e63881e5c1afd5ac8c119267b9bd7289652b 



Attachment A 

SAMPLE

Doc ID: a8e9e63881e5c1afd5ac8c119267b9bd7289652b 



SAMPLE



SAMPLE



Attachment B 

SAMPLE

Doc ID: a8e9e63881e5c1afd5ac8c119267b9bd7289652b 



SAMPLE



SAMPLE



SAMPLE



SAMPLE
06 / 26 / 2024 
00:02:59 UTC 

06 / 26 / 2024 
00:24:24 UTC 

06 / 26 / 2024 
00:24:50 UTC 

06 / 26 / 2024 
00:24:50 UTC 

RTC Washoe Order Form 

Amendment_1_to_SL_5055.docx__6_.pdf 

a8e9e63881e5c1afd5ac8c119267b9bd7289652b 

MM / DD / YYYY 

Signed 

Sent for signature to Kristoffer Vik Hansen 

(kristoffer@sparelabs.com) from kristen@sparelabs.com 

IP: 38.2.159.143 

Viewed by Kristoffer Vik Hansen (kristoffer@sparelabs.com) 

IP: 96.49.177.45 

Signed by Kristoffer Vik Hansen (kristoffer@sparelabs.com) 

IP: 96.49.177.45 

The document has been completed. 

https://96.49.177.45
mailto:kristoffer@sparelabs.com
https://96.49.177.45
mailto:kristoffer@sparelabs.com
mailto:kristen@sparelabs.com
mailto:kristoffer@sparelabs.com


  

 

  
  

 
  

 

 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 4.4.2

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: James Gee, Director of Public Transportation and Operations

  SUBJECT: Token Transit, Inc., Hardware/Software Upgrade 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve a contract with Token Transit, Inc., to upgrade the mobile fare collection hardware and software 
across all services, in an amount not-to-exceed $429,500. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

RTC Public Transportation uses Token Transit to manage its mobile fare payment collection. The software 
has been in use since 2019 with ongoing upgrades to its functionality to include hardware beacons and 
integration with the Transit and FlexRIDE applications. This proposed upgrade will add “tap and go” 
functionality to all of RTCs services so that passengers will be able to pay for their trips using their existing 
credit or debit cards. 

This project is in line with the Board’s recent adoption of the Transit Optimization Plans Strategies (TOPS) 
recommendation to improve technology to improve service delivery and passenger communication. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Appropriations for this purchase are included in the FY2025 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

4/21/2023 Approved Amendment No. 1 to the contract with Spare Labs, Inc. in an amount not to exceed 
$297,000, to extend the term until 2026, and add the integration with Token Transit, for a 
new total not-to-exceed amount of $372,000; this amount includes the service, integration, 
and pass-through funding for trips outsourced to Lyft. (Term effective through October 31, 
2026.) 



 

  
 

     
  

  
          

           
   

 

 

  
 

 

 

    

 

   
   
 

 

   
  
  

        

       

   

  

    
 

 

    

         
          

          

    

           
     

       
  

    
  

            
   

   

        

  

 

 
   

       
          

              
         

        

        
     

       

  

Agency Order Terms 2024-06-27 
These  Agency Order Terms 2024-06-27 are for the purchase by Agency of a subscription to the Services specified below. Provision of the Services 
is subject to the Master Platform Terms and any additional terms referenced below and incorporated herein (these Agency Order Terms together 
with the Master Platform Terms, may be referred to as the “Agreement”) between the customer specified below (“Agency”) and Token Transit, 
Inc. (“TT”). These Agency Order Terms are effective, upon signature of both Agency and TT  (the “Agency Order Terms Effective Date”). 

These Agency Order Terms 2024-06-27 supplement (e.g., by adding Additional Services) any prior Agency Order Terms documents and such prior 
Agency Order Terms documents remain in full force and effect except as supplemented by these Agency Order Terms 2024-06-27, unless 
otherwise indicated below. 

Agency Name: 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe 
County 

Agency Physical Address: 

1105 Terminal Way, Suite #200, Reno, NV 89502 

Agency Billing Address (if different than physical address): 

Primary Agency Contact: Invoice Contact: 

Name: James Gee Name: Accounts Payable 
Email: jgee@rtcwashoe.com Email: accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com 
Phone: (775)335-0020 Phone: (775)335-0200 

Services (descriptions in Section 1 of the Master Platform Terms): 

Agency’s Target Service Launch Date (as the parties may amend in writing, email to suffice): Nov 1, 2024 

Territory: United States 

Core: included (required) 

Hardware Validation Service (defined in the Hardware Validation Services Addendum): TT to provide Hardware Validators (at additional 
cost) 

Fees: 

Passes: Fees are calculated as follows: 

For each transaction for use on Agency’s transit system during the Term, TT will retain a Passes Fee of (i) 8% of the gross total proceeds of 
the transaction processed by the Services for each transaction that is greater than or equal to $2.00 and (ii) $.06 + 7% of the gross total 
proceeds of the transaction processed by the Services for each transaction that is less than $2.00. 

Hardware Validation Service (if applicable): 

● Hardware Validation Service Fee: $450.00/vehicle; annual recurring fee with initial annual fee to be paid on or before the Service 
Launch Date (as defined in the Master Platform Terms). 

● Hardware Validator Fees: $2000/Validator; due within thirty (30) days of the Agency Order Terms Effective Date and prior to any 
shipment or installation. 

● Hardware Validator Installation Fees: $800/vehicle; due within thirty (30) days of the Agency Order Terms Effective Date and 
prior to any shipment or installation. 

● One (1) Flat surface cradle mount & power cord for testing unit: $500; due within thirty (30) days of the Agency Order Terms 
Effective Date and prior to any shipment or installation. 

Technical Services (if applicable): 

All fees indicated do not include any taxes, if applicable, which are the sole responsibility of Agency. 

Master Platform Terms: 

https://agency.tokentransit.com/legal/agency-master-platform-terms-20240403.pdf 

The Master Platform Terms govern Agency’s use of TT’s platform services, and include reference to the terms of service between Agency and 
the third-party payment processor responsible for processing and settling payments to Agency. By entering into this Agreement, Agency is 
agreeing to those terms of service. The Master Platform Terms version referenced above supersedes and replaces any prior agreement 
(including any prior version of the Master Platform Terms) between Agency and TT, if any. The Master Platform Terms are attached hereto. 

Additional Terms (if applicable): See “Quote” from Token Transit, dated 6/28/24, and attached hereto. This Agreement is funded in whole 
or in part with money administered by the Federal Transit Administration. As a condition for receiving payment under this Agreement, 
Token Transit, Inc. agrees to comply with the federally required clauses set forth in the Federal Clauses and Certifications, attached hereto. 

SAMPLE

No terms included in any purchase order, acknowledgment or other non-TT ordering document shall apply to the Services. The pricing and 
Services presented in these Agency Order Terms are TT confidential information (to the maximum extent permitted under applicable law). All 
fees indicated above do not include any taxes, if applicable, which are the sole responsibility of Agency. 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 
1 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 

https://agency.tokentransit.com/legal/agency-master-platform-terms-20240403.pdf


 

 
 

  
  

 
          

     

 
 
 

 
 
 

  
 

  
 

  

 
 
 

 
 
 

  
 

            
 

  
 

 
 
 

[sig|req|signer1|Signature|sigTT]

[text|req|signer1|FullName|nameTT]

[text|req|signer1|Title|titleTT]

[date|req|signer1|Date|dateTT]

[sig|req|signer2|Signature|sigAgency]

[text|req|signer2|FullName|nameAgency]

text|req|signer2|Title|titleAgency]

[date|req|signer2|Date|dateAgency]

By signing below, the parties through their duly authorized representatives agree to the terms as documented in these Agency Order Terms. 

Token Transit, Inc. (TT) Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (Agency) 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

Date: 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

Date: 

Bill Thomas 

Executive Director 

SAMPLE

2 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



TOKEN TRANSIT™ AGENCY MASTER PLATFORM TERMS 
Version: April 3, 2024 

This “Agreement” consists of these Token Transit Agency Master Platform Terms (the “Master 
Platform Terms”) together with the applicable Agency Order Terms (defined below), and is entered into by 
and between Token Transit, Inc. (“TT”) and the entity (e.g., company or government agency) placing an order 
for or accessing the Services (“Agency”) (each of TT and Agency may be referred to as a “Party”). For clarity, 
this Agreement includes the terms and conditions set forth below including any exhibits or addenda identified 
herein and any ordering documents, online registration, order descriptions or order confirmations referencing 
this Agreement and agreed to by the Parties (“Agency Order Terms”). You represent that you are authorized 
to accept this Agreement on behalf of the Agency. 

The “Effective Date” of this Agreement is the date which is the Agency Order Terms Effective Date of 
the first Agency Order Terms referencing this Agreement. This Agreement will govern Agency’s initial 
purchase on the Effective Date as well as any future purchases made by Agency that reference this 
Agreement. 

BY INDICATING YOUR ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ACCESSING OR USING THE SERVICES, 
YOU ARE AGREEING TO BE BOUND BY ALL TERMS, CONDITIONS AND NOTICES CONTAINED OR REFERENCED 
IN THIS AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE TO THIS AGREEMENT, PLEASE DO NOT USE THE SERVICES. FOR 
CLARITY, EACH PARTY EXPRESSLY AGREES THAT THIS AGREEMENT IS LEGALLY BINDING UPON IT. 

SAMPLE
SECTION 1. TT SERVICES 

Overview. TT’s platform offers transportation 
entities (e.g., municipal agencies and private 
transportation companies) an evolving suite of 
cloud-based Services to manage ticketing and other 
transportation-related needs of transit users who 
have direct relationship with TT, as further described 
below and in the Documentation. 

1.1 Core Services. TT’s “Core Services” (i) 
connect transit fares, third party participants (e.g., 
employers, universities, social service agencies) and 
modes of transit offered by Agency (e.g., bus, 
bikeshare, micro-transit, para-transit) and (ii) enable 
transit users (Riders, as defined below) to purchase 
and use transit passes (Passes, as defined below) 
through the Services (including the TT Rider App). 
Core Services include the TT Rider App, Third-Party 
Integrations (each defined below) unless expressly 
indicated otherwise in the Agency Order Terms, and 
Fare Capping at Agency’s election (e.g., via e-mail). 

1 

Agency acknowledges that the Services are on-line, 
subscription-based products, and that in order to 
provide improved customer experience TT may make 
changes to the Services (and update the applicable 
Documentation accordingly); provided, however, that 
such changes shall not materially reduce the features 
or functionality of the Core Services as of the 
Effective Date. 

1.2 Additional Services. If included in Agency 
Order Terms, Agency may also receive access to 
additional TT services, as TT may make available 
from time to time, that may be used with the Core 
Services (such as Optional Technical Services, and 
Hardware Validation Service (defined below)) 
(collectively, “Additional Services”). The features of 
any Additional Services will be further described in 
an applicable Agency Order Terms and may be 
subject to additional terms and conditions. For 
clarity, any Additional Services are considered part of 
the “Services” for purposes of this Agreement. If 
Agency selects Hardware Validation Service in 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



Agency Order Terms, the additional terms and 
conditions set forth in the Hardware Validation 
Service Addendum at Exhibit A are hereby 
incorporated herein. 

1.3 Definitions. 

“Agency Data” means all data provided by the 
Agency to TT, including any Personal Information 
provided directly by the Agency with respect to 
Riders or other individuals (e.g., to designate to TT 
which Riders are eligible to participate in a specific 
Agency program for discounted Passes, if applicable). 
For the avoidance of doubt Agency Data does not 
include data collected by TT. 

“Agency Materials” means materials, systems and 
other resources that Agency provides to TT in 
connection with Optional Technical Services. 

“Agency Policy Information” means information 
regarding Agency’s Passes such as pricing, refund and 
Pass expiration information, collection, use and 
disclosure of Personal Information, legal authority, 
any applicable terms, limitation, restrictions or 
conditions and contact information. 

“Data Protection Laws” means all applicable laws 
and regulations relating to the processing of Personal 
Information and privacy in the United States and 
Canada, including without limitation, as applicable, 
the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”) and 
with respect to Canada, the Personal Information 
Protection and Electronic Documents Act, and the 
substantially similar state and provincial privacy laws. 

“Documentation” means the end user technical 
documentation provided with the Services that TT 
may generally make available, as may be modified 
from time to time. 

“Fare Media” means the method through which 
Riders present their Pass(es) to Agency for validation. 
Fare Media may be in various formats such as digital 
(e.g., via the TT Rider App or Third Party 
Integrations), Smart Card, printed passes, etc. as may 
be made available for sale and supported by TT from 
time to time. 

“Hardware Validation Service” means hardware 
validation, analytics, and other hardware-related 
services that TT offers, as may be further defined in 
the Hardware Validation Service Addendum. 

“Laws” means all applicable local, state, municipal, 
provincial, federal, and other laws within the 
Territory, including the Data Protection Laws. 

“Passes” means transit fares purchased or received 
by Agency or its Riders from TT or otherwise 
provided through the Services. Passes may cover one 
or multiple rides in accordance with the Agency 
Policy Information. 

“Personal Information” means any data that (i) 
identifies, describes, is associated with, or is 
reasonably capable of being associated with a 
particular individual or (ii) is otherwise defined as 
personal data or personal information (or similar 
term) under the Data Protection Laws. 

“Riders” means riders (or other users) of Agency’s 
transit system who purchase or are provided 
Passes. For clarity, all Riders will have a direct 
relationship with TT as users of the Services (i.e. as 
an end user of Fare Media). 

“Service(s)” means the TT proprietary hosted 
services, including the Core Services and any 
Additional Services specified in the Agency Order 
Terms, including any related TT dashboards or web 
portal (the “TT Agency Web Portal”). “Services” do 
not include Optional Technical Services. 

“Service Launch Date” means the earlier of (i) when 
Service is first offered to Riders (based on TT’s 
reporting system) or (ii) the target launch date set 
forth in the Agency Order Terms. 

“Smart Card” means a contactless smart card that 
stores Passes and is provided by Token Transit to 
Riders or Agency for use by Riders. 

“Optional Technical Services” means premium 
support, implementation or other technical services 
to be provided by TT, if any, pursuant to the Agency 
Order Terms. 

SAMPLE

2 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



“Territory” means the United States or Canada, as 
expressly stated in an applicable Agency Order 
Terms. 

“Third-Party Integration(s)” means one or more 
third-party mobile apps, websites, or other online 
services (e.g., trip planning and multimodal apps and 
services) that, pursuant to agreement with TT, 
enable Riders to purchase Passes from within the 
third-party’s mobile apps, websites, or other online 
services. 

“Fare Capping” means combining prior activated 
Passes into new Passes valid for the remainder of the 
applicable time period in accordance with fare 
capping rules defined by the Agency. 

“TT Rider App” means the TT mobile application 
and/or website which enables Riders to access, 
purchase and use Passes. For clarity: (i) the same TT 
Rider App is used by TT across multiple customers 
and (ii) all of TT’s end users, including Riders, have a 
direct relationship with TT (including through Third 
Party Integrations) and may use the TT Rider App 
across all participating transit agencies and entities. 

“TT Rider Data” means and refers to any data 
provided or inputted by or on behalf of the Riders via 
the Services (e.g., through the TT Rider App or 
through the integration of the Services into the 
Third-Party Integrations) for the sale or purchase of 
Passes using the Services, which may include email 
address, full name, cardholder information, credit 
cards or debit card information and bank information 
of the Riders, and any other data as described in TT’s 
privacy policy for the Services (currently available at 
https://tokentransit.com/legal/privacy). For clarity, 
TT Rider Data does not include Agency Data. 

Additional capitalized terms have the meaning 
ascribed to them herein. 

1.4 Provision of the Services; Compliance with 
Laws. 

(a) The Services are provided on a subscription basis 
for a set term pursuant to Section 10 (Term and 
Termination). Agency shall purchase and TT shall 

provide the Services and any related Optional 
Technical Services (as further described in Section 
1.7 below) as specified in the applicable Agency 
Order Terms. 

(b) To receive payments through the Services, Agency 
must agree to the terms of service of the third-party 
payment processor designated by TT (“Payment 
Processor”), located at 
https://stripe.com/connect-account/legal. The 
Payment Processor terms of service are solely 
between Agency and the Payment Processor. Agency 
acknowledges that by entering into this Agreement, 
it is agreeing to and will comply with such Payment 
Processor terms of service. The Payment Processor is 
responsible for settling funds to Agency. TT does not 
at any point hold, own or control funds, actually or 
constructively receive, take possession of or hold any 
money or monetary value for transmission, or 
advertise, solicit or hold itself out as receiving money 
for transmission. 

(c) Each Party shall comply with its obligations under 
the Laws in connection with this Agreement. 

1.5 Access to the Services. 

Subject to the terms of this Agreement, including 
payment of the Fee, TT grants to Agency, during the 
Term, a limited, non-transferable, nonexclusive right 
to access and use the Services, as TT may modify it 
from time to time, in connection with Agency’s 
Riders, solely for Agency’s internal purposes within 
the Territory. Access to the Services, including the TT 
Agency Web Portal, is limited to Agency’s employees 
and contractors acting for the sole benefit of Agency 
(“Permitted Users”). Agency and its Permitted Users 
may need to register for a TT account in order to 
access or use the Services. Account registration 
information must be accurate, current and complete, 
and will be governed by TT’s Privacy Policy. Agency is 
responsible for any use of the Services by its 
Permitted Users and their compliance with this 
Agreement. Agency shall keep confidential its user 
IDs and passwords for the Services and remain 
responsible for any actions taken through its 
accounts. 

SAMPLE

3 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 

https://tokentransit.com/legal/privacy
https://stripe.com/connect-account/legal


1.6 Restrictions. Agency shall not (and shall not 
permit any third party to): (a) rent, lease, provide 
access to (other than with respect to Riders as 
contemplated herein) or sublicense the Services to a 
third party; (b) use the Services to provide, or 
incorporate the Services into, any product or service 
provided to a third party (other than with respect to 
Riders as contemplated herein); (c) use the Services 
to develop a similar or competing product or service; 
(d) reverse engineer, decompile, disassemble, or 
otherwise seek to obtain the source code or 
non-public APIs to the Services, except to the extent 
expressly permitted by Law (and then only upon 
advance notice to TT); (e) copy, modify or create any 
derivative work of the Services or any 
Documentation; (f) remove or obscure any 
proprietary or other notices contained in the 
Services (including any reports or data printed from 
the Services); (g) publicly disseminate any TT 
Confidential Information (except to the extent 
required by Laws and pursuant to Section 5 
(Confidentiality)); or (h) use the Services except as 
expressly permitted herein. 

1.7 Optional Technical Services. Any purchased 
Optional Technical Services will be as described in 
the relevant Agency Order Terms, subject to the fees 
and any additional terms in the Agency Order Terms. 
Agency will reimburse TT for reasonable, 
pre-approved travel and lodging expenses incurred in 
providing Optional Technical Services. For prepaid 
Optional Technical Services, unless specified in the 
Agency Order Terms, Agency is paying for the 
availability and efforts of TT personnel over the time 
period specified in the Agency Order Terms (e.g., up 
to eight hours in a week); any unused time expires at 
the end of such period (or at maximum, six (6) 
months after purchase) and may not be banked, 
accumulated or saved for future periods or 
purchases. To facilitate Optional Technical Services, 
Agency will provide TT with access to reasonably 
requested Agency Materials and cooperation and will 
designate an internal project manager to serve as 
TT’s single point of contact. If Agency fails to do so, 
TT’s obligation to provide Optional Technical Services 
will be excused until Agency does. TT will use Agency 
Materials only for purposes of providing Optional 
Technical Services. If TT provides deliverables as part 

of Optional Technical Services, Agency may use the 
deliverables only as part of its authorized use of the 
Services, subject to the same terms as for the 
Services, including pursuant to Section 1 (TT 
Services). 

1.8 Trials and Betas. If Agency receives access to 
the Services or Service features on a free or trial 
basis or as an alpha, beta or early access offering 
(“Trials and Betas”), use is permitted only for 
Agency’s internal evaluation during the period 
designated by TT (or if not designated, 30 days). 
Trials and Betas are optional and either party may 
terminate Trials and Betas at any time for any reason. 
Trials and Betas may be inoperable, incomplete or 
include features that TT may never release, and their 
features and performance information are TT’s 
Confidential Information. Notwithstanding anything 
else in this Agreement, TT provides no warranty, 
indemnity, support for Trials and Betas and its 
liability for Trials and Betas will not exceed Fifty 
United States Dollars (US $50). TT is relying on the 
foregoing disclaimers and limitation of liability in 
offering Trials and Betas to Agency. 

1.9 Retained Rights. Except for the rights 
expressly licensed pursuant to this Agreement, TT 
retains all right, title, and interest in and to the 
Services (and all other products, works, and other 
intellectual property created, used, or provided by TT 
for the purposes of this Agreement excluding only 
Agency Confidential Information, Agency Policy 
Information, and Agency Materials). 

SECTION 2. AGENCY POLICY INFORMATION 
AND CUSTOMER SUPPORT 

2.1 Agency Policy Information. Agency shall 
provide TT with Agency Policy Information, which 
may include through the TT Agency Web Portal. TT 
currently makes available the TT Agency Web Portal 
as part of the Services which is subject to the terms 
herein (and TT’s then current website terms of 
service applicable to the TT Agency Web Portal, if 
any) in order for Agency to upload Agency Policy 
Information and/or access certain data from TT such 
as payment reports. Agency represents and warrants 
that it has all rights and authorizations necessary to 

SAMPLE

4 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



 

grant the rights stated in this Agreement, to provide 
TT with Agency Policy Information, and that the 
Agency Policy Information is accurate and complies 
with Laws. Agency shall ensure that Agency Policy 
Information is presented to the Rider in compliance 
with Laws (e.g., via the TT Rider App). 

2.2 Support Obligations. 

(a) As part of the Services, TT will (i) make available 
through the TT Rider App and Third Party 
Integration(s), the ability of Riders to purchase 
Passes and, based on the then current functionality 
of the Services to view Agency Policy Information as 
may be provided by Agency and (ii) provide 
commercially reasonable customer service to Riders 
with respect to the functionality of the Services and 
to Agency in a manner consistent with the support 
that it provides all users of the Services and its other 
transit customers, as TT determines in its reasonable 
discretion. 

(b) Agency hereby authorizes the sale of Passes to 
Riders via the Services (including, for the avoidance 
of doubt via the TT Rider App and Third-Party 
Integrations). Agency shall honor the Passes and 
comply with the Agency Policy Information and Law. 
Agency shall be responsible throughout the Term 
(and thereafter as stated in Section 10.3) for (i) 
ensuring that the correct fare structure is provided 
through the Services, including fees paid by Riders 
and Pass expiration terms; (ii) validating that each 
Rider has purchased the correct Pass for the ride, as 
reflected in the Fare Media, at the time of the ride; 
(iii) ensuring that only Permitted Users access the TT 
Agency Web Portal component of the Services on 
behalf of Agency and that all such data obtained by 
Agency from TT is used solely as permitted in this 
Agreement for Agency’s internal purposes and in 
compliance with Laws; and (iv) providing all 
customer support for Riders relating to Agency’s 
transit service, which may include the ability to issue 
refunds to Riders through the TT Agency Web Portal. 

(c) Agency shall determine the fees charged for 
Passes; provided, however, to the maximum extent 
permitted by Laws, the fees charged by Agency via 
the Services must be no greater than the fees 

charged for tickets purchased via other means (cash, 
paper passes etc.). 

SECTION 3. FEES AND PAYMENT 

3.1 Fees. 

(a) Core Services. 

(i) Rider Purchases. Unless otherwise stated in 
the Agency Order Terms, the Agency will pay a fee 
(“Pass Fee”) in the form of commissions retained by 
TT for Passes purchased by Riders through the 
Services during each calendar month as specified in 
the Agency Order Terms. Through the Payment 
Processor, the net total proceeds (less the Pass Fee), 
will be remitted to Agency’s designated account held 
in trust with the Payment Processor on a monthly 
basis, subject to TT’s withholding of any refunds, 
credits, chargebacks, uncaptured transactions for the 
purpose of aggregating purchases into larger 
transactions, or other amounts owed to TT, within 
five (5) business days following the end of each 
calendar month. TT may delay payment if a negative 
balance occurs until Agency has a positive balance in 
its account. 

(ii) Agency Purchases. If Agency authorizes TT in 
writing (email to suffice) to provide Passes at no 
charge to Riders participating in one or more Agency 
pass programs, TT will either automatically deduct 
the applicable Pass Fee from the net total proceeds 
otherwise payable to Agency hereunder or invoice 
Agency for the applicable Pass Fee (which is the 
same Pass Fee for Rider purchases unless otherwise 
agreed upon between TT and Agency in writing 
(email to suffice)) on a monthly basis. Unless 
otherwise set forth in the Agency Order Terms, 
Agency shall make full payment within thirty (30) 
days of the invoice date for invoices provided. 

(b) Smart Card Purchases. Agency may purchase 
Smart Cards from Token Transit as well as allow 
Riders to purchase Smart Cards from Token Transit 
directly. Fees for the purchase of Smart Cards either 
by Agency or by the Rider will be charged by Token 
Transit to the Rider and/or Agency. Unless otherwise 
set forth in the Agency Order Terms, Agency shall 

SAMPLE

5 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



 

make full payment within thirty (30) days of the 
invoice date for invoices provided. Smart Card fees 
are Additional Fees (and separate from Pass Fees). 

(b) Additional Fees. If applicable, Agency shall 
pay additional fees for Optional Technical Services 
and Additional Services pursuant to one or more 
Agency Order Terms and/or additional terms that are 
incorporated herein (“Additional Fees”; Additional 
Fees and Pass Fees may be referred to as “Fees”). 
Unless otherwise set forth in the Agency Order 
Terms, Agency shall make full payment within thirty 
(30) days of the invoice date for invoices provided. 

(c) All payments by Agency shall be made in 
U.S. Dollars or Canadian Dollars, as applicable. In 
addition to any other remedies available to TT 
hereunder, if Agency fails to pay any amounts within 
thirty (30) days after payment is due or delivery of 
the invoice if applicable, then Agency shall pay TT a 
late payment charge equal to 1.25% per month with 
respect to Agencies in the United States and 15% 
annually with respect to Agencies in Canada (or the 
highest rate permitted by Law, if lower). TT 
additionally reserves the right to deduct any Fees 
from amounts otherwise due to Agency pursuant to 
the Agreement, in the event Agency does not pay 
within thirty (30) days of the invoice date. 

3.2 Reports. TT shall provide Agency with 
reports showing the Pass Fee calculation and/or 
access to an online reporting system as part of the 
Services (“Reports”). If Agency believes that TT has 
calculated the Pass Fee or any Additional Fees 
incorrectly, Agency shall notify TT by no later than 
thirty (30) days after the date on the first Report or 
invoice in which the error or problem appeared. TT 
will investigate such alleged error or problem, and 
will provide Agency an adjustment or credit if such 
error or problem is confirmed by TT. 

3.3 Taxes. Each Party will be responsible for any 
applicable taxes and TT may withhold from any 
payments to Agency any taxes that are required to 
be withheld under Laws. 

3.4 Fare Capping. The following terms apply to 
Fare Capping: 

(a) If, in the current Fare Capping period, a Rider 
participating in the Fare Capping program reaches 
the threshold number of certain Pass activations 
(“Prior Passes”) pursuant to the Fare Capping 
program terms, (i) TT will issue Rider new Passes 
valid for the remainder of the Fare Capping period 
(the “Successor Pass“) in accordance with the Fare 
Capping program terms; (ii) Agency will honor the 
Successor Pass in accordance with the applicable 
Successor Pass terms; and (iii) Agency may void the 
Prior Passes as necessary. 

(b) If TT issues Successor Pass to Rider, (i) TT will 
issue a refund (if any) to Rider equal to the difference 
between the cost of the Successor Pass and the total 
cost of the Prior Passes; and (ii) Agency will 
reimburse TT for such refund amount (if any), which 
TT may obtain by invoice (payable by the invoice 
terms) or by withholding such refund amount from 
any amounts owed to Agency. 

SECTION 4. TT RIDER DATA 

4.1 TT Rider Data. Agency agrees and 
acknowledges that TT has a direct relationship with 
all users of its Services, including Agency’s Riders 
(which may be through the TT Rider App or the 
Third-Party Integrations) through which it collects TT 
Rider Data (along with similar data from riders of 
other transit customers of TT), and accordingly, TT 
Rider Data is owned and controlled by TT, subject to 
the limited rights granted herein to Agency. 

4.2 TT’s Data Obligations. 

(a) With respect to TT Rider Data, TT shall: (i) use the 
TT Rider Data in compliance with its privacy policy 
(as TT may update it from time to time) and Laws; (ii) 
comply with applicable Card Networks’ Operating 
Rules (i.e., applicable PCI standards, if any), as the 
same may be amended from time to time; provided, 
however, that Agency agrees and acknowledges that 
TT uses the services of third party payment 
processors; and (iii) maintain appropriate 
industry-standard administrative, physical, and 
technical safeguards to protect the security and 
integrity of the Services and TT Rider Data. 

SAMPLE

6 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



(b) With respect to Agency Data provided to TT that 
is Personal Information, TT shall: (i) use such Agency 
Data to provide the Services to Agency, in 
compliance with the TT privacy policy and Laws; (ii) 
maintain appropriate industry-standard 
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards to 
protect the security and integrity of the Agency Data 
that is Personal Information; and (iii) shall not sell 
such Agency Data. The Agreement shall not restrict 
use of, and TT is expressly permitted to use for its 
own purposes, anonymous, aggregate, de-identified, 
or non-personal data (as determined under Laws) 
that is processed in the course of providing the 
Services 

4.3 Agency’s Data Obligations. 

(a) With respect to TT Rider Data provided to Agency, 
Agency shall: (i) use (1) TT Rider Data at all times in 
compliance with the terms of this Agreement and (2) 
TT Rider Data that is Personal Information for the 
sole purpose of providing customer support to Riders 
with respect to their use of the Services during the 
Term; (ii) use TT Rider Data in compliance with the 
then current TT privacy policy, Card Networks’ 
operating rules (as the same may be amended from 
time to time), any written instructions from TT, and 
Laws; (iii) maintain appropriate industry-standard 
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards to 
protect the security and integrity of TT Rider Data 
and immediately notify TT in the event of any 
unauthorized access to, loss of, or use of TT Rider 
Data, and assist TT in the response to or remediation 
of such incident as requested by TT; (iv) return or 
securely destroy such TT Rider Data at the request of 
TT, or the termination of this Agreement, whichever 
occurs first; (v) treat such TT Rider Data as the 
Confidential Information of TT; and (vi) not sell TT 
Rider Data. 

(b) With respect to any Agency Data provided to TT, 
(i) Agency authorizes and instructs TT to use such 
Agency Data to provide the Services and as 
otherwise may be required by Laws, (ii) Agency 
represents and warrants that it has obtained all 
necessary consents or has provided any required 
notices needed under the Laws to provide Agency 
Data to TT for use as contemplated herein, and that 

such use by TT complies with all Laws. 

4.4 No Sale of Personal Information; 
Cooperation. 

(a) Without limiting the generality of Section 4.2 and 
Section 4.3: Neither Agency nor TT provides Personal 
Information to the other Party in exchange for 
monetary or other valuable consideration. Any 
provision by TT to Agency of TT Rider Data that is 
Personal Information and any provision by Agency to 
TT of Agency Data that is Personal Information is not 
intended to constitute a “sale” under the CCPA or 
other Data Protection Law. 

(b) The Parties acknowledge that new Data 
Protection Laws are being enacted and therefore the 
Parties agree to cooperate and take additional 
necessary steps as needed to ensure ongoing 
compliance with Data Protection Laws. 

SECTION 5. CONFIDENTIALITY 

5.1 Confidential Information. As used herein, 
“Confidential Information” means all confidential 
and proprietary information of a Party (“Disclosing 
Party”) disclosed to the other Party (“Receiving 
Party”), whether orally or in writing, that is 
designated as confidential or that reasonably should 
be understood to be confidential given the nature of 
the information and the circumstances of disclosure, 
including all code, inventions, know-how, business, 
technical, and financial information. The TT Rider 
Data and any nonpublic element of the Services are 
deemed the Confidential Information of TT without 
any further marking or designation requirement. Any 
Agency Data that is not publicly available (or 
otherwise subject to the exceptions below) is 
deemed the Agency’s Confidential Information 
without any further marking or designation 
requirement. Any evaluations and suggestions 
provided by Agency regarding the Services shall not 
be deemed Agency’s Confidential Information and 
may be used by TT without restriction. Confidential 
Information shall not include, or shall cease to 
include, as applicable, information or materials that 
(a) were available to the public on the Effective Date; 
(b) become available to the public after the Effective 

SAMPLE

7 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



Date, other than as a result of violation of this 
Agreement by Receiving Party; (c) were rightfully 
known by the Receiving Party prior to its receipt 
thereof from the Disclosing Party; (d) are or were 
disclosed by the Disclosing Party generally without 
restriction on disclosure; (e) the Receiving Party 
received from a third party without that third party’s 
breach of agreement or obligation to the Disclosing 
Party; or (f) are independently developed by the 
Receiving Party. 

5.2 Non-Disclosure. The Receiving Party shall 
not disclose or use any Confidential Information of 
the Disclosing Party for any purpose outside the 
scope of this Agreement, except with the Disclosing 
Party's prior written permission. For the avoidance of 
doubt, Confidential Information may be shared with 
the Receiving Party’s employees, contractors, agents, 
sub-contractors, or consultants as required to 
perform Receiving Party’s obligations hereunder; 
provided that, such individuals have agreed to be 
bound by obligations of confidentiality that are at 
least as restrictive as those contained in this Section 
5. Each Party agrees to protect the confidentiality of 
the Confidential Information of the other Party in the 
same manner that it protects the confidentiality of 
its own proprietary and confidential information of 
like kind, but in no event shall either Party exercise 
less than reasonable care in protecting such 
Confidential Information. If the Receiving Party is 
compelled by Law, including public records laws, to 
disclose Confidential Information of the Disclosing 
Party, it shall provide the Disclosing Party with prior 
timely notice of such compelled disclosure (to the 
extent legally permitted) and reasonable assistance. 
Absent the entry of a protective order, the Disclosing 
Party shall disclose only such information as is 
necessary to be disclosed in response to such 
subpoena, court order or other similar document 
compelling disclosure. 

SECTION 6. AGENCY IDENTIFICATION AND USE 
OF TRADEMARKS 

For the term of this Agreement, TT may disclose to 
third parties that Agency is one of its customers. 
Agency grants TT a non-exclusive license to use 
Agency’s name(s), mark(s), and logo(s) (collectively, 

“Agency Marks”) in its publicity and marketing 
materials, its website, social media and in connection 
with the Services; TT may sublicense the foregoing 
rights in the Agency Marks to its Third Party 
Integration providers in connection with their use 
and promotion of the Service(s). Similarly, during the 
Term, Agency is authorized to use TT’s name, mark(s) 
and logo(s) in Agency’s municipal publications, 
website, social media, publicity and marketing 
materials, solely for publicizing the availability of the 
Services to its Riders. Agency agrees to participate in 
reasonable marketing activities that promote the 
benefits of the Services to other potential customers. 
Each Party agrees to comply with all reasonable 
usage requirements, or policies communicated by 
the other Party from time to time respecting its 
name(s), mark(s), and logo(s). 

SECTION 7. WARRANTY DISCLAIMERS 

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH TO THE CONTRARY 
IN THIS AGREEMENT, AGENCY ACKNOWLEDGES AND 
AGREES, THAT THE SERVICES, INCLUDING ALL 
COMPONENTS THEREOF (E.G., THE TT RIDER APP 
AND ELEMENTS INTEGRATED INTO ANY THIRD-PARTY 
INTEGRATIONS), AND ACCESS THERETO ARE 
PROVIDED “AS IS”. TT DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES 
AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE SERVICES AND 
ALL THIRD-PARTY INTEGRATIONS, WHETHER EXPRESS 
OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY 
WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS OF 
NON-INFRINGEMENT, TITLE, MERCHANTABILITY, AND 
QUALITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, 
WHETHER ARISING FROM STATUTE, USAGE OF 
TRADE, COURSE OF DEALING OR OTHERWISE. THE 
PARTIES ARE NOT RELYING AND HAVE NOT RELIED 
ON ANY REPRESENTATIONS, CONDITIONS OR 
WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER REGARDING THE 
SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER 
LEGAL, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. WITHOUT LIMITING 
THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING DISCLAIMERS, 
TT MAKES NO WARRANTY, AND PROVIDES NO 
CONDITIONS, AS TO THE RESULTS THAT MAY BE 
OBTAINED FROM THE USE OF THE SERVICES, OR 
THAT THE SERVICES WILL BE ERROR-FREE OR 
AVAILABLE AT ANY GIVEN TIME. 

SECTION 8. INDEMNIFICATION 

SAMPLE

8 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



8.1 TT Indemnification. TT shall indemnify, 
defend and hold harmless Agency from and against 
any and all third party claims, damages, losses, 
expenses or liabilities, including, but not limited to, 
reasonable legal fees, in each case payable to 
unaffiliated third parties, arising out of or resulting 
from the following: (a) TT’s breach of its obligations 
set forth in Section 4.2 (TT Data Obligations) or 
Section 5 (Confidentiality) or (b) any claim by a third 
party alleging that the Services when used as 
authorized under this Agreement infringe any 
copyright or trademark. If Agency’s use of the 
Services is (or in TT’s opinion is likely to be) enjoined, 
if required by settlement or if TT determines such 
actions are reasonably necessary to avoid material 
liability, TT may, in its sole discretion: (i) substitute 
substantially functionally similar products or 
services; (ii) procure for Agency the right to continue 
using the Services; or if (i) and (ii) are not 
commercially reasonable, (iii) terminate the 
Agreement and, if applicable, refund to Agency the 
fees paid by Agency for the portion of the Term that 
was paid by Agency but not rendered by TT. The 
foregoing indemnification obligation of TT shall not 
apply: (1) if the Services are modified by any party 
other than TT, but solely to the extent the alleged 
infringement is caused by such modification; (2) if 
the Services are combined with products or 
processes not provided by TT (including Agency 
Materials or Agency Policy Information), but solely to 
the extent the alleged infringement is caused by such 
combination; (3) to any unauthorized use of the 
Services; (4) to any action arising as a result any 
third-party deliverables or components contained 
within the Services; (5) if Agency settles or makes 
any admissions with respect to a claim without TT’s 
prior written consent; or (6) to beta releases or any 
use of the Services provided on a no-charge or 
evaluation basis. This Section 8.1 sets forth TT’s and 
its suppliers’ sole liability and Agency’s sole and 
exclusive remedy with respect to any claim of 
intellectual property infringement. 

8.2 Agency Indemnification. Agency shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless TT from and 
against any and all third party claims, damages, 
losses, expenses or liabilities, including, but not 
limited to, reasonable legal fees, in each case payable 

to unaffiliated third parties (including Riders or other 
TT end users), arising out of or resulting from the 
following: (a) Agency’s breach of its obligations set 
forth in Section 4.3 (Agency’s TT Rider Data 
Obligations) or Section 5 (Confidentiality); (b) claims 
regarding or relating to the Agency’s transit service 
(and not the Services itself) including those relating 
to expired but unused Passes and any unauthorized 
use or disclosure of TT Rider Data by Agency; (c) 
Agency Material, Agency Policy Information, and/or 
use of Agency Marks; (d) Agency’s obligations 
pursuant to or claims arising out of the Payment 
Processor terms of service; or (e) breach of Agency’s 
obligations with respect to Additional Services. 

8.3. Conduct. A Party’s indemnification 
obligations under Section 8 shall not apply unless: (a) 
the indemnifying Party has the sole right to conduct 
the defense of any such claim or action and all 
negotiations for its settlement or compromise, and 
to settle or compromise any such claim, provided 
such settlement or compromise is wholly paid for by 
the indemnifying Party; (b) the indemnified Party 
cooperates; and (c) the indemnified Party gives the 
indemnifying Party prompt written notice of any 
threat, warning, or notice of any such claim or 
action, with copies of any and all documents the 
indemnified Party may receive relating thereto. 

SECTION 9. DAMAGE DISCLAIMERS AND 
LIABILITY LIMITATION 

9.1 Disclaimer of Damages. Except for Excluded 
Claims each Party’s aggregate maximum liability for 
damages or other obligations arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement, whether based 
upon a theory of contract or tort (including 
negligence) or otherwise, shall not exceed (i) the 
total amount of the Fee paid or due during the prior 
12 month period or (ii) $10,000, whichever is greater 
(the “Base Cap”). The Parties further acknowledge 
that nothing in this Section 9.1 shall be deemed to 
waive the rights to equitable relief. “Excluded 
Claims” means (a) any claim arising from Agency’s 
breach of Sections 1.6 (Use Restrictions); (b) 
Agency’s payment obligations; (c) any claim arising 
from a breach of Section 4.3 (Agency’s TT Rider Data 
Obligations); (d) any amounts payable to third parties 

SAMPLE

9 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



pursuant to TT’s indemnification obligations under 
Section 8.1 (TT Indemnification) or Agency’s 
indemnification obligations under Section 8.2 
(Agency Indemnification); or (e) either Party’s breach 
of Section 5 (Confidentiality). With respect to 
Excluded Claims, in no event will TT’s aggregate 
maximum liability for damages or other obligations 
arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, 
whether based upon a theory of contract or tort 
(including negligence) or otherwise, exceed the 
greater of (i) five (5) times the Base Cap or (ii) One 
Hundred Thousand United States Dollars (US 
$100,000). 

9.2 Consequential Damages Disclaimer. Except 
with respect to willful misconduct, claim arising from 
Agency’s breach of Sections 1.6 (Use Restrictions), 
and Agency’s payment obligations; and without 
limiting either Party’s indemnification obligations, to 
the maximum extent permitted by Law, in no event 
shall either Party be liable for any special, punitive, 
consequential, incidental, or indirect damages, 
including loss of profits, income, goodwill, cost of 
procurement of substitute goods or services, 
interruption of business or any reliance damages of 
any kind, even if informed of their possibility in 
advance. 

9.3 Basis of Bargain. EACH PARTY RECOGNIZES 
AND AGREES THAT THE DISCLAIMERS AND 
LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY AND REMEDY IN THIS 
AGREEMENT: (a) ARE MATERIAL AND BARGAINED 
FOR BASES OF THIS AGREEMENT; AND (b) THEY HAVE 
BEEN TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT AND REFLECTED IN 
DETERMINING THE CONSIDERATION TO BE GIVEN BY 
EACH PARTY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT AND IN THE 
DECISION BY EACH PARTY TO ENTER INTO THIS 
AGREEMENT. 

SECTION 10. TERM AND TERMINATION 

10.1 Term. 

(a) Unless otherwise stated in the Agency Order 
Terms, this Agreement will commence upon the 
Effective Date and continue in effect for a period of 
twelve (12) months following the Service Launch 
Date, unless earlier terminated as set forth herein 

(the “Initial Term”). 

(b) Unless otherwise stated in the Agency Order 
Terms and unless terminated earlier as permitted 
herein, at the end of the Initial Term and each 
Renewal Term, the Agreement will be extended 
automatically for successive twelve (12) month terms 
(each a “Renewal Term”) (collectively, the Initial 
Term and Renewal Terms may be referred to as the 
“Term”). 

10.2 Termination. 

(a) Unless otherwise stated in the Agency Order 
Terms: either Party may elect not to renew this 
Agreement by giving written notice to the other 
Party at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the 
then current Initial Term or Renewal Term. 

(b) Unless otherwise stated in the Agency Order 
Terms, either Party may terminate this Agreement 
for any reason or no reason upon sixty (60) days’ 
written notice to the other Party. 

(c) Either Party may terminate this Agreement 
in the event the other Party (i) is in material breach 
and does not cure such breach within thirty (30) days 
after receiving written notice of the breach; (ii) 
ceases operation without a successor; or (iii) seeks 
protection under a bankruptcy, receivership, trust 
deed, creditors’ arrangement, composition or 
comparable proceeding, or if such a proceeding is 
instituted against that party and not dismissed within 
60 days. 

(d) Upon termination: (i) subject to Section 
10.3, below, the license and rights granted 
hereunder to Agency shall immediately terminate; 
(ii) Agency shall immediately return or, at TT’s 
election permanently destroy, any and all 
documents, notes and other materials regarding the 
Services to TT, including, without limitation, all 
software and TT Confidential Information, including 
any TT Rider Data and at TT’s request certify that all 
TT Rider Data has been permanently deleted; and 
(iii) subject to Section 10.3, below, upon written 
request TT shall cease using the Agency’s name(s), 
mark(s), and logo(s); and return or permanently 

SAMPLE

10 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



destroy, any and all, Agency Confidential Information 
including Agency Data that is Personal Information to 
the extent required by Laws. 

10.3 Obligations to Agency’s Riders Upon 
Termination. Upon termination or expiration of this 
Agreement (a) TT shall terminate the right of the 
Agency’s Riders to purchase any new Passes on 
Agency’s transit service and (b) TT and Agency shall 
each keep active the right of Riders to activate and 
use existing pre-purchased but unused Passes for a 
period of one hundred and twenty (120) days from 
the expiration or termination date of this Agreement. 
For the avoidance of doubt, TT shall have no 
obligation to support pre-purchased Passes for more 
than one hundred and twenty (120) days after 
termination or expiration of this Agreement 
regardless of Agency’s policy. 

SECTION 11. MODIFICATIONS 

11.1. Notice of Modifications. TT may modify the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement (which may 
include changes to Services pricing and plans) from 
time to time by giving notice to Agency in 
accordance with Section 12.6 (Notices). 

11.2 Timing and Effect of Modifications. The 
modifications shall become effective upon renewal 
of Agency’s current Initial Term or Renewal Term or 
entry into a new Agency Order Terms; provided, 
however, that TT may provide notice of an earlier 
effective date if required by change in Laws. If TT 
specifies that the changes will take effect prior to the 
next Renewal Term (due to changes in Laws), Agency 
may object within thirty (30) days and terminate this 
Agreement for convenience and receive a pro-rata 
refund of any fees pre-paid by Agency (e.g., with 
respect to Hardware Validation Service), if any, with 
respect to the remainder of the Initial Term or 
Renewal Term, as applicable. Agency may be 
required to click to accept or otherwise agree to the 
modified Agreement in order to continue using the 
Services, and, in any event, continued use of the 
Services after the updated version of this Agreement 
goes into effect will constitute Agency’s acceptance 
of such updated version. 

SECTION 12. GENERAL 

12.1 Applicable Law and Jurisdiction. This 
Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the Laws of the State of California 
without regard to the conflicts of laws provisions 
therein, unless otherwise expressly set forth in the 
Agency Order Terms. The jurisdiction and venue for 
actions related to the subject matter of this 
Agreement shall be the California State and United 
States Federal Courts located in San Francisco, 
California, and each Party hereby submits to the 
personal jurisdiction of such courts, unless otherwise 
expressly set forth in the Agency Order Terms. 

12.2 Legal Fees. In any action to enforce this 
Agreement, the prevailing Party will be entitled to 
costs and reasonable legal fees. 

12.3 Severability. In the event that any of the 
provisions of this Agreement shall be held by a court 
or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction to be 
unenforceable, such provisions shall be limited or 
eliminated to the minimum extent necessary so that 
this Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force 
and effect and enforceable. 

12.4 Force Majeure. If the performance of this 
Agreement or any obligation hereunder is prevented 
or restricted by reasons beyond the reasonable 
control of a Party or its subcontractors, the Party so 
affected shall be excused from such performance to 
the extent of such prevention or restriction. 

12.5 Entire Agreement and Amendment. This 
Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties pertaining to the subject matter 
hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements, 
understandings, negotiations and discussions, 
whether oral or written, of the Parties. There are no 
representations, warranties or other agreements 
between the Parties, in connection with the subject 
matter of this Agreement except as specifically set 
out in this Agreement. Any modifications of this 
Agreement must be in writing and signed by both 
Parties except as otherwise stated herein (including 
in Section 11 (Modifications)). 

SAMPLE

11 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



12.6 Notices. Any notice or communication 
required or permitted under this Agreement shall be 
in writing. 

If to TT, notices must be provided to: 
Token Transit, Inc. 
2261 Market Street STE 5999 
San Francisco, CA 94114 
Attention: Morgan Kikuchi-Conbere 

Such notice to TT shall be deemed to have been 
received (i) if given by hand, immediately upon 
receipt; (ii) if given by overnight courier service, the 
first business day following dispatch; or (iii) if given 
by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid and 
return receipt requested, the second business day 
after such notice is deposited in the mail. 

If to Agency, TT may provide notice to Agency’s email 
or physical address on file or through the Services 
(including via the TT Agency Web Portal) and such 
notices shall be deemed to have been received upon 
delivery. Either Party may update its address with 
notice to the other Party. 

12.7 Equitable Relief. Due to the unique nature of 
the Parties’ Confidential Information disclosed 
hereunder and of any Personal Information that may 
be received in connection with this Agreement, there 
can be no adequate remedy at Law for a Party’s 
breach of its obligations hereunder, and any such 
breach may result in irreparable harm to the 
non-breaching Party. Therefore, upon any such 
breach or threat thereof, the Party alleging breach 
shall be entitled to seek injunctive and other 
appropriate equitable relief in addition to any other 
remedies available to it, without the requirement of 
posting a bond. 

12.8 Assignment. Neither Party may assign or 
transfer this Agreement or any interest therein 
directly or indirectly, by operation of Law or 
otherwise, without the prior written consent of the 
other Party, which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld; provided, however, that TT may assign or 
transfer this Agreement or any interest therein to an 
affiliate or a successor to all or substantially all of its 
business or assets, whether through an acquisition, 

merger, change of control, or otherwise. Any 
attempted assignment or transfer in violation of this 
Section shall be void and without effect. 

12.9 Independent Contractors. The Parties shall 
be independent contractors under this Agreement, 
and nothing herein shall constitute either Party as 
the employer, employee, agent, or representative of 
the other Party, or both Parties as Parties to a joint 
venture or partners for any purpose. 

12.10 Headings and Interpretation. The headings 
in this Agreement are for reference only and do not 
affect the interpretation of this Agreement. For 
purposes of this Agreement: (a) the words "include," 
"includes" and "including" are deemed to be 
followed by the words "without limitation"; (b) the 
word "or" is not exclusive; (c) the words "herein," 
"hereof," "hereby," "hereto" and "hereunder" refer 
to this Agreement as a whole; (d) words denoting the 
singular have a comparable meaning when used in 
the plural, and vice versa. 

12.11 Export Control. In its use of the Services, TT 
and the Agency agree to comply with all export and 
import Laws and regulations of the United States, the 
Territory, and other applicable jurisdictions. Without 
limiting the foregoing, (i) Agency represents and 
warrants that it is not listed on any U.S. government 
list of prohibited or restricted parties or located in 
(or a national of) a country that is subject to a U.S. 
government embargo or that has been designated by 
the U.S. government as a “terrorist supporting” 
country, (ii) Agency shall not (and shall not permit 
any of its users to) access or use the Services in 
violation of any U.S. export embargo, prohibition or 
restriction, and (iii) Agency shall not submit to the 
Services any information that is controlled under the 
U.S. International Traffic in Arms Regulations. 

12.12 Government End-Users. Elements of the 
Services are commercial computer software. If the 
user or licensee of the Services is an agency, 
department, or other entity of the United States 
Government, the use, duplication, reproduction, 
release, modification, disclosure, or transfer of the 
Services, or any related documentation of any kind, 
including technical data and manuals, is restricted by 

SAMPLE

12 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



a license agreement or by the terms of this 
Agreement in accordance with Federal Acquisition 
Regulation 12.212 for civilian purposes and Defense 
Federal Acquisition Regulation Supplement 227.7202 
for military purposes. The Services were developed 
fully at private expense. All other use is prohibited. 

12.13 Survival. Sections 1.6 (Restrictions), 1.8 

(Trials and Betas, with respect to liability limits), 

1.9 (Retained Rights), 2.2(b) (Support Obligations), 

3 (Fees and Payment, with respect to Fees not yet 

paid as of termination), 4.1 (TT Rider Data), 4.2(b) 

(TT’s Data Obligations), 4.3 (Agency’s Data 

Obligations), 5 (Confidentiality), 6 (Agency 

Identification and Use of Trademarks), 7 (Warranty 

Disclaimers), 8 (Indemnification), 9 (Damage 

Disclaimers and Liability Limitation), 10.2 

(Termination), 10.3 (Obligations to Agency’s Riders 

Upon Termination), 12.1-12.13 (General) and other 

terms which by their nature are intended to 

survive, shall survive termination or expiration of 

this Agreement. 

SAMPLE

13 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 

https://12.1-12.13


Exhibit A 

Hardware Validation Service Addendum 

This Hardware Validation Service Addendum (the “Hardware Validation Service Addendum”) is 
incorporated into and a part of the Agency Master Platform Terms (the “Master Platform Terms”) by and 
between Token Transit, Inc. (“TT”) and the entity (e.g., company or government agency) placing an order for 
or accessing the Hardware Validation Service (“Agency”) and is applicable only if Agency elects to add the 
Hardware Validation Service (defined below) pursuant to the Agency Order Terms. This Hardware Validation 
Service Addendum consists of the terms and conditions set forth below, any exhibits or addenda identified 
below and any Agency Order Terms (the Master Platform Terms, as modified by this Hardware Validation 
Service Addendum, may be referred to as the “Agreement”). You represent that you are authorized to accept 
this Hardware Validation Service Addendum on behalf of the Agency. 

SAMPLE
Agency desires to add functionality to the Services (as defined in the Master Platform Terms) by using 

hardware validators (“Hardware Validators”) installed on Agency’s vehicles. Hardware Validators allow 
Agency to validate that each Rider has purchased Passes for the ride at the time of the ride as well as on an 
aggregate basis for analytical purposes through the Hardware Validation service (as defined below). Agency 
can purchase Hardware Validators from TT at additional cost (“TT Provided Hardware Validators”) or Agency 
can provide its own compatible Hardware Validators at its own cost (“Agency Provided Hardware 
Validators”). 

The effective date of this Hardware Validation Service Addendum (“Hardware Validation Service 
Effective Date”) is the effective date of the first Agency Order Terms referencing this Hardware Validation 
Service Addendum. This Hardware Validation Service Addendum will govern Agency’s initial purchase on the 
Effective Date as well as any future Hardware Validator purchases made by Agency that reference this 
Hardware Validation Service Addendum or the Agreement. 

All capitalized terms not defined in this Hardware Validation Service Addendum have the same 
meaning given to them in the Master Platform Terms. Except as expressly provided in this Hardware 
Validation Service Addendum, the Master Platform Terms applies without modification by the terms and 
conditions of this Hardware Validation Service Addendum. 

BY INDICATING YOUR ACCEPTANCE OF THIS HARDWARE VALIDATION SERVICE ADDENDUM OR 
ACCESSING OR USING THE HARDWARE VALIDATION SERVICE, YOU ARE AGREEING TO BE BOUND BY ALL 
TERMS, CONDITIONS AND NOTICES CONTAINED OR REFERENCED IN THIS HARDWARE VALIDATION SERVICE 
ADDENDUM. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE TO THIS HARDWARE VALIDATION SERVICE ADDENDUM, PLEASE DO NOT 
USE THE HARDWARE VALIDATION SERVICE. FOR CLARITY, EACH PARTY EXPRESSLY AGREES THAT THIS 
HARDWARE VALIDATION SERVICE ADDENDUM IS LEGALLY BINDING UPON IT. 

1. INTRODUCTION 1.2 Hardware Validation Service. The 
“Hardware Validation Service” means the use of 

1.1 Applicability. This Hardware Hardware Validators that have an internet 
Validation Service Addendum applies only if connection. Schedule 1 describes the data flow 
Agency has selected to add the Hardware and available data for the Hardware Validation 
Validation Service to the Services pursuant to the Service. 
Agency Order Terms. 

1.3 TT Provided Hardware Validators; 

14 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



Upgrades to TT Provided Hardware Validators. A 
TT Provided Hardware Validator is a Hardware 
Validator sold to the Agency by TT pursuant to the 
Agency Order Terms. With respect to TT Provided 
Validators (if any), TT may offer upgraded or 
replacement Validator hardware to Agency at its 
discretion during the Term which if accepted by 
Agency shall be “TT Provided Hardware 
Validators” and included in the “Hardware 
Validation Service”. Unless a different fee for 
replacement Hardware Validators is otherwise 
expressly stated in the Agency Order Terms, (a) 
Agency shall maintain at least a ten percent (10%) 
reserve number of spare/unused Hardware 
Validators in reserve (“Reserve Requirement”) in 
excess of the number of vehicles using the 
Hardware Validators to be used to immediately 
replace malfunctioning Hardware Validators and 
(b) Agency shall purchase additional Hardware 
Validators from TT at the then current Hardware 
Validator Fees to maintain the Reserve 
Requirement at all times throughout the Term. 

1.5 Agency Provided Hardware Validators. 
An Agency Provided Hardware Validator is 
Validator Hardware provided by the Agency at 
Agency’s sole cost and approved by TT as meeting 
TT’s requirements for compatibility with the 
Hardware Validation Service. 

2. TT HARDWARE VALIDATION SERVICE 
INTEGRATION. The Hardware Validation Service 
comprises the following: 

2.1. TT Provided Hardware Validators. 
SAMPLE

If Agency purchases TT Provided Hardware 
Validators, TT will provide Hardware Validators 
that will work on vehicles at any point of entry. 
Agency will install the TT Provided Hardware 
Validators at Agency’s expense. TT will provide 
guidance on preferred placement of the hardware 
validators to optimize the Rider validation 
experience. 

2.2. Agency Provided Hardware 
Validators. If Agency elects to use Agency Provided 
Validators, Agency must install the Validator 
Hardware and ensure that the Validator Hardware 

is placed to optimize Rider validation experience. 

2.3 Analytics Dashboard. Purchasing 
Hardware Validation Service gives access to 
detailed aggregated and anonymous information 
in the TT Agency Web Portal. Agency is required to 
provide TT with stop, trip, origin, and vehicle 
identification numbers along with other 
information required by TT to provide the analytic 
data. 

3. TERM AND TERMINATION. 

3.1 Term and Renewal. 

(a) Unless otherwise set forth in the 
Agency Order Terms, the initial term of this 
Hardware Validation Service Agreement (“Initial 
Hardware Term”) will commence upon the Service 
Launch Date and continue in effect for a period of 
twelve (12) months. 

(b) Unless otherwise set forth in the 
Agency Order Terms, the Initial Hardware Term 
will automatically renew for consecutive twelve 
(12) month periods (each a “Hardware Renewal 
Term”, and collectively the Initial Hardware Term 
and Hardware Renewal Terms may be referred to 
as the “Hardware Term”); unless either Party 
provides notice of non-renewal at least thirty (30) 
days prior to the end of the Initial Hardware Term 
or a then current Hardware Renewal Term. 

3.2 Termination. 

(a) Unless otherwise set forth in an 
applicable Agency Order Terms, either Party may 
terminate an Initial Hardware Term or a Hardware 
Renewal Term at any time on sixty (60) days notice 
for convenience and without liability. If TT 
terminates an Initial Hardware Term or Hardware 
Renewal Term for convenience, TT will provide a 
pro-rata refund of fees paid pursuant to this 
Hardware Validation Service Addendum for the 
remainder of the applicable Initial Hardware Term 
or Hardware Renewal Term. 

(b) Either Party may terminate this 

15 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



Hardware Validation Service Addendum if the 
other Party commits a material breach that 
remains uncured following thirty (30) days prior 
written notice. 

(c) This Hardware Validation Service 
Addendum shall automatically terminate upon the 
expiration or termination of the Master Platform 
Terms for any reason. 

(d) Upon expiration or termination of this 
Hardware Validation Service Addendum, Agency 
shall return to TT or destroy the TT Provided 
Hardware Validators, as directed by TT. 

4. TT HARDWARE VALIDATOR PRICING AND 
PAYMENT. 

4.1. Fees. 

(a) Hardware Validation Service Fee. The 
fees for the Hardware Validation Service 
(“Hardware Validation Service Fees”) are 
recurring annual fees commencing with the 
Service Launch Date; such fees as set forth in an 
applicable Agency Order Terms, and shall be paid 
by Agency in accordance with the payment terms 
set forth in the Agency Order Terms. If no 
payment terms are set forth in the Agency Order 
Terms, TT’s then current Hardware Validation 
Service Fees as published by TT shall apply and 
Agency shall pay such fees in advance for the 
Initial Hardware Term and each Hardware Renewal 
Term. The Hardware Validation Service Fees are 
non-refundable except (a) as set forth in the 
Master Platform Terms Section 11 (Modification) 
or (b) in the event TT terminates the Hardware 
Validation Service Addendum for convenience, in 
which event Agency will receive a prorated refund 
of Hardware Validation Service Fees that Agency 
has pre-paid for use of the Hardware Validation 
Service for the terminated portion of the 
applicable Initial Hardware Term or Hardware 
Renewal Term. 

(b) TT Provided Hardware Validator and 
Installation Fees. If Agency purchases TT Provided 
Hardware Validators, the fees for the Hardware 

Validators and, if applicable, installation 
(“Hardware Validator Fees”) are set forth in an 
applicable Agency Order Terms, and shall be paid 
by Agency prior to shipment and, if applicable, 
installation, in accordance with the payment 
terms set forth in the Agency Order Terms. If no 
payment terms are set forth in the Agency Order 
Terms or if Agency purchases additional Hardware 
Validators, TT’s then current Hardware Validator 
Fees as published by TT shall apply to Agency 
unless TT agrees in writing to a different fee. 

4.2. Taxes. Agency acknowledges that 
it is responsible for any sales, value-added, use or 
other taxes, tariffs and governmental charges that 
are due (if any) in connection with any TT 
Provided Hardware Validators and provision of the 
Services described in this Hardware Validation 
Service Addendum (except taxes based on TT’s net 
income for which TT shall be solely responsible), 
and that if TT is required to pay any such taxes or 
charges based on the Services or other items 
provided to Agency, then such charges shall be 
billed to and paid by Agency. Agency shall obtain 
and provide to TT any certificate of exemption or 
similar document required to exempt any 
transaction under the Agreement from sales tax, 
use tax or other tax liability. 

4.3. Fee Increases. TT reserves the 
right to increase the Hardware Validation Service 
Fees and/or Hardware Validator Fees by providing 
notice at least thirty (30) days before the 
commencement of the next Hardware Renewal 
Term. 

5. ADDITIONAL TERMS. 

5.1. Disclaimer. For the avoidance of 
doubt, this Hardware Validation Service 
Addendum is subject to indemnity, liability 
limitations and warranty disclaimers and damage 
disclaimers terms set forth in the Master Platform 
Terms. TT expressly does not represent the 
accuracy of the Hardware Validators, the 
percentage of Riders that will have location 
tracking in connection with the Hardware 
Validators enabled or that they will function at all 

SAMPLE

16 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



times. Agency acknowledges that its use of any 
Hardware Validator and the Hardware Validation 
Service is “As Is” without any representations, 
warranties or conditions of any kind, whether 
legal, express or implied, arising from statute, 
course of dealing, usage of trade or otherwise. 
Agency additionally agrees to defend, indemnify 
and hold TT harmless from and against any us of 
Agency Provided Hardware Validators. 

5.2 Rider Data. The Parties’ 
confidentiality and data privacy obligations, 
including Agency’s obligations pertaining to TT 
Rider Data apply to this Hardware Validation 
Service Addendum. All data that TT makes 
available to Agency is TT Rider Data. Agency shall 
at all times use “TT Rider Data” in accordance with 
Laws and TT’s then current privacy policy (unless 
contrary to Laws). Agency, and not TT, shall be 
responsible for ensuring that Agency’s use of the 
Hardware Validator as described herein complies 
with all Laws. Nothing in this Hardware Validation 
Service Addendum obligates TT, and TT does not 
intend, to provide Personal Information of Riders 
or other TT customers hereunder, but only 
aggregated and/or anonymized data. In no event 
shall Agency directly or indirectly link (or attempt 
to link) TT Rider Data or aggregated or 
anonymized data obtained from the Hardware 
Validator or Hardware Validation Service data with 
any data so as to re-identify any Rider. SAMPLE

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 

17 



Schedule 1: Data Flow for the Hardware Validation Service 

1. Rider creates TT account directly with TT or with a third party integrator. 
a. Rider agrees to TT’s Terms and is presented with TT’s privacy notice. 

2. Rider chooses a Pass using their preferred application. The Pass is recorded in the Token Transit Service. 
3. Rider seeks to redeem the Pass. To redeem, the Rider must have a validatable Token Transit Pass and 

interact with a Hardware Validator on the Agency’s vehicle. 
a. When the Rider seeks to validate a Pass, TT checks the Pass against the record in the Token 

Transit Service. The Rider may ride if their Pass is valid. 
b. The rider is required to present Fare Media containing a valid Pass to the Hardware Validator 

to pass Validation Information to Agency. 
4. There are some circumstances in which TT cannot pass Validation Information to Agency. 

a. If Agency did not provide GTFS data, TT will not send Validation Information. 
b. If the Hardware Validator does not have an internet connection, TT will not send Validation 

Information. 

“Validation Information” means the following data elements. 

● Timestamp 

○ Validation_timestamp - when the validation occurred 

● Location of stop nearest validation 

● Vehicle_number - This is the vehicle number Agency gives TT in Agency’s validator/bus mapping 

spreadsheet 

● IDs that are associated with GTFS-realtime 

○ Stop_code/Stop_id – The ID of the Agency’s transit stops, which come from Agency’s GTFS 

feeds. 

○ Trip_id - The ID of that trip made by Agency’s vehicle, which comes from Agency’s GTFS feed. 

For example: "Bus 123 on route 1 on Tuesday at 8:00a" would be a trip and have its own ID. 

This is sometimes called a “run number”. 

○ Route_id – Agency’s route name (typically a number) in Agency’s GTFS feed as customers 

refer to that specific route. 

● User IDs 

○ User ID - A unique Rider ID that is associated with the Rider’s actions. 

○ Pass ID - A unique pass ID that is associated with a specific validation of the Rider’s Pass. 

● IDs associated with Fares 

○ Fare_id - The type of Pass used. 

○ Distribution - This field is to tell if a Pass is part of a pass program and will be left blank if not 

part of a pass program. 

○ Distribution_code - This field has the ID number used to register for a pass program and will 

be left blank if not part of a pass program. 

SAMPLE

18 

Token Transit, Inc. 
v. 20240403 US 



Token Transit 
2261 Market Street STE 5999 

San Francisco, CA 94114 

415-918-6770 

Quote 
Submitted on 6/28/24 

Token Transit Contact Project Name Quote for 
Zack Browne Token Transit Fare Collection Token Transit Validator & 
zachary@tokentransit.com Validator Software 
608-770-5514 

To: Project Term Length Quote Valid Until 
RTC Washoe 1 Year August 30, 2024 

SAMPLEUnit Price 
Description (USD) Qty Years Total price 

Hardware Validator (One-time cost)* 

Total units for existing fleet (56 ACCESS and 68 Fixed Route) $2,000.00 124 1 $248,000.00 

10% spares + 1 testing unit $2,000.00 13 1 $26,000.00 

Flat surface cradle mount & power cord for testing unit $500.00 1 1 $500.00 

* Includes 5 year warranty & mounting kit - - -

Hardware Installation (One-time cost) $800.00 124 1 $99,200.00 

On-site survey Included - - -

On-site installation Included - - -

Custom mounting hardware Included - - -

Hardware Validation Service (Annual recurring cost) $450.00 124 1 $55,800.00 

Validator software: Software that supports scanning & data Included - - -collection 

Validator data reporting software ("Back Office"): data 
dashboards on validated fares, including data on fare type, fare Included - - -
ID, rider type, service type, pass viability 

Validator management software ("Back Office"): Validator Included - - -management and monitoring dashboard 

Customer success: project management of validator installation, Included - - -onboarding, and other agency-focused support 

Total $429,500.00 

https://429,500.00
https://55,800.00
https://99,200.00
https://26,000.00
https://2,000.00
https://248,000.00
https://2,000.00
mailto:zachary@tokentransit.com


 

 
  

 

 

 
 

    
 

 

    

  
 

 

 
 

   
  

 

 
 

    
  

 
 

   

 

 
 

  

FTA REQUIRED CLAUSES 

It is a requirement of the Federal Government that activities financed, in part, with Federal funds and 
performed by a third party contractor and its subcontractors on behalf of a Federal grantee must be carried out 
in accordance with applicable Federal requirements. 

Activities performed under this Agreement, and any other prior or subsequent amendments thereto, 
may be financed in part, by a grant from the United States Department of Transportation (DOT), Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA) to the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (RTC), and if so, 
would therefore be subject to the applicable grant terms, conditions, and regulations. Accordingly, the 
Contractor and its subcontractors performing activities under this Agreement must adhere to the Federal 
requirements stated herein as a condition of satisfactory performance. 

All subcontracts and subcontractors employed as a result of this Agreement are subject to the same 
conditions and requirements as set forth herein unless specifically exempted. The Contractor shall ensure that 
its subcontractors at all tiers are made aware of and comply with these Federal requirements. The Contractor 
will be held liable for compliance failures by its subcontractors. Failure to comply will render the Contractor 
responsible for damages and/or contract termination. 

SAMPLE1 - NO GOVERNMENT OBLIGATION TO THIRD PARTIES 

A. The RTC and Contractor acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any concurrence by the 
Federal Government in or approval of the solicitation or award of the underlying Agreement, 
absent the express written consent by the Federal Government, the Federal Government is not 
a party to the Agreement and shall not be subject to any obligations or liabilities to the RTC, the 
Contractor, or any other party (whether or not a part to that Agreement) pertaining to any matter 
resulting from the underlying Agreement. 

B. The Contractor agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract financed in whole or in 
part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the clause shall not be 
modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to its provisions. 

2 - PROGRAM FRAUD AND FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS AND RELATED ACTS 
[49 U.S.C. § 5323(l) (1); 31 U.S.C. §§ 3801-3812; 18 U.S.C. § 1001; 49 C.F.R. part 31] 

A. The Contractor acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 
1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3801, et seq., and U.S. DOT regulations, “Program Fraud Civil 
Remedies”, 49 C.F.R. Part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to the Agreement. Upon execution 
of the Agreement, the Contractor certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any 
statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes to be made, pertaining to the Agreement 
or the FTA assisted project for which the work is being performed. In addition to other penalties 
that may be applicable, the Contractor further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be 
made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification, the Federal 
Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act 
of 1986 on the Contractor to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate. 

B. The Contractor also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or 
fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government under a 
contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance 
originally awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, the Government reserves 
the right to impose the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 5323(l)(1) on the 
Contractor, to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate. 



 
  

   
 

      
 

 
 

 
    

  
   

    
   

  
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
   

  
 

  
 

 
  

   
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

 
    

 
  

 
    

 
 

   
 

  
  

SAMPLE

C. The Contractor agrees to include the above two clauses in each subcontract financed in whole 
or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the clauses shall not 
be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to the provisions. 

3 - ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS [49 U.S.C. § 5325(g); 2 C.F.R. § 200.333; 49 C.F.R. 
part 633] 

The following access to records requirements apply to the Agreement: 

A. The Contractor agrees to provide the RTC, the FTA Administrator, the DOT Office of Inspector 
General, Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their authorized representatives 
access to any books, documents, papers, and records of the Contractor which are directly 
pertinent to the Agreement for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts, and 
transcriptions, and as may be necessary for the RTC to meet its obligations under 2 CFR Part 
200. This access includes timely and reasonable access to personnel for interviews and 
discussions related to the records. This right of access is not limited to the required retention 
period set forth in subsection C below, but continues as long as the records are retained. 

B. The Contractor agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any means 
whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed. 

C. The Contractor agrees to maintain all books, records, accounts, and reports required under the 
Agreement for a period of not less than three years, except in the event of litigation or settlement 
of claims arising from the performance of the Agreement, in which case the Contractor agrees 
to maintain such materials until the RTC, the FTA Administrator, the Comptroller General, or any 
of their duly authorized representatives, have disposed of all such litigation, appeals, claims, or 
exceptions related thereto. The retention period commences after the RTC makes final payment 
and all other pending contract matters are closed. 

D. The Contractor shall include this clause in all subcontracts and shall require all subcontractors 
to include the clause in their subcontracts, regardless of tier. 

4 - FEDERAL CHANGES 

The Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures, and 
directives, including without limitation those listed directly or by reference in the Master Agreement 
between the RTC and the FTA, as they may be amended or promulgated from time to time during the 
term of the Agreement. The Contractor’s failure to so comply shall constitute a material breach of the 
Agreement. 

5 - ENERGY CONSERVATION [42 U.S.C. 6321 et seq.; 49 C.F.R. part 622, subpart C] 

The Contractor agrees to comply with the mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency 
that are contained in the State Energy Conservation Plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy 
and Conservation Act (42 U.S.C. § 6321, et seq.). 

6 - CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS AND REGULATIONS 

The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable civil rights laws and regulations in accordance with 
applicable federal directives. The Contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract 



  
  

 
  

  
 
 

 
 

    
 
 

  
 

   
 

     
  

  
 
 

 
   

 
  

   
   

 
 

  
 

  
  

 
 

   
   

 
  

  
 

 
    

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

 

SAMPLE

financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA, modified only if necessary to 
identify the affected parties. These include, but are not limited to, the following: 

A. Nondiscrimination in Federal Public Transportation Programs: 
Contractor shall prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex 
(including gender identity), disability, or age.  Contractor shall prohibit the (i) exclusion from 
participation in employment or a business opportunity for reasons identified in 49 U.S.C. § 5332; 
(ii) denial of program benefits in employment or a business opportunity identified in 49 U.S.C. § 
5332; or (iii) discrimination identified in 49 U.S.C. § 5332, including discrimination in employment 
or a business opportunity.  Contractor shall follow the most recent edition of Federal Transit 
Administration Circular 4702.1, “Title VI Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit 
Administration Recipients,” to the extent consistent with applicable Federal laws, regulations, 
requirements, and guidance, and other applicable Federal guidance that may be issued. 

B. Nondiscrimination—Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 

1. Contractor shall prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin. 
2. Contractor shall comply with (i) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000d et seq.; (ii) U.S. Department of Transportation regulations, “Nondiscrimination in 
Federally-Assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964,” 49 CFR Part 21; and (iii) Federal transit law, specifically 49 
U.S.C. § 5332. 

3. Contractor shall follow (i) the most recent edition of Federal Transit Administration Circular 
4702.1, “Title VI Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients,” 
to the extent consistent with applicable Federal laws, regulations, requirements, and 
guidance; (ii) U.S. Department of Justice “Guidelines for the enforcement of Title VI, Civil 
Rights Act of 1964,” 28 CFR 50.3; and (iii) all other applicable Federal guidance that may be 
issued. 

C. Equal Employment Opportunity 

1. Federal Requirements and Guidance.  Contractor shall prohibit discrimination on the basis 
of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin, and (i) 
comply with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.; 
(ii) facilitate compliance with Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity” 
September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by any later Executive Order that 
amends or supersedes it in part and is applicable to Federal assistance programs; (iii) comply 
with Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332; (iv) comply with Federal Transit 
Administration Circular 4704.1 “Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Requirements and 
Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients;” and (v) follow other Federal 
guidance pertaining to equal employment opportunity laws, regulations, and requirements, 
and prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of disability. 

2. Specifics.  Contractor shall ensure that applicants for employment are employed and 
employees are treated during employment without discrimination on the basis of their race, 
color, religion, national origin, disability, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, or status as 
a parent, as provided in Executive Order No. 11246 and by any later executive order that 
amends or supersedes it, and as specified by U.S. Department of Labor regulations. 
Contractor shall take affirmative action that includes but is not limited to (i) recruitment 
advertising, recruitment, and employment; (ii) rates of pay and other forms of compensation; 
(iii) selection for training, including apprenticeship, and upgrading; and (iv) transfers, 
demotions, layoffs, and terminations.  Contractor recognizes that Title VII of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, as amended, exempts Indian Tribes under the definition of “Employer.” 



  
 
 

   
  

 
   

 
  

  

   
 

 
  

 
  

 
     

 
 

  
    

 
   

   
 

  
 

 
 

    
 

    
 

  
 

 
   

 

   
 

 
 

    
 

  
  

 
 

SAMPLE

3. Equal Employment Opportunity Requirements for Construction Activities.  Contractor shall 
comply, when undertaking “construction” as recognized by the U.S. Department of Labor, 
with (i) U.S. Department of Labor regulations, “Office of Federal Contract Compliance 
Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor,” 41 CFR Chapter 60; and 
(ii) Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity in Federal Employment,” 
September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by any later executive order that 
amends or supersedes it, referenced in 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note. 

D. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex: 
Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. and 
implementing Federal regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education 
Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 49 CFR Part 25 prohibit 
discrimination on the basis of sex. 

E. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age: 
In accordance with section 4 of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, 
29 U.S.C. §§ 621-634; Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332; the Age Discrimination Act of 
1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.; 49 CFR Part 90, and 29 CFR Part 1625, Contractor 
agrees to refrain from discrimination for reason of age. In addition, Contractor agrees to comply 
with applicable Federal implementing regulations. 

F. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability: 
In accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794; 
the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.; the 
Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4151 et seq.; and Federal transit 
law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, Contractor agrees that it will not discriminate against individuals on the 
basis of disability.  Contractor further agrees that it will comply with the requirements of U.S. 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, “Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment 
Provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act,” 29 CFR Part 1630, pertaining to employment 
of persons with disabilities. In addition, Contractor agrees to comply with applicable Federal 
implementing regulations. 

G. Drug or Alcohol Abuse - Confidentiality and Other Civil Rights Protections: 
To the extent applicable, Contractor agrees to comply with the confidentiality and civil rights 
protections of the Drug Abuse Office and Treatment Act of 1972, as amended, 21 U.S.C. § 1101, 
et seq., the Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Prevention, Treatment, and 
Rehabilitation Act of 1970, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4541, et seq., and the Public Health Service 
Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 290dd-290dd-2. 

H. Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency: 
Contractor agrees to promote accessibility of public transportation services to persons with 
limited understanding of English by following Executive Order No. 13166, “Improving Access to 
Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency,” 42 U.S.C. § 2000d-1 note, and U.S. DOT 
Notice, “DOT Policy Guidance Concerning Recipients’ Responsibilities to Limited English 
Proficiency (LEP) Persons,” 70 Fed. Reg. 74087, Dec. 14, 2005. 

7 - INCORPORATION OF FTA TERMS 

The preceding provisions include, in part, certain standard terms and conditions required by DOT, 
whether or not expressly set forth in the preceding contract provisions. All contractual provisions 
required by DOT, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F, and FTA’s Master Agreement, are hereby 
incorporated by reference. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms 



  
   

  
 

      
  

 
   

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
   

 
 

   
 

  
   

 
   

 
   
 

   
 

    
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

 
  

 
   

  
 

 
 

  

shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this Agreement. 
The Contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with any RTC 
requests which would cause the RTC to be in violation of the FTA terms and conditions. 

8 - SAFE OPERATION OF MOTOR VEHICLES [23 U.S.C. part 402; Executive Order No. 13043; 
Executive Order No. 13513; U.S. DOT Order No. 3902.10] 

A. Seat Belt Use. Contractor is encouraged to adopt and promote on-the-job seat belt use policies 
and programs for its employees and other personnel that operate company-owned vehicles, 
company-rented vehicles, or personally operated vehicles. The terms “company-owned” and 
“company-leased” refer to vehicles owned or leased either by Contractor or the RTC. 

B. Distracted Driving. Contractor agrees to adopt and enforce workplace safety policies to decrease 
crashes caused by distracted drivers, including policies to ban text messaging while using an 
electronic device supplied by an employer, and driving a vehicle the driver owns or rents, a 
vehicle Contactor owns, leases, or rents, or a privately-owned vehicle when on official business 
in connection with the work performed under this Agreement. 

C. Contractor shall require the inclusion of these requirements in subcontracts of all tiers. 

9 - PROHIBITION ON CERTAIN TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND VIDEO SURVEILLANCE 
SERVICES OR EQUIPMENT [2 CFR § 200.216] 

Contractor is prohibited from obligating or expending loan or grant funds to: 

A. Procure or obtain; 

B. Extend or renew a contract to procure or obtain; or 

C. Enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or obtain equipment, services, 
or systems that use covered telecommunications equipment or services as a substantial or 
essential component of any system, or as critical technology as part of any system. As described 
in Public Law 115-232, section 889, covered telecommunications equipment is 
telecommunications equipment produced by Huawei Technologies Company or ZTE 
Corporation (or any subsidiary or affiliate of such entities). 

1. For the purpose of public safety, security of government facilities, physical security 
surveillance of critical infrastructure, and other national security purposes, video surveillance 
and telecommunications equipment produced by Hytera Communications Corporation, 
Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology Company, or Dahua Technology Company (or any 
subsidiary or affiliate of such entities). 

2. Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such entities or using such 
equipment. 

3. Telecommunications or video surveillance equipment or services produced or provided by 
an entity that the Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the Director of the National 
Intelligence or the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, reasonably believes to be 
an entity owned or controlled by, or otherwise connected to, the government of a covered 
foreign country. 

SAMPLE



     
     

 
 

 
    

     
  

 
 

  
  

 
 

  
  

    
 

 
     

  
     

 
  

     
    

 
  

  
 
 

  
   

   
  

 
 

    
  

 
 

  
 
 

   
    

  
 

  
 

 

10 - NOTICE TO FTA AND U.S. DOT INSPECTOR GENERAL OF INFORMATION RELATED TO 
FRAUD, WASTE, ABUSE, OR OTHER LEGAL MATTERS [FTA Master Agreement (28), 
Section 39(b)] 

Notification to FTA; Flow Down Requirement. If a current or prospective legal matter that may affect 
the Federal Government emerges, Contractor must promptly notify RTC, which will promptly notify the 
FTA Chief Counsel and FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which RTC is located. Contractor must 
include an equivalent provision in its sub-agreements at every tier, for any agreement that is a “covered 
transaction” according to 2 C.F.R. §§ 180.220 and 1200.220. 

A. The types of legal matters that require notification include, but are not limited to, a major dispute, 
breach, default, litigation, or naming the Federal Government as a party to litigation or a legal 
disagreement in any forum for any reason. 

B. Matters that may affect the Federal Government include, but are not limited to, the Federal 
Government’s interests in the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 
Amendments thereto, or the Federal Government’s administration or enforcement of federal 
laws, regulations, and requirements. 

C. Additional Notice to U.S. DOT Inspector General. Contractor must promptly notify RTC, which 
will promptly notify the U.S. DOT Inspector General in addition to the FTA Chief Counsel or 
Regional Counsel for the Region in which RTC is located, if Contractor has knowledge of 
potential fraud, waste, or abuse occurring on a project receiving assistance from FTA. The 
notification provision applies if a person has or may have submitted a false claim under the False 
Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729, et seq., or has or may have committed a criminal or civil violation 
of law pertaining to such matters as fraud, conflict of interest, bid rigging, misappropriation or 
embezzlement, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct involving federal assistance. This 
responsibility occurs whether the project is subject to this Agreement or another agreement 
involving a principal, officer, employee, agent, or Third Party Participant of Contractor. It also 
applies to subcontractors at any tier. Knowledge, as used in this paragraph, includes, but is not 
limited to, knowledge of a criminal or civil investigation by a Federal, state, or local law 
enforcement or other investigative agency, a criminal indictment or civil complaint, or probable 
cause that could support a criminal indictment, or any other credible information in the 
possession of Contractor. In this paragraph, “promptly” means to refer information without delay 
and without change. This notification provision applies to all divisions of Contractor, including 
divisions tasked with law enforcement or investigatory functions. 

11 - GOVERNMENT-WIDE DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION [2 C.F.R. part 180; 2 C.F.R part 
1200; 2 C.F.R. § 200.213; 2 C.F.R. part 200 Appendix II (I); Executive Order 12549; Executive 
Order 12689] 

A. Contractor shall comply and facilitate compliance with U.S. Department of Transportation 
regulations, “Non-procurement Suspension and Debarment,” 2 CFR Part 1200, which adopts 
and supplements the U.S. Office of Management and Budget “Guidelines to Agencies on 
Government wide Debarment and Suspension (Non-procurement),” 2 CFR Part 180. These 
provisions apply to each contract at any tier of $25,000 or more, and to each contract at any tier 
for a federally required audit (irrespective of the contract amount), and to each contract at any 
tier that must be approved by a Federal Transit Administration official irrespective of the contract 
amount.  As such, Contractor shall verify that its principals, affiliates, and subcontractors are 
eligible to participate in this federally funded contract and are not presently declared by any 
Federal department or agency to be: 

SAMPLE



  
  
  
  
  
  

 
   

 
  

   
 

 
    

  
 

 
 

     
  

 
     

  
 

  

  
  

  
 

   
 

 
    

 
   

 
 
 

  
  

  
 

  
     

 
 

  
  

 

1. Debarred from participation in any federally assisted award; 
2. Suspended from participation in any federally assisted award; 
3. Proposed for debarment from participation in any federally assisted award; 
4. Declared ineligible to participate in any federally assisted award; 
5. Voluntarily excluded from participation in any federally assisted award; or 
6. Disqualified from participation in any federally assisted award. 

B. Contractor certifies that it and/or its principals, affiliates, and subcontractors are not currently 
debarred or suspended.  Contractor shall promptly inform the RTC of any change in the 
suspension or debarment status of Contractor or its principals, affiliates, and subcontractors 
during the term of the Agreement. Further, Contractor shall include a provision requiring 
compliance with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 180, Subpart C, as supplemented by 2 CFR 
Part 1200 in its lower-tier covered transactions. 

C. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by RTC.  If it is later 
determined by the RTC that Contractor knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition 
to remedies available to the RTC, the Federal Government may pursue available remedies, 
including but not limited to suspension and/or debarment. 

D. Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 180, Subpart C, as 
supplemented by 2 CFR Part 1200, throughout the term of the Agreement. 

12 - LOBBYING RESTRICTIONS [31 U.S.C. § 1352; 2 C.F.R. § 200.450; 2 C.F.R. part 200 appendix 
II (J); 49 C.F.R. part 20] 

Contractors who apply or bid for an award of $100,000 or more shall file the certification required by 49 
C.F.R. Part 20, "New Restrictions on Lobbying." Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and 
has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or attempting 
to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of 
Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, 
grant, or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. Each tier shall also disclose the name of any 
registrant under the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995 who has made lobbying contacts on its behalf 
with non-Federal funds with respect to that Federal contract, grant or award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 
1352. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the RTC. 

13 - CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT—NON-CONSTRUCTION 

A. Contractor shall comply with all Federal laws, regulations, and requirements providing wage and 
hour protections for non-construction employees, in accordance with 40 U.S.C. § 3702, Contract 
Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, and other relevant parts of that Act, 40 U.S.C. § 3701 et 
seq., and U.S. Department of Labor regulations, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to 
Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction (also Labor Standards 
Provisions Applicable to Non-construction Contracts Subject to the Contract Work Hours and 
Safety Standards Act),” 29 CFR Part 5. 

B. Contractor shall maintain payrolls and basic payroll records during the course of the work and 
shall preserve them for a period of three (3) years from the completion of the Agreement for all 
laborers and mechanics, including guards and watchmen, working on the Agreement. Such 
records shall contain the name and address of each such employee, social security number, 
correct classifications, hourly rates of wages paid, daily and weekly number of hours worked, 
deductions made, and actual wages paid. 

SAMPLE



  
 

    
  

 
   

 
     

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
      

 
  

    
 

  
 

  
 

 
    

 
  

 
 

  
 

     
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
   

 
 

   
 

 

C. Such records maintained under this section shall be made available by Contractor for inspection, 
copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the Federal Transit Administration and 
the U.S. Department of Labor, and Contractor will permit such representatives to interview 
employees during working hours on the job. 

D. Contractor shall require the inclusion of the language of this section in subcontracts of all tiers. 

14 - CLEAN WATER REQUIREMENTS [33 U.S.C. §§ 1251-1387; 2 C.F.R. part 200, Appendix II 
(G)] 

A. The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or regulations issued 
pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. § 1251, et seq. The 
Contractor agrees to report each violation to the RTC and understands and acknowledges that 
the RTC will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to FTA and the 
appropriate EPA Regional Office. 

B. The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding 
$150,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 

15 - CLEAN AIR ACT [42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 – 7671q; 2 C.F.R. part 200, Appendix II (G)] 

A. The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 
pursuant to the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401, et seq. The Contractor agrees 
to report each violation to the RTC and understands and agrees that the RTC will, in turn, report 
each violation as required to assure notification to FTA and the appropriate EPA Regional Office. 

B. The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding 
$150,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 

16 - CARGO PREFERENCE [46 U.S.C. § 55305; 46 C.F.R. part 381] 

If the Contractor uses Federal funds to purchase any capital items from foreign sources under the 
Agreement, the Contractor agrees: 

A. To utilize privately owned United States-flag commercial vessels to ship at least 50 percent of 
the gross tonnage (computed separately from dry bulk carriers, dry cargo liners, and tankers) 
involved, whenever shipping any equipment, materials, or commodities pursuant to this Contract 
to the extent such vessels are available at fair and reasonable rates for United States-flag 
commercial vessels. 

B. To furnish within 20 working days following the date of loading for shipments originating within 
the United States, or within 30 working days following the date of loading for shipment originating 
outside of the United States, a legible copy of a rated, “on-board” commercial ocean bill-of-lading 
in English for each shipment of cargo described in subsection A above to the RTC (through the 
Contractor in case of a subcontractor bill-of-lading) and to the Division of National Cargo, Office 
of Market Development, Maritime Administration, 400 Seventh Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 
20590, marked with appropriate identification of the project. 

C. To include these requirements in all subcontracts issued pursuant to the Agreement which may 
involve the transport of equipment, materials, or commodities by ocean vessel. 

SAMPLE



   
 

  
   

  
 

 
 
 
  

17 - GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND RELATED SPATIAL DATA 

If the work or related activity directly or indirectly involves spatial data, or geographic information 
systems, Contractor shall follow U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-16, “Coordination 
of Geographic Information and Related Spatial Data Activities,” August 19, 2002, and U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget Circular A-16 Supplemental Guidance, “Geospatial Line of Business,” 
November 10, 2010. 

SAMPLE



 
  

REQUIRED FEDERAL CERTIFICATIONS 

SAMPLE



 
 
 

 

    
  

 

 

 
   

     

 

       

 

        

 

        

 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

AFFIDAVIT OF NON-COLLUSION 

I hereby swear (or affirm) under penalty of perjury: 

1. That I am the Bidder (if the Bidder is an individual, a partner in the Bid (if the Bidder is a partnership) or an 
officer or employee of the bidding corporation having authority to sign on its behalf (if the Bidder is a 
corporation); 

2. That the attached Bid or Bids has been arrived at by the Bidder independently and have been submitted 
without collusion and without any agreement, understanding or planned common course of action with any 
other vendor of materials, supplies, equipment or service described in the Invitation for Bid, designed to 
limit independent Bids or competition; 

3. That the contents of the Bid or Bids has not been communicated by the Bidder or its employees or agents to 
any person not an employee or agent of the Bidder or its surety on any bond furnished with the Bid or Bids 
and will not be communicated to any such person prior to the official opening of the Bid or Bids; and 

4. That I have fully informed myself regarding the accuracy of the statements made in the affidavit. 

Firm Name: 

Signed: 

Print: 

Date: SAMPLE



  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
   

    
   

  
 

 
 

    
 

 
    

 
 

  
 

 
 
  

       
 
  

         
   

         
 
 

          
 
 
 
 
 
  

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, 
OTHER INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY EXCLUSION 

I, ____________________________________ certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, that the 
contractor/primary participant and principals: 
1. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded 

from covered transactions by any federal department or agency; 
2. Have not, within a three-year period preceding this Bid, been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered 

against them for commission of a fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to 
obtain, or performing a public function (federal, state or local) transaction or contract under a public 
transaction; violation of federal or state antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, 
bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements or receiving stolen property; 

3. Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity (federal, 
state or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (2) of this certification; and 

4. Have not, within a three-year period preceding this bid, had one or more public transactions (federal, state, or 
local) terminated for cause or default. 

[Where the Contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such Contractor shall 
attach an explanation to this Bid.] 

I DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE AND AFFIRM UNDER THE PENALTIES OF PERJURY THAT THE 
CONTENTS OF THE FOREGOING DOCUMENT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT, AND THAT I AM 
AUTHORIZED, ON BEHALF OF THE ABOVE FIRM, TO MAKE THIS AFFIDAVIT. 

Contractor Name: 

SAMPLE

Signature: 

Print: 

Date: 



 

 
 

 

  
 

 
     

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 

Certification for Contracts, Grants, Loans and Cooperative Agreements 49 C.F.R. Part 20 that: The undersigned 
Contractor certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, 

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, 
to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of 
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the 
awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering 
into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement. 

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for 
making lobbying contacts to an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee 
of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form—LLL, “Disclosure Form to 
Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions as amended by “Government wide Guidance for New 
Restrictions on Lobbying,” 61 Fed. Reg. 1413 (1/19/96). 

(3) The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and 
cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction 
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. §1352 (as amended by the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995). Any person who 
fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than 
$100,000 for each such failure. 

[Note: Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 1352(c)(1)-(2)(A), any person who makes a prohibited expenditure or fails to file 
or amend a required certification or disclosure form shall be subject to a civil penalty or not less than $10,000 and 
not more than $100,000 for each such expenditure or failure. 

The Contractor, , certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of each statement 
of its certification and disclosure, if any. In addition, the Contractor understands and agrees that the provisions of 31 
U.S.C. § 3801, et seq., apply to this certification and disclosure, if any. 

Signature of Contractor’s Authorized Official: _______________________________________ 

Name and Title of Contractor’s Authorized Official: _________________________________ 

Date: _____________________________________________________________________ 

SAMPLE



  

 

  
   

 
 

   
  

 
   

   

  
 

 

    

   

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 5.1.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Xuan Wang, PHD, PE, PTP, RSP2, Planning Manager

  SUBJECT: 2050 Regional Transportation Plan, Amendment No. 3 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Conduct a public hearing regarding approval of Amendment No. 3 to the 2050 Regional Transportation 
Plan (RTP); adopt a resolution approving Amendment No. 3 to the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan 
(RTP). 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

RTC staff is proposing Amendment No. 3 to the 2050 RTP to change the project schedule for a project led 
by the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT). The project operational and capacity improvements 
to I-80 between Vista Boulevard and USA Parkway is being updated to reflect the new construction 
schedule. Although the project will still fall within the RTP’s 2031 – 2050 project time period, the model 
year for the project is required to mirror the change in schedule from 2050 to 2040. 

An air quality conformity analysis for the proposed RTP amendment is required as the project is a capacity 
project and is therefore not exempt from transportation conformity requirements. An air quality conformity 
analysis was conducted as a part of the RTP amendment process. Emissions were estimated using EPA’s 
MOVES4 model and compared with the Motor Vehicle Emission Budgets. The air quality conformity 
analysis report was updated to reflect the change and included in the RTP amendment. Based on existing 
and planned commitments, the air quality analysis demonstrates that the required air quality conformity 
determination can be made. The RTP is shown to be in conformance with federal air quality regulations. 
The Interagency Air Quality Consultation Group met on June 18, 2024 and subsequently recommended 
approval of the air quality analysis. 

A public comment period (June 26, 2024 – July 16, 2024) preceded this public hearing. The draft 
documents were posted on the agency website, and a notice was published in the Reno Gazette-Journal, 
Sparks Tribune, and El Sol de Nevada per the RTC Public Participation Plan. No comments have been 
received as of the drafting of this staff report. 



  

2050 Regional Transportation Plan, Amendment No. 3 
Page 2 

The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) and the Citizens Multimodal Advisory Committee (CMAC) 
met on July 8th and 10th, 2024, respectively, with TAC recommending approval of the amendment. The 
CMAC received a presentation on the RTP Amendment #3, where they discussed regional transit connector 
options to the TRI Center, a transit-first approach, external partnerships, and safety on I-80. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for the project cost estimates in the proposed amendment has been budgeted based on anticipated 
federal, state, and local revenue sources. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

01/19/2024 Approved resolution adopting Amendment No. 2 to the 2050 RTP. 
01/20/2023 Approved resolution adopting Amendment No. 1 to the 2050 RTP. 
03/19/2021 Approved resolution adopting the 2050 RTP. 



  
 

 

  
 

 
  

 
   

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 24-09 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ADOPTION OF AMENDMENT NO. 3 
TO THE 2050 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN (RTP) FOR THE 
RENO-SPARKS URBANIZED AREA. 

WHEREAS, Title 23 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 450, and Title 49 Code of 
Federal Regulations, Part 613, require the preparation of a Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) 
by the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO); and 

WHEREAS, the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (RTC) has 
been designated as the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for the Reno-Sparks 
Urbanized Area of Washoe County; and 

WHEREAS, RTC, through the conduct of a continuing, comprehensive and 
coordinated transportation planning process and in conformance with all applicable federal 
requirements, has prepared Amendment No. 3 to the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan 
(RTP); and 

WHEREAS, RTC finds that pursuant to Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations, 
Part 93, this amendment to the 2050 Regional Transportation Plan conforms with the intent of 
the State Air Quality Implementation Plan; and, 

WHEREAS, RTC finds that Amendment No. 3 to the 2050 Regional Transportation 
Plan has been prepared through a process of community and agency coordination and 
participation in accordance with the RTC’s adopted Public Participation Plan; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION OF WASHOE COUNTY that the Regional 
Transportation Commission does hereby adopt and endorse the 2050 Regional Transportation 
Plan. 

CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned, duly qualified Chairperson of the Regional Transportation Commission, 
certifies that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted at a legally 
convened meeting held on July 19, 2024. 

Ed Lawson, Chair 
Regional Transportation Commission 

1 



  

 

  
  

 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 6.1.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Paul Nelson, Government Affairs Officer

  SUBJECT: 83rd Session of the Nevada Legislature Discussion 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Discuss and provide potential direction to staff regarding any legislative measures to be considered by the 
83rd Session of the Nevada Legislature (2025). 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

Michael Hillerby of Kaempfer Crowell, Ltd., is RTC's government affairs representative to the Nevada 
Legislature and will present legislative measures and issues of interest to the Board that may be considered 
during the 83rd Session of the Nevada Legislature. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for this item is included in the approved FY 2025 budget, and there is no additional cost to this 
item. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



  

  

   

  
  

 
 

   

 

 
 

  

  
 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 6.2.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Amanda Callegari, Engineering Manager

 SUBJECT: Arlington Avenue Bridges Project - Construction Manager-at-Risk (CMAR) 
Construction Contract 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve a Construction Manager-at-Risk (CMAR) contract with Granite Construction Company for the 
construction of the Arlington Avenue Bridges Project for a Guaranteed Maximum Price of $32,340,102. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

On June 16, 2023, the RTC Board authorized RTC staff to pursue efforts to deliver the Arlington Avenue 
Bridges Project (“Project”) using the Construction Manager-at-Risk (CMAR) project delivery method.    

The CMAR delivery method involves procuring a general contractor with specialized experience to serve 
as a construction manager who assists the RTC in designing the Project during the pre-construction phase, 
and then constructing the Project if a construction price, as validated by an Independent Cost Estimator 
(ICE), is agreed upon by the contractor and the RTC. If those efforts are successful, RTC and the general 
contractor would then enter into a construction services agreement under which the general contractor 
would construct the project. The CMAR delivery method is statutorily authorized in NRS 338.1685 et seq., 
and federal law and regulations. 

RTC issued “RTC 23-15 Request for Proposal (RFP)” on August 9, 2023. RTC received proposals to 
perform pre-construction services from the following firms: Ames Construction, Granite Construction 
Company, and Q&D Construction. Granite Construction Company (“Granite”) was selected as the 
highest-ranked construction manager. The RTC Board approved the contract with Granite for CMAR pre-
construction services at the October 2023 RTC Board Meeting.  

Throughout the pre-construction phase, Granite independently reviewed the plans, specifications, and 
quantities at various design stages. Risk and innovation workshops were held to identify and mitigate risks 
while implementing innovations with the overall goal of reducing project cost, improving delivery 
schedule, and enhancing quality. Several resolution meetings were then held to clarify quantities and type 
of work required to ensure that estimates were being prepared using the same assumptions. Estimates for 



    

  
 

 

  
  

    

   
 

  

 

 
  

   
 

 

  
 

 

   

  

Arlington Avenue Bridges Project - Construction Manager-at-Risk (CMAR) Construction Contract 
Page 2 

level of effort and types of materials and methods were reviewed and discussed. The estimates were then 
modified to reflect agreement on pricing assumptions. 

Some of the innovations that were implemented through the CMAR process include using precast concrete 
elements, changing the footings from drilled shafts to spread footings, and redesign of drainage culverts. 
Implementation of these proposed innovations accelerated the proposed construction schedule, reduced 
construction costs, and mitigated risks associated with noise impacts, complications associated with 
construction of drilled shafts, and uncertainties that accompany multiple in-river work seasons. 

The project team completed the final design and pre-construction phase in June 2024. Upon completion, 
Granite developed a final construction price proposal for review by the RTC and the Project’s independent 
cost estimator (ICE). RTC staff evaluated Granite’s GMP submission and found the bid to be reasonable 
and in-range of the ICE’s bid as well as the Engineer’s Estimate. 

In accordance with NRS 338.1696, the pricing methodology negotiated by the parties for the construction 
work is a “Guaranteed Maximum Price” of $32,340,102.00 consisting of the cost of the work, a CMAR 
fee, a risk register account, and an owner contingency amount. The cost of the work is $25,102,021.00 
and the CMAR fee is $4,173,076.00, which includes profit and overhead. The risk reserve account of 
$3,065,005.00 provides a maximum amount of funds that Granite can access if specifically identified 
events occur; the risk reserve account may or may not need to be expended depending on the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of those events. 

At the conclusion of the negotiations, the difference between Granite’s final proposal for the cost of work 
and CMAR fee was roughly 5.2% higher than the ICE’s estimate. RTC staff has concluded that the 
Guaranteed Maximum Price is fair and reasonable because of the challenges and risks involved with 
construction of the project, and Granite’s proposed strategy to complete the in-water work within one in-
river season. 

Any costs of the project in excess of the Guaranteed Maximum Price are the responsibility of Granite 
unless the cost increase qualifies as a “Compensable Delay” or “Compensable Event” under the terms of 
the contract and meets the criteria for a Change Order in the contract.  

Upon approval of this contract, Granite will begin procurement of materials with an estimated construction 
notice to proceed in early May 2025 and anticipated construction completion in June 2026. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The Project is funded using Federal and Local Fuel Tax funds. $2,000,000 in Federal Congressional 
Directed Funds with a (95/5) local match requirement, $7,000,000 in Federal RAISE Grant funds Local 
with a (60/40) local match requirement, $5,900,000 in Federal Surface Transportation Block Grant (STGB) 
funds with a (95/5) local match requirement and Local Fuel Tax funds for this project is included in the 
approved FY 2024 and FY 2025 budget. 

https://3,065,005.00
https://4,173,076.00
https://25,102,021.00
https://32,340,102.00


  
  

 
  

 
 

  

Arlington Avenue Bridges Project - Construction Manager-at-Risk (CMAR) Construction Contract 
Page 3 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

11/17/2022 Acknowledged receipt of a report regarding the Arlington Avenue Bridges Replacement 
Project. 

6/16/2023 Authorized staff to pursue efforts to deliver the Arlington Avenue Bridges Project using the 
Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) project delivery method, on a parallel path with 
planned and ongoing efforts to use the Design-Bid-Build project delivery method. 

10/20/2023 Approved a contract with Innovative Contracting and Engineering LLC for independent cost 
estimating services related to the Arlington Avenue Bridges Construction Manager at Risk 
(CMAR) Project, in an amount not-to-exceed $249,377. 

10/20/2023 Approved Amendment No. 1 to the contract with Avenue Consultants, Inc., for professional 
services and program management of the Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) pre-
construction process for the Arlington Avenue Bridge Replacement Project, in an amount 
not-to-exceed $291,445.45 for a new total not-to-exceed amount of $352,419.45. 

10/20/2023 Approved a contract with Granite Construction Inc., for Construction Manager at Risk 
(CMAR) pre-construction services for the Arlington Avenue Bridges Project, in an amount 
not-to-exceed $449,980.60. 

https://449,980.60
https://352,419.45
https://291,445.45


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

for the 

ARLINGTON AVENUE BRIDGES PROJECT 

between 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

OF WASHOE COUNTY 

and 

GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 



 

 

  

  

 

 

      

          

        

           

     

         

       

         

      

      

      

      

        
    

       

             

       

         

        

       

            

        

         

          

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

Page 

SEC. 1. DEFINITIONS..................................................................................................................... 2 

SEC. 2. NOTICE OF AWARD AND NOTICE TO PROCEED................................................... 9 

SEC. 3. SCOPE OF WORK..........................................................................................................10 

SEC. 4. COMPLIANCE WITH CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; PROJECT MEETINGS ........10 

SEC. 5. PROJECT SCHEDULE ..................................................................................................11 

SEC. 7. INVOICING AND PAYMENT PROVISIONS ...............................................................15 

SEC. 8. KEY PERSONNEL ..........................................................................................................20 

SEC. 9. SUBCONTRACTING PLAN AND SUBCONTRACTORS ........................................21 

SEC. 10. INSURANCE ....................................................................................................................22 

SEC. 11. BONDS..............................................................................................................................22 

SEC. 12. INDEMNIFICATION ........................................................................................................23 

SEC. 13. CHANGES ........................................................................................................................23 

SEC. 14. CATEGORIES OF CHANGES TO CONTRACT TIME/CONSTRUCTION 
PRICE................................................................................................................................25 

SEC. 15. PROCEDURES FOR CHANGES .................................................................................31 

SEC. 16. BASIS FOR ESTABLISHING COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH A CHANGE............38 

SEC. 17. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ..........................................................................................43 

SEC. 18. WARRANTIES RELATING TO THE WORK ..............................................................45 

SEC. 19. PROJECT COMPLETION AND ACCEPTANCE .......................................................49 

SEC. 20. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES ..............................................................................................54 

SEC. 21. RIGHT TO SUSPEND WORK AND TERMINATE CONTRACT .............................56 

SEC. 22. ALTERATIONS AND OMISSIONS ..............................................................................56 

SEC. 23. ISSUE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION.........................................................................57 

SEC. 24. ACCESS TO RECORDS AND AUDITS ......................................................................58 

ii 



 

 

      

        

      

      

       

        

          

          

          

             

       

          

         

         

      

        

       

 

 
  
  
     
    
   
   
  

  
  
       

 
    

     
     
     

 

SEC. 25. ESCROW OF PRICING DOCUMENTS .......................................................................59 

SEC. 26. EXCLUSION OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES...................................................... 63 

SEC. 27. NOT USED .......................................................................................................................63 

SEC. 28. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNEES ..............................................................................63 

SEC. 29. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR ..................................................................................64 

SEC. 30. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS .........................................................................................64 

SEC. 31. PREVAILING WAGE AND APPRENTICESHIP REQUIREMENTS .......................64 

SEC. 32. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) REQUIREMENTS............65 

SEC. 33. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) REQUIREMENTS .....................66 

SEC. 34. BUY AMERICA AND BUILD AMERICA, BUY AMERICA REQUIREMENTS......67 

SEC. 35. OTHER FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS .........................................................................67 

SEC. 36. OTHER PROVISIONS OF NRS CHAPTER 338........................................................68 

SEC. 37. CONTINUED EFFECT OF PRECONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT ....69 

SEC. 38. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE................................................................................69 

SEC. 39. SEVERABILITY ...............................................................................................................69 

SEC. 40. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES ..........................................................................69 

SEC. 41. COUNTERPARTS; EFFECTIVE DATE ......................................................................69 

EXHIBITS 
Exhibit A: CPM Schedule 
Exhibit B: Working Day Calendar 
Exhibit C: Detailed Cost of the Work, Schedule of Values, and TRO Rates 
Exhibit D: Risk Register Account and Events 
Exhibit E: Key Personnel 
Exhibit F: Subcontracting Plan 
Exhibit G: DBE Performance Plan 
Exhibit H DBE Provisions 
Exhibit I: Indemnification and Insurance Requirements 
Exhibit J: Other Federal and NDOT Local Public Agency (LPA) Requirements 

• Form FHWA-1273, "Required Contract Provisions, Federal-Aid Construction 
Contracts (Exclusive of Appalachian Contracts)" – Revised October 23, 2023 

• Appendix A of Department of Transportation Order 1050.2A 
• Appendix E of Department of Transportation Order 1050.2A 
• ADDITIONAL CONTRACT PROVISIONS – SUPPLEMENT TO THE WEEKLY 

CERTIFIED PAYROLLS 

iii 



 

 

 
  

  
 

    
  

    
  

   
  
  
    
    

 
    

   
 

   
 

  
   
   

 
 

• STANDARD FEDERAL EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT SPECIFICATIONS (EXECUTIVE ORDER 11246) 

• Notice of Requirement for Affirmative Action to Ensure Equal Employment 
Opportunity (Executive Order 11246) 

• ADDITIONAL CONTRACT PROVISIONS – EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 
Training Special Provisions 

• ADDITIONAL CONTRACT PROVISION – DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS 
ENTERPRISE IN FEDERAL-AID HIGHWAY CONSTRUCTION 

• Buy America and Build America, Buy America Requirements 
• Standardized Changed Condition Clauses 
• Prompt Payment and Retainage Clause 
• Required Postings and Notices 
• Prosecution and Progress 

Exhibit K: Certifications and Affidavits 
• Form IC - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Other Ineligibility and 

Voluntary Exclusion 
• Certification Required by 31 U.S.C. § 1352, Restrictions on Lobbying Using Federal 

Appropriated Funds, and “Instructions for Completion of SF-LLL, Disclosure of 
Lobbying Activities” 

• Form NC - Affidavit of Non-Collusion 
• Form BAC - Buy America Certificate 

Exhibit L: Davis-Bacon Wage Rates and Nevada Prevailing Wage Rates 

iv 



 

 

  

         

      

          

       

           

           

         

   

          

    

           

            

           

           

         

         

       

        

  

        

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

This agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into this ____ day of _______________ 2024, by 

and between the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (“RTC”) and Granite 

Construction Company (“Contractor”), a company authorized to do business in Nevada, for the 

construction of the Arlington Avenue Bridges Project (the “Project”). 

WHEREAS, the RTC conducted a competitive procurement process in accordance with Nevada 

State law pursuant to Request for Proposals (RFP) RTC #_____ to select a contractor to provide 

Construction Manager at Risk/General Contractor services for the pre-construction and 

construction phases of the Project. 

WHEREAS, the Contractor was determined to be the highest ranked proposer in that competitive 

procurement process and was selected to provide pre-construction services. 

WHEREAS, the RTC and the Contractor entered into a Pre-Construction Services Agreement on 

October __, 2023, which established the terms, conditions, and scope of work for the pre-

construction services and also provided that the Contractor may perform the construction work 

on the Project if the RTC and the Contractor were able to agree subsequently upon the 

construction price for that construction work and other contract terms and conditions. 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the terms of the Pre-construction Services Agreement and 

applicable State law, the RTC and the Contractor have now negotiated and agreed upon a 

construction price for the construction work and the other terms and conditions to apply to that 

work. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the RTC and the Contractor mutually agree as follows: 

1 



 

 

    

  

           

             

              

            

           

           

       

   

        

           

      

              

      

             

         

               

     

          

               

              

          

   

    

              

     

SEC. 1. DEFINITIONS 

As used in this Agreement: 

Acceptance or Accepted. The term “Acceptance” and “Accepted” means written notice from the 

RTC indicating that a particular Contractor submittal, plan, or element of the Work appears to 

comply with the Contract Documents. Acceptance shall not (1) shift any risk to the RTC or relieve 

the Contractor of its obligations or liabilities under the Contract Documents; (2) be construed as 

a waiver by the RTC of any non-compliance or breach by the Contractor; or (3) be construed as 

a warranty by the RTC that the Contractor’s methods will succeed or will be the most efficient or 

economical method of accomplishing the Work. 

Agreement or Construction Contract. The terms “Agreement” and “Construction Contract” 

mean this Construction Contract for the Project and the Work. 

Change. The term “Change” means an alteration, modification, deletion or addition to the Work, 

this Agreement or the other Contract Documents. 

Change Notice. The term “Change Notice” means a notice from RTC to the Contractor 

describing a proposed Change, as further described in this Agreement. 

Change Order. The term “Change Order” means a written order issued by the RTC that directs 

a Change to the Work or to the Contract Documents. 

Changed Work. The term “Changed Work” means a specific element of the Work that is the 

subject of a Change. 

CMAR Fee. The term “CMAR Fee” means the compensation to the Contractor, as applicable, in 

amounts equal to profit of 12% of the Cost of the Work that is self-performed by the Contractor; 

profit of 6% of the Cost of the Work that is performed by Subcontractors; and 6% of the Cost of 

the Work for general and administrative costs, home, branch and regional office overhead 

(including support staff). 

Compensable Delay. The term “Compensable Delay” means an Excusable Delay for which the 

Contractor is entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Construction Price and Contract Time, as 

further described in Section 14. 

2 



 

 

      

          

    

        

           

 

         

                 

          

           

   

        

         

        

    

  

  

   

    

    

     

  

      

    

   

Compensable Event. The term “Compensable Event” means an action or event for which the 

Contractor is entitled to an equitable adjustment in Construction Price but not Contract Time, as 

further described in Section 14. 

Completion Deadlines. The term “Completion Deadlines” means the dates established in 

Section 5 for Substantial Completion, Punch List Completion, and Final Acceptance, as the case 

may be. 

Construction Price. The term “Construction Price” means the total not-to-exceed amount, as 

agreed upon by the Parties, that will potentially be paid by the RTC to the Contractor for the 

completion of the Work, as set forth in Section 6. The Construction Price is the sum of the Cost 

of the Work, the CMAR Fee, and the Risk Register Account, and constitutes a Guaranteed 

Maximum Price (GMP). 

Contract Documents. The term “Contract Documents” means the entire set of terms, conditions, 

and requirements that collectively constitute the obligations of the Contractor in the performance 

of the Work, specifically including the following documents and materials, set forth hereafter in 

their order of precedence: 

1. This Agreement 

2. The Exhibits to this Agreement 

3. The Special Provisions 

4. The Special Technical Specifications 

5. The Supplemental General Provisions 

6. NDOT Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction (2014) 

7. The Plans 

8. Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction (SSPWC) (2012) 

9. NDOT Standard Plans for Road and Bridge Construction (2022) 

10. The Pre-Construction Services Agreement 

3 



 

 

             

           

  

       

            

        

          

         

           

        

           

           

          

    

          

         

    

         

          

           

        

       

         

        

            

      

       

            

               

Contract Time. The term “Contract Time” means the total number of Working Days, commencing 

on date specified in NTP#2, that the Contractor is allowed to achieve Substantial Completion of 

the Work. 

Contractor. The term “Contractor” means Granite Construction Company. 

Cost of the Work. The term “Cost of the Work” means the price for time, materials, and related 

costs of the Work described in Exhibit C hereto. 

CPM Schedule. The term “CPM Schedule” means the Contractor’s cost loaded construction 

schedule that includes the planned sequence of activities showing the interrelationships and 

dependencies of the elements that comprise the Work, i.e., individual tasks, number of days 

required to perform each task, and their logical relationship to complete the Work within the 

Contract Time. The CPM Schedule includes the entire time for the Project, from Notice to Proceed 

through the Completion Deadlines. The CPM Schedule is attached as Exhibit A. 

Day or Days. The terms “Day” or “Days” means calendar days, unless otherwise specifically 

noted as “Working Days”. 

DBE Performance Plan. The term “DBE Performance Plan” means the Contractor’s plan to meet 

the disadvantaged business enterprise (DBE) goals and requirements for the construction of the 

Project, attached as Exhibit G. 

Deficient and Deficiency. The terms “Deficient” and “Deficiency” mean any defect, unapproved 

deviation, omission, or other problem, relating to materials, workmanship, or construction, that 

results in the Work (or a specified portion thereof) not complying with the Contract Documents. 

Differing Site Conditions. The term “Differing Site Conditions” means sub-surface and/or latent 

conditions encountered at the Worksite which differ materially from those shown on the Plans or 

ordinarily encountered in the area of the Project. 

Excusable Delay. The term “Excusable Delay” means an act or event that causes an identifiable 

and measurable delay or disruption in the CPM Schedule and serves as the basis for an extension 

in Contract Time, as further described in Section 14. 

FHWA. The term “FHWA” means the Federal Highway Administration. 

Final Acceptance. The term “Final Acceptance” means written notice from the RTC accepting 

the Work and determining that all required tasks and elements of the Work have been completed 

4 



 

 

           

        

        

               

        

          

            

         

             

         

            

          

     

          

          

  

             

        

          

     

              

            

        

       

        

         

 

         

 

         

in compliance with the requirements and standards in the Contract Documents, as evidenced in 

the Notice of Completion issued by the RTC. 

Float. The term “Float” means the difference between the early completion time and the late 

completion time for an activity on the CPM Schedule. Neither the Contractor nor the RTC shall 

own the Float or any activity or group of activities in the schedule. 

Force Majeure. The term “Force Majeure” means an extraordinary and unforeseen event or 

circumstance that is beyond the control of the Contractor, not due to any act or omission by the 

Contractor, and could not have been avoided by the exercise of due diligence by the Contractor, 

including but not limited to war, riot, crime or criminal acts, terrorism, epidemic, weather, labor 

disturbances, acts of a public enemy (foreign or domestic), or an event described by the legal 

term “act of God” (i.e., flood, tornadoes, earthquakes, volcanic eruption, discovery of a threatened 

or endangered species, or other unforeseeable conditions of nature), that prevents the Contractor 

from fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement. 

Goods. The term “Goods” means equipment, materials, and products incorporated into or 

necessary to perform the Work, or otherwise furnished by the Contractor in accordance with the 

Contract Documents. 

Governing Body of the RTC. The term “Governing Body of the RTC” or “RTC Governing Body” 

refers to the elected representatives of the entities of Washoe County, Nevada, and the Cities of 

Reno and Sparks, Nevada, who make up the voting membership of the RTC. 

Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP). The term “Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP)” means the 

maximum amount agreed upon by the RTC and the Contractor for performance of all of the Work, 

absent Change Orders. The Contractor will be compensated for the agreed upon costs of the 

work, plus a fee, subject to a ceiling price, as authorized in NRS 338.1696. 

Hazardous Material. The term “Hazardous Material” means any substance, product, waste, or 

other material, such as hydrocarbon products or asbestos, that is defined as “hazardous material”, 

“hazardous substances”, or “hazardous waste” under any applicable Federal or State statute or 

regulation. 

Key Personnel. The term “Key Personnel” means the Contractor’s personnel identified in Exhibit 

E. 

NDOT. The term “NDOT” means the Nevada Department of Transportation. 

5 



 

 

             

          

        

           

            

        

        

         

        

     

           

       

         

  

      

            

         

        

               

          

       

        

            

 

         

        

Notice of Completion. The term “Notice of Completion” means the notice from the RTC to the 

Contractor reflecting the RTC’s determination that the requirements for Final Acceptance have 

been satisfied, as further described in this Agreement. 

Notice to Proceed (NTP). The terms “Notice to Proceed (NTP)” means written notice from the 

RTC to the Contractor authorizing and directing the Contractor to proceed with the Work (or a 

specific portion thereof) under this Agreement, as further described in Section 2. 

Parties. The term “Parties” means the RTC and the Contractor. 

Plans. The term “Plans” means the plans, profiles, design drawings, diagrams and design 

specifications which describe and delineate the standards and criteria for the Work. 

Pre-construction Services Agreement. The term “Pre-construction Services Agreement” 

means the agreement between the RTC and the Contractor for the Pre-construction Services. 

Pre-construction Services. The terms “Pre-construction Services” means the services 

performed by the Contractor during the pre-construction phase of the Project pursuant to the Pre-

construction Services Agreement 

Project. The term “Project” means the Arlington Avenue Bridges Project. 

Public Work. The term “Public Work” has the meaning given that term in NRS 388.010. 

Punch List. The term “Punch List” means the list of items, as established by the RTC, which 

remain to be completed after Substantial Completion and constitute a condition on Final 

Acceptance. Punch List items are generally limited to minor incidental items of Work that must be 

completed as a condition of meeting all Agreement requirements, but have no adverse impact on 

safety, use, or operability of the Project. 

Punch List Completion. The term “Punch List Completion” means the completion of all Punch 

List items established at Substantial Completion as pre-requisitions to Final Acceptance of the 

Work. 

Request for Change (RFC). The terms “Request for Change” and “RFC” mean Contractor 

requested Changes, as further described in this Agreement. 

6 



 

 

        

           

   

            

         

         

         

     

      

           

             

  

         

            

 

       

         

         

          

             

         

       

         

           

        

            

                

        

Risk Register Account. The term “Risk Register Account” means the sum of all costs plus 

approved mark-up associated with each Risk Register Event listed in Exhibit D as administered 

in accordance with Section 6(D). 

Risk Register Events. The term “Risk Register Event” means the events, occurrences, or other 

items listed in Exhibit D hereto that may be the basis for a payment from the Risk Register Account 

as either “Risk Reserve – Provisional” items or “Risk Reserve” items. 

RTC Construction Engineering Service Provider. The term “RTC Construction Engineering 

Service Provider” means RTC’s construction engineering consultant that is responsible for 

construction engineering and inspection of the Project. 

RTC Executive Director. The term “RTC Executive Director” means the Executive Director of 

the RTC or the person designated in writing by the RTC Executive Director to carry out his or her 

duties under this Contract. 

RTC Project Manager. The term “RTC Project Manager” means the individual designated by the 

RTC Executive Director to oversee the Work and administer the RTC’s responsibilities under this 

Agreement. 

State. The term “State” means the State of Nevada. 

Subcontractor. The term “Subcontractor” means any person or entity that is performing a portion 

of the Work under an agreement with the Contractor, and includes subcontractors at any tier. 

Subcontracting Plan. The term “Subcontracting Plan” means the Contractor’s plan setting forth 

the program that the Contractor will follow in establishing the bid/proposal packages, establishing 

pre-qualification requirements, qualifying subcontractors, and selecting Subcontractors for the 

construction of the Project, attached as Exhibit F. 

Substantial Completion. The term “Substantial Completion” means completion of the Work 

(other than Punch List items) to the point at which the Project can be safely and effectively used 

by the public without further delays, disruption, or other impediments. 

Supplier. The term “Supplier” means a person that supplies equipment, materials, or other Goods 

to the Contractor or a Subcontractor for the Project, but does not include a person who only 

transports or delivers Goods or other materials to the Site. 

7 



 

 

       

      

          

                 

      

          

               

           

           

      

           

            

  

            

             

           

         

            

          

         

              

      

            

        

      

        

            

            

             

Time Related Overhead and TRO. The terms “Time Related Overhead” and “TRO” mean Project 

office costs, Key Personnel, on-Site construction supervisory staff, on-Site administrative staff, 

and other specifically enumerated indirect and overhead costs associated with the time to perform 

the Work that are not included in the direct Cost of the Work in Exhibit C or in the CMAR Fee. 

TRO rates are set forth in Exhibit C. 

Third Party. The term “Third Party” means the City of Reno, Washoe County, and any other 

government entity that enters into an agreement with the RTC relating to the Project or that has 

an approval role or other jurisdiction over any element of the Work. 

Work. The term “Work” means all of the administrative, professional, management, construction, 

capital improvement, services, and other duties and obligations to be furnished and provided by 

the Contractor for the Project, including all labor, Goods, materials, and equipment necessary to 

perform such Work in accordance with all requirements in this Agreement and the other Contract 

Documents. 

Working Day. The term “Working Day” means a calendar day on which weather and other 

conditions not under the control of the Contractor will permit construction operations to proceed 

for the major part of the day (at least five (5) hours) with the normal working force engaged in 

performing the controlling item or items of Work which would be in progress at that time, exclusive, 

however, of Saturdays, Sundays, State recognized holidays, and any day that is incumbent upon 

the Contractor, by means of a labor agreement, to observe as a holiday. However, if the 

Contractor elects to work on such days, those days will be considered as a Working Day, unless 

the Contractor, with advance notice to the RTC, elects to work on such a day to recover schedule 

and not treat it as a Working Day. 

Working Day Calendar. The term “Working Day Calendar”” means the calendar of Working Days 

available to the Contractor within which the Contractor must achieve Substantial Completion of 

the Work. The Working Day Calendar is attached as Exhibit B. 

Worksite and Site. The terms “Worksite” and “Site” mean the area described in the Contract 

Documents for the performance of the Work, and includes (1) areas used as laydown and staging 

areas for the Project; (2) areas used for the storage of Project goods and materials; (3) field or 

Project office sites; and (4) vehicles used on the Site or for travel to and from the Site. 

8 



 

 

         

              

         

          

       

        

       

         

        

         

       

    

             

              

        

  

               

               

      

          

         

       

         

       

         

            

            

               

SEC. 2. NOTICE OF AWARD AND NOTICE TO PROCEED 

A. Notice of Award. After this Agreement is approved by the RTC Governing Body, the RTC 

will issue a Notice of Award to the Contractor, conditioned and contingent upon Contractor’s 

submittal, and RTC’s Acceptance, of the following (most of which RTC should already have 

received at the time of the Notice of Award): 

(1) The Proprietary Pricing Documents required under Section 25; 

(2) The CPM Schedule required under Section 5; 

(3) The certificates of insurance required under Section 10; 

(4) The Performance Bond required under Section 11(A); 

(5) The Labor and Materials Payment Bond required under Section 11(B); and 

(6) An executed copy of this Agreement. 

B. Notice to Proceed. 

(1) NTP#1 - Permitting. Following the RTC’s issuance of the Notice of Award under 

Subsection A, the RTC will issue NTP#1. Upon receipt of NTP#1, the Contractor shall commence 

the activities required to obtain the permits necessary to perform the Work, together with other 

associated early activities. 

(2) NTP#2 – Construction. Following the receipt of all permits necessary for the Work, 

the RTC will issue NTP#2. Upon receipt of NTP#2, the Contractor shall commence the 

construction Work and take all steps reasonably necessary to achieve the Completion Deadlines. 

(3) Limitation. The Contractor may not commence any Work prior to issuance and 

receipt of a Notice to Proceed. In the Notice to Proceed, the RTC may identify certain elements 

or portions of the Work where initiation of activities may be limited or deferred. 

C. RTC Project Manager. The RTC Executive Director will identify the RTC Project 

Manager, the RTC Construction Engineering Service Provider, and the primary consultant firms 

responsible for construction/project management services. The RTC Executive Director reserves 

the right to change the RTC Project Manager during the course of this agreement. The RTC 

Project Manager will be responsible for the supervision, direction, control, and approval of the 

Work under this Agreement, except to the extent that the RTC Executive Director assigns specific 

9 



 

 

     

       

              

         

           

      

           

          

            

         

  

         

             

        

          

             

      

        

            

             

        

        

            

          

      

                

     

         

      

      

         

responsibilities to the RTC Construction Engineering Service Provider and provides the 

Contractor with prior written notice thereof. The Contractor shall not take any action on the basis 

of direction from any RTC employee or agent other than the RTC Project Manager or the RTC 

Construction Engineering Service Provider, acting within the scope of their respective authority, 

and if the Contractor does take any such action it shall proceed at its own risk and expense. 

SEC. 3. SCOPE OF WORK 

The Contractor shall furnish all the Goods, materials, appliances, tools, and labor of every kind 

required, and shall construct, perform, and complete in the most substantial and skillful manner, 

all the Work on or before the Completion Deadlines in Section 5, for the Construction Price set 

forth in Section 6, and in accordance with all other requirements in this Agreement and the other 

Contract Documents. 

SEC. 4. COMPLIANCE WITH CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; PROJECT MEETINGS 

A. Requirements for the Work. All Work of the Contractor shall be performed and 

completed in accordance with this Agreement and the other Contract Documents. 

B. Project Meetings. The RTC and the Contractor shall conduct regular Project meetings, 

on a weekly basis, in accordance with the Contract Documents. The meetings shall be attended 

by the Contractor’s Key Personnel and by other Contractor personnel as appropriate and directed 

by the RTC. The meetings shall address current Project issues and shall include a review and 

update of the Contractor’s progress in meeting the CPM Schedule. The RTC or its consultant 

shall prepare minutes of all Project meetings and submit them to the Contractor. The Contractor 

shall review the minutes and provide any suggested clarifications or revisions. 

C. Conflicts, Ambiguities, Errors or Omissions in Contract Documents. The Contractor 

agrees that it has reviewed and accepted the Contract Documents as complete and that it has no 

right to (1) any Change Orders for schedule relief, extra work or other costs of any kind 

whatsoever (including, without limitation, direct and indirect costs, delay and disruption damages, 

overhead, profit or mark-up) incurred as a result of or relating to conflicts, ambiguities, errors or 

omissions in the Contract Documents or in Subcontractor bid packages, or (2) any Change Orders 

arising from a Subcontractor’s performance. The cost of extra work resulting from conflicts, 

ambiguities, errors or omissions in the Contract Documents or in the Subcontractor bid packages 

or arising from a Subcontractor’s performance shall be at the Contractor’s sole expense and shall 

be paid by the Contractor without reimbursement by the RTC. 

10 



 

 

       

         

       

              

   

           

         

         

      

       

         

           

        

         

          

    

   

         

           

             

           

           

             

            

       

           

         

      

              

         

1. Required Actions of Contractor. In any case in which the Contractor 

believes there is an ambiguity in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall 

immediately submit that matter to the RTC’s Project Manager who will clarify or adjust the 

same, in his or her reasonable discretion, and his or her decision in relation thereto will be 

final and conclusive upon the Parties. 

2. Determinations by the RTC. If at any time the RTC Project Manager 

determines that an inconsistency or conflict exists in the Contract Documents, including 

inconsistencies relating to construction materials or use of equipment, the RTC Project 

Manager will determine the controlling requirements and instruct the Contractor to comply 

with such requirements. Promptly following receipt of such instructions, the Contractor 

shall submit its plan for compliance to the RTC Project Manager. 

3. Disputes. In the event that the Contractor disagrees with the RTC Project 

Manager’s determination under this Subsection, the Contractor shall have the right to 

submit the issue to issue/dispute resolution under Section 23, but shall in all cases 

proceed with the Work in compliance with the RTC Project Manager’s determination and 

instructions pending resolution of the dispute. 

SEC. 5. PROJECT SCHEDULE 

A. Contract Time. Time is of the essence in this Agreement. Contract Time shall commence 

on the date specified in NTP#2. The Contractor agrees to commence Work promptly, and to 

perform Work diligently and in a timely manner in accordance with the CPM Schedule, as 

Accepted by the RTC, and to complete the Work in accordance with each of the Completion 

Deadlines. The Contractor shall not perform any Work prior to receipt of the Notice to Proceed. 

B. CPM Schedule. By the time specified in Subsection A, the Contractor shall prepare and 

submit to the RTC, for its review and Acceptance, the CPM Schedule required under this 

Agreement and the other Contract Documents. The CPM Schedule shall (indicate planned 

milestone dates for completing all tasks required for the Work; (2) include delivery dates for all 

required Contractor plans, programs, and other deliverables: and (3) provide dates for the RTC 

inspections and Acceptances. Following the RTC’s Acceptance of the CPM Schedule, the 

Contractor shall submit monthly reports to the RTC, which shall include a comparison of the actual 

schedule to the CPM Schedule. The CPM Schedule, as Accepted by the RTC, is a binding part 

11 



 

 

         

         

             

     

        

         

       

        

            

         

     

         

             

              

           

    

   

          

          

          

          

            

          

        

          

          

       

        

of this Agreement, and will become Exhibit A hereto. The RTC’s Acceptance of the CPM Schedule 

shall not operate to modify any of the Completion Deadlines. 

C. Completion Deadlines. The Contractor shall carry out and complete the Work in 

accordance with the following Completion Deadlines: 

(1) Substantial Completion Deadline. The Contractor shall achieve Substantial 

Completion of the Work within two-hundred thirteen (213) Working Days from the issuance of the 

Notice to Proceed pursuant to the Working Day Schedule. 

(2) Punch List Completion Deadline. Following Substantial Completion, the Contractor 

shall complete all the items on the applicable Punch List and achieve Punch List Completion 

within thirty (30) Working Days after the date on which Substantial Completion occurs. 

(3) Final Acceptance Deadline. The Contractor shall achieve Final Acceptance thirty 

(30) Days after the date on which Punch List Completion of the Project occurs. 

D. Changes to CPM Schedule. Following the RTC’s Acceptance of the CPM Schedule, no 

changes to the CPM Schedule may be made without the Acceptance of the RTC. If any requested 

change to the CPM Schedule is not Accepted by the RTC, the Contractor acknowledges that the 

CPM Schedule shall be maintained. 

E. Delays. 

(1) Notice Requirement. When the Contractor has knowledge that any actual or 

potential situation will delay or threaten to delay the timely performance of the Work in accordance 

with the CPM Schedule, the Contractor shall, within five (5) Days, give written notice thereof to 

the RTC, including all relevant information concerning the actual or potential delay. 

(2) Recovery Schedule. If the delay noticed under Paragraph (1) may delay the 

completion of the Work by the Completion Deadlines, then the Contractor shall, within ten (10) 

Days after its delay notice, prepare and submit to the RTC, for its review and approval, a Recovery 

Schedule demonstrating the Contractor’s proposed plan for regaining lost time, minimizing the 

impact of delay events, and achieving the original CPM Schedule milestones to the maximum 

extent feasible. Upon RTC Acceptance of the Recovery Schedule, the Contractor shall 

incorporate such schedule into a revised CPM Schedule and deliver it to the RTC. 

12 



 

 

               

           

        

        

         

     

          

         

           

                    

            

          

  

       

                

         

       

          

      

            

                

             

          

         

           

         

          

           

       

F. Extensions in Time. In the event of an Excusable Delay, the time for the performance of 

the Work may be extended by a Change Order issued in accordance with this Agreement, or by 

a written amendment to this Agreement. Except for Excusable Delays and/or Compensable 

Delays, the RTC shall have no obligation to extend a Completion Deadline and the Contractor 

shall not be relieved from its obligation to meet all Completion Deadlines. 

SEC. 6. CONSTRUCTION PRICE 

A. Agreement on Construction Price. The RTC and the Contractor have agreed upon a 

Construction Price for completion of all elements of the Work in a total amount not-to-exceed $XX. 

The Construction Price is a Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP), which consists of the following: 

(1) the Cost of the Work in the amount of $XX plus the CMAR Fee in the amount of $XX, for a 

total lump sum amount of $XX; and (2) a Risk Register Account in the amount of $XX. 

B. Key Principles of Construction Price. The key principles governing Construction Price 

are as follows: 

(1) Nature of Price. The Construction Price set forth in Subsection A is the maximum 

amount payable to the Contractor for the Work, absent the issuance of a Change Order in 

accordance with this Agreement. However, the Contractor is not guaranteed payment of the full 

amount of the Construction Price. The amount actually paid to the Contractor may be lower than 

the Construction Price due to factors such as (a) the total amount in the Risk Register Account is 

not needed; or (b) the price is reduced through deductive Change Orders. 

(2) CMAR Fee. The amount reimbursable under this Agreement for the CMAR Fee 

will be the amount set forth in Subsection A(1) above, provided that if the Contractor defaults or 

this Agreement is otherwise terminated such that the Work is not completed, the RTC will make 

an appropriate pro rata reduction in the amount of the CMAR Fee. 

(3) Federal Cost Principles. RTC shall only reimburse Contractor for costs that are 

consistent with Federal cost principles. See 23 C.F.R. 172.9; 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Subpart E. 

C. Items Included in Construction Price. Except as modified by RTC executed Change 

Orders, the Construction Price in Subsection A hereof is the maximum amount to be paid to the 

Contractor for all costs necessary to complete the Work, whether stated or reasonably implied in 

this Agreement or the other Contract Documents, including: 

13 



 

 

         

            

   

          

       

     

         

     

           

   

     

    

              

  

     

              

         

      

          

         

         

               

          

                 

         

         

         

         

   

(1) direct construction costs including all labor (including salaries, wages, and 

benefits), Goods, materials, equipment, supplies, small tools, and any other direct associated 

costs without limitation; 

(2) the performance of each and every portion of the Work; 

(3) indirect costs including general conditions, supervision, insurance/bonding, project 

office expenses, taxes, mobilization, and quality control costs; 

(4) the cost of obtaining all government permits and approvals (other than those that 

are the responsibility of the RTC); 

(5) the costs of all risks, contingencies, and liabilities assigned to the Contractor under 

the Contract Documents; 

(6) the cost of compliance with all applicable Federal and State laws and regulations 

and all applicable local ordinances; 

(7) the payment of all taxes, duties, transport costs, and permit costs associated with 

the Work; 

(8) the CMAR Fee; and 

(9) the costs of Risk Register Events up to the amount of the Risk Register Account. 

D. Use of Risk Register Account. The Risk Register Account shall be available for the Risk 

Register Events identified in Exhibit D. The Risk Register Events may have a cost impact, 

schedule impact, or both. With the exception of a Risk Register Event that has a specified 

payment cap, the amount paid in connection with a specific Risk Register Event may be less than 

or greater than the amount stipulated for that Risk Register Event in Exhibit D, but the total amount 

paid for all Risk Register Events may not exceed the total amount in the Risk Register Account, 

as set forth in Subsection A(2) above. Any payment from the Risk Register Account shall require 

the prior written approval of the RTC. A Risk Register Event that has a material effect on the CPM 

Schedule may be the basis for an Excusable Delay under Section 14 of this Agreement, if the 

Contractor satisfies the requirements for a Change Order under Sections 14 and 15 hereof. 

(1) “Risk Reserve – Provisional” Items. The Contractor may make application to the 

RTC for payment from the Risk Register Account in accordance with the specifications in Exhibit 

D. 

14 



 

 

            

          

   

             

           

     

           

      

               

            

             

       

        

             

 

            

         

             

       

          

          

               

          

   

       

            

         

            

   

(2) “Risk Reserve” Items. If such a Risk Register Event occurs during performance of 

the Work, the Contractor may make application to the RTC for payment from the Risk Register 

Account in accordance with the following: 

(a) Any such request shall be accompanied by such cost and pricing data and 

other supporting information as the RTC may reasonably require, including a Cost and 

Schedule Proposal as described in Section 15. 

(b) Costs shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions for establishing 

costs associated with a Change under Section 16 hereof. 

(c) The basis for compensation for Risk Register Events may be lump sum 

price, unit prices, or time and materials, as determined by the RTC Project Manager. 

(d) The Risk Register Account may only be used for eligible project costs that 

satisfy the cost principles in Subsection B(3) above. 

(3) Relation to Change Orders. The Contractor shall not be eligible for a Change Order 

under Section 14 if the event forming the basis for such requested Change Order is an identified 

Risk Register Event. 

E. Cost Overruns. If the Contractor incurs costs in excess of the Construction Price (as it 

may be modified by Change Orders), the Contractor shall be solely responsible for the payment 

of those costs and shall not be entitled to any additional compensation from the RTC unless the 

event giving rise to those excess costs constitutes a Compensable Event or Compensable Delay 

under Section 14 hereof and the Contractor otherwise satisfies the requirements for a Change 

Order under that Section. The Contractor acknowledges that it (1) bears the full economic risk of 

any cost overruns on the Project; (2) will have no ability to recover cost overruns from RTC for 

any reason; and (3) cost overruns may exceed any profits the Contractor expects to realize on 

the Project. 

SEC. 7. INVOICING AND PAYMENT PROVISIONS 

A. Submittal and Payment. The Contractor shall submit monthly invoices to the RTC. 

Invoices must be submitted to accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com. The RTC shall pay invoices 

(except for any contested portion thereof) within thirty (30) Days after receipt of a proper invoice 

from the Contractor: 

15 

mailto:accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com


 

 

        

        

         

  

       

            

             

            

 

             

         

            

   

  

           

       

         

      

            

                

         

             

  

         

           

               

          

    

B. Contents. Invoices shall contain the following information: 

(1) The Agreement Name and Purchase Order Number. 

(2) The specific elements of the Work that were performed during the prior month or 

other applicable period. 

(3) Any milestones achieved during the prior month. 

(4) Progress of the Work, as measured under the CPM Schedule. 

(5) A separate identification of any additional Work outside the original scope of Work 

(i.e. additional scope) which has been authorized in a Change Order, with a reference to the 

Change Order. 

(6) A separate identification of any approved use of the Risk Register Account for 

“Risk Register” items, with the prior written approval attached. 

(7) A separate identification of any use of the Risk Register Account for “Risk Reserve 

– Provisional” items. 

C. Progress Payments. 

(1) Payments for Progress of Work. As the Work progresses in accordance with this 

Agreement and in a manner that is satisfactory to the RTC, the RTC hereby agrees to make 

periodic payments to the Contractor for Work completed based upon a progress payment 

schedule and Schedule of Values, which progress payment schedule shall be initially submitted 

by the Contractor within fifteen (15) Days after the Notice to Proceed. The Contractor shall, once 

in each month and on such day as may be agreed upon by the Contractor and the RTC, make a 

progress report of Work done and of material which has actually been put in place in accordance 

with the terms and conditions of this Agreement during the preceding month and compute the 

value thereof. 

(2) Mobilization. The RTC will pay the Contractor the amount included in the 

Construction Price for mobilization in three (3) equal amounts, as part of the Contractor’s first 

three (3) applications for progress payments. The RTC may, in its sole discretion, withhold all or 

a portion of such mobilization payments until it has received and Accepted the CPM Schedule 

under Section 5 hereof. 

16 



 

 

     

         

                 

         

         

         

          

           

            

             

    

          

           

            

         

               

            

            

       

            

    

          

           

              

          

         

               

          

            

        

       

            

D. Retention. 

(1) Amount of Retention. The RTC shall withhold, from each progress payment, 

retention of five percent (5%) of the amount billed as part of the security for the fulfillment of 

requirements of this Agreement and completion of the Work. After fifty percent (50%) of the Work, 

as calculated under the Schedule of Values comprising the Cost of the Work, as identified in 

Exhibit C, has been completed in an acceptable manner, the RTC may, in its discretion, reduce 

the retention from future progress payments to less than five percent (5%) or elect to no longer 

withhold retention. Any retention remaining in the possession of the RTC upon Final Acceptance 

shall be released to the Contractor when all requirements for final payment under subsection G 

hereof have been satisfied and when the Contractor has executed the written release required 

under subsection H hereof. 

(2) Interest. Amounts retained by the RTC under Paragraph (1) shall be deposited in 

an interest bearing account. The RTC will pay interest to the Contractor on such deposited 

amounts, at the end of each quarter throughout the Work, at the rate provided in NRS Chapter 

338 for interest payments on retention in Public Works projects. The Contractor, shall, within ten 

(10) Days after receipt of such interest payments from the RTC, pay to each Subcontractor that 

portion of the interest to which it is due under NRS 338.550. No interest will be paid on funds 

withheld for defective work not remedied, on funds held as a result of third party claims for failure 

to make proper payments to Subcontractors or Suppliers for labor, Goods, materials, or 

equipment, including work, Goods, materials, or equipment still to be furnished or installed. 

E. Reservation of Rights. 

(1) Right to Withhold and Recover. The RTC shall have the right to withhold payment, 

or to recover funds from amounts paid, for any Work (or portion thereof) not performed in 

accordance with this Agreement or the other Contract Documents, for any Work found Deficient, 

for any Work not supported by appropriate documentation or other information, or for any Work 

that is the subject of a dispute between the Contractor and the RTC. The RTC also may withhold 

all or any portion of a progress payment otherwise due if and for so long as the Contractor does 

not comply with any lawful or proper direction concerning the Work or material given by the RTC 

Project Manager, or for the failure of the Contractor to submit a Recovery Schedule in accordance 

with Section 5E(2). The RTC shall notify the Contractor of any such withholding and provide the 

Contractor the opportunity to correct the Work in question or to correct or supplement the invoice, 

as applicable. The RTC shall also have the right to withhold payment, or recover funds from 

17 



 

 

            

      

          

                 

   

            

             

    

       

             

    

        

           

           

          

     

         

     

         

          

            

 

           

      

      

        

             

            

       

         

amount paid, for any costs that are not consistent with Federal cost principles. See 23 C.F.R. 

172.9; 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Subpart E. 

(2) No Waiver. Neither payment of amounts due by the RTC nor acceptance of any 

such payment by the Contractor shall constitute a waiver of any claim by the RTC for errors or 

omission in invoices or payments. 

(3) Audits. The RTC may also make an adjustment to the amount due the Contractor 

on the basis of the results of an audit conducted by the RTC or its representatives. 

F. Prompt Payment to Subcontractors. 

(1) Requirement. The Contractor shall comply with the prompt payment to 

Subcontractors requirements set forth in NRS Chapter 338, 49 CFR Part 26, and the “Prompt 

Payment and Retainage Clause” in Exhibit J. 

(2) Payment for Satisfactory Work. The Contractor shall make payment to each 

Subcontractor for satisfactory performance of its Work no later than ten (10) Days after receipt of 

payment from the RTC that covers that Work. For purposes of this subsection, “satisfactory 

performance” means that all of the tasks called for in the applicable Subcontract have been 

satisfactorily accomplished and completed by the Subcontractor and all conditions listed in the 

“Prompt Payment and Retainage Clause” of Exhibit J have been met. 

(3) Subcontractor Retention. The percentage of retention withheld from each 

Subcontractor may not exceed the percentages specified in Subsection D above. After 

satisfactory performance of a Subcontractor’s Work, the Contractor shall make full payment of 

such Subcontractor’s retainage within ten (10) Days after the RTC releases such retainage to the 

Contractor. 

(4) No Retainage. If the RTC does not withhold retainage from the Contractor, the 

Contractor may not withhold retainage from its Subcontractors. 

(5) Delay in Payment. The Contractor may only delay or postpone any payment 

obligation to any of its Subcontractors for services provided under this Agreement if the Contractor 

demonstrates to the satisfaction of the RTC that good cause exists for such a delay or 

postponement. Any concurrence by the RTC that good cause exists for the delay or 

postponement of the Contractor’s payment obligation to its Subcontractor must be made in writing 

prior to the time when payment to the Subcontractor would have been otherwise due. 

18 



 

 

       

       

          

  

           

            

           

           

        

 

               

         

          

               

 

             

         

             

        

        

   

    

         

      

            

             

  

G. Submittal of Deliverables and Final Payment. The Contractor agrees that its right to 

receive the final payment pursuant to this Agreement is contingent upon: 

(1) submittal of all deliverables due and completion of all Work required under the 

scope of Work; 

(2) the RTC’s determination that (a) such deliverables and Work satisfy the 

requirements of this Agreement and the other Agreement Documents; and (b) any overpayment 

or unsubstantiated billing or payment has been reconciled to the satisfaction of the RTC; 

(3) the RTC’s filing of a Notice of Completion for the Project; and 

(4) the Contractor’s execution of a release in accordance with Subsection G of this 

Section. 

If the RTC fails to make such determinations and does not approve any or all such deliverables, 

the Contractor shall revise the deliverables or correct the Work to RTC’s satisfaction and approval, 

at no additional expense to the RTC. The RTC shall have the right to withhold, in its reasonable 

discretion, any or all of the Contractor’s final payment until the RTC approves all of Contractor’s 

deliverables. 

H. Execution of Release. Final payment of the Contractor for the Work shall be conditioned 

on the Contractor’s execution and delivery of a written release, satisfactory in form and substance 

to the RTC, releasing the RTC from all claims, liens, or outstanding debts (hereinafter “claims”) 

of the Contractor and its Subcontractors and suppliers under this Agreement, and certifying that: 

(1) all Subcontractor and Supplier claims that are known or reasonably should be 

known by the Contractor either: 

(a) have been fully resolved; or 

(b) if not fully resolved, will be the sole responsibility of the Contractor and 

the RTC will be held harmless from any liability therefore; 

(2) the Contractor has no reason to believe that any party has a claim against the 

Contractor or the RTC relating to the Work that has not been asserted at the time of the 

Contractor’s certification and release; and 

19 



 

 

         

      

  

            

 

             

          

     

 

        

            

          

          

            

             

  

    

         

           

       

         

           

             

             

       

      

            

           

            

(3) all warranties provided under this Agreement or the other Contract Documents 

are in full force and effect in accordance with their terms. 

I. No Estoppel. 

(1) General. The RTC shall not be precluded or estopped by any final payment to the 

Contractor: 

(a) from showing at any time (either before or after the Final Acceptance of the 

Work and payment therefore) the true and correct amount and character of the Work done 

or Goods and materials furnished by the Contractor or any person under this Agreement; 

or 

(b) from showing at any time that any such final application of payment is 

untrue and incorrect, or improperly made, or that the Work and equipment and materials 

(or any part thereof) do not, in fact, conform to the Contract Documents. 

(2) Damages. The RTC shall not be precluded or estopped, notwithstanding any final 

payment to the Contractor, from demanding and recovering from the Contractor such damages 

as it may sustain by reason of the Contractor’s failure to comply this Agreement or the other 

Contract Documents. 

SEC. 8. KEY PERSONNEL 

A. Responsibility of Contractor. In performing the Work, the Contractor shall utilize the 

professional expertise and experience of the Key Personnel listed in Exhibit E, as necessary and 

appropriate, throughout the period of performance of this Agreement. 

B. No Replacements without Approval. The Key Personnel used by the Contractor for the 

Work shall be the same individuals as identified in its proposal in response to the RFP, unless 

otherwise agreed to in writing by the RTC. The Contractor shall not replace or remove its Project 

Manager or any of the other Key Personnel listed in Exhibit E during the term of this Agreement 

without the prior written Acceptance of such action by the RTC. 

C. Substitution of Key Personnel. 

(1) Contractor Responsibility. In the event the Contractor is unable to provide the 

services of, or replaces, any of the Key Personnel, the Contractor shall be responsible for 

providing, within thirty (30) Days, replacement personnel for the performance of the specific items 

20 



 

 

           

       

             

 

           

               

           

            

              

     

           

            

        

                

          

       

            

           

          

          

           

              

              

          

         

  

  

          

           

           

of Work involved, whose expertise and experience are equivalent to that which would have been 

provided by the originally listed personnel. The Contractor shall submit any such substitute Key 

Personnel to the RTC for its prior review and written Acceptance, which shall not be unreasonably 

withheld. 

(2) Costs. The Contractor shall be responsible for any additional costs caused by the 

substitution of Key Personnel for those listed in Exhibit E. In no event shall any substitution of 

personnel result in an increase in compensation to be paid by the RTC under this Agreement. In 

addition, if any Key Personnel position remains vacant for more than thirty (30) Days, the RTC 

reserves the right to withhold an appropriate amount (based on the compensation for the position 

involved) from payments otherwise due to the Contractor. 

D. Liquidated Damages. If the Contractor replaces or removes any Key Personnel in 

violation of this Section, or fails to provide substitute Key Personnel as required by this Section, 

it will be assessed liquidated damages in accordance with Section 20D. 

E. Removal. The RTC Project Manager shall have the right to demand the removal by the 

Contractor of any of the Key Personnel, for reasonable cause and by advance written notice. 

SEC. 9. SUBCONTRACTING PLAN AND SUBCONTRACTORS 

A. Subcontracting Plan. The Subcontracting Plan submitted by the Contractor during the 

Pre-construction Services Agreement and Accepted by the RTC is an essential element in the 

performance of the Work under this Agreement. All Work must be performed in accordance with 

the Subcontracting Plan, and in accordance with the provisions relating to subcontracting in NRS 

Chapter 338 and Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 338. The Subcontracting Plan shall include 

self-performance by the Contractor in the amount stated in its Accepted Subcontracting Plan, but 

in no event less than thirty percent (30%) of the estimated cost of construction, as required by 

NRS 338.16985 and 23 CFR 635.116. Any revisions to the Accepted Subcontracting Plan must 

be specifically Accepted by the RTC in writing. The Subcontracting Plan is attached hereto as 

Exhibit F. 

B. Subcontractors. 

(1) Qualification and Selection. All Subcontractors performing work on Project shall 

be qualified and selected in accordance with the requirements of NRS 338.16991 and 338.16995 

and relevant provisions of NAC 338. The Contractor may not remove a Subcontractor listed in the 

21 



 

 

          

  

       

       

               

             

            

      

              

              

            

      

    

        

       

        

        

         

            

             

         

           

    

          

          

          

    

         

       

            

Accepted Subcontracting Plan, or substitute Subcontractors, without the prior written Acceptance 

of the RTC. 

(2) Subcontract Terms. The documents in Exhibit J are subject to federal and NDOT 

“flow down” requirements and must be included in all agreements between the Contractor and its 

Subcontractors and their subcontractors (at ALL tiers). The RTC reserves the right to review the 

standard subcontract used by the Contractor for the performance of Work under this Agreement. 

(3) Administration of Subcontracts. The Contractor shall be fully responsible to the 

RTC for all acts and omissions of its Subcontractors and their employees. Nothing in this 

Agreement or any subcontract, or in the RTC’s Acceptance of the Subcontracting Plan, shall 

operate to create any privity of contract between the RTC and any Subcontractor or to create any 

duty, obligation, or liability on the part of the RTC to any Subcontractor, except to the extent 

required by law. The Contractor shall have the sole responsibility for resolving bid protests by 

prospective Subcontractors and for promptly settling any disputes with its Subcontractors or 

between or among its Subcontractors. The RTC shall have no role or responsibility for resolving 

Subcontractor bid protests or other Subcontractor disputes. 

C. Compliance. The Contractor’s compliance with the Subcontracting Plan is a mandatory 

requirement of this Agreement. The Contractor shall provide monthly reports to the RTC 

documenting its compliance. Any material failure to comply with the Accepted Subcontracting 

Plan may constitute a breach of this Agreement and may result in a termination for default. 

D. DBE Provisions. The Contractor shall comply with the DBE provisions set forth in Exhibit 

H and the NDOT required specifications incorporated into the Supplemental General Provisions. 

Failure to comply with the DBE provisions may give rise to sanctions as provided in Exhibit H. 

SEC. 10. INSURANCE 

The Contractor shall provide insurance for the Work in accordance with the insurance 

requirements in Exhibit I hereto. The Contractor shall not commence any Work nor permit a 

subcontractor to commence Work until certificates of insurance have been submitted to the RTC. 

SEC. 11. BONDS 

A. Performance Bond. The Contractor shall provide and continuously maintain for the term 

of this Agreement a Performance Bond in the amount of one hundred percent (100%) of the 

Construction Price set forth in Section 6 which guarantees faithful performance of the Work and 

22 



 

 

       

           

             

        

       

              

             

          

        

         

               

      

    

         

    

    

             

        

     

       

    

            

 

      

        

         

          

 

any changes thereto. The Performance Bond must be payable to the RTC and issued by a good 

and sufficient surety company authorized to transact business in Nevada, and having an A.M. 

Best Co. “Best’s Rating” of A- or better and Class VIII. The cost of the Performance Bond is 

included in the Cost of the Work set forth in Section 6. 

B. Labor and Material Payment Bond. The Contractor shall provide and continuously 

maintain for the term of this Agreement a Labor and Material Payment Bond in the amount of one 

hundred percent (100%) of the Construction Price set forth in Section 6 that guarantees payment 

for all labor and materials furnished in accordance with this Agreement and any changes thereto. 

The Labor and Material Payment Bond shall be payable to the RTC and issued by a good and 

sufficient surety company authorized to transact business in Nevada, and having an A.M. Best 

Co. “Best’s Rating” of A- or better and Class VIII. The cost of the Labor and Material Payment 

Bond is included in the Cost of the Work set forth in Section 6. 

SEC. 12. INDEMNIFICATION 

The Contractor shall indemnify the RTC and the other named indemnities in accordance with the 

indemnification requirements in Exhibit I hereto. 

SEC. 13. CHANGES 

A. Purposes for Which Change Orders May Be Issued. Change Orders may be issued by 

the RTC for the following purposes (or combination thereof): 

(1) to modify the Scope of the Work; 

(2) to revise a Completion Deadline and/or extend the Contract Time; 

(3) to revise the Construction Price; or 

(4) to revise other terms and conditions of this Agreement or the other Contract 

Documents. 

All Change Orders must be issued in writing and executed by the RTC’s Executive Director. Oral 

Change Orders are not permitted and are not binding. Change Orders shall be subject to the 

following provisions of this Section and Sections 14, 15, and 16 hereof, and to applicable 

provisions in the other Contract Documents, and to 29 CFR 635.109(a) which is incorporated by 

reference herein. 

23 



 

 

     

            

      

          

          

        

             

      

          

             

         

         

            

             

       

     

         

     

   

      

  

   

       

      

           

       

            

       

B. Issuance of Change Orders. 

(1) Right of the RTC. The RTC may, at any time and from time to time, without notice 

to any surety, authorize and/or direct changes in the Work within the general scope of the Contract 

Documents by issuance of a Change Order. Upon receipt of a Change Order, the Contractor shall 

promptly proceed with the Work in accordance with the direction in the Change Order and with 

the applicable conditions in this Agreement and the other Contract Documents. All additions, 

deductions, or changes to the Work as directed by Change Orders shall be carried out under the 

applicable conditions of this Agreement and the other Contract Documents. 

(2) Bilateral and Unilateral Changes. If a Change is agreed upon by the Parties, 

whether it originated as a Change Order, Request for Change, resolution of claim, or under any 

other term of this Agreement allowing for a Change, the Parties shall execute a bilateral Change 

Order. If the Parties do not agree upon the terms of a Change (such as the time or compensation 

to be provided), the RTC may nonetheless issue a unilateral Change Order, and the Contractor, 

subject to its rights to pursue dispute resolution under Section 23, shall promptly and diligently 

comply with that Change Order notwithstanding such disagreement. 

(3) Contractor Request for Change. 

(a) Completion Deadlines. The Contractor may request a Change to extend a 

Completion Deadline or Contract Time only for the specific Excusable Delays and/or 

Compensable Delays described in Section 14. 

(b) Construction Price. The Contractor may request a Change to increase the 

Construction Price only for the specific Compensable Events and/or Compensable Delays 

described in Section 14. 

(c) Contract Documents. The Contractor may request a Change to revise other 

terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 

(4) Requirement for Written Change. No direction, order, statement, or conduct of the 

RTC, other than written Change Orders issued in accordance with this Section and Sections 14 

and 15 hereof, shall be the basis for an increase in the Construction Price, an extension in 

Contract Time, or a modification to the Contract Documents. 

24 



 

 

          

             

  

     

            

       

             

          
 

         

     

  

   

  

            

   

           

            

         

              

           

  

            

     

            

             

      

        

 

(5) Delay. If the Contractor fails to promptly proceed with work under a Change Order, 

any resulting delay shall be the responsibility of the Contractor and shall not constitute an 

Excusable Delay or a Compensable Delay. 

(6) Clarifications and Interpretations. The RTC may issue clarifications, amplifications, 

and interpretations of the Contract Documents without issuing a Change Order. If the Contractor 

believes the clarifications, amplifications, and interpretations constitute an RTC directed Change, 

the Contractor may submit a Request for Change in accordance with Section 15 hereof. 

SEC. 14. CATEGORIES OF CHANGES TO CONTRACT TIME/CONSTRUCTION PRICE 

A. Categories of Changes. Change Orders affecting Contract Time or the Construction 

Price are in the following three categories: 

(1) Excusable Delay; 

(2) Compensable Delays; and 

(3) Compensable Events. 

Each of these categories is described in more detail in the following provisions of this Section. 

B. Excusable Delay. 

(1) Effect of Excusable Delays. An Excusable Delay may be the basis for an extension 

in the Contract Time. If an extension in Contract Time is granted in accordance with this Section, 

such extension will provide the Contractor with relief from any otherwise applicable liquidated 

damages for failure to meet a Completion Deadline. Any type of delay not described in this 

Subsection will not be considered an Excusable Delay and will not be the basis for an extension 

in Contract Time. 

(2) Acts or Events Constituting Excusable Delays. A delay to the CPM Schedule shall 

be an Excusable Delay to the extent that: 

(a) the act or event has a material effect on the CPM Schedule and has 

caused, or will result in, an identifiable and measurable disruption of the Work which has 

consumed all available Float and extended the Work required for Substantial Completion, 

Punch List Completion, or Final Acceptance beyond the applicable Completion Deadline; 

and 

25 



 

 

           

              

            

          

             

     

       

       

 

          

   

            

   

          

  

      

       

     

         

        

             

       

      

       

               

          

       

     

(b) the act or event (i) constituted a Force Majeure event or other act or event, 

the causes and effects of which were beyond the control of the Contractor; (ii) was not 

due to the fault, negligence, or failure to act on the part of the Contractor or any 

Subcontractor, and (iii) did not arise out of the Contractor’s failure to perform or meet the 

requirements of this Agreement or the other Contract Documents; and(c) the act 

or event was unforeseeable and could not reasonably have been avoided by the 

Contractor by using all reasonable and appropriate means and efforts, including 

resequencing the Work or re-allocating or re-deploying its forces to other portions of the 

Work. 

(3) Burden of Proof. The Contractor shall have the burden of proving that: 

(a) the delay occurred; 

(b) the delay satisfies each of the required elements of an Excusable Delay as 

described in Paragraph (2) above; 

(c) the Contractor took all reasonable and appropriate means and efforts to 

avoid the delay; 

(d) the delay could not be fully mitigated; and 

(e) the Contractor has taken reasonable precautions to prevent further delays 

arising out of such event. 

The Contractor shall also have the burden of establishing the length of time of the 

Excusable Delay. Upon adequate proof of an Excusable Delay, the Contractor will be granted an 

extension of time, by execution of a Change Order, and will not be assessed liquidated damages 

for any days of delay within the excused period. The Contractor will not receive compensation for 

an Excusable Delay unless it is also a Compensable Delay, as provided in this Section. 

(4) Notice Required. In order to be eligible for an Excusable Delay, the Contractor 

must provide notice to the RTC describing the act or event that the Contractor asserts was the 

cause of the delay not more than five (5) Days after the day the act or event occurs. 

(5) Risk Register Events. A Risk Register Event that satisfies the requirements of this 

Subsection may be the basis for an Excusable Delay. 

26 



 

 

      

            

          

   

          

            

              

   

        

            

           

      

         

  

             

        

          

          

                  

        

   

             

       

         

          

            

     

      

(6) Multiple Causes of Delay. If a delay arises out of more than one cause, to the 

extent that the delay is Excusable or Compensable under all the requirements of this Section, the 

Contractor will be entitled to only one extension of the Contract Time for the cumulative change 

to the CPM Schedule. 

(7) Submittal of Information Regarding Delay. In addition to any other time impact 

analysis that may be required under the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall submit the 

following information to the RTC at the earliest possible date after the Contractor provides notice 

of the asserted Excusable Delay: 

(a) a detailed description of the events causing the delay; 

(b) an analysis of the impact of the claimed act or event causing the delay upon 

the then current CPM Schedule, identifying the affected activities, the actual impacts and 

the number of days delayed; and 

(c) measures taken and/or proposed to avoid or mitigate the claimed delay, 

and the effects thereof. 

(8) Impact on Liquidated Damages. In the event of an extension to a Completion 

Deadline due to an Excusable Delay, that revised Completion Deadline shall be used to determine 

whether the Contractor is obligated to pay liquidated damages under Section 20 hereof. 

(9) No RTC Waiver. The RTC’s granting of an extension of time or the Acceptance of 

any part of the Work after the time specified shall not constitute a waiver of any of the RTC’s rights 

under this Agreement other than those specifically provided for in the extension or Acceptance. 

C. Compensable Delay. 

(1) Effect of Compensable Delay. A Compensable Delay may be the basis for both an 

extension in Contract Time and an increase in the Construction Price. 

(2) Acts of Events Constituting Compensable Delays. A delay in the CPM Schedule 

shall be a Compensable Delay only if it constitutes an Excusable Delay under Subsection B hereof 

and to the extent that the performance of all or any part of the Work is delayed or interrupted by 

one or more of the following events: 

(a) A Change in the Work directed by the RTC. 

27 



 

 

      

          

           

 

          

    

        

       

       

  

           

    

     

           

               

                

 

     

         

           

         

        

          

 

     

          

       

         

         

            

(b) Failure or inability of the RTC to make the Worksite available as provided 

in the Contract Documents, provided that the Contractor took all reasonable steps to avoid 

or mitigate the impact of such delay and that such delay had an actual impact on the CPM 

Schedule. 

(c) Failure of the RTC to obtain timely governmental approvals that are its 

responsibility under the Contract Documents. 

(d) Failure or inability of the RTC to provide responses within the time periods 

specified in the Contract Documents, to proposed schedules, plans, Construction 

Documents or other submittals for which an RTC response by a time certain is expressly 

required. 

(e) Any injunction or restraining order issued by a court of competent 

jurisdiction that stops the Contractor’s work. 

(f) Any suspension for convenience by the RTC. 

(3) Notice Required. In order to be eligible for a Compensable Delay, the Contractor 

must provide notice to the RTC describing the act or event that the Contractor asserts was the 

cause of the delay and increased costs not more than five (5) Days after the day the act or event 

occurs. 

(4) Burden of Proof. The Contractor shall have the burden of providing that the delay 

satisfies each of the required elements of an Excusable Delay under Subsection B and is an act 

or event constituting a Compensable Delay under Paragraph (2) above. If an Excusable Delay is 

found to be a Compensable Delay, the RTC will, by Change Order, extend the Contract Time to 

increase the time of performance, and will make an equitable adjustment to the Construction 

Price. The Change Order will be the Contractor’s sole remedy arising out of the Compensable 

Delay. 

(5) Concurrent Delay. 

(a) Description. When an act or event that would otherwise be a Compensable 

Delay overlaps or runs concurrently with an Excusable (but not Compensable) Delay or 

with an inexcusable delay, the Contractor will be eligible for an Excusable Delay for the 

time period of the overlapping or currently running delay, but shall be eligible for a 

Compensable Delay only for that portion of the delay that extends beyond the period of 

28 



 

 

              

      

           

    

           

        

         

          

         

     

          

   

          

    

        

          

        

       

             

        

   

             

      

         

         

         

      

concurrent delay. To the extent that the number of Days of delay can be allocated between 

those that are caused by an Excusable Delay and those that are caused by an inexcusable 

delay, the Contract Time shall only be extended by the amount of the Excusable Delay. 

(b) Example. If there is a forty (40) Day Contractor-caused inexcusable delay 

and an overlapping fifty (50) Day RTC-caused Compensable Delay, the Contractor will be 

eligible for forty (40) Days of Excusable Delay and ten (10) Days of Compensable Delay. 

(c) Impact on Critical Path. Delays will not be treated as Concurrent to the 

extent that one delay affects the CPM Schedule and the other delay does not. In that 

event, the sole delay will be the one that affects the CPM Schedule. 

(d) Sole Remedy. The Change Order extending Contract Time for a 

Concurrent Delay will be the Contractor’s sole remedy arising out of the Concurrent Delay. 

D. Compensable Events. 

(1) Effect of Compensable Events. A Compensable Event may be the basis for the 

increase in the Construction Price. 

(2) Acts or Events Constituting Compensable Events. An increase in the Construction 

Price shall be allowed hereunder only for changes in the Work that are directly attributable to the 

following Compensable Events and otherwise meet the requirements set forth in this section: 

(a) A Change in the Work directed by the RTC. 

(b) The discovery at, near, or on the Worksite of any cultural or paleontological 

resources or any species listed as threatened or endangered under Federal or state 

endangered species laws. 

(c) The discovery at, near, or on the Worksite of Differing Site Conditions not 

identified as of the date of execution of this Agreement. RTC will administer the process 

for addressing Differing Site Conditions consistent with 23 CFR 635.109 and the 

requirements of the “Standardized Changed Condition Clauses” in Exhibit J. 

(d) The discovery at, near, or on the Worksite of Hazardous Materials not 

identified as of the date of execution of this Agreement. 

29 



 

 

        

          

       

             

              

          

     

        

           

     

          

                

        

   

           

               

              

             

        

       

               

      

         

             

         

               

   

         

           

           

(e) An earthquake exceeding 3.5 on the Richter scale and epicentered within 

25 miles of the specific location of damage on the Worksite; exceeding 5.0 on the Richter 

scale and epicentered within 50 miles from the specific location of damage on the 

Worksite; or exceeding 6.5 on the Richter scale and epicentered within 75 miles from the 

specific location of damage on the Worksite; in all cases based on the final determination 

regarding the location and magnitude of the earthquake published by the National 

Earthquake Information Center in Golden, Colorado. 

(f) Any rebellion, war, riot, or act of terrorism. 

(g) Any change in law or enactment of any new law resulting in requirements 

applicable to the Project which are materially different from the requirements applicable 

as of the date this Agreement was executed and which directly cause an increase in the 

cost of the Work, but excluding any such change or new law which was passed or adopted 

but not yet effective as of such execution date. 

(h) A Compensable Delay. 

(3) Notice Required. In order to be eligible for a Compensable Event, the Contractor 

must provide notice to the RTC describing the act or event that the Contractor asserts was the 

cause of the increased costs not more than five (5) Days after the day the act or event occurs. 

(4) Burden of Proof. The Contractor shall have the burden of proving that an act or 

event constitutes a Compensable Event that satisfies all the requirements of this Section. 

(5) Relation to Risk Register Events. The Contractor shall not be eligible for a Change 

Order under this Subsection or under Subsection C hereof if the event forming the basis for such 

requested Change Order is an identified Risk Register Event. 

(6) Acceleration Costs. Acceleration Costs shall be compensable hereunder only if the 

Contractor establishes that (a) such costs result from a Change Order issued by the RTC as an 

alternative to allowing an extension of the Contract Time; (b) the delay which causes such Change 

Order to be issued was an Excusable Delay; and (c) the Contractor in fact accelerated its 

performance and incurred additional costs. 

(7) Treatment of Differing Site Conditions. If the discovery of a Differing Site Condition 

satisfies the requirements of this Subsection and also satisfies the requirements for an Excusable 

Delay under Subsection B, then that event shall be treated as a Compensable Delay under 

30 



 

 

    

        

    

              

           

     

          

        

        

    

    

           

      

           

        

            

    

      

             

            

               

          

              

          

         

             

           

         

Subsection C of this Section. 

(8) Limitation on Contract Price Increases. Any increase in the Contract Construction 

Price allowed under this Section shall exclude: 

(a) Costs caused by the fault or negligence, the failure to perform or meet the 

requirements of this Agreement or the other Contract Documents, or the breach of this 

Agreement, by the Contractor or any Subcontractor; 

(b) Costs which could reasonably have been avoided by the Contractor by use 

of all reasonable and appropriate means and efforts, including resequencing the Work or 

reallocating or redeploying its forces to other portions of the Work or to other activities 

unrelated to the Work (including any additional costs reasonably incurred in connection 

with such reallocation or redeployment); and 

(c) Costs for any rejected Work that failed to meet the requirements of the 

Contract Documents or for any necessary remedial Work. 

E. Basis for Establishing Costs. The amounts payable for Change Orders based on 

Compensable Events or Compensable Delays, for items such as construction equipment costs, 

material costs, markups, etc., shall be determined in accordance with Section 16 hereof. 

SEC. 15. PROCEDURES FOR CHANGES 

A. Request for Information (RFI). The Contractor may submit a Request for Information 

(RFI) on any portion of the Work. Except under extraordinary circumstances, the Contractor shall 

submit the RFI not less than twenty (20) Days prior to the date information is needed. The RTC 

will provide a timely response, and if a Change is required, initiate a Change Notice or Change 

Order. The RTC will make its best effort to respond within fifteen (15) Days of submittal of the 

RFI. The RTC will return all incomplete RFI(s) within ten (10) Days of receipt from the Contractor. 

If the Contractor performs any Work that is the subject of an RFI prior to the RTC’s written 

response (to the RFI), it shall be at the Contractor’s sole risk and expense. 

B. Request for Change (RFC). The Contractor may submit a Request for Change (RFC) to 

the RTC describing any proposed Change. The Contractor shall assign a unique tracking number 

to each RFC. RFCs shall be subject to the following requirements and conditions: 

31 



 

 

         

            

            

         

          

  

            

               

  

          

    

       

  

       

           

   

      

          

           

         

   

           

         

           

         

            

               

              

               

(1) Submittal Requirements. The Contractor shall describe the cause or event in 

sufficient detail to support the RFC, along with the following information: the Contractor shall 

identify the Contract Document that it proposes to change, and state the reasons for the Change, 

including relevant circumstances and impacts on the CPM Schedule. If the Contractor is 

requesting an increase to the Construction Price or Contract Time, it shall also submit the 

following with its RFC: 

(a) A detailed description of the facts underlying the RFC, the reasons why the 

Contractor believes additional compensation or time will or may be due, and the date of 

the event; 

(b) The name, title, and activity of each RTC employee knowledgeable of the 

facts underlying the RFC; 

(c) The Contractor’s Cost and Schedule Proposal, as described in Subsection 

D below; 

(d) The recommended Change Order, including specific reference to the 

provisions of this Agreement or the other Contract Documents affected, or other basis of 

entitlement to the Change; 

(e) For changes affecting CPM Schedule, a fragnet (time impact) analysis 

showing how the CPM Schedule will be impacted by the Change; and 

(f) Such other information as the RTC may deem necessary to evaluate the 

RFC, or as the Contractor may deem relevant to the RTC’s evaluation. 

(2) Timing Requirements. 

(a) If the Contractor intends to assert that a specific event has caused a 

Change in the Construction Price or Contract Time, or has caused any other Change, the 

Contractor shall submit an RFC within fifteen (15) Days after the event that is the basis of 

the RFC. If a Cost and Schedule Proposal (CSP) is required, the Contractor shall provide 

that CSP within the time required under Subsection D(1)(h) hereof. If the Contractor 

delivers any RFC later than fifteen (15) Days after the event giving rise to such RFC, the 

RFC will be untimely and will be rejected by the RTC. In addition, if a timely RFC is not 

submitted, the Contractor shall not have, and will be deemed to have waived, any claim 

32 



 

 

            

 

            

       

            

               

           

         

           

            

              

            

        

  

              

             

        

              

          

         

   

       

        

          

          

       

       

        

     

       

to any increase in Construction Price or Contract Time, or other relief, arising out of such 

event. 

(b) If an RFC concerns any event related to discovery of Differing Site 

Conditions or Hazardous Materials, the Contractor shall immediately provide notice of the 

event to the RTC, and shall afford the RTC the opportunity to inspect such discovery 

before it is disturbed, otherwise the RFC will be untimely and will be rejected by the RTC. 

In addition, if both a timely notice and timely RFC are not submitted, the Contractor shall 

not have, and will be deemed to have waived, any claim to any increase in the 

Construction Price or Contract Time or to other relief arising out of the event. 

(3) Actions by the RTC. If the RTC approves the RFC, it will issue a Change Notice or 

Change Order. If the RTC rejects the RFC for any reason other than its un-timeliness, the RTC 

will notify the Contractor in writing, and such rejection shall constitute an RTC decision that shall 

commence the period of time in which the Contractor has to pursue issue/dispute resolution under 

Section 23 hereof. 

If the RTC does not either accept or reject an RFC within thirty (30) Days after the 

Contractor’s submittal thereof, the RFC shall be deemed rejected on the thirtieth (30th) Day and 

the period of time to pursue issue/dispute resolution shall begin on that Day. 

If an RFC is rejected directly by the RTC or by lapse of time under this paragraph, the 

Contractor shall notify the RTC in writing, within fifteen (15) Days after such rejection, whether it 

intends to pursue a claim and/or dispute resolution regarding such matter. 

(4) Subcontractor Change Requests. 

(a) Review by Contractor. Prior to submission by the Contractor of any RFC 

which is based in whole or in part on a request by a Subcontractor for a price increase or 

time extension under its Subcontract (a “Subcontractor Change Request”), the Contractor 

shall review all claims by the Subcontractor that constitute the basis for the Subcontractor 

Change Request and determined in good faith that each such claim is justified hereunder, 

and that the Contractor is justified in requesting an increase in the Construction Price 

and/or Contract Time in the amounts specified in the Subcontractor Change Request. 

(b) Supporting Analysis and Affirmation. Each Subcontractor Change Request 

submitted to the RTC shall include a summary of the Contractor’s analysis of the 

33 



 

 

    

              

             

      

        

      

               

             

              

  

          

           

         

          

         

       

        

       

           

  

            

  

      

    

        

           

     

             

   

components of the Subcontractor claims and an affirmation that the Contractor has 

conducted a due diligence review of the basis for the Subcontractor’s claims and has made 

a good faith determination that all such claims are justified as to entitlement and amount 

of money and/or time requested. Any RFC involving Subcontractor Work that is not 

accompanied by such summary analysis and affirmation shall be considered incomplete. 

(5) Contractor Risk. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Subsection, an 

RFC shall be at the Contractor’s risk. The Contractor shall not be relieved from performing the 

Work during the time the RTC considers the RFC and will not receive any adjustment in 

Construction Price or Contract Time if the RTC determines the subject matter of the RFC is not 

an appropriate Change. 

C. Change Notice. The RTC may issue a Change Notice to the Contractor, describing a 

proposed Change to this Agreement and requesting the Contractor to submit a Contractor’s Cost 

and Schedule Proposal in accordance with Subsection D. A Change Notice does not authorize 

the Contractor to commence performance of the proposed Changed Work. Any Change 

implemented by the RTC will be incorporated into a Change Order. 

D. Contractor’s Cost and Schedule Proposal (CSP). 

(1) Elements of CSP. In preparing the CSP for any Change in response to a Change 

Notice, or the Contractor’s RFC, the Contractor shall: 

(a) Use the forms provided or approved by the RTC to identify all costs of the 

Change, including overhead and profit. 

(b) Identify the impacts of the Change on, and integrate the Change into, the 

CPM Schedule. 

(c) Follow Construction Specifications Institute’s (CSI) Master Format 

classification system in describing the Changes. 

(d) Base the proposal on the Contractor’s actual, expected construction 

productivity rates, if applicable to the Work (and provide appropriate support for those 

productivity rates); not on published or trade association composite rates. 

(e) Use the applicable TRO rate, as set forth in Exhibit C hereto, to calculate any 

extended Project overhead cost. 

34 



 

 

          

   

          

      

           

             

   

            

           

           

            

   

         

     

           

 

           

            

 

     

           

              

         

                

           

        

           

      

      

          

(f) Identify any prices or other elements of the CSP that are conditional, such as 

time sensitive orders or events. 

(g) Provide a certification, in a form acceptable to the RTC, that the CSP as well 

as any Subcontractor costs and schedule included in the CSP includes all known and 

anticipated impacts or amounts, direct, indirect and consequential, that maybe incurred as 

a result of the Change and that the Contractor believes that the factual basis for the 

Change is true and accurate. 

(h) If the Change includes both added and deleted work, provide separate cost 

breakdowns for the added work and the deleted work. The cost, or credit, amount for the 

change shall be the agreed upon difference between the cost of the added work and the 

cost of the deleted work. If the Change results in a net change of zero, there will be no 

change in the Construction Price. 

(i) Deliver the CSP to the RTC within a maximum of fifteen (15) business days 

from the date of the RTC’s request. 

(j) Provide such other supporting information as the RTC may reasonably 

require. 

(2) Reservation of Rights. If the Contractor does not submit the CSP by the required 

date, the RTC reserves the right to issue a Change Order at a value the RTC determines is fair 

and reasonable. 

E. Unilateral and Bilateral Changes. 

(1) Issuance of Change Orders. The RTC may unilaterally, or bilaterally by agreement 

with the Contractor, issue a Change Order directing Contractor to proceed with a Change in the 

Work. The Change Order shall contain a Change Order value and a schedule impact. The Change 

Order value may be either a lump sum amount or a not-to-exceed amount on a time and material 

basis and shall be the maximum limit of the RTC’s obligation under the Change Order. The RTC 

may unilaterally, or bilaterally by agreement with the Contractor, revise the Change Order value 

and/or the schedule impact, based upon a Contractor’s CSP, other additional information, or other 

forward pricing subsequent to the initial determination. 

(2) Delivery of Cost and Schedule Proposal. If the RTC has requested a Cost and 

Schedule Proposal and it is not delivered within the time required in Subsection D(1)(i), or within 

35 



 

 

                 

               

        

          

            

             

              

        

           

          

           

         

             

       

          

     

        

            

          

        

       

     

         

         

        

         

           

        

such extensions of time the RTC has granted, the CSP will be untimely and will be rejected by 

the RTC. In addition, if a timely CSP was not submitted, the Contractor shall not have, and will be 

deemed to have waived, any claim to any adjustment to the Change Order value or schedule 

impact, or to provide any other relief arising out of the event. 

(3) Claims and Disputes. If the Contractor disputes either the Change Order value or 

the schedule impact, and has not theretofore waived its rights or failed to meet the conditions to 

submit a claim, it may pursue a claim and/or resolution of such matter in accordance with Section 

23, under the process and within the time limits set forth therein. 

(4) Restriction on Work. The Contractor shall not commence performance of the Work 

described in the Change Order until the RTC transmits it to the Contractor. Any Work performed 

by the Contractor without a Change Order will be at the Contractor’s risk and expense. 

(5) Maintenance of Records. Until such time as the Parties agree to any Changes 

arising out of a Change Order and execute a bilateral Change Order, or they resolve any issue or 

dispute as provided in Section 23, the Contractor shall maintain its records in accordance with 

the requirements of Section 24 and the other Contract Documents. 

(6) Basis for Payments. The Contractor shall submit reports of Work performed 

pursuant to a Change Order, on forms prescribed or accepted by the RTC, within one (1) Day 

after performance of the Work. All back-up records and reports including time sheets shall be 

certified by the signature of the Contractor’s representative and acknowledged by the RTC’s 

authorized representative. All submittals shall be subject to audit and determinations of the 

accuracy of the submitted information, pursuant to Section 24 hereof. 

(7) No RTC Liability. Unless the Parties subsequently execute a bilateral Change 

Order, the RTC shall not be liable for or pay any amount in excess of the applicable Change Order 

value or any increase in Contract Time in excess of the schedule impact in the Change Order. 

(8) Bilateral Changes. Any bilateral Change Order executed by both Parties shall: 

(a) Expressly state that the Work described therein is Changed Work. 

(b) Include all Changes to the CPM Schedule, the Construction Price, and all 

costs of any nature arising out of the Changed Work. 

36 



 

 

         

            

    

           

             

           

       

             

                

     

          

             

           

              

    

        

           

                

             

       

         

           

          

         

         

        

              

 

(c) Contain a statement that the adjustment to the Contract Time and 

Construction Price, if any, includes all time and amounts to which Contractor is entitled as 

a result of such Changes. 

(9) Effect of Execution. The execution of a bilateral Change Order by the RTC and the 

Contractor shall be deemed to be an unconditional agreement to all Work, and all adjustments to 

Construction Price and Contract Time related to the Change. There will be no reservation of rights 

by either Party on a bilateral Change Order. The execution of a bilateral Change Order by the 

RTC and the Contractor shall constitute a full accord and satisfaction of all amounts payable, all 

time extensions allowable, and all other claims arising out of the event or Work that is the subject 

matter of that Change Order. 

(10) RTC Unilateral Determination. If the Parties are unable to agree on all adjustments 

to the Construction Price or Contract Time, or to any other issue related to the Change Order, the 

RTC may, at any time, make a unilateral determination and issue a unilateral Change Order based 

on this determination, without prejudice to the rights of the Contractor to pursue a claims and/or 

dispute resolution process under Section 23 hereof. 

F. Deleted Work. When a Change deletes Work from the Contractor’s scope, the 

amount of the reduction in the Construction Price shall be based upon a reduction in the pay 

quantity and at the unit price per the line item of work where applicable or by an estimate including 

a bill of material, a breakdown of labor and equipment costs, and overhead and profit associated 

with the deleted work. When a deduction is involved, documented cancellation and restocking 

charges may be included in costs and subtracted from the price deduction. 

G. Audit. The Contractor’s records pertaining to Changes pursuant to this Section are subject 

to audit and examination by the RTC or its representative in accordance with Section 24 hereof. 

H. No Change Based on Unauthorized Person. The Contractor shall undertake at its own 

risk work included in any request, order, or other authorization issued by a person in excess of 

that person’s authority, as provided herein and in the other Contract Documents. In addition, the 

RTC may require the Contractor to remove or otherwise undo any such unauthorized work, at its 

sole expense. 

37 



 

 

          

               

        

       

           

  

                

     

 

         

              

         

     

           

       

     

        

 

   

             

             

       

       

     

        

       

           

   

SEC. 16. BASIS FOR ESTABLISHING COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH A CHANGE 

A. Determination of Amount Payable. The amount payable for a Change is the sum of all 

eligible costs, as described herein, that the Contractor necessarily incurs to perform the Work and 

a mark-up for overhead and profit, as described in this Section. 

B. Ineligible Costs. The amount payable for Changed Work shall not include the following 

Ineligible costs: 

(1) costs caused by the breach of contract or fault or negligence, or act or failure to 

act of the Contractor, or any Subcontractor, or any other entity for which the Contractor is legally 

or contractually responsible; 

(2) costs which could reasonably be avoided by the Contractor, including 

resequencing, reallocating or redeploying its forces to other portions of the Work or to other 

activities unrelated to the Work, adjusted for any additional costs reasonably incurred in 

connection with such reallocation or redeployment; and 

(3) profit associated with the Contractor’s discovery and RTC’s approval of a Differing 

Site Condition or suspension of the Work as defined in the “Standardized Changed Condition 

Clauses” in Exhibit J. 

C. Eligible Costs. The amount payable for Changed Work may include the following eligible 

costs: 

(1) Labor Costs. 

(a) Labor cost shall be based, as a minimum, on the prevailing wage scale for 

each craft or type of Work used in the Changed Work, as well as payroll taxes and fringe 

benefits, as applicable. Payroll taxes shall be calculated on base wage only and not on 

fringe benefits. Fringe benefits shall be applied only to the straight-time component of cost 

and shall not apply to the premium-time component. 

(b) Labor reports shall include names, hours worked, and rates of pay for all 

classifications that are engaged in the actual direct performance of the Changed Work. 

Labor costs shall not include costs for management personnel above foreman, office 

personnel, timekeepers, and maintenance mechanics. 

38 



 

 

            

            

      

       

          

        

        

          

                

      

       

             

           

   

       

         

          

      

      

        

           

             

     

           

  

        

     

           

         

           

(2) Material Costs. Material costs shall be the cost of all Goods purchased and/or 

constructed by the Contractor and used in the Changed Work, including normal wastage 

allowance as per industry standards. The cost shall include freight, delivery, unloading, storage 

charges, taxes and all Supplier discounts. The prices shall be supported by valid invoices or 

binding written quotations from reputable Suppliers, or shall be prices from existing purchase 

orders, blanket purchase orders or other ordering agreements standard in the industry. The 

invoices or quotations shall be made available to the RTC upon request. The RTC reserves the 

right to review and accept Goods and sources of supply of Goods to be furnished by the 

Contractor or its Subcontractor(s), as well as the right to furnish the Goods to the Contractor if 

necessary to facilitate the progress of the Work. 

(3) Construction Equipment Costs. The rates described in this Paragraph include the 

costs of Construction Equipment, plus the cost of fuel, oil, lubricants, supplies, necessary 

attachments, repairs and maintenance of all kinds, depreciation, storage, insurance, and all 

incidentals, subject to the following: 

(a) Construction Equipment costs shall not include costs for items normally 

considered Contractor plant or fixed costs items (such as buildings, trailers, office 

equipment, utilities, rail, piping, electrical distribution systems, processing plants, material 

handling facilities, work platforms, scaffolding, and concrete forms). 

(b) Construction Equipment reports shall include size, type, identification 

number, rental rate (if applicable), and hours of operation. 

(c) Construction Equipment and tools having a replacement value of $200 or 

less, whether or not consumed or used, shall be considered small tools and no payment 

shall be made for them. 

(d) Equipment ownership fixed costs shall be limited to the following for 

multiple shift operations: 

(i) Overhead - at the hourly overhead rate listed in the Rental Rate Blue 

Book for Construction Equipment (published by Equipment Watch, 

most current version in effect at the time the Changed Work is 

performed, hereinafter “Rental Rate Blue Book”) for the first shift each 

day and at fifteen percent (15%) of that same hourly rate for the 

39 



 

 

         

   

       

             

         

         

          

        

        

   

       

         

             

  

          

        

             

             

           

         

            

  

       

 

         

          

      

        

            

second shift each day. No additional overhead costs will be a–lowed 

for a third shift; and 

(ii) Depreciation - the hourly depreciation rate listed in the Rental Rate 

Blue Book for the first shift each day and at fifty percent (50%) of that 

same hourly rate for the second and third shifts each Day. 

(e) The RTC shall pay Contractor for the use of Contractor-owned 

Construction Equipment at the total hourly cost rates listed for such Construction 

Equipment in the Rental Rate Blue Book. No adjustment to the total hourly cost rates listed 

in the Rental Rate Blue Book shall be made except as stated in this Paragraph for multiple 

shift operations and standby. 

(f) If it is deemed necessary by the Contractor to use Contractor-owned 

specialized Construction Equipment not listed in the applicable edition of the Rental Rate 

Blue Book, the Contractor shall submit all cost data to the RTC for its use in establishing 

the rate. 

(g) If the Contractor determines it is necessary to use rental Construction 

Equipment due to the lack of availability of Contractor-owned Construction Equipment to 

perform the Changed Work, the Contractor shall submit the cost data, including written 

quotes, published price lists and paid invoices to the RTC for use in verification of such 

rental cost. The RTC will pay for Construction Equipment rented under lease-purchase or 

sale-leaseback arrangements, or rented from an organization under control of the 

Contractor or under common control with the Contractor, at the rates set forth in the Rental 

Rate Blue Book. 

(h) Construction Equipment operators shall be paid for as stipulated in 

Paragraph (1). 

(i) All Construction Equipment shall be in good working condition and suitable 

for the purpose for which it is to be used. 

(j) Unless otherwise specified, manufacturer-approved modifications shall be 

used to classify Construction Equipment for the determination of applicable rental rates. 

Applicable rental rates for Construction Equipment that has no direct power unit shall be 

40 



 

 

          

     

           

       

 

       

         

      

              

           

        

  

           

             

          

          

    

         

      

     

           

    

         

       

      

        

         

  

based on being powered by a unit of at least the minimum rating recommended by the 

manufacturer of that Construction Equipment. 

(k) The RTC will not pay compensation for Construction Equipment while it is 

inoperative due to breakdown, routine maintenance or other Contractor controlled or 

planned down time. 

(l) Except as otherwise specified in this Section, time will be computed in half 

and full hours. In computing the time for use of Construction Equipment, less than 31 

minutes shall be considered one-half hour. 

(m) After Construction Equipment is idle for 16 hours in a 24 hour period it shall 

be deemed to be on standby, and Compensation for such Construction Equipment shall 

be limited to the sum of the hourly overhead and depreciation rates for 8 hours per 24 

hour period. 

(n) The time shall include the time required to move the Construction 

Equipment to the location of the Changed Work and return it to the original location (or to 

another location requiring no more time than that required to return it to its original 

location). Loading and transporting costs shall be allowed, in lieu of moving time, when 

the Construction Equipment is moved by means other than its own power. No payment 

for loading and transporting shall be made if the Construction Equipment is also used at 

the Worksite for other than the Changed Work. 

(o) The Construction Equipment use period shall: 

(i) begin at the time the Construction Equipment is unloaded at the site 

of the Changed Work during standard work hours; 

(ii) include each Day that the Construction Equipment is at the Worksite 

of the Changed Work, excluding Saturdays and Sundays and other 

legal holidays unless such Work is performed on those days; and 

(iii) terminate at the end of the day on which the Work is completed or the 

RTC instructs the Contractor to discontinue the use of such 

Construction Equipment. 

41 



 

 

         

            

             

      

         

           

        

         

       

         

     

             

          

           

          

        

      

         

        

     

             

            

       

       

          

         

            

           

         

        

       

(p) The Contractor shall substantiate the costs of all rented Construction 

Equipment by the Supplier’s invoices or, if the work has not yet been started, by signed 

quotes or published rate sheets, submitted with the current reports; or, if not then available, 

submitted with subsequent reports. If the Contractor does not submit Supplier’s invoices 

within thirty (30) Days after completion of the Changed Work, or if in the RTC’s opinion 

the cost of such rented Construction Equipment is excessive, then the cost of such 

Equipment shall be determined utilizing the guides listed in Paragraph (3)(d) above. 

(q) No additional compensation shall be allowed for Construction Equipment 

used to perform Changed Work if such Equipment is already on the Worksite and being 

used or will be used for other than the Changed Work. 

(4) Overhead and Profit. 

(a) The RTC will pay the Contractor a mark-up equal to the applicable CMAR 

Fee on direct costs for overhead and profit on Changed Work. (b) The mark-up for 

overhead and profit includes and is full compensation for all indirect costs of any nature, 

including without limitation home and field office overhead, all taxes of any nature (except 

taxes covered herein under labor or material costs), all insurance costs (including 

Workers’ Compensation insurance), all Performance Bond and Labor and Materials Bond 

premium adjustments, small tools, incidental job burdens, incidental engineering costs (if 

any), and all other indirect costs of the Changed Work. 

(c) Incidental engineering costs, as referred to in the previous subparagraph, 

which shall be included in the overhead mark-up, shall include all time spent by Contractor 

engineers or other personnel or consultants for RFI, RFC, and CSP preparation, Change 

Order administration, preparation and coordination of shop drawings, attendance at 

meetings, inspections scheduling, estimating, Claim preparation, submittal preparation 

and review, mix and shoring design and all other tasks normally performed by Contractors 

or Subcontractors as part of the Work under similar construction contracts. 

(d) The RTC will not pay a mark-up for any Goods furnished by the RTC. 

(5) Work by Subcontractors. The RTC will pay the Contractor a mark-up equal to the 

applicable CMAR fee on Changed Work performed by Subcontractors, regardless of the number 

of intervening tiers of Subcontractors. When a Subcontractor performs Changed Work, the 

Subcontractor will be allowed the same mark-ups as provided in Paragraph (4)(a)(i),(ii), and (iii) 

42 



 

 

             

         

   

        

            

         

     

            

         

        

            

              

              

            

       

      

             

          

           

           

 

     

           

           

           

          

      

       

           

      

above. However, the RTC will not pay mark-ups for Changed Work performed by a Subcontractor 

that is an affiliate or subsidiary of the Contractor or for any Goods furnished by Suppliers or by 

the RTC. 

(6) Credit Items. Where the Contractor’s portion, or any Subcontractor’s portion (at 

any tier), of a Change involves credit items, or the proposed Change is a fully deductive Change, 

the Contractor shall utilize the same mark-up as set forth in Paragraph (4) above in computing 

the value of the credit. 

(7) Bond Costs. Changes to the cost of the Performance Bond and Labor and Material 

Payment Bond are covered in the mark-ups under Paragraph (4) and/or (5) above. 

D. Work After Scheduled Completion Date or During Delay. To avoid any duplicate 

payment of overhead or profit, if the Contractor performs any Work under a Change Order after 

the Substantial Completion Date of the Work, or during a period of Delay which results in a time 

extension, the mark ups for overhead and profit paid under this Section for the Change Order for 

that period shall be deducted from any extended overhead or profit that may be otherwise payable 

to the Contractor under this Agreement for the Delay. 

E. Increased or Decreased Quantities. Increases or decreases from the Contractor’s 

quantity estimates used to develop the Construction Price shall not be a basis for any increase or 

decrease in the Construction Price, unless the quantity involved was established and mandated 

by the RTC and then modified by the RTC during the performance of the Work. No allowance will 

be made in the event that the quantity based on computations does not equal the estimated 

quantity. 

SEC. 17. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

A. Obligations of Contractor. The Contractor shall be responsible for (1) the handling, 

removal, disposal, and/or remediation of any Hazardous Materials at the Worksite in accordance 

with the Contract Documents and applicable Federal and state laws and regulations; and (2) 

obtaining any governmental approvals necessary for the management, remediation, and/or 

disposal of such Hazardous Materials. The Contractor shall also be responsible for implementing 

any reasonable construction techniques that can be used to avoid Hazardous Materials. 

B. Discovery of Hazardous Materials. If during the course of the Work the Contractor 

encounters any Hazardous Materials, the Contractor shall: 

43 



 

 

        

   

            

            

     

         

         

      

           

         

       

        

        

        

        

   

          

           

       

           

   

      

              

             

              

           

 

          

          

(1) immediately notify the RTC by phone or in person, followed by written notice within 

twenty-four (24) hours; 

(2) provide the RTC with the opportunity to inspect the area containing the Hazardous 

Materials before taking any action that would inhibit the RTC’s ability to ascertain the nature and 

extent of the Hazardous Materials present; and 

(3) if so directed by the RTC and after any necessary consultation with Federal and 

state officials, take necessary and appropriate actions to avoid, manage, remediate, and/or 

dispose of such Hazardous Materials in accordance with the standards and requirements in 

subsection A above; provided that the RTC may in its discretion utilize the services of a different 

contractor or other entity to manage, remediate, and/or dispose of such Hazardous Materials. 

C. Materials Brought to Site by Contractor. The Contractor shall be solely responsible, at 

its own expense, and shall not be eligible for a Change, for any Hazardous Materials brought onto 

the Worksite by the Contractor or any Subcontractor. Such responsibility includes the handling, 

removal, disposal, and/or remediation of such Hazardous Materials and liability for all costs, 

claims, damages, lawsuits, and judgments relating to such Hazardous Materials. 

D. Hazardous Waste Generator. 

(1) No Status as Generator. Except as provided in Paragraph (2) of this Subsection: 

(a) the Contractor shall not be considered to be the Generator of Hazardous 

Materials encountered in the performance of the Work; 

(b) the Contractor shall not be required to execute any Hazardous Waste 

manifests as a Generator; and 

(c) any Hazardous Materials encountered in the performance of the Work shall 

be disposed of, if at all, utilizing an EPA Identification Number or other appropriate legal 

device obtained by, and carried in the name of, the RTC or another person designated by 

the RTC; provided that this provision shall not be construed to confer the status of 

Generator upon the RTC unless the RTC otherwise has that status under applicable law 

and regulations. 

(2) Status of Generator. The Contractor (and not the RTC) shall be considered the 

Generator with respect to (a) any release of Hazardous Materials attributable to the negligent acts 

44 



 

 

             

             

     

               

    

          

           

  

       

      

   

            

           

            

       

              

    

       

       

                  

         

             

       

          

       

  

          

                 

          

or omissions or willful misconduct of the Contractor, to a breach of applicable law or regulations 

by the Contractor, or to a failure of the Contractor to comply with the Contract Documents; (b) any 

release of Hazardous Materials brought to the Site by the Contractor or any Subcontractor; and 

(c) any action by the Contractor that results in the Contractor being designated as a Generator 

under applicable law or regulations. 

(3) Reservation of Rights. Nothing in this Section shall preclude or limit any rights the 

RTC may have against Third Parties and/or prior owners, lessees, licensees, or occupants 

relating to Hazardous Materials. 

(4) Definition. As used in this Section, the term “Generator” means the person whose 

act or process produces Hazardous Materials or whose act first causes Hazardous Materials to 

become subject to regulation. 

E. Change Orders. The Contractor shall not be eligible for an increase in the Construction 

Price or an extension in the Contract Time on the basis of Hazardous Materials described in 

Subsection C above or Hazardous Materials identified as of the date of execution of this 

Agreement. The Contractor may be eligible for a Change Order by reason of the discovery of 

Hazardous Materials that it did not bring to the Site or that were not so identified, to the extent 

provided in the Changes provisions in this Agreement. 

SEC. 18. WARRANTIES RELATING TO THE WORK 

A. Elements of Warranty. The Contractor warrants that: 

(1) The Work shall be free of deficiencies or defects, shall be fit for use for the purpose 

intended, and shall meet all of the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

(2) The Goods and other materials furnished shall be new and of a quality that meets 

all of the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

B. No Design Warranty. The Contractor does not warrant or otherwise guarantee services 

or designs provided by the engineer of record. 

C. Warranty Term. 

(1) General Warranty. The Warranties regarding all elements of the Project shall 

commence on the date of Final Acceptance and shall remain in effect until one (1) year after that 

date, unless a longer period is specified in the Supplemental General Provisions or the SSPWC. 

45 



 

 

       

                

            

         

               

          

          

                  

      

              

            

           

            

  

      

         

      

   

             

            

     

   

         

       

       

          

        

          

         

      

              

(2) Landscape Warranty. The Contractor completely warrants all plant materials for 

the later of (a) one (1) calendar year from the date of Landscape Acceptance; or (b) the 

achievement of sixty percent (60%) of the vegetative growth required under the Contract 

Documents. Any plant material deemed Deficient during this warranty period shall be replaced in-

kind by the Contractor at no additional cost to the Project, and shall be warranted for one (1) 

additional year by the Contractor. Any additional one (1) year warranty period beyond the initial 

one (1) year warranty period will be considered an extended warranty period. Another inspection 

will be conducted by the RTC at the request of the Contractor at the end of the extended warranty 

period to determine Landscape Acceptance or rejection. 

(3) Extensions to Correct Work. If the RTC determines that any of the Work has not 

met any Contract requirements at any time within the applicable Warranty period, and so notifies 

the Contractor before the expiration of such Warranty period, then the Contractor shall correct 

such Work at its sole expense, even if performance of such corrective Work extends beyond the 

stated Warranty period. 

(4) Subcontractor and Supplier Warranties. The Warranty period for Subcontractor 

and supplier warranties shall be the longer of the period stated in this Section or the period 

specified in the particular Subcontractor or Supplier Warranty. 

D. Remedy and Corrections. 

(1) Notice and Duty to Correct. If the RTC determines that any Work fails to meet any 

Warranty requirements, RTC shall notify the Contractor, and the Contractor shall correct, repair, 

or replace such Work at its sole expense. 

(2) Remedy by Contractor. 

(a) Required Actions. Within ten (10) Days of receipt by the Contractor of 

notice from the RTC specifying a failure to meet any requirements of the Contract 

Documents, the Contractor and the RTC shall meet to investigate and mutually agree on 

how the Contractor will remedy such violation and correct the Work and the time allowed 

for such correction, which absent special circumstances shall not exceed ten (10) Days. 

The Contractor’s proposed corrective action must address, at a minimum, the construction 

remedy; and the schedule for prosecution and completion of the corrective work. However, 

in case of an emergency or hazard to health or safety requiring immediate curative action, 

the Contractor shall implement such action as it deems necessary and shall notify the RTC 

46 



 

 

             

             

  

          

          

           

       

            

          

    

            

           

            

           

          

          

              

      

      

       

             

         

          

          

           

               

 

    

       

           

        

of the urgency of a decision on a remedy and correction. The Contractor and the RTC 

shall agree on such remedy and correction immediately upon notice by or to the RTC of 

such emergency. 

(b) Failure to Act. If the Contractor does not use its best efforts to proceed to 

effectuate such remedy and correction within the agreed time, or if the Contractor and the 

RTC fail to reach such an agreement within the ten-Day correction period referenced in 

Subparagraph (a) (or immediately, in the case of emergency conditions), then the RTC, 

after notice to the Contractor, shall have the right to perform (or have performed by other 

parties) the necessary remedy and correction to the Work, and the costs thereof shall be 

borne by the Contractor. 

E. Permits and Costs. The Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining any required permit 

or consent necessary to perform Warranty Work. The Contractor shall bear all costs of Warranty 

Work, including additional testing and inspections, and shall reimburse the RTC for any expenses 

it incurs thereby within ten (10) Days after the Contractor’s receipt of invoices therefore. 

F. Emergency Repairs. If the RTC determines that emergency repairs are necessary for 

public safety, the RTC may perform the corrective Work. Prior to making the emergency repairs, 

the RTC will document the basis for the emergency action, and will preserve evidence, such as 

photographs or videotapes, of the defective condition. Emergency repairs will be coordinated with 

the RTC when possible. All costs associated with the emergency repairs that are covered by the 

Warranty Work shall be borne by the Contractor. 

G. Warranty on Corrected Work. Warranties shall apply to all work re-done, corrected, or 

replaced pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. In the event any Work is re-done, corrected, or 

replaced, the Warranty for such Work shall extend to the later of one (1) year after Acceptance of 

the re-done, corrected, or replaced Work by the RTC, in accordance with the Contract Documents 

or the expiration of the Warranty term, provided that the Warranty for redone, corrected, or 

replaced Work shall not extend beyond one (1) year after the expiration of the original Warranty 

term. 

H. Subcontractor and Supplier Warranties. 

(1) Warranty Requirements. The Contractor shall obtain from all Subcontractors and 

Suppliers, and cause to be extended or transferred through the RTC, appropriate representations, 

warranties, guarantees, and obligations with respect to design, materials, workmanship, 

47 



 

 

     

     

                

             

             

        

         

       

  

      

      

     

        

    

         

       

             

          

        

         

            

     

          

              

            

        

        

equipment, tools and supplies furnished by such Subcontractors and Suppliers. All 

representations, warranties, guarantees, and obligations of Subcontractors and Suppliers shall 

be written so as to survive all RTC and Contractor inspections, tests, and approvals, and shall run 

directly to and be enforceable by the Contractor and/or the RTC and their respective successors 

and assigns. The Contractor shall ensure that the warranties name the RTC as the warranty 

beneficiary. The Contractor hereby assigns to the RTC all of the Contractor’s rights and interest 

in all extended warranties for periods exceeding the applicable Warranty period that are received 

by the Contractor from any of its Subcontractors and Suppliers. 

(2) Enforcement. 

(a) Responsibility of Contractor. Upon receipt from the RTC, during the 

applicable Warranty Period, of notice of a failure of any of the Work to satisfy any 

Subcontractor or Supplier warranty, representation, guarantee or obligation, the 

Contractor shall be responsible for enforcing or performing any such representation, 

warranty, guaranty, or obligation. 

(b) Time Period. The RTC’s rights under this Section shall commence at the 

time such representation, warranty, guaranty, or obligation is furnished or becomes 

effective under the terms of this Section, and shall continue until the expiration of the 

Contractor’s relevant warranty (including extensions for re-done Work) or of the applicable 

Subcontractor or Supplier Warranty if longer. Until such expiration, the cost of any Goods, 

equipment, material, labor (including re-engineering) or shipping shall be the responsibility 

of the Contractor, and the Contractor shall be required to replace or repair defective 

Goods, equipment, material, or workmanship furnished by Subcontractor. 

(c) Contractor Liability. To the extent that any Subcontractor’s or Supplier’s 

Warranty is voided in whole or part by reason of any act or omission of the Subcontractor 

or the Contractor, the Contractor shall still be fully liable to the extent of such Warranty. 

I. Reservation. The foregoing warranties are in addition to all rights and remedies available 

under applicable statutes, common law, or other law or contract. 

48 



 

 

      

    

        

         

      

         

       

        

              

         

         

     

    

         

           

 

            

            

         

            

     

   

          

           

           

  

       

       

SEC. 19. PROJECT COMPLETION AND ACCEPTANCE 

A. Substantial Completion. 

(1) Applications for Substantial Completion. The Contractor shall deliver an 

application for Substantial Completion to the RTC when all of the following have occurred: 

(a) The Contractor has completed all Work; 

(b) The Contractor has ensured that all Work has been performed and 

substantially completed in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents; 

(c) The Contractor has ensured that all Work may be used without further 

delays or disruption to the public or damage to the Project or any other property on or 

adjacent to the Worksite, and without injury to any person; 

(d) All on-Site Work for utility owners has been completed and all utility owner 

approvals have been received by the Contractor. 

(2) RTC Review and Inspection. 

(a) Upon receipt of the Contractor’s application for Substantial Completion, the 

RTC shall conduct such inspections, surveys, and/or testing, as it deems necessary and 

appropriate. 

(b) If such inspections, surveys, and/or tests disclose that any Work is 

Deficient or otherwise does not meet the requirements of the Contract Documents, the 

RTC will promptly advise the Contractor as to any Deficiencies in the Work necessary to 

be corrected as a condition to Substantial Completion. The Contractor shall promptly make 

such corrections at its sole expense. 

(c) Upon correction of the Deficiencies identified as a prerequisite to 

Substantial Completion, the Contractor shall provide written notification to the RTC, and 

the RTC shall conduct another round of inspections, surveys and/or tests. This procedure 

shall be repeated until the RTC find that all prerequisites to Substantial Completion have 

been met. 

(3) Required Elements of Substantial Completion. Substantial Completion of the Work 

shall be deemed to have occurred when: 

49 



 

 

       

 

        

      

        

            

           

            

        

     

      

        

                

            

          

             

       

             

                

            

      

           

           

         

          

              

        

    

        

            

(a) The RTC determines that all requirements of this Subsection have been 

satisfied; 

(b) The RTC determines that all Deficiencies identified as prerequisites to 

Substantial Completion have been corrected; and 

(c) The RTC, after consultation with the Contractor, has established a Punch 

List of items remaining to be completed or corrected prior to Final Acceptance. 

(4) Certificate of Substantial Completion. The RTC will issue a Certificate of 

Substantial Completion to the Contractor at such time as the RTC determines that Substantial 

Completion has occurred, under the standards and criteria set forth herein. Such Certificate shall 

specify the date on which Substantial Completion occurred. 

(5) Responsibility to Complete the Work. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 

Agreement, it shall be the Contractor’s continuing responsibility to complete and deliver every 

element, and the integrated whole, of the Work in accordance with all of the requirements of this 

Agreement. The issuance of a Certificate of Substantial Completion by the RTC for any element, 

or for the whole of the Work, shall not be construed to relieve the Contractor of this responsibility, 

or any part thereof. If, after the issuance of a Certificate of Substantial Completion and during the 

applicable Warranty period, as set forth in Section 18, the RTC discovers any Deficiency, or item 

not completed or otherwise requiring correction or remedial action, whether or not the item 

appears on any Punch List or other list of clean up items, the Contractor shall correct the 

Deficiency, complete the item, or otherwise remedy the condition to bring it into full compliance 

with this Agreement and the other Contract Documents. 

B. Punch List Completion. Following Substantial Completion, the RTC will allow the 

Contractor reasonable access to the Site to complete the items on the Punch List established 

pursuant to Subsection A(3). When the Contractor believes that it has completed all items on the 

Punch List, it shall so notify the RTC and request a determination the Punch List Completion has 

been satisfied. At the time the RTC determines all such items have been completed, the RTC 

shall notify the Contractor that it has satisfied Punch List Completion. 

C. Final Acceptance. 

(1) Required Elements of Final Acceptance. Prior to Final Acceptance, the Contractor 

shall perform any Work that was deferred for purposes of Substantial Completion and shall satisfy 

50 



 

 

            

         

                

          

        

  

         

          

      

 

           

    

      

        

        

           

 

           

      

         

        

         

       

        

         

           

            

  

all of its other obligations under the Contract Documents, including ensuring that the Work has 

been completed and all components have been properly inspected and tested. The Contractor 

shall then submit a Request for Final Acceptance to the RTC. Final Acceptance of the Work shall 

be deemed to have occurred when all of the following have occurred: 

(a) All requirements for Substantial Completion and Punch List Completion 

have been fully satisfied; 

(b) The Contractor has delivered to the RTC the affidavit described in 

Paragraph (2) below, along with unconditional releases from all first tier Subcontractors 

and any lower tier Subcontractors that have filed stop notices during the term of this 

Agreement; 

(c) All payrolls, bills for materials or work, or other indebtedness connected 

with the Work have been paid; 

(d) All of the Contractor’s personnel, supplies, waste, materials, facilities and 

equipment in connection with the Work have been removed from the Site, and the 

Contractor has restored and repaired the Site in good working order and condition; 

(e) The RTC has received and accepted the assignment of all Subcontractor’s 

and Supplier’s Warranties; 

(f) The RTC has received and accepted all surveys, test data and reports, and 

other deliverables required under the Contract Documents; 

(g) All Goods, equipment, special tools, spare parts, or other materials 

purchased or supplied by the Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents have 

been delivered to and Accepted by the RTC, free and clear of liens; 

(h) All of the Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents (other 

than obligations which by their nature are required to be performed after Final Acceptance) 

have been satisfied in full or waived in writing by the RTC; 

(i) The Contractor has provided the RTC with all information required for the 

RTC to file a Notice of Completion for the Project in recordable form and meeting all 

statutory requirements. 

51 



 

 

      

        

          

       

   

       

      

        

    

       

   

         

      

            

      

            

             

   

       

         

           

        

        

           

     

           

         

            

   

(j) The Contractor has identified a single point of contact to address the 

Warranty requirements of this Agreement throughout the duration of the Warranty term; 

(k) The Contractor has furnished to the RTC a certification from the 

Contractor’s Quality Manager certifying material conformity of the construction with the 

Contract Documents; and 

(l) The Contractor has received all applicable governmental approvals 

required, including any necessary approvals from the City of Reno and/or Washoe County. 

(2) Request for Final Acceptance. The Contractor’s Request for Final Acceptance 

shall include an affidavit certifying that: 

(a) The Work under this Agreement has been completed in strict accordance 

with the Contract Documents; 

(b) No lawful debts for labor or materials are outstanding and no federal excise 

tax has been included in the Construction Price; 

(c) All requests for funds for undisputed work under this Agreement, including 

Changes in the Work, and under all billings of whatsoever nature are accurate, complete, 

and final and no additional compensation over and above the final payment will be 

requested or is due under this Agreement or under any adjustment issued thereunder for 

such undisputed work; 

(d) There are no outstanding claims of the Contractor, and no outstanding 

claims, liens or stop notices of any Subcontractor, Supplier, laborer, or utility owner 

relating to the Project; there is no existing default by the Contractor under any utility 

agreement to which the Contractor is a party, and no event has occurred which, with the 

passing of time or giving of notice or both, would lead to a claim relating to the Work or 

event of default under any utility agreement to which the Contractor is a party; and 

(e) Upon receipt of final payment, the Contractor and its Subcontractors 

acknowledge that the RTC and any and all employees, officers, and Board members of 

the RTC and their authorized representatives will thereby be released, discharged, and 

acquitted from any and all claims or liability for additional sums on account of undisputed 

work performed under this Agreement. 

52 



 

 

              

           

           

            

          

           

            

    

         

                

            

        

             

       

           

            

   

           

         

         

         

           

       

          

       

        

               

             

             

  

If the Contractor is unable to include in its affidavit the statement in Subparagraph (d) above, due 

to matters still outstanding, its affidavit shall describe the outstanding matters in such detail as 

may be requested by the RTC; shall include a representation by the Contractor that it is diligently 

and in good faith contesting all such matters by appropriate legal proceedings, or by other means; 

and shall provide a status report regarding the same including an estimate of the maximum 

amount payable with respect to each such matter. In the event that such outstanding matters are 

identified by the Contractor, the RTC reserves the right to continue to hold all or part of the 

retainage until such matters are resolved. 

(3) Notice of Completion. The RTC will inspect the Work within ten (10) Days after 

receipt of the Request for Final Acceptance, and will issue a Notice of Completion to the 

Contractor at such time as the RTC, determines that the requirements for Final Acceptance have 

been satisfied under the standards and criteria set forth in this section. The Notice of Completion 

shall specify the date on which Final Acceptance occurred. If the RTC determines, however, that 

there are Deficiencies or uncompleted portions of the Work, the RTC shall so notify the Contractor 

and the Contractor shall, at its own cost and expense, promptly remedy the Deficiencies or 

uncompleted Work and submit an additional Request for Final Acceptance, in accordance with 

the above process. 

(4) Reservations. Final Acceptance will not prevent the RTC from correcting any 

measurement, estimate, or certificate made before or after completion of the Work, nor shall it 

prevent the RTC from recovering from the Contractor, any surety or other provider of performance 

security, any overpayment sustained for failure of the Contractor to fulfill the obligations under the 

Contract Documents. The occurrence of the Final Acceptance Date shall not relieve the 

Contractor from any of its continuing obligations under this Agreement. 

(5) Exceptions. Final Acceptance shall be final and conclusive except for (a) 

Deficiencies not readily ascertainable by the RTC; (b) actual or constructive fraud; (c) gross 

mistakes amounting to fraud; (d) material errors that the Contractor knew or should have known 

about; and (e) the RTC’s rights under any warranty or guarantee. The RTC may revoke Final 

Acceptance at any time prior to the issuance of the final payments by the RTC upon RTC’s 

discovery of such Deficiencies, mistakes, fraud, or errors in the Work, even if final payment has 

been made. 

53 



 

 

     

          

         

       

           

               

             

                

                

           

                 

           

        

          

                

   

     

             

     

              

           

      

          

           

      

        

         

          

        

   

D. Relief from Maintenance Responsibility. Except as otherwise provided in Subsection 

C(5) or in the Notice of Completion, the Contractor shall be relieved of maintenance responsibility 

for the Work upon the RTC’s issuance of the Notice of Completion. 

E. Landscape Acceptance. The Contractor’s obligations regarding Plant Establishment and 

the requirements for Landscape Acceptance are set forth in the Supplemental General Provisions. 

F. Passage of Title. The Contractor warrants that it owns, or will own, and has, or will have, 

good and marketable title to all Goods, materials, equipment, tools, and supplies furnished, or to 

be furnished, by it and its Subcontractors that become part of the Work or are purchased for the 

RTC for the operation, maintenance or repair of the Work, and are free and clear of all liens. Title 

to all of such Goods, materials, equipment, tools, and supplies which have been delivered to the 

site shall pass to the RTC, free and clear of all liens, upon the earlier of incorporation into the 

Work, or payment by the RTC to the Contractor of invoiced amounts pertaining thereto. 

Notwithstanding any such passage of title, the Contractor shall retain sole care, custody and 

control of such materials, equipment, tools, and supplies and shall exercise due care with respect 

thereto, as part of the Work, until the Final Acceptance Date or until the Contractor is removed 

from the Project. 

SEC. 20. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

A. Time of the Essence. Time is an essential element of this Agreement, and it is important 

that the work be pursued vigorously to completion. The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that 

the RTC will suffer damages in the event of a delay, as specified below, and also that the public 

is subject to detriment and inconvenience when full use of infrastructure cannot be made because 

of an incomplete Project. The Contractor further acknowledges that because it is impracticable or 

extremely difficult to ascertain the exact amount of actual damages to be sustained, the 

Contractor and the RTC have agreed to stipulate the amount payable by the Contractor in the 

event of a delay or other non-performance by the Contractor. 

B. Failure to Meet Completion Deadlines. Any delay beyond the Completion Deadlines will 

result in RTC potentially incurring significant losses, including, without limitation, loss of 

reputation, delay costs, and losses arising out of other contracts held by RTC and related to this 

Project. The Parties have agreed to the following liquidated damages as an estimate of RTC’s 

loses and not as a penalty. 

54 



 

        

 

        

 

 
 

  

          

         

         

            

  

    

        

       

        

    

         

   

            

            

          

       

         

(1) Substantial Completion. If the Contractor fails to achieve Substantial Completion 

by the Substantial Completion Deadline in Section 5C, the Contractor agrees to liquidated 

damages in the amount of $16,000 per Day for failure to meet the Substantial Completion 

Deadline calculated beginning on the day after the Substantial Completion Deadline and ending 

on the date Substantial Completion is achieved, as evidenced by the issuance of the Certificate 

of Substantial Completion. 

(2) Punch List Completion. If the Contractor fails to achieve Punch List Completion by 

the Punch List Completion Deadline in Section 5C, the Contractor agrees to pay liquidated 

damages in the amount of $8,000 per Day beginning on the day after the Punch List 

Completion Deadline and ending on the date Punch List Completion is achieved. 

C. Violation of Key Personnel Requirements. If the Contractor violates the Key 

Personnel requirements in Section 8, the Contractor agrees to pay liquidated damages in the 

amount of $12,000 per violation. 

D. Assessment and Collection. 

(1) Authority of Project Manager. In assessing liquidated damages, the RTC will be 

guided by principles of fairness and the efforts of the Contractor to comply with the Completion 

Deadlines specified herein. Accordingly, the RTC may, in its discretion, determine that minor 

failures to meet the Completion Deadlines specified in Subsection B do not warrant imposition of 

liquidated damages. 

(2) Collection. The Contractor shall pay liquidated damages within fifteen (15) Days 

after notice of assessment by the RTC. In addition, the Contractor agrees that RTC may withhold 

payments otherwise due the Contractor under this Agreement or attach the Contractor’s 

performance bond to cover the liquidated damages set forth above. 

(3) Multiple Liquidated Damages. Any combination of multiple liquidated damages as 

set forth in Subsection B may be assessed, but shall not be assessed concurrently. If the 

Contractor is in violation of more than one (1) of the Completion Deadlines set forth in Subsection 

B concurrently, only the higher rate shall be assessed. In addition, however, the RTC shall have 

the right to charge the Contractor, its successors, assigns, or surety, the actual costs of 

engineering, inspection, supervision and other expenses, including overhead and legal fees, 

incurred by the RTC which directly result from the Contractor’s failure to properly perform in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Such sums may be withheld from final payment. 

55 



 

 

         

           

          

          

                 

          

            

        

     

        

            

        

           

        

              

           

            

              

           

           

         

      

 

      

              

          

        

         

        

E. Other Remedies. Subject to the limitations specified in Section 26 hereof, the assessment 

of liquidated damages shall not preclude the RTC from exercising other rights and remedies 

against the Contractor, including suspension of the Work or termination of this Agreement. 

SEC. 21. RIGHT TO SUSPEND WORK AND TERMINATE CONTRACT 

A. RTC Rights. It is mutually agreed by the Parties that if at any time during the prosecution 

of the Work the RTC determines that the Work is not being performed according to this Agreement 

or in the best interest of RTC, the RTC may proceed in any of the following ways: 

(1) temporarily suspend the execution of the work by the Contractor; or 

(2) terminate this Agreement and/or the Pre-construction Services Agreement, in 

accordance with the Contract Documents, and thereupon either (a) proceed by selecting a new 

contractor to perform the Work, by using the RTC’s own forces to perform the Work, by calling 

upon the surety to complete the work in accordance with this Agreement, or by a combination of 

any such methods; or (b) elect to discontinue or cancel the Project or the Work. 

B. Contractor Obligations. Any excess in the cost of completing the Work beyond the 

Construction Price set forth in Section 6 that is incurred by the RTC because of a suspension or 

termination under this Section shall be charged to and paid by the Contractor or its surety. 

C. Written Notice. Whenever RTC determines to suspend or terminate work under this 

Agreement, it shall provide a written notice sent by mail to the Contractor and to the Contractor’s 

surety at their respective addresses. In the case of a termination, the RTC shall provide the 

Contractor and/or the surety ten (10) Working Days from the date of the RTC’s notice to cure. 

D. Other Rights. The rights of the RTC under this Section are in addition to its suspension 

and termination rights and remedies under the Supplemental General Provisions and the 

SSPWC. 

SEC. 22. ALTERATIONS AND OMISSIONS 

The RTC reserves the right, at any time during the progress of the Work, to alter the Work, or omit 

any portion of the Work as it may deem reasonably necessary for the public interest, making 

allowances for additions and deductions with compensation made in accordance with this 

Agreement for the altered or omitted work, without constituting grounds for any claim by the 

Contractor for allowance for damages or for loss of anticipated profits, or for any variations 

56 



 

 

         

        

 

       

              

         

             

          

          

          

           

          

       

           

           

            

          

         

       

     

     

            

            

     

           

            

             

        

               

                  

           

    

between the approximate quantities and the quantities of the Work as done. Any such alteration 

or omissions shall be made pursuant to a Change Order issued in accordance with this 

Agreement. 

SEC. 23. ISSUE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

A. General. Any dispute arising under this Agreement as to performance, compensation, and 

the interpretation of satisfactory fulfillment of the terms of this Agreement shall be decided by the 

RTC, subject to the dispute resolution provisions of this Section. It is the intent of the Parties to 

work collaboratively to avoid and resolve disputes at the lowest level possible through the 

partnering relationship entered into during the Pre-construction Services phase of the Project. 

Nothing herein contained shall impair the Parties’ rights to file suit in the appropriate court of the 

State of Nevada, following the exhaustion of the remedies set forth in this Section. 

B. Negotiated Resolution. The parties shall first attempt to resolve the dispute informally in 

meetings or communications between the Contractor’s Project Manager and the RTC Project 

Manager. If the dispute remains unresolved, the Contractor may request that the RTC Project 

Manager issue a recommended decision on the matter in dispute. The RTC Project Manager shall 

issue the recommended decision in writing and provide a copy to the Contractor. The 

recommended decision of the RTC Project Manager shall become final unless, within fifteen (15) 

Days of receipt of such recommended decision, the Contractor submits a written request for 

review to the RTC Executive Director. In connection with any such review, the Contractor’s Project 

Manager and the RTC Project Manager shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard and to offer 

evidence on the issues presented. 

C. Mediation/Arbitration. In the event that parties have been unable to reach a negotiated 

resolution pursuant to Subsection B, the dispute may, upon written agreement of both Parties, be 

submitted to mediation and/or arbitration in accordance with the commercial rules and procedures 

of the American Arbitration Association (AAA). The neutral mediator/arbitrator shall be selected 

in accordance with AAA procedures, and the mediation/arbitration hearing shall be held in the 

Reno, Nevada area. The parties agree to request that each of the potential mediators/arbitrators 

provided by the AAA have at least five (5) years of experience in construction industry disputes. 

The costs of the mediator/arbitrators shall be split between the parties. The result of any arbitration 

shall be final and binding upon both parties, subject to judicial enforcement or review in a court in 

the State of Nevada of competent jurisdiction and venue, in accordance with the applicable 

provisions of NRS 38.015 to 38.205. 

57 



 

 

              

        

                

                

        

             

          

         

            

          

        

          

       

           

            

     

         

          

          

        

         

              

         

               

         

        

    

           

          

        

          

           

D. Litigation. If a dispute is not resolved by the Parties through the operation of Subsection 

A and B and is not submitted to mediation/arbitration under Subsection C or is submitted to 

mediation under Subsection C and is not resolved by that process, either Party may bring a civil 

action on the matter in dispute in a court in the State of Nevada of competent jurisdiction and 

venue. THE PARTIES HEREBY UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY 

JURY OF ANY AND ALL CLAIMS OR CAUSES OF ACTION ARISING FROM OR RELATING 

TO THIS AGREEMENT AND/OR THE PROJECT AND TO HAVE ALL DISPUTES IN THE 

LITIGATION DETERMINED BY A JUDGE WITHOUT A JURY. THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE 

THAT THEY WOULD OTHERWISE HAVE A RIGHT FOR THEIR DISPUTE TO BE HEARD BY 

A JURY, THAT THEY HAVE CONSULTED WITH THEIR ATTORNEYS, AND THAT THEY 

KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY AGREE TO THIS WAIVER. 

E. Actions During Dispute Resolution. Pending final resolution of a dispute under this 

Section, the Contractor shall proceed diligently with the performance of its obligations under this 

Agreement (including those matters giving rise to the dispute) in accordance with the direction of 

the RTC; provided that the action of the Contractor in proceeding with such performance shall not 

prejudice its position in the dispute resolution process. 

F. Alternative Dispute Resolution. If agreed to by both Parties, disputes may be resolved 

by a mutually agreed upon alternative dispute resolution process (which may include structured 

negotiations) that is different from the processes specified in this Section. 

SEC. 24. ACCESS TO RECORDS AND AUDITS 

A. General. The Contractor agrees to maintain all records relating to the performance of the 

Work, at a location or in a manner readily accessible to the RTC, for the period of time specified 

in Subsection B. The Contractor further agrees that the RTC, the FHWA, and the Comptroller 

General of the United States, and any of their authorized representatives, shall have access, at 

any reasonable time, to inspect, copy, and audit the records and documents of the Contractor 

and its Subcontractors and Suppliers, relating to any labor, materials, payrolls, invoices, plant, 

equipment, or activities relating to the performance of this Agreement. These inspection and audit 

rights extend to any cost and pricing data relating to Changes Orders, use of the Risk Register 

Account or Owner Contingency, Subcontractor pricing and bids, and Contractor overhead and 

other markups. Any overpayment, unsubstantiated billing or payment, or billing or payment for 

work not performed in accordance with the Contract Documents that is discovered in any such 

inspection or audit shall be either charged against the Contractor’s future invoices, deducted from 

58 



 

 

                 

 

           

                 

                 

 

    

    

           

             

              

           

             

      

      

         

          

    

          

     

          

           

         

               

        

       

             

      

               

final payment to the Contractor, or paid directly to the RTC by the Contractor, as directed by the 

RTC. 

B. Duration. Access to records in accordance with this Section shall be given or obtained 

both during the performance of the Work and for the later of: (1) the three (3) year period beginning 

on the date of Final Acceptance; or (2) the final resolution of any litigation or claims arising out of 

this Agreement. 

SEC. 25. ESCROW OF PRICING DOCUMENTS 

A. Requirements for Proprietary Pricing Documents. 

(1) Submittal of Documentation. The Contractor shall submit to the RTC one (1) copy 

of all documentary information generated in preparation of its price proposal for the Work and in 

development of the Cost of the Work and the Construction Price, including the same information 

from all Subcontractors to be used to perform any portion of the Work. The Contractor shall 

provide a full index of all materials and documentation supplied. Documents shall be stored in a 

secure and locked container. This documentation is hereinafter referred to as “Proprietary Pricing 

Documents” and is further described in Subsection B below. 

(2) Identification of Documents. The Contractor shall submit its Proprietary Pricing 

Documents in one or more sealed containers, clearly marked on the outside with: 

(a) Label “Proprietary Pricing Documents”; 

(b) Contractor’s full legal name and date of its submittal; and 

(c) The name of the Project. 

(3) Escrow of Documents. The Proprietary Pricing Documents shall be held by the 

RTC in escrow for the duration of this Agreement, in accordance with this Section. The Proprietary 

Pricing Documents are not public records but are, and shall always remain, the property of the 

Contractor, subject to joint review by the RTC and the Contractor, and any local, state, or Federal 

law enforcement or regulatory agencies requesting access to these documents. 

(4) Use of Documents. If needed, Proprietary Pricing Documents will be used by the 

RTC and the Contractor to assist in the negotiation and/or settlement of claims and disputes, 

Change Order pricing, review and analysis of significant changes in the Contractor’s approach 

from that used or assumed in developing the Cost of the Work and the Construction Price or the 

59 



 

 

      

             

             

       

              

          

        

        

       

     

      

       

            

         

 

      

   

      

        

 

        

       

     

    

         

 

         

     

Proprietary Pricing Documents, and other contractual matters. The Proprietary Pricing 

Documents will not be used for evaluation or acceptance of the Contractor’s anticipated methods 

of construction or, except for claims and disputes, for other matters related to the implementation 

of the Work. The Proprietary Pricing Documents constitute all the information used in the 

development of the Cost of the Work and the Construction Price, and no other Contractor pricing 

information shall be considered in resolving claims, disputes, or Change Order pricing. 

(5) Characterization of Documents. Nothing in the Proprietary Pricing Documents 

shall change or modify the terms or conditions in this Agreement. Further, the Proprietary Pricing 

Documents are not part of the Contract Documents. 

B. Document Format and Contents. 

(1) Format. The Contractor shall prepare its Proprietary Pricing Documents in its 

normal cost-estimating format, and shall identify all costs. The preparation and submittal of the 

Proprietary Pricing Documents shall be at the sole expense of the Contractor. All Documents shall 

be in the English language and all dimensions shall be in the English Imperial (lb./foot/sec.) 

system. 

(2) Required Contents. The Proprietary Pricing Documents shall include: 

(a) All quantity takeoffs; 

(b) Calculations or rates of production and progress; 

(c) Copies of quotes from Subcontractors and Suppliers and Subcontractor 

scope letters; 

(d) Calculations of labor rates, equipment rates, and overhead rates; 

(e) Memoranda, narratives, working papers, and computer printouts relating to 

the preparation of the price proposal; 

(f) All add/deduct sheets; 

(g) Assumptions regarding the scope of Work and requirements of this 

Agreement; 

(h) Copies, on CD or DVD (readable by Windows Explorer or Adobe Acrobat) 

of all computer data files containing electronic schedules, cut/add sheets, material takeoff 

60 



 

 

      

   

  

         

         

            

     

             

          

          

             

       

         

          

         

          

     

   

      

       

        

             

           

           

           

 

      

          

          

        

       

sheets, bid estimate sheets, bid proposals, recap sheets, vendor quotations, as-planned 

schedules, preliminary schedules, Subcontractor scope letters, and computer printouts of 

the electronic schedule; and 

(i) All other information used by the Contractor to arrive at the prices contained 

in the Cost of the Work and the Construction Price. 

C. Incorporation of Certification. The Contractor shall execute and submit the following 

Certification with the Proprietary Pricing Documents: 

“I certify under penalty of perjury and pursuant to the laws of the State of Nevada that all 

the Proprietary Pricing Documents submitted to the RTC (including any supplemental 

materials required by the RTC) constitute all the information used in the development of 

the Cost of the Work and the Construction Price, and I further certify I have personally 

examined the contents of the Proprietary Pricing Documents and found that the 

documents herewith submitted are complete that no other pricing preparation information 

exists. I further certify that no information or materials other than the documentation in the 

Proprietary Pricing Documents will be introduced, advanced, or used by the Contractor in 

connection with any claim, dispute, or litigation arising under or relating to Construction 

Contract between the Contractor and the RTC.” 

D. Review and Supplementation. 

(1) Review of Submitted Documents. As soon as practicable after delivery of the 

Proprietary Pricing Documents under Subsection A above, the RTC and the Contractor will jointly 

review the Proprietary Pricing Documents to determine whether they are complete and to identify 

any additional pricing information required based on the final negotiations over the Cost of the 

Work and the Construction Price. If, following this review, the RTC determines that the Proprietary 

Pricing Documents are incomplete or additional information is otherwise required, the Contractor 

shall provide the requested supplemental pricing materials to the RTC in accordance with 

Paragraph (2). 

(2) Addition to Supplemental Materials. The Contractor shall deliver any supplemental 

pricing materials to the RTC within forty-eight (48) hours after the RTC’s request. The RTC and 

the Contractor shall review the supplemental materials to ensure completeness, and the 

supplemental materials shall be added to the Proprietary Pricing Documents in the presence of 

RTC representatives. Except as provided in this Subsection, no other materials shall be added to 

61 



 

 

          

       

         

   

        

        

      

           

             

           

     

        

       

           

     

            

   

    

              

           

     

          

          

      

           

      

      

           

the Proprietary Price Documents, and no materials in the original submittal shall be replaced. An 

updated copy of the index of documents contained in the Proprietary Pricing Documentation shall 

be provided to RTC upon delivery of the supplemental pricing materials under this Subsection. 

E. Storage and Access. 

(1) Location. The RTC will place the Propriety Pricing Documents in either a secure 

location at the RTC or in a secure off-site location, in its discretion. The RTC will be responsible 

for the costs of storage and escrow fees. 

(2) Access. Access to the Proprietary Pricing Documents shall be limited to the RTC, 

the Contractor, any local, state, or Federal law enforcement or regulatory agency requesting 

access to these documents, and any agent or consultant of any of the foregoing entities. 

F. Examination After Execution of Agreement. 

(1) Parties with Access. The Proprietary Pricing Documents may be examined at any 

time deemed necessary after execution of this Agreement as follows: 

(a) by the RTC and the Contractor, to assist in the consideration and resolution 

of matters described in Subsection A(4) above; or 

(b) by any local, state, or Federal law enforcement or regulatory agency, to 

assist in any agency investigation. 

(2) Conditioning on Examination. 

(a) The RTC and the Contractor shall each designate, in writing to the other, 

and a minimum of three (3) Days prior to examination, representative(s) who are 

authorized to examine the Proprietary Pricing Documents. 

(b) Access to the Proprietary Pricing Documents will take place only by duly 

designated authorized representatives of both the RTC and the Contractor (or by 

authorized representatives of a law enforcement or regulatory agency). 

(c) Neither Party will reproduce any of the Proprietary Pricing Documents 

without the agreement of the other Party. 

(3) Return to Contractor. The Proprietary Pricing Documents will be returned to the 

Contractor following the later of (a) Final Acceptance and Notice of Completion in accordance 

62 



 

 

            

        

      

         

             

       

      

              

            

       

           

       

           

         

     

    

    

    

         

      

              

       

      

   

   

       

            

              

          

with this Agreement; or (b) the resolution of all claims, disputes, and/or litigation arising under or 

relating to this Agreement or the performance of the Work. 

SEC. 26. EXCLUSION OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES 

A. Exclusion. Except as provided in Subsection B below, in no event shall either Party be 

liable to the other Party for any “consequential damages” arising out of performance of the Work 

or implementation of the Contract Documents (or failure to perform hereunder), and each Party 

hereby releases the other from such liability. The term “consequential damages” means those 

special, indirect, or incidental damages that flow naturally and inevitably from an action or failure 

to act, such as fare revenue losses, loss of use, cost of capital, debit service, loss of profit on 

related contracts, administrative costs, claims of taxpayers and other indirect damage. The 

foregoing shall apply to limit liability under actions brought under any theory of law, including 

actions in tort (including negligence) as well as in contract, and shall extend to Subcontractors. 

The Contractor shall assure that the originally executed Subcontract with each of its 

Subcontractors includes a similar exclusion of consequential damages that extends to the RTC. 

B. Exceptions to Exclusion. The exclusion of consequential damages set forth in 

Subsection A above shall not exclude or affect: 

(1) The Contractor’s obligation to pay liquidated damages in accordance with Section 

20 of this Agreement. 

(2) Any liability for fraud, reckless or willful misconduct, or criminal acts; 

(3) Any liability with respect to indemnification for Third Party claims; or 

(4) Any liability for any type of damage or loss to the extent such loss or damage is 

covered by the proceeds of insurance provided under project specific policies applicable to the 

Project or other coverages required under this Agreement. 

SEC. 27. NOT USED 

SEC. 28. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNEES 

This Agreement will bind the successors, assignees, and representatives of the Parties hereto. 

This Agreement may not be assigned by the Contractor, or its right, title, or interest therein 

assigned, transferred, conveyed, sublet, or disposed of, without the prior written consent of the 

RTC. Any attempt to assign this Agreement without RTC’s written consent is null and void. 

63 



 

 

         

            

    

           

          

             

                

             

           

            

           

          

   

      

         

           

           

         

          

           

              

      

         

  

        

          

         

       

         

         

Additional requirements related to subletting and assignment of the Agreement, and reference to 

29 CFR 1926, are included in “Prosecution and Progress” in Exhibit J. 

SEC. 29. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

The relationship of the Contractor to RTC is that of an independent contractor, and the Contractor, 

in accordance with its status as an independent contractor, covenants and agrees that it will 

conduct itself consistently with such status, that it will neither hold itself out as nor claim to be an 

officer or employee of RTC by reason hereof, and that it will not, by reason hereof, make any 

claim, demand, or application to or for any right or privilege applicable to an officer or employee 

of RTC, including, but not limited to, workers’ compensation coverage, unemployment insurance 

benefits, social security coverage, or retirement membership or credit. The Contractor agrees that 

it is responsible for the performance of the Work in accordance with its own means and methods 

and responsible for all wages, salaries, and benefits of its employees, including determining 

appropriate rates of pay. 

SEC. 30. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable Federal, State, County, and City laws, codes, 

ordinances, rules, and regulations, whether or not specifically referenced in this Agreement. The 

Contractor affirms that it has familiarized itself with the requirements of any and all applicable 

Federal, State, County, and City laws, codes, ordinances, rules, and regulations, including the 

conditions of any required licenses and permits, prior to entering into this Agreement. The 

Contractor shall be responsible for complying with any and all off such requirements at its sole 

cost and expense and without any increase in the Construction Price or extension to the Contract 

Time due to such compliance, regardless of whether such compliance would require additional 

labor, equipment, and/or materials not expressly provided for in this Agreement or in the 

Construction Price. 

SEC. 31. PREVAILING WAGE AND APPRENTICESHIP REQUIREMENTS 

A. Prevailing Wage. The “Davis-Bacon Wage Determinations for Highway Construction 

Projects” and the Nevada Labor Commissioner prevailing wage rates for public works contracts 

apply to the Project. The wage rate and fringe benefits listed in the “Davis-Bacon Wage 

Determinations for Highway Construction Projects” shall be paid unless a higher wage rate and 

fringe benefits is listed by the Nevada Labor Commissioner, in which case, the higher wage rate 

64 



 

 

        

        

         

            

        

            

      

            

             

     

            

          

               

          

       

            

         

       

        

           

            

      

        

       

              

        

    

        

         

                

         

              

and fringe benefits shall be paid (see NRS 338.020 to 338.090, inclusive). The Davis-Bacon 

wage rates and Nevada prevailing wage rates are attached as Exhibit L. 

(1) In addition to the requirements set out in Section 100.15 – “Compliance With Laws 

And Local Labor And Material Requirements” of the Standard Specifications, the Contractor shall 

comply with all requirements in NRS chapter 338. The Contractor’s attention is specifically 

directed to the reporting requirements stipulated under NRS 338.070 and the consequences of 

violating prevailing wage payments or reporting requirements stipulated under NRS 338.060. 

Pursuant to NRS 338.060, the Nevada legislature has adopted certain penalties if workers on 

public work projects are paid less than the designated prevailing wage rate. The provisions of 

NRS 338.060 are incorporated herein by this reference. The Contractor agrees to comply with 

the provisions of NRS 338.060 and Contractor’s failure to comply with the provisions of NRS 

338.060 shall have the effects set forth in NRS 338.060. It shall be Contractor’s responsibility to 

comply with, and ensure compliance by all Subcontractors (at ALL tiers) with, these provisions. 

(2) The Contractor and all Subcontractors (at ALL tiers) are required to submit certified 

payroll reports and labor compliance documentation using the RTC’s electronic certified payroll 

system. The Contractor and each Subcontractor will be given a Log On identification and 

password to access the system. The required documentation shall be transmitted to Pamela Fox-

Reid at wagecomplyrtc@trifoxllc.com. The name and contact information of the Payroll Officer 

who prepared the required documentation shall be displayed clearly on reports. 

(3) The Contractor shall also provide a “Weekly Subcontractor Report” listing all 

subcontractors who worked on the project the previous week. This report shall be updated and 

submitted electronically to wagecomplyrtc@trifoxllc.com. An electronic copy of the “Weekly 

Subcontractor Report” in Microsoft Excel can be obtained from RTC’s project manager. 

B. Apprentices. The Contractor is required to comply with the Apprenticeship Utilization 

Act, as amended by Senate Bill 82 in the 2023 82nd Nevada Legislative Session. For information 

regarding the Apprenticeship Utilization Act, please contact the Nevada Labor Commissioner or 

visit its website at http://labor.nv.gov/ 

SEC. 32. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) REQUIREMENTS 

NDOT has established a DBE goal for this Agreement, and has specified DBE training hour 

requirements. The combined DBE goal for the Work is six point six zero percent (6.60%). The 

DBE training hour requirement is 1,600 hours. The Contractor shall comply, throughout the 

performance of the Work, with the DBE provisions set forth in Exhibit H and the NDOT required 

65 

mailto:wagecomplyrtc@trifoxllc.com.
mailto:wagecomplyrtc@trifoxllc.com.
http://labor.nv.gov/


 

 

            

     

         

          

      

             

            

      

         

        

           

      

               

    

       

  

         

   

             

    

       

   

      

  

     

    

   

     

        

    

specifications incorporated into Exhibit J. Failure to comply with the DBE provisions may give 

rise to sanctions as provided in Exhibit H. 

SEC. 33. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) REQUIREMENTS 

A. EEO Program. The Contractor shall implement and maintain an EEO/Affirmative Action 

Program in accordance with Federal guidelines. 

B. Nondiscrimination. The Contractor shall not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, 

religion, sex, national origin, age or disability in the selection and retention of subcontractors, 

including procurement of materials and leases of equipment. 

(1) The Contractor shall notify all potential subcontractors and suppliers of his/her 

equal employment opportunity (EEO) obligations under the Construction Contract. 

(2) Disadvantaged business enterprises (DBE), as defined in 49 CFR Part 23, shall 

have equal opportunity to compete for and perform subcontracts which the Contractor enters into 

pursuant to the Construction Contract. The Contractor will use his best efforts to solicit bids from 

and to utilize DBE subcontractors or subcontractors with meaningful minority group and female 

representation among their employees. Contractors shall obtain lists of DBE construction firms 

from NDOT. 

(3) The Contractor will use its best efforts to ensure subcontractor compliance with 

their EEO obligations. 

C. EEO Contract Provisions. The Contractor shall comply with the following EEO contract 

provisions set forth in Exhibit J: 

(1) Form FHWA-1273, "Required Contract Provisions, Federal-Aid Construction 

Contracts (Exclusive of Appalachian Contracts)"; 

(2) ADDITIONAL CONTRACT PROVISIONS - SUPPLEMENT TO THE WEEKLY 

CERTIFIED PAYROLLS; 

(3) STANDARD EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY CONSTRUCTION 

CONTRACT SPECIFICATIONS (EXECUTIVE ORDER 11246); 

(4) ADDITIONAL CONTRACT PROVISIONS - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 

OPPORTUNITY Training Special Provisions; 

D. EEO Specifications. The Contractor shall comply with the NDOT required EEO 

specifications incorporated into Exhibit J. 

66 



 

 

            

              

          

        

        

     

     

       

     

          

     

      

        

  

          

         

       

           

           

          

         

         

         

        

    

        

             

          

       

        

E. EEO Records and Report. The Contractor shall keep such records as necessary to 

document compliance with the EEO requirements. Such records shall be retained for a period of 

three years following completion of this Agreement and shall be available at reasonable times 

and places for inspection by authorized representatives of RTC, NDOT and the FHWA. 

(1) The records kept by the Contractor shall document the following: 

(a) The number of minority and non-minority group members and women 

employed in each work classification on the Project; 

(b) The progress and efforts being made in cooperation with unions, when 

applicable, to increase employment opportunities for minorities and women; 

(c) The progress and efforts being made in locating, hiring, training, qualifying, 

and upgrading minority and female employees; and 

(d) The progress and efforts being made in securing the services of DBE 

subcontractors or subcontractors with meaningful minority and female representation 

among their employees. 

(2) The Contractor will submit an annual report to the RTC and NDOT each July for 

the duration of the Project, indicating the number of minority, women, and non-minority group 

employees currently engaged in each work classification required by this Agreement. This 

information is to be reported on Form FHWA-1391. If on-the-job training is being required by 

special provision, the Contractor will be required to collect and report training data. 

SEC. 34. BUY AMERICA AND BUILD AMERICA, BUY AMERICA REQUIREMENTS 

A. Contract Provisions. The Contractor shall comply with the Buy America and Build 

America, Buy America provisions set forth in Exhibit J. 

B. Specifications. The Contractor shall comply with the NDOT required Buy America and 

Build America, Buy America specifications incorporated into Exhibit J. 

SEC. 35. OTHER FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS 

A. Federal Requirements. As reflected elsewhere in this Agreement, the Work will be 

financed in part with federal funds administered by NDOT on behalf of the FHWA, and is therefore 

subject to certain federal statutes, rules and regulations applicable to work financed with federal 

funds. In addition to the federal requirements referenced elsewhere in this Agreement, the 

Contractor shall comply and require its Subcontractors to comply with all applicable federal 

67 



 

 

          

             

           

         

           

    

        

           

       

          

          

        

      

       

 

       

        

           

            

     

          

       

           

          

          

         

       

     

              

  

requirements, including the federal requirements set forth in Exhibit J. The documents in Exhibit 

J are subject to federal “flow down” requirements and must be included in all agreements between 

the Contractor and its Subcontractors and their subcontractors (at ALL tiers). In the event of any 

conflict between any applicable federal requirements and the other requirements of the Contract 

Documents, the federal requirements shall prevail, take precedence and be in force over and 

against any such conflicting provisions. 

B. Certifications and Affidavits. The Contractor has completed and signed the following 

attached as Exhibit K: (1) Form IC - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Other 

Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion; (2) Form NC - Affidavit of Non-Collusion, (3) Certification 

Required by 31 U.S.C. § 1352, Restrictions on Lobbying Using Federal Appropriated Funds, and 

“Instructions for Completion of SF-LLL, Disclosure of Lobbying Activities”; and (4) Form BAC -

Buy America Certificate. The Contractor affirms that such certifications will remain valid and shall 

immediately notify the RTC if circumstances change that affect the validity of these certifications. 

Completion of Form SF-LLL is a continuing obligation for the Contractor to disclose lobbying 

activities. 

SEC. 36. OTHER PROVISIONS OF NRS CHAPTER 338 

A. Nondiscrimination. Pursuant to NRS Section 338.125(2), in connection with the 

performance of work under this Agreement, the Contractor agrees not to discriminate against any 

employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, sexual 

orientation, gender identity or expression, or age, including, without limitation, with regard to 

employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 

termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection for training, including, 

without limitation, apprenticeship. The Contractor further agrees to insert this provision in all 

subcontracts hereunder, except subcontracts for standard commercial supplies or raw materials. 

B. Preferential Employment. Pursuant to NRS 338.130, the Nevada legislature has 

adopted certain preferential hiring practices in relation to contracts for the construction of public 

works. The provisions of NRS Section 338.130 are incorporated herein by this reference. The 

Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions of NRS Section 338.130 and the Contractor’s 

failure to comply with the provisions of NRS Section 338.130 shall have the effects set forth in 

NRS 338.130. 

68 



 

 

      

          

     

      

         

          

               

        

   

            

         

      

     

          

      

            

          

       

     

      

            

         

SEC. 37. CONTINUED EFFECT OF PRE-CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 

All provisions of the Pre-Construction Services Agreement, including all exhibits, remain in full 

force and effect unless amended by this Agreement. 

SEC. 38. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE 

The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws 

of the State of Nevada. The exclusive venue and court for all lawsuits concerning this Agreement 

shall be the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, County of Washoe, and the 

Parties hereto submit to the jurisdiction of that District Court. 

SEC. 39. SEVERABILITY 

If any provision or provisions of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal, unenforceable, or in 

conflict with the law of any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining 

provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. 

SEC. 40. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES 

This Agreement and the rights and obligations arising therefrom are strictly for the benefit of the 

Parties to this Agreement. The Parties agree that any benefit asserted by any Third Party and/or 

found to exist by any court or arbitrator is merely an incidental, collateral, or consequential benefit 

arising from the performance or non-performance of this Agreement and is not intended to create 

a right of action in any person not a signatory to this Agreement. 

SEC. 41. COUNTERPARTS; EFFECTIVE DATE 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed 

to be the original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This 

Agreement shall be effective on the date executed by the last Party hereto. 

69 



 

 

            
         

 

 

  
  

 
 

         
     

 
 
 
        
 

 
         

   
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused these presents to be duly executed 
with all the formalities required by law on the respective dates set forth below their 
endorsements. 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

By: 
Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director 

GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 

By: 
Chris Burke, Vice President/Region Manager 

70 



































































































































































































































































































































































































































































  

 

   
  

 
  

   

  
   

  

 
  

  
  

 
  

 

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 6.3.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Graham Dollarhide, Planning Manager

  SUBJECT: South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Plan 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of a presentation on the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) 
Plan. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

The RTC, in partnership with the City of Reno, is working to complete a Transit Oriented Development 
(TOD) Plan along the South Virginia Street corridor. The purpose of the effort is to determine the feasibility 
of extending the Virginia Line Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) service to South Reno and develop the land use 
planning tools that will encourage a walkable, transit-supportive development pattern that meets the growth 
and development needs of the region. The study area extends from the BRT route’s current southern 
terminus at the Meadowood Mall transfer station to Mt. Rose Highway. 

The South Virginia Street corridor includes large tracts of vacant or underutilized land and lacks full 
sidewalk and bicycle connectivity. Much of the existing development is vehicle-oriented with limited 
mobility and affordable housing options. However, the potential exists to create a direct connection to 
Midtown, Downtown, and the University of Nevada, Reno to enhance economic development 
opportunities and encourage a more balanced jobs-housing mix that is conducive to enhanced transit. 
Additionally, the RTC is coordinating with the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) as it 
completes a Safety Management Plan on much of the same South Virginia Street corridor. This plan will 
identify low, medium, and high-priority implementable improvements that will have an immediate safety 
benefit to road users. These improvements could have an impact on the context of the corridor that further 
enhances an environment conducive to alternative modes of transportation. 

Staff will provide a brief update on the Plan’s draft results, including analyses of existing conditions, safety, 
and land use, along with overall findings and proposed recommendations. The draft plan will still be shaped 
by input from the project Technical Advisory Committee (TAC), the RTC CMAC and TAC, the public, 
and the RTC Board ahead of formal adoption, anticipated in August. 



 

 
 

  

  
 

   
    

South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Plan 
Page 2 

The final draft of the plan is currently available for review at https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/south-
virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/. 

A presentation on the draft plan was given to the Technical Advisory Committee met on July 8, 2024, and 
the Citizens Multimodal Advisory Committee met on July 10, 2024. Comments from both committees are 
summarized in the Summary Report for the Technical, Citizens Multimodal, and Regional Road Impact 
Fee Advisory Committees. However, it is worth noting one comment received from the TAC indicating 
the desire to budget for and preserve existing services with the potential addition of fixed route service in 
south Reno. Comments from the CMAC were generally centered around the need for increased transit in 
the study area (and surrounding areas) and more coordination between land use and transportation. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for the South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Plan was included in Amendment 1 
to the FY 2022 – FY 2023 Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) and carried forward to the current 
UPWP. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

04/21/2023 Approved the FY 2024-2025 UPWP. 
12/16/2022 Approved the Professional Services Agreement (PSA) for the South Virginia Street Transit 

Oriented Development Plan. 
02/18/2022 Approved Amendment No. 1 to the FY 2022-2023 UPWP. 

https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/south-virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/
https://rtcwashoe.com/planning/south-virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

  

  

 

 
 
   

   

  

  

  

  

   

   

   

  

  

 
   

   

  

   

   

  

   

   

 

  

  

   

  

   

 
   

  

    

   

  

     

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
CHAPTER 1 
INTRODUCTION........................................................................................................................................ 2 

Why TOD? ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

TOD Guiding Principles............................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Existing Plan and Studies ......................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Study Area...................................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Plan Corridor ............................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Corridor Roadway Sections ................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Active Transportation Facilities............................................................................................................................................ 14 

Bus Facilities ................................................................................................................................................................................ 15 

Safety.............................................................................................................................................................................................. 16 

Existing Demographics............................................................................................................................................................ 16 

CHAPTER 2 
Opportunities in the Corridor................................................................................................................ 18 

Historic Trends............................................................................................................................................................................ 19 

Planning for Future Growth................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Current Land Invetory.............................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Master Plan and ReImagine Reno Area Specific Policies ..........................................................................................22 

Zoning............................................................................................................................................................................................ 25 

Supporting Transit Along Virginia Street.........................................................................................................................29 

The Benefits of TOD ................................................................................................................................................................. 30 

Characteristics of Transit-Supportive Development....................................................................................................30 

Supporting Criteria in Study Area....................................................................................................................................... 34 

Existing Density Housing and Employment....................................................................................................................35 

Transit Encouraging Developments................................................................................................................................... 36 

Less Transit-Supportive Developments............................................................................................................................37 

Public Outreach Summary ..................................................................................................................................................... 38 

CHAPTER 3 
The Future of the Corridor..................................................................................................................... 40 

TOD Opportunities ................................................................................................................................................................... 41 

Vacant Land Opportunities ................................................................................................................................................... 42 

Transit Focused Area................................................................................................................................................................ 43 

Application of Land Use Tools Along the Corridor......................................................................................................44 

Transit Focus Area Opportunities ....................................................................................................................................... 45 

i 



 

 

  

  

 
   

   

   

    

   

   

   

    

  

 
    

   

   

  

 
  

   

 

  

 

 
  

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

  

CHAPTER 4 
Connecting South Virginia Street ......................................................................................................... 55 

Transit Supportive Land Use................................................................................................................................................. 56 

Future Development ............................................................................................................................................................... 56 

Corridor Development Scenarios 2024-2050................................................................................................................. 57 

Scenario 1..................................................................................................................................................................................... 57 

Scenario 2..................................................................................................................................................................................... 58 

Scenario 3..................................................................................................................................................................................... 59 

Future Transit in the Study Area.......................................................................................................................................... 60 

Efforts to Support Development Scenarios .................................................................................................................... 62 

CHAPTER 5 
Moving South Virginia Street Forward................................................................................................. 64 

What will the Next 30 Years Bring? .................................................................................................................................... 65 

Implementation Plan................................................................................................................................................................ 65 

Tables 
Table 1.1: Transportation Plans and Studies 

Table 2.1: South Virginia Context Relative to Criteria for Transit-Supportive Development 

Table 3.1: Land Use Tools Summary 

Table 4.1: Projected Transit Ridership 

Table 5.1: SVTOD Action Plan 

Figures 
Figure 1.1: SVTOD Plan Process Timeline 

Figure 1.2: Study Area 

Figure 1.3: Roadway Sections 

Figure 1.4: Typical Section A 

Figure 1.5: Typical Section B 

Figure 1.6: Typical Section C 

Figure 1.7: Typical Section D 

Figure 1.8: Existing Sidewalk 

Figure 1.9: Existing Bike Facilities 

Figure 1.10: Existing Transit Facilities 

Figure 1.11: Collision Heatmap 

Figure 1.12: Crash Types 

Figure 1.13: Population by Block Group 

Figure 1.14: Median Income by Block Group 

Figure 2.1: Historic Growth Patterns 

Figure 2.2: Current Land Inventory Map 

Figure 2.3: Employment Areas 

Figure 2.4: Community Centers 

Figure 2.5: Potential Existing Site Improvements for Community/Neighborhood Centers 

Figure 2.6: Study Area Zoning Designations 

ii 



 

 

  

  

  

  

   

 
   

 

 

  

  

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

 

 
    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2.7: City of Reno Zoning 

Figure 2.8: Washoe County Zoning 

Figure 2.9: TOD Influences 

Figure 3.1: Vacant Land Zoning 

Figure 3.2: TOD Redevelopment Opportunities 

Figure 3.3: Transit Focus Areas 

Figure 3.4: Meadowood Mall Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.5: Longley Lane Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.6: South Meadows Pkwy Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.7: McCabe Drive Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.8: Damonte Ranch Pkwy Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.9: Downtown Damonte Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.10 Pioneer Parkway Transit Focus Area 

Figure 3.11: Summit Mall Transit Focus Area 

Figure 4.1: Development Scenario 1 

Figure 4.2: Development Scenario 2 

Figure 4.3: Development Scenario 3 

Figure 4.4: Land Use Characteristics vs Transit Service Typology 

Figure 4.5: SMP Improvements 

Figure 4.6: SMP Corridor, E. Patriot Blvd to Mount Rose Highway 

Appendix 
Appendix A: Existing Conditions Technical Memo 

Appendix B: Land Use Technical Memo 

Appendix C: Transit Technical Memo 

iii 



 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

iv 



 

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 
[This Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

v 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 

CHAPTER 1 
INTRODUCTION 

South Virginia Street TOD 
1 



 

 

   

  

  
   

     

  

 

   

 

 

 

  

   

  

    

  

 

   
   

  

   

  

   
 

 
      

 

    

    

   

 

   

 

 

 

  

Introduction 

The South Virginia Street Transit-Oriented Development (SVTOD) Plan is a collaboration between the Regional Transportation Commission 

(RTC) of Washoe County, the City of Reno, and other state and federal stakeholders. The goal of the plan is to expand opportunities for 

TOD and mixed-use development along South Virginia Street. This initiative will support a southern extension of the Virginia Line Bus 

Rapid Transit (BRT) route, which currently runs from the University of Nevada, Reno, through downtown and Midtown Reno, ending at 

Meadowood Mall. The TOD study aims to create a framework that promotes walkable and transit-supportive development on vacant and 

underutilized land within the study area. 

Why is the Project Needed? 

 Lack of transit service for existing and future growth along South Virginia Street and surrounding areas. 

 Vehicle dependent development patterns and lack of multi-modal connectivity. 

 Safety concerns for all users. 

 Support regional growth plans such as the ReImagine Reno Master Plan and Truckee Meadows Regional Plan. 

 Lack of affordable housing and access barriers to transit dependent populations. 

What is the Purpose of the Project? 
 Extend next generation transit service to South Virginia Street. 

 Serve existing and future growth areas, improve access to employment opportunities. 

 Improve multimodal infrastructure and safety for all users. 

 Accommodate regional growth plans. 

 Encourage new housing and redevelopment opportunities through supportive transit, walking and biking improvements. 

What is TOD? 
Transit Oriented Development (TOD) is a form of city planning focused on creating vibrant and pedestrian-oriented communities. This is 

done through mixed-use developments, walkable infrastructure, and availability of public transportation options to reduce dependency 

on cars as the primary mode of transportation. The RTC and its partners have utilized TOD to improve the transit options for Nevadans 

across Reno, Sparks, and Washoe County. As part of the TOD planning efforts, the RTC has solicited public input and feedback on TOD 

options for the South Virginia Street corridor to inform future planning efforts (see Chapter 2 for public outreach summary). 

Over the last thirty years, South Virginia Street, from South McCarran Boulevard to Mount Rose Highway (SR 431), has evolved from a 

rural highway connecting Reno and Carson City into a growing corridor with a mix of uses including high-density housing, commercial 

centers, industrial, and variety of other less intense uses. This transition is ongoing along the South Virginia Street Corridor, establishing 

opportunities to create a multi-modal, transit-supportive pattern will help meet the growth and development needs of the region. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
2 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

           

 

 

  

   
   

 
  

   -

TOD Guiding Principles

Transit Oriented Development in the Study Area 

The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) is supportive of TOD development, stating: 
“The success of transit systems in rural, urban, and suburban neighborhoods is critical to the 
economic health and sustainable growth of America’s communities. Transit systems should address 
the needs of everyone and help people get to jobs, school, healthcare, and visit friends and family. 
Transit oriented development (TOD) is where those two areas intersect to create real change.” 

South Virginia Street TOD 
3 



 

 

   

  

 
     

   

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

    

 

 

 

“ –

”

TOD Guiding Principles 
The South Virginia Street TOD includes a diverse group of key jurisdictional partners with individual focuses, but it shares one common 

goal; improving safety and multimodal transportation options accessible for all. 

RTP 2050 Vision 

Extend Virginia Line RAPID to Mt. Rose Highway Providing transit connectivity to employment, education, commercial, 

and residential centers in south Reno would improve access to opportunities, expand travel options, and encourage transit 

supportive development along South Virginia Street. 

4
South Virginia Street TOD 



 

 

   

  

 

   
   

     
 

   

    

       
 

     

      

 

 

 

Project Goals 

 WALK/CYCLE – Provide infrastructure improvements along Virginia Street to improve the non-motorized transportation 
networks in the corridor. 

 CONNECT – Locate future transit stops in areas that promote walking and cycling to access transit and maximize corridor 
connectivity. 

 TRANSIT – Expand transit service to better serve existing and future residents and employees along South Virginia Street. 

 MIX – Encourage economic development and plan for mixed uses, income, and demographics. 

 DENSIFY – Optimize density on vacant and infill properties and encourage redevelopment opportunities to support transit in 
the corridor. 

 COMPACT – Optimize transit service in the corridor to improve ridership. 

 SHIFT – Transform South Virginia Street to accommodate all users and increase safe, non-auto mobility in the corridor. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
5 



 

 

   

  

  

 
 

 

 

   

  

    

   

     

   

  

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

  

   

 

   

 

  

 

       

     

       

     

  

      

  

  

SVTOD Plan Process 

Figure 1.1 SVTOD Plan Process Timeline 

Existing Plan and Studies 

The study area has been analyzed in several existing studies and future plans may include portions of the study area. Therefore, it is 

important to recognize and coordinate with these plans where appropriate. This approach ensures that this study considers the 

recommendations of previous plans while acknowledging changing conditions in the study area and the evolving relevance of some older 

documents. The Transportation Plans and Studies in Table 1.1 highlights the sections of documents relevant to the South Virginia Street 

Corridor. The two most important plans that influence this plan are the City of Reno’s ReImagine Reno Master Plan, and the Nevada 

Department of Transportation (NDOT) Safety Management Plan (SMP). 

In 2006, to keep up with development patterns, the City of Reno adopted a TOD Plan for South Virginia Street, which changed the zoning 

along South Virginia Street to mixed-use to intensify development to support transit. Following the Great Recession, the market conditions 

forced the City of Reno to rethink a variety of past planning efforts, leading to the adoption of the 2017 ReImagine Reno Master Plan.  As 

a result of the ReImagine Reno Plan, the 2006 South Virginia Street TOD Plan was removed and the TOD overlay zoning within the study 

area was converted to a zoning designation of Suburban Mixed-Use. In theory, the zoning change was meant to keep a transit supportive, 

mixed-use zoning without needing an overlay with unlimited density and commercial floor area. However, the zoning change did remove 

the minimum density and commercial floor area requirements, essentially opening the door for a broader range of uses including less 

transit supportive, low intense development. Master Planned Developments in south Reno remained as part of the ReImagine Reno Plan, 

which have seen higher density (both single and multi-family units) completed or under construction the past several years in Damonte 

Ranch. The first mixed-use type of development was recently announced for Damonte Ranch, which is identified as ‘Downtown Damonte”. 

The proposed mixed-use district will include retail, shops, restaurants, office space, and residential apartments 

(www.downtowndamonte.com). The Pioneer Parkway Master Planned Community south of Downtown Damonte on the future extension 

of Damonte Ranch Parkway has not yet started construction but would allow for additional high density or mixed-use development. 

The NDOT is responsible for maintaining more than sixty percent of the study area right of way from Patriot Boulevard to the Mount Rose 

Highway. As part of improving safety along this stretch of the corridor, NDOT has been performing a Safety Management Plan (SMP) to 

analyze the traffic safety for all road users. This plan includes identifying low, medium, and high-priority implementable improvements 

that can be applied to this section of the South Virginia Street corridor. Many of the proposed improvements support the efforts of this 

study and the SMP has been working in tandem with this SVTOD plan. Although the NDOT SMP follows the timeline of this study it is a 

separate study and only applies to a portion of the South Virginia Street, however, the proposed improvements suggested from this study 

will be supported by this document. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
6 

www.downtowndamonte.com


Table 1.1: Transportation Plans and Studies 

7
South Virginia Street TOD 

Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

Virginia Street Corridor 

Investment Plan 

RTC The Virginia Street Corridor Investment Plan identifies near term 

and long-term transportation improvements that will be made 

along Virginia Street from North McCarran Boulevard to Mount 

Rose Highway. 

Final April 

2014 

Transit Oriented Development in 

the Truckee Meadows: Bridging 

the Gap Between Planning and 

Implementation 

TMRPA The primary purpose of this paper is to assist stakeholders in the 

Truckee Meadows in bridging the gap between TOD planning and 

implementation. 

Revised July 

2009 

2050 Regional Transportation 

Plan 

RTC The 2050 RTP identifies the long-term transportation investments 

that will be made in the urbanized area of Reno, Sparks, and 

Washoe County, Nevada, also known as the Truckee Meadows. 

Update In-

Process 

City of Reno Bicycle and 

Pedestrian Master Plan 

RTC Guides bicycle an pedestrian facilities in the City of Reno. Final June 

2017 

South Meadows Multimodal 

Transportation Study 

RTC The purpose of this multimodal study is to identify needs and 

long-term transportation improvements for regional roads and 

intersections in the South Meadows area. 

Final April 

2020 

Mt. Rose Corridor Plan NDOT This Corridor Plan is focused on potential improvement concepts 

between Veterans Parkway and Douglas Fir Drive. 

Final April 

2022 

South Virginia Street Transit 

Oriented Development Corridor 

Plan 

City of 

Reno 

The South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) 

Corridor Plan is divided into two sections: the Corridor Plan and 

Station Area Plans. 

Draft 

November 

2006 

Reno Sparks ADA Right-of-Way 

Transition Plan 

RTC The Reno Sparks ADA Right-of-Way Transition Plan provides a 

roadmap to making pedestrian facilities accessible to persons with 

disabilities. 

Draft 2019 

Transportation Optimization 

Plan Strategies (TOPS) 

RTC The Transit Optimization Plan Strategies (TOPS) serves as the basis 

for changes to RTC’s public transportation services over the next 

five years (FY23-FY27). 

Final July 

2022 

South Virginia Street Safety 

Management Plan (SMP) 

NDOT A Safety Management Plan (SMP) is a transportation analysis that 

focuses on traffic safety for all road users. 

Final 

Anticipated 

(September 

2024) 

Land Use and Area Plans 

Document Owner Description Status 

Truckee Meadows Regional 

Plan 

TMRPA In relation to the South Virginia Street TOD Study, this plan 

addresses infill development scenarios along the study corridor. 

Final 2019 

ReImagine Reno: City of Reno 

Master Plan 

City of 

Reno 

Final 

November 

2021 

Envision Washoe 2040 Washoe 

County 

Adopted 

January 2024 

The Master Plan reflects the ideas, values, and desires of the 

community, aligning these with a range of plans, policies, and 

initiatives in place or underway in both Reno and the wider region. 

The Master Plan is used to determine the most desirable location 

of each type of development. The plan has policies and maps 

designed to define development suitability and conserve natural 

resources. 

 

 

   

  

  

 

    

 

     

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

   

  

  

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

   

 

 

  

 

    

  

 

  

  

 

 

  

  

  

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 



Ozone Advance Path Forward U.S. EPA Updated April 

2016 

Complete Streets Master Plan RTC July 2016 

 

 

   

  

    

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

    
  

   
   

    
  

     

 

 

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) establishes 

health-based National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) for 

six criteria pollutants including ozone. Ozone concentrations are 

strongly linked to population, employment, and on-road vehicle 

miles traveled (VMT). Long-term initiatives focused on shaping 

land use development patterns and the built environment. 

The purpose of the Complete Streets Master Plan is to identify the 

Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County’s (RTC) 

long range strategy for complete street treatments in the Reno-

Sparks metropolitan area. 

Study Area 

The study corridor extends 5.5 miles along South Virginia Street from the existing Virginia Line BRT route’s current terminus at the 
Meadowood Mall transfer station to Mount Rose Highway (SR 431). This section of road will be identified as the ‘study area’ throughout 
this document. A majority of the study area has already been developed (S. McCarran Blvd. to S. Meadows Pkwy), but the area south of 
South Meadows Parkway remains mostly vacant with several high-density projects being planned specifically around Damonte Ranch 
Parkway. Therefore, an alternate study route has been included as the Damonte Ranch Parkway Alternative which appears to be the one 
area adjacent to South Virginia Street providing TOD level development. The study area follows these corridors and includes any property 
located within a walking distance of 1/2 mile as depicted in Figure 1.2. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
8 



 

 

   

  

 

 Figure 1.2: Study Area 

South Virginia Street TOD 
9 



 

 

   

  

  

    
 

      

        

 
 

  

 

      

   

       

  

 

Plan Corridor 

Vacant tract at South McCarran Boulevard and South Virginia Street 

South Virginia Street Study Area: Extends from half a mile north of Meadowood Mall in the north to half a mile south of the Summit 

Shopping District in the south. Specifically, the ±5.5 mile corridor includes South Virginia Street from Meadowood Mall Way to Mount 

Rose Highway (SR 431). 

Damonte Ranch Parkway across from Downtown Damonte 

Damonte Ranch Parkway Alternative: An alternative corridor that was analyzed is adjacent to many existing multi-family developments, 

includes Damonte Ranch Parkway from South Virginia Street to the terminus of Damonte Ranch Parkway. It also includes the future 

extension of Damonte Ranch Parkway which will connect to Geiger Grade Road and continues west along the Mount Rose Highway (SR 

431) to the Summit Mall. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
10 



 

 

   

  

    

  Figure 1.3: Roadway Sections 

South Virginia Street TOD 
11 



 

 

   

  

  

        

      

 

 

 
  

   

        

          

    

   

 

 

 
   

  

   

  

 

 

Corridor Roadway Sections 

The study area and the existing cross sections are generally identified in Figure 1.3 above showing the approximate location for each 

section and Figure 1.4 thru 1.7 below display the details of each typical section. 

Figure 1.4: Typical Section A 

Section A of South Virginia Street extends from Meadowood Mall Way to East Patriot Boulevard and includes four travel lanes and center 

median/turn lane within a relatively confined corridor. Speed limits range from 35-45 miles per hour (MPH). Section A is within the City 

of Reno owned right of way and has been generally controlled by development standards as developments/redevelopments have 

occurred over the years on a property-by-property basis, leading to a variety of sidewalk widths, absence of curb and gutter in older areas, 

and inconsistent bike lanes/multimodal facilities. Despite the inconsistencies, sidewalk and bike lanes are generally provided throughout 

this section. The right of way width for Section A is generally 90-125 feet, making it the most restrictive within the study area corridors. 

Figure 1.5: Typical Section B 

Section B extends from E. Patriot Blvd. to Mt. Rose Hwy. (SR 431) and is owned by NDOT. Speed limits range from 45 to 55 miles per 

hour. The right of way is less restricted in this section and ranges from 120 to 220 feet in width. This portion of the study area is still largely 

reflective of the rural highway that South Virginia Street was constructed to serve as. There are several long stretches of the corridor that 

lack curb and gutter, sidewalks, and bicycle lanes. However, unlike in Section A, in sections that do have bicycle and pedestrian facilities 

South Virginia Street TOD 
12 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 
   

 

  

 

 

 
   

   

     

 

 

 

 

there is more consistency where recent developments have all met the same design standards. Improvements to Section B are being 

proposed as part of NDOT's SMP. 

Figure 1.6: Typical Section C 

Section C follows Damonte Ranch Parkway as an alternative to the South Virginia Street corridor. This section is a six-lane road with 

landscape medians and includes sidewalks and bike lanes. Speed limits range from 35 to 45 miles per hour and have been designed to 

accommodate the development from Damonte Ranch at full buildout. It is anticipated that the future extension of Damonte Ranch 

Parkway will narrow to four travel lanes from its current terminus to Geiger Grade Road (SR 341). 

Figure 1.7: Typical Section D 

Section D includes Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) from the roundabout at Veterans Parkway/Geiger Grade (SR 341) to Herz Boulevard at 

the Summit Mall. The right of way within this section is also owned by NDOT and provides ample room for any configuration. Currently, 

the speeds along this section range from 45-55 mph and there is a separated ten-foot wide multi use path on the northside from South 

Virginia Street to Wedge Parkway. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
13 



Active Transportation Facilities 

The study area is a developing corridor with several gaps in the bike and pedestrian network. Currently, sidewalks exist on only 52% of 

the corridors with gaps on both sides of the street as shown in Figure 1.8. Additionally, bike facilities shown in Figure 1.9 are entirely 

absent on approximately 18% of the corridors, although there is at least one bike lane or path on one side of the street in some areas. 

This inconsistency results in unreliable conditions for biking along South Virginia Street. Furthermore, the existing bike lanes vary in size 

and markings throughout the study area, potentially not accurately reflecting the intended facility standards. 

 

 

   

  

  
     

      

   

   

  

 

 

      

    

   

 

  

   Figure 1.8: Existing Sidewalk Figure 1.9: Existing Bike Facilities 

The Damonte Ranch Parkway Alternative has been mostly developed within Planned Unit Developments (PUDs) which required bike 

and pedestrian connectivity and has consistent sidewalk, pedestrian paths, and bike lanes throughout the community. Bike facilities are 

also provided along the majority of the South Virginia Street corridor with an existing bike trail along Mount Rose Highway. These facilities 

connect to a larger network found throughout the residential development to the east and will help connect pedestrians to areas outside 

of the study area. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
14 



 

 

   

  

  

 
  

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

    

  
 

  
 

   
 

    
 

  
 
 
 

  
 
 

   
 

   

  

 
 

 

 
  

 

Bus Facilities 

Existing bus services are limited 
in South Reno south of 
Meadowood Mall. In fact, 
Route 56 is the only fixed route 
service in this portion of the 
study area (see Figure 1.10). 
Route 56 is limited to half-hour 
frequencies during peak times 
on the weekdays and has 
limited service after 8:00pm and 
during the weekends. The only 
bus stops along Route 56 within 
the study area are sparse with a 
bus stop near the intersection 
of Double R Parkway and 
Damonte Ranch Parkway and 
two along South Virginia Street. 

Another very limited service 
along the Study Area is 
provided by the Carson City 
regional route which runs the 
entirety of the South Virginia 
Street corridor from the 
Meadowood Mall transfer 
station to the Summit Mall. 
However, this is a commuter 
route connecting riders from 
Reno to Carson City and only 
runs during the weekdays in the 
mornings and evenings. This 
limits service along a majority 
of the study area for existing 
businesses and residents reliant 
on transit. FlexRIDE service is 
available and provides on-
demand service from the 
neighborhoods to the east to 
portions of the study area 
including the Summit Mall, and 
areas around Damonte Ranch 
Parkway and South Meadows 
Parkway. 

15 

Figure 1.10: Existing Transit Facilities 

South Virginia Street TOD 



Safety 
Five-year crash data between the years 2016-2020 were analyzed along the South Virginia Street corridor and included over 1,000 crash 

reports that resulted in Equivalent Property Damage (EPD). As shown in Figure 1.11, crashes along South Virginia Street are concentrated 

at the intersections and areas with higher traffic counts. The map below, Figure 1.12, shows recorded pedestrian crashes including vehicle 

vs. pedestrian and vehicle vs. bicyclist. The data shows these concentrations are mostly occurring between existing signalized intersections 

and in areas that allow full movement with high-speed limits and six lanes of traffic. More importantly, these areas are also located in 

areas where multimodal infrastructure, including sidewalks and bike lanes are limited or do not exist. 

 

 

   

  

 
    

  

     

    

    

  

  
 

   

      

   

    Figure 1.7: Collision Heatmap Figure 1.8: Crash TypesFigure 1.11: Collision Heatmap Figure 1.12: Crash Types 

Existing Demographics 
The demographics within the study area will help to identify potential ridership and will be important to consider as riders in areas of high 

population, and low to moderate median income tend to be the population to most likely benefit from BRT. Analyzing the 2020 US Census 

data has developed a clear understanding of the existing population within the study area as shown below in Figure 1.13. The Census 

block groups which are located within the study area show a clear correlation between housing type and population, with the block 

South Virginia Street TOD 
16 



 

 

   

  

    

  

 

       

  

  

 

 

   

   

 
     

   

     

groups with the most population, having the most multi-family or high-density housing. Therefore, a better indication for possible 

dependent riders should be looking at areas with existing multi-family or high-density housing within the study area. 

Figure 1.14 shows distribution of household income within the study area. The areas with higher proportions of low-income households 

are generally considered to be those more likely to be reliant on public transit and should be considered priority locations for future 

transit stops. Regardless of income or age, areas of high population density are also notable when targeting choice riders as a certain 

percentage of the population will use transit, especially when it comes to BRT since this service is supposed to be an equal or more 

attractive option to personal modes of transportation. Finally, when planning for the future needs, areas of vacant land should also be 

considered as these areas will influence the study area demographics in the future and could lead to an increase need for transit services 

in an area that is currently not identified. 

Figure 1.13: Population by Block Group Figure 1.14: Median Income by Block Group 

After considering the existing conditions, the following chapter will discuss the opportunities in the study area including an overview of 

the existing land use, development patterns, and future growth scenarios and how they influence transit services in the study area. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
17 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
   

CHAPTER 2 
OPPORTUNITIES IN THE CORRIDOR 

South Virginia Street TOD 
18 



 

 

   

  

  
 

 

  

 

   

 

    

 

  

   

       

     

 

 

    

     

   

     

    

  

 

 
   

 

Historic Trends 
Over the past three decades and post the completion of Interstate 580 (I-580), the stretch of South Virginia Street extending from S. 

McCarran Boulevard to the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) has transformed from a rural highway linking Reno and Carson City into a 

suburban arterial connecting nodes of development. This transition has resulted in a diverse mix of land uses and outdated infrastructure 

that has not kept up with the regional changes. Over the past thirty years, from 1990 to 2020, the population in the study area exploded 

from a population of ±1,500 to ±43,000 people (U.S. Census). 

Before the 1990s, the study area was predominantly rural with limited development, including some low-density large lot residential areas 

under Washoe County jurisdiction, as well as large ranch lands. By the year 2000, construction was underway to extend U.S. 395 (now 

known as I-580), and planned developments in the South Meadows area were in progress, with the planning of Damonte Ranch also 

beginning. These initiatives allowed most commuters to bypass South Virginia Street and marked a shift from rural to typical suburban 

development serving the surrounding neighborhoods. During the following decade, from 2000 and 2010, major master planned 

developments such as Damonte Ranch, Curti Ranch, and Carmella Ranch began to take shape. South Reno continues to transform into a 

highly desirable community within the region, which has led to an increase in development along the Study Area. 

Development within the study area experienced a slowdown following the Great Recession but has since rebounded significantly over the 

past decade. The resurgence in development in south Reno has been driven largely by the region's expanding employment opportunities, 

particularly from Tesla and the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center (TRIC). Over the past decade, there has been a significant increase in 

development and population growth in south Reno. This shift has led to higher-density development patterns, characterized by smaller 

lots and an increase in single-family attached and multifamily residences. This trend is ongoing in South Reno. Figure 2.1 below illustrates 

the comparison of population and development patterns within the project study area over the past 30 years. 

Figure 2.1 Historic Growth Pattern 

South Virginia Street TOD 
19 



 

 

   

  

  
 

   

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

Planning for Future Growth 
According to the Truckee Meadows Regional Planning Agency (TMRPA), the region is projected to add 100,000 residents and over 68,000 

jobs between 2022 and 2042. This growth will significantly impact the study area. As Reno's growth continues, collaborative planning 

efforts led by TMRPA and the City of Reno prioritize sustainable development practices, as outlined in the ReImagine Reno guiding 

principles. These include responsible and well-managed growth (Guiding Principle 2), vibrant neighborhoods and centers through infill 

and mixed-use development (Guiding Principle 4), and enhanced multimodal connectivity (Guiding Principle 5). The upcoming sections 

will delve into city and regional planning strategies, particularly their focus on promoting Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) along 

South Virginia Street. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
20 



 

 

   

  

   

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

    

   

 

 

  

 

 

 

   

 

  

  

  

 

   

  

  

    

  

   

  

Current Land Inventory 

The current land inventory can 

help plan for future growth as well 

as identify what the current needs 

may be. Typically, BRT is favorable 

to mixed-use land designations, 

which promote high density 

development including multi-

family, single family attached 

housing, large commercial 

developments, employment 

centers, and street networks with 

robust multimodal transportation 

infrastructure. Within this study 

area, identifying vacant land or 

areas for future redevelopment 

can help to determine future 

growth areas and the types of 

development that can be 

expected. The current land 

inventory map, shown in Figure 

2.2, identifies vacant land and 

redevelopment opportunities. 

By analyzing the master plan and 

zoning designations set by the 

city or county, the influences on 

the vacant land within the study 

area will help to understand the 

types of existing developments 

and identify future developments 

within the study area that may be 

favorable to BRT. Within the study 

area, these include the City of 

Reno master plan and zoning 

designations throughout the 

majority of the study area to the 

west and portions that are under 

Washoe County jurisdiction to the 

east. 

21 

Figure 2.2 Current Land Inventory Map 

South Virginia Street TOD 



 

 

   

  

      
       

 

 

      

 

 
   

   
    

 

  

 
   

 
 

   
  

  
 

   
 

 

 
   

  
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  

  

Master Plan and ReImagine Reno Area Specific Policies 

The ReImagine Reno Master Plan identifies South Virginia Street as a suburban corridor. Suburban corridors encourage a mix of higher-

density residential, retail, commercial, and other employment- and service-oriented uses. While the corridor is currently suburban, the 

Area Specific Policies outlined below support its gradual transition to an urban corridor. These policies provide flexibility in development 

patterns and intensity in the near term, encouraging nodes of higher-intensity development which is more supportive of transit. This 

approach aims to enhance access to services, expand housing options, and support expanded transit service over time. 

Employment Areas 
Employment areas support live-work opportunities for the local workforce and reduce the need for cross-town trips. The connectivity 
between these employment areas and the study area can influence the demand for additional housing within the study area and increase 
transit ridership. There are two Employment Areas adjacent to the study area (blue shaded areas in Figure 2.3). 

Figure 2.3: Employment Areas 

Regional Centers 

Meadowood Mall in the north is identified as a 
Regional Center (Figure 2.3). Regional centers serve 
residents of the City of Reno and the broader region, 
as well as visitors from across the state and country. 
Regional centers include a diverse mix of uses of 
high-density office, residential, hotel, entertainment 
(including gaming), retail, and supporting uses. Are 
well-served by the region’s multimodal 
transportation network and serve as a hub for service 
to other destinations within the region. 

Outer Neighborhoods 
The study area provides connectivity for several 
surrounding outer neighborhoods as outlined in 
ReImagine Reno Master Plan. Outer neighborhoods 
include the city’s older suburban areas, generally 
outside or adjacent to the McCarran loop, as well as 
newer suburban developments. They are generally 
comprised of single-family detached homes and have 
a cohesive character. While new development 
continues to occur in some outer neighborhoods, 
others are in need of revitalization and reinvestment. 
Significant capacity for future residential 
development lies in outer neighborhoods. 
Opportunities to encourage a broader mix of 
housing types and supporting non-residential uses 
and amenities in outer neighborhoods are encouraged 
in order to meet changing community needs. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
22 



Community/Neighborhood Centers 

The study area includes several community/ 
neighborhood centers (Figure 2.4). In the study 
area these include: 

• Meadowood Mall 
• South Meadows Parkway 
• Downtown Damonte 
• Summit Mall 

Community/neighborhood centers provide 
opportunities for supporting services (e.g. 
restaurants, cafes, small retail stores, medical 
offices) intended to meet the needs of the 
immediate neighborhood. Walkable, small-
scale neighborhood centers exist in several of 
the city’s central neighborhoods, while larger 
community centers such as those anchored by 
a grocery store or other large retail tenant may 
include a vertical or horizontal mix of 
residential and/or office uses in addition to 
retail/commercial uses. 

Community/neighborhood centers should 
have a cohesive and pedestrian-oriented 
design that features public/community 
gathering spaces and enhanced pedestrian/ 
bicycle connections to the surrounding 
neighborhoods. The design principles that 
follow (see Figure 2.5) provide general 
guidance to support the revitalization of 
existing centers, and can inform the design of 
new centers. The identified centers within the 
study area (Meadowood Mall, South Meadows 
Parkway, Downtown Damonte, and the Summit 
Mall), have large parking areas that have the 
potential for revitalization and added density 
and a greater mix of uses that would also help 
encourage transit-oriented development 
according to the Reimagine Reno Master Plan. 

Figure 2.4: Community Centers 

 

 

   

  

 

   
   

 

  
  
  
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 

 

   
    

  
 

     
  

  
 
 

  
  

 
   

 
 

  
   

  

South Virginia Street TOD 
23 



 

 

   

  

   

 

  

Figure 2.5 Potential Existing Site Improvements for Community/Neighborhood Centers 

South Virginia Street TOD 
24 



 

 

   

  

 
      

   

  

       

    

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

   

    

   

 

 

   

 

  

Zoning 
The majority of the master plan designations within the study area are classified as Suburban Mixed Use (SMU), which promotes a mixed-

use zoning designation that is favorable to BRT services. The underlying zoning typically associated with this master plan designation 

allows commercial or high-density residential development. The map below shows the distribution of the zoning districts throughout the 

study area. Figure 2.6 shows the three major City of Reno zoning designations within the study area are Mixed-Use Urban (MU), Mixed-

Use Suburban (MS), and Planned Unit Development (PUD). While the MU zoning designation is traditionally most favorable to BRT, 

the SMU designation, which has no minimum density requirement, may not inherently encourage high-density development but still has 

design standards which support multimodal transportation. The PUD zoning is unique as it refers to a specific planned community with 

varying development standards throughout the study area, some of which may promote design elements favorable transit. 

Each Planned Unit Development (PUD) is unique and typically 

has different development standards than those found in the Figure 2.6 Study Area Zoning Designations 
City of Reno development code. The three PUDs within the study 

area—Double Diamond PUD, Damonte Ranch PUD, and 

Pioneer Parkway PUD—have specific development standards 

detailed in their respective PUD Handbooks. These generally 

allow for high-density development but, like the SMU zoning 

designation, may lack minimum density standards to encourage 

consistent high-density development within the study area. 

Importantly, the PUDs encompass the largest areas of vacant 

land within the study area and will significantly influence future 

development in the southern part of the area. Predicting future 

development patterns is challenging due to the wide range of 

potential densities. According to ReImagine Reno, the SMU 

master plan designation does not require a minimum density, 

though it encourages concentrated nodes of high-intensity 

development. While the SMU designation includes several 

conforming “Base Zoning Districts,” the study area is 

predominantly under one; Mixed-Use Suburban (MS). The 

current zoning map within the study area is shown in Figure 2.7 

for the City of Reno and Figure 2.8 for Washoe County. 

South Virginia Street TOD Mixed-Use Suburban (MS) Design Standards (City of Reno) 
25 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  
  Figure 2.7 City of Reno Zoning 

South Virginia Street TOD 
26 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  Figure 2.8 Washoe County Zoning 

South Virginia Street TOD 
27 



 

 

   

  

  

  

 

  

 

     

  

  

   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

 
 

  
  
  

 
 

  
  

The MS zoning does not mandate minimum or maximum residential density or floor area ratio (FAR) and has very permissive, sometimes 

non-existent, setback requirements. There is no stated building height limit, though buildings over 55 feet require site review. These 

standards are conducive to transit-oriented development, which typically seeks to maximize allowable density. However, the absence of 

minimum density and FAR requirements poses a challenge when encouraging transit supportive development. This flexibility can lead to 

developments that are less supportive of transit, undermining the goals of transit-supportive land use policies. 

In addition to the MS zoning, the southern end of the Study Area, including Damonte Ranch and its surroundings, falls under Planned 

Unit Development (PUD) zoning. This zoning specifies land uses and standards for various parts of the master-planned community. Similar 

to MS zoning, PUD zoning offers significant flexibility for use standards, allowing for a broad range of uses that may or may not support 

transit. Unlike South Virginia Street, Damonte Ranch is the only node within the study area that has seen higher density development 

concentrated around commercial areas, including the recently announced plans for the Downtown Damonte mixed-use development. 

In summary, the ReImagine Reno Master Plan provides a framework for the study area to evolve into a more urbanized area, focusing on 

node densification and supporting future transit and multimodal connectivity. However, there is a disconnect between the vision of the 

master plan and the current development within the study area, largely due to the broad range of allowable uses under the existing 

zoning regulations. 

In the north along Virgina Street, MU 
zoning encourages and requires transit 
supportive development with a 
minimum density requirement of 0.75 
Floor Area Ratio (FAR) and 18 
dwelling units per acre with no limit 
on the maximum density. 

This zoning is only found within 5% of 
the northern end of the corridor 
around Meadowood Mall. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
28 



 

 

   

  

    
    

   
 

    
 

 

  

Supporting Transit Along Virginia Street 
One of the key challenges in achieving a long-term vision of TOD along South Virginia Street is bridging the gap between land-use policy 
and actual development. Aside from the planned Downtown Damonte area, there is little momentum for developing compact, walkable, 
mixed-use environments along South Virginia Street. To increase mixed-use development, an understanding of not only the policies but 
also external influences such as the private market, private landowners and developers, and the willingness of political jurisdictions to 
encourage changes in development patterns, is necessary. These factors and influences are shown in Figure 2.9 below and have been 
and will continue to be the main drivers of development along South Virginia Street. 

Figure 2.9 TOD Influences 

South Virginia Street TOD 
29 



 

 

   

  

  
 

 

   

   
 

  

   
  

 
   

   

  
  

       
 

   
  

 
  

 

 
 

 

    
 

 

 

  
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

-
-

The Benefits of Transit-Oriented Development 

Reduced Traffic Congestion: Enhanced public transit options like BRT which can significantly 
decrease the reliance on personal vehicles, leading to less congested roads and smoother traffic flow. 

Health and Lifestyle Improvements: Reduced pollution levels and the promotion of more active 
modes of transportation, like walking and biking to transit stops, can contribute to healthier bodies and 
minds in the community. 

Environmental Advantages: Public transit systems are instrumental in reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions and local air pollution, contributing to a cleaner, healthier urban environment. 

Local Economic Growth: Effective transit not only boosts property values and business attractiveness 
but also stimulates broader economic development by better connecting industry to the workforce it 
relies on. 

Increased Social Equity: A well implemented transit system democratizes mobility, offering more 
equitable access to employment, education, and services across all socio economic groups, especially 
when connected with affordable housing efforts. 

Characteristics of Transit-Supportive Development 

A transit system and the built environment it operates in are mutually dependent when it comes to realizing the above benefits. Even the 
highest quality vehicles, stations, and operating systems may not attract a sizable number of riders away from auto-reliance unless the 
surrounding land uses and public infrastructure are thoughtfully designed to support, and benefit from, that transit. 

This means thinking about how we design our neighborhoods – from the placement of buildings to the mix of shops, homes, and places 
of work. Ensuring that station areas have sufficient headcounts to generate rides is only one part of an equation that also involves factors 
like non-auto connectivity, physical orientation of uses, safety, and aesthetic desirability; it's about creating vibrant, attractive areas that 
naturally and safely encourage transit use. Here we will explore the key elements that make up a transit-supportive neighborhood and 
why getting these details right is crucial for the success of future transit service and to help achieve broader regional goals and policies. 

Compact and Focused Development: 
General Compactness: Compact development, as opposed to very low-density development, supports transit systems by efficiently 
utilizing land. This approach creates walkable, interconnected neighborhoods that facilitate public transit use. People and destinations are 
the life’s blood of transit ridership, and compact design means more individuals and potential destinations per acre of land. 

Focused Intensity Near Stations: An outcome to the criteria of compactness is that station areas should emerge as pulse points of activity 
and development density. Because BRT systems do not make stops between established station areas, adjacent properties that are not 
within walking distance of a station typically do not contribute much to ridership, either in terms of resident riders or destinations for BRT 
passengers. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
30 



 

 

   

  

 
 

 
    

     
 

 

    
     

  

 
 

 
  

 
  

  

RED Development Located at Virginia Street and Plumb Lane 

Development density is therefore less critical for non-station stretches of the study area (meaning that low-density auto-oriented uses 
interested in locating in the study area should be steered to non-station areas to the extent possible). Pleasing, human-friendly 
architecture, landscaping, and site design near stations is critical for making the required density palatable, and even attractive to residents 
and neighbors. 

Mix of Uses: 
A mix of residential, commercial, and recreational spaces within walking distance of transit stations can enhance livability and encourage 
transit use. Not every station needs to include a full mix of residential and commercial uses, but primary stations that serve as end of the 
line points or multi-modal transportation hubs certainly should. 

Example of Mixed Uses Along Virginia Street (Midtown Reno) 

The mix of uses can be horizontal (side-by-side) or vertical (e.g. apartments above ground-floor commercial), as dictated by the market 
and developer preferences, so long as stations can potentially serve a variety of potential riders and destinations. In addition to smoothing 
out the distribution of passenger demand across stations and day-parts, mixed-use environments can enable shared parking opportunities 
and increase the vibrancy and activity levels around stations (which can also have safety benefits). 

South Virginia Street TOD 
31 



 

 

   

  

   
 

  
 

  
  

 
  

 

   
 
 

   
 

  

 
  

 

Pedestrian and Bicycle-Friendly Design: 
Safe, convenient pedestrian and cycling infrastructure is vital to encourage transit use and support a healthy community. This criterion is 
most important directly adjacent to station areas, physically connecting passengers with the station platforms to and from buildings, trails, 
or parking areas. Design details for those last hundred feet of connections may only appear closer to the actual opening of the system, 
but the wider network of bicycle/pedestrian trails, crosswalks, walkways, lighting, and other elements, both along the route and into the 
city at large, should be planned for and in place well in advance. 

Separated Pedestrian/Bike Path Example Along Carson Street 

Connectivity and Accessibility: 
Easy and direct access to transit stations from a variety of other transportation modes is key for a successful TOD. This criterion overlaps 
with the last in its emphasis on trail networks and other forms of bike/ped connectivity, but crucially also extends to local non-BRT bus 
route connections. Shuttle services to hotels and workplaces located outside the study area should also be cultivated and accommodated 
to and from major stations. Increasingly, station areas will also need to plan for ride-share and other taxi-like travel modes with convenient, 
non-disruptive pick-up/drop-off zones (a category of accommodation that will likely grow to include driverless cars). 

BRT Transit Stop Located along Virginia Street (Virginia Line) 

South Virginia Street TOD 
32 



 

 

   

  

   
 

  
     

 
   

 

 
  

 

  

Affordable Housing: 
Incorporating affordable housing near transit stations is critical to attract and support transit-dependent populations, such as lower to 
middle-income riders. In the Reno-Sparks metro, awareness and appreciation of transit is currently limited to lower and middle-income 
populations that already rely heavily on transit to get around. While increased awareness and acceptance of transit may grow through 
education and promotion efforts, operational feasibility of a South Virginia transit line will depend on the ability of significant numbers of 
transit-users to find housing they can afford near future station areas. Most cities with effective transit service consider transit access and 
housing affordability to be integral components that work together as part of a comprehensive approach to building social equity. 

Steamboat Apartments Located Along Geiger Grade (SR 341) 

South Virginia Street TOD 
33 



 

 

   

  

    
       

  

 

    

 
      

    

 
 

 

   
 

    
 

 

  
  

 
  

 
 

   

 
 

  
 
 
 

 

 

    
 

 
  

  

  
 

   
 

 

   
 

 
   

  

  
 
 

      
 

 

 

 
   

  
 

  
   
  

  
 
 

  
   

       
 

 
  
  

  
 

        
 

   
  

 
       

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
  

 
  

 

 

 
  

Supporting Criteria in the Study Area 
The existing study area was analyzed for transit supportive development and scored using the criteria listed above to help identify areas 

that are currently being served and to identify areas that can be improved. 

Table 2.1: South Virginia Context Relative to Criteria for Transit-Supportive Development 

How transit-supportive? (1=not at all, 2=slightly, 3=moderately, 4=strongly, 5=very strongly) 

Criteria Current Context Trajectory Notes 

Compact & 
Focused 
Development 

1 to 2 – overall 

3 - some multifamily and 
industrial areas (depending on 
station location) 

4 - Downtown Damonte, as 
proposed. 

1 to 3 overall, moderately 
supportive in multifamily 
and industrial/employment 
areas 

Some recent multifamily developments have increased the 
overall corridor density, but none are particularly compact, 
from a typical TOD perspective. There is considerable job 
density overall in the industrial areas east of Sierra Center 
Parkway, though development is not particularly compact. In 
general, patterns of density are more randomly distributed 
than focused at likely station areas 

Mix of Use 

1 to 2 at likely station areas 
overall. 

3 at Meadowood Mall terminus 
area and a few other potential 
station areas (Longley/Huffaker, 
Holcomb Ranch, McCabe) 

(4 at South Meadows Pkwy and 
Double R, but far from likely 
station areas) 

4 at Downtown Damonte, as 
proposed 

1 to 2 over much of the 
remaining study area 

Though the study area includes an impressive mix of uses 
overall, there are few developments near possible station 
areas featuring a real mix of close-by uses. Different uses 
near potential stations like McCabe and Holcomb Ranch 
tend to be separated by arterial or collector roads and 
typically at lower, suburban densities. 

Pedestrian & 
Bicycle-
Friendliness 

1 to 2 overall 
3 to 4 at Downtown 
Damonte 

Nearly the full extent of South Virginia Street is flanked by 
sidewalks in the north with little sidewalks found south of 
Patriot Boulevard, but except in a few areas around new 
developments. Where sidewalks exist these are directly 
adjacent to the busy arterial traffic and interrupted 
frequently by curb cuts. Crosswalk protection and lighting 
are inconsistent. Some bike trails can be found intersecting 
S. Virginia, but not along it. Plans for Downtown Damonte 
reference being ped/bike friendly, but few details are 
available. 

Connectivity 
1 to 2 overall 
2 to 3 at Meadowood Mall 

3 to 4 at Downtown 
Damonte 

Unlike older parts of Reno surrounding the existing Virginia 
St. BRT, South Virginia lacks an urban grid of surrounding 
local streets, instead relying on a loose network of parkways, 
partially connected streets, and private roads built to satisfy 
one or two developments at a time with little regard for 
overall connectivity. Meadowood Mall serves an intermodal 
function for 2-3 local bus lines, providing access to the North 
Virginia BRT. 

Housing 
Affordability 

1 to 2 overall 
1 to 2 within much of the 
study area 

Several Affordable housing projects exist but almost all have 
no access to transit. Establishing reliable transit service along 
S. Virginia Street will help to incentivize more affordable 
housing projects. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
34 



 

 

   

  

     
   

     

    

  

  

 

 

   
  
  
  
  

 

 

 

  

Existing Housing and Employment Densities 

Over the past three decades, the study areas population has boomed from 1,500 to 43,000 (based on US Census tracts located within the 

Study Area). With nearly 700 acres of vacant land still available and more potential for redevelopment in older areas, the study area has 

the potential to absorb much of the regional growth that is anticipated in the Truckee Meadows. How to serve this growth with transit is 

hard to determine since the current zoning standards allow for a broad range of possibilities. High density housing and high employment 

center developments are some of the most important when it comes to supporting transit. 

These developments often: 

• Support a mix of uses 
• Allow for people to work and live within a short distance 
• Decrease reliability on personal vehicles by incorporating multimodal design 
• Have access to a surrounding network of trails/sidewalks, bicycle lanes, and transit services 
• Provide quality service to transit users 

Multi-family Apartments 

Tamarack Casino (High Employment Center) 

South Virginia Street TOD 
35 



 

 

   

  

   
  

 
 

  
  
  
  

 

 

   
 

 
   

 
    

 
      

  

Transit Encouraging Developments 

Developments that encourage transit ridership are those that utilize design elements that support transit and discourage personal vehicle 
use. These developments typically encourage more choice riders. These developments typically: 

• Allow for people to work and live within a short distance 
• Incorporate some multimodal design 
• Have access to a surrounding network of trails/sidewalks, bicycle lanes, and transit services 
• Encourage those who own a personal vehicle to use transit out of convenience rather than necessity 

Transit-Friendly Development along South Virginia Street 

Examples include townhome and condo developments and pedestrian-friendly destination retail centers. Traditional shopping malls favor 
parking and vehicles as the primary mode of travel making it difficult for pedestrians to access. Pedestrian-oriented features include 
placing the buildings outward towards the major arterials reducing the distance for transit and active transportation users to traverse 
improving overall comfort and reducing the sense of scale. 

South Creek Retail Center Townhome/Condo Developments 

South Virginia Street TOD 
36 



 

 

   

  

   
 

  
  
  

 

 
 

 

 
     

   

 

      

 

 

  

Less Transit-Supportive Developments 

These developments typically do not have any elements incorporated in their design to support transit and are more auto oriented. 

• Parking lots dominate the parcels or are large industrial warehouses with minimal employment 
• Typically only support one type of transportation user 
• Not supported by access to a network of trails\sidewalks, bicycle lanes, or transit services 

Non-Transit-Friendly Development along South Virginia Street 

Examples include car/recreational vehicle sales, single-family homes, industrial warehouses, and big box commercial centers. In less transit 
supportive developments parking lots are the prominent feature on the parcel and are barriers to pedestrian and transit-users for their 
first/last mile of travel. 

Industrial Park Car Sales 

South Virginia Street TOD 
37 



Public Outreach Summary 

On June 5, 2023 two public workshops were held in person within the study area to introduce the SVTOD Study to the public. The focus 

of the meeting was to allow citizens to submit comments in person regarding the existing conditions, educate the public on the benefits 

of TOD’s and solicit feedback. An online survey and story map was also advertised for anyone who couldn’t attend. 

The two meetings took place at two locations along the corridor, the Meadowood Mall and the Tamarack Casino. Representatives from 

Wood Rodgers and RTC were there to walk attendees through the materials and encouraged them to comment. In addition to the 

workshop a survey was hosted online for the month of June for anyone who couldn’t attend. A summary of some of the most repeated 

themes include: 

 Strong support to see transit extended south of McCarren Blvd. but no consensus on level of service. 
 Strong support for increase in frequency of arrival times and expanded hours for route 56. 
 Strong support for a cycle track, separated multi-use path, or buffered pedestrian/bicycle path. 
 Strong support for multi-modal improvements, sidewalk, and landscape. 
 Strong support for landscaped median for safety and control of turn movements. 
 Some support for speed reduction. 
 Some support for lane reduction. 
 Some support for bus only lane or prioritizing bus service at traffic lights. 

 

 

   

  

   

 
 

  

  

  

 

     

    

     

  

 

   
   
   
  
   
  
  
   

 

 Public Workshop at Meadowood Mall 

South Virginia Street TOD 
38 



 

 

   

  

    

  

 

       

       

     

     

       

       

 

 

    

     

   

       

     

 

 
            

      

     

    

      

 

 

  

  

  

 

 
 

Overall, the reception from the public was supportive. A majority of the comments about development within the study area were mixed 

with some in support of dense mixed-use development. 

A second round of public outreach occurred during the April 16, 2024 Ward 2 Neighborhood Advisory Board meeting (NAB) along with 

a virtual story map and public feedback component. The materials presented at the NAB meeting included materials discussed in the Land 

Use Technical Memo and Transit Technical Analysis Memo which were in draft form. This included the types of developments that typically 

support transit, elements presented in the ReImagine Reno Master Plan, existing zoning, and discussions on the proposed Transit Focus 

Areas. Information and graphics including the proposed cross sections included in the NDOT South Virginia Street SMP and how they 

supported the efforts of the SVTOD were also presented. The NAB members then provided comments, a summary of their comments 

include: 

 Support of increased transit service along South Virginia Street 

 Support of increased nodes of density at Transit Focus Areas along South Virginia Street 

 Support of incorporating elements of the ReImagine Reno Master Plan 

 Concerns of the level of future transit service and supporting infrastructure (bus shelter types, bus travel lanes, etc.) 

 Concerns with the frequency of service not being frequent enough to encourage choice riders 

Story Maps 
Two story map websites were created to present materials virtually. The first was released in June 2023 in tandem with the public 

workshops, which focused on introducing the SVTOD plan and provide background on the study area and the feasibility of extending the 

Virginia Line Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) service along the South Virginia Street. The second was released in April 2024 which provided an 

update to the plan and included elements discussed in the Land Use Technical Memo and Transit Technical Analysis Memo which were 

presented during the Ward 2 NAB. An opportunity to provide feedback was provided on the second story map, the responses generally 

concluded: 

 Meadowood Mall is the most beneficial Transit Focus Area 

 Development Scenario 3 was the most supported growth scenario 

 Support for dense transit supportive development along South Virginia Street 

Story Map Website 

South Virginia Street TOD 
39 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

CHAPTER 3 
THE FUTURE OF THE CORRIDOR 

South Virginia Street TOD 
40 



 

 

   

  

  
   

 

     

    

  

 

   

   

  

 

 
   

 

  

      
    

 
  

  
 

 
   

 

 

 

 

TOD Opportunities 

A total of 676 acres of vacant land has been identified within the study area, which includes both areas that are planned and not yet 

planned for development. The mixed use zoning designations do not have a maximum density and the two PUDs with the most vacant 

land (Damonte Ranch and Pioneer Parkway) have a maximum residential density of 105 du/ac. The comparison between acres of vacant 

land for the most popular zoning districts is shown below in Figure 3.1. The potential growth within these areas will be difficult to predict. 

However, utilizing proposed development data from the City of Reno, as well as using data associated with future development projections 

conducted by the Truckee Meadows Regional Planning Agency (TMRPA) in the 2019 Regional Plan, there is the potential to anticipate an 

additional increase of over 4,000 residential units, and over 400 acres of nonresidential development that will be added to the study area. 

To help understand the potential growth of the study area it will be important to work closely with landowners, the City of Reno, Washoe 

County, and TMRPA. 

PUD 
76.0% 

Low-Density 
Urban 
0.2% 

Medium-
Density 

Suburban 
2.7% 

Mixed-Use 
Suburban 

18.4% 

Mixed-Use 
Urban 
1.3% 

Public Facilities 
1.1% 

Professional 
Office 
0.3% 

Vacant Land Zoning 

Figure 3.1 Vacant Land Zoning 

Proposed Developments 

The study area, while predominantly suburban, includes a mix of vacant parcels and potential redevelopment sites as identified in Figure 
3.2. Until recently, almost all developments along the inner portions of the study area were commercial – ranging across retail, auto 
dealerships, low-rise office, lodging/casino, and light industrial. More recently over the past five years Reno, like much of the Western U.S. 
experienced a boom in multifamily residential development. Examples of which can now be found along the central portions of the study 
area amid commercial uses. In fact, many of the remaining empty land assemblies and identified redevelopment possibilities include 
medium to high density residential as part of the proposed use plans. Planned developments are primarily concentrated around Damonte 
Ranch. While some planning and design has been discussed much of the acreage has yet to see actual building permits filed and could 
change depending on market conditions. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
41 



 

 

   

  

 

 
   Figure 3.2 TOD Opportunities 

South Virginia Street TOD 
42 



 

 

   

  

 
  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

    

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

Transit Focus Areas 
In support of the ReImagine Reno 

Master Plan which encourages 

increased density along the 

Community/Neighborhood Centers, 

as identified in Chapter 2 

(Meadowood Mall, South Meadows 

Parkway, Downtown Damonte, and 

Summit Mall), the plan also 

encourages this development to 

occur at major intersections within 

the study area, (Longley Lane and 

Damonte Ranch Parkway). The 

SVTOD Study expands on these areas 

identified in the ReImagine Reno 

Master plan and includes the addition 

of two more (McCabe Drive and 

Pioneer Parkway) based on a number 

of other factors including availability 

of vacant land, existing employment, 

existing multi-family developments, 

projected population growth, and 

projected employment growth within 

the study area. Figure 3.3 displays 

the transit focus area locations within 

the study area. 

Figure 3.3 Transit Focus Areas 

South Virginia Street TOD 
43 



 

 

   

  

     
        

        

 

 

      
       

 

 

 

        
   

 

 

  
  

       
         

  

 

 

 

Application of Land Use Tools 
The Transit Focus Areas in Figure 3.3 are intended to be where the main application of the land use tools is encouraged to help stimulate 

and encourage transit supportive development. However, these tools may be applied within any portion of the study area to play a part 

in encouraging transit-supportive elements in a suburban environment. 

Land Use Tools to Increase Transit Supportive Development in the Study Area 

Recapping the Policy Challenges of Reno’s Existing Zoning 
The current Reno Master Plan (2021) encourages alternate forms of transportation as a strategy for incorporating transit-oriented/transit-
supportive development, indicating the City will: 

Prioritize transit-oriented development in regional and employment centers, along urban 
corridors and other locations that are currently served by or are planned to be served by high-
frequency transit service (i.e., peak hour headways of 15 minutes or less) and/or fixed-route 
transit (i.e., bus rapid transit). Continue to encourage transit-supportive development in more 
remote employment centers, suburban corridors, and other locations that are currently served 
by high-frequency transit during peak hours. 

Addressing the challenge of extending transit service into suburban south Reno, requires a multi-faceted approach. Since zoning 
regulations already permit a high degree of density and flexibility but the current development pattern isn't aligning with transit-oriented 
goals, the Land Use Technical Memo provides a land use toolkit that highlights some strategies that the city might consider. By employing 
a combination of these strategies within the transit focus areas, future developments will be more aligned with promoting a transit-
supportive environment even in areas that currently exhibit suburban auto-centric, suburban characteristics. 

Meadowood Mall RTC Transfer Station 

South Virginia Street TOD 
44 



 

 

   

  

  
  

     
  

  
 

  

 
   

  

 

   

 

  
 

 
 

 

  

 

 
  

 
   

  

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

  
       

     

   

 

 
   

  
 

        
   

  
  

 
 
 

  
 

 

  
   

 

  

Toolkit Recommendations 

Tools for promoting transit-supportive development can be grouped into at least four main categories: Land Use, Economic (including 
Incentives and Financing), Public Outreach, and System Related as shown in the TOD Toolkit table found in Appendix B - Table 13 of the 
Land Use Tech Memo.  There are many overlaps and dependencies across the various tools and they are intended to be used in 
combination, leveraging one another towards the goal steering transit-oriented and transit-supportive development. Below is a summary 
of the land use tools: 

Category Tools & Policy Recommendations 

Land Use Planning, Design 
Involve elements of the City of Reno ReImagine Reno Master Plan, 
land use regulations, and approaches to urban design. 

Station Area Plans 

Focused Rezoning or Overlay Zones at Transit Focus Areas 

Balancing Regulation with Incentives 

Economic Tools 
Covers an overlapping set of real estate approaches, funding 
mechanisms, and selective favorable treatments that help to bridge 
economic feasibility gaps for desired projects. 

Infrastructure Improvements 

Public-Private Partnerships & Joint Development 

Affordable and Workforce Housing 

Outreach and Public Relations 
Involves community outreach and engagement, being a cheerleader 
for successful transit supportive development, and educating the 
public on the importance of transit supportive development. 

Community Engagement and Education: 

Engage Developers to Leverage Existing Projects 

Community Support and Advocacy 

System-Related 
Involves the logistics of system operations and the surrounding 
transportation infrastructure. 

Early Express-Only Phase 

Transit Prioritization 

Table 3.1: Land Use Tools Summary 

Transit Focus Area Opportunities 

The Transit Focus Areas identified in Figure 3.3 have been analyzed to highlight the opportunities where the land use tools can be 

applied. Although this may not represent a full list of opportunities this incorporates a list of goals jurisdictions and developers can 

pursue to help support transit within the study area: 

Meadowood Mall 
The Meadowood Mall transit focus area (Figure 3.4) exhibits multiple qualities that indicate the potential for future transit-supportive 
and transit-oriented development. The RTC transfer station is located at the mall which is surrounded by the mixed-use urban zoning. 
The majority of the redevelopment opportunities as shown in the map are located adjacent to Meadowood Mall and along South Virginia 
St at the retail hubs including the mall which may be appropriate for redevelopment. Although it includes a concentration of jobs and are 
popular travel destinations for shoppers, suburban shopping malls like Meadowood Mall, at the northern end of the Study Area are not 
developed with transit service in mind. Although Meadowood is, in fact, the southern terminus of the existing Virginia Street BRT line, that 
station area is within a commercial development dominated by surface parking and auto-oriented interior transportation facilities. 

In the near term, that property may continue to expand its bike and pedestrian amenities and other transit-supportive design 
accommodations, which should help improve its functional role as a potential multimodal hub. Over the longer planning horizon, 
Meadowood is a good candidate for more dramatic redevelopment, following in the path of many aging suburban enclosed malls across 
the country - shifting away from a purely retail destination function to a mix of land uses including residential, scaled-back and more 
neighborhood-serving retail, along with “other” uses and services that could include educational, medical, entertainment or even tech-
oriented employment. 

With a property roughly the same size as the planned Downtown Damonte (nearly 70 acres within the Meadowood Mall Circle), such a 
repurposing, if planned with transit service as an integral component, could make the Meadowood Mall property an excellent source for 
(and beneficiary of) future BRT ridership. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
45 



MEADOWOOD MALL 

 

 

   

  

 

    

  

Figure 3.4 Meadowood Mall Transit Focus Area 

South Virginia Street TOD 
46 



LONGELY LANE 

Figure 3.5 Longley Lane Transit Focus Area 

 

 

   

  

 
       

    
       

     
 

 

  

The Longley Lane transit focus area consists primarily of MS zoning along South Virginia Street and features a large concentration of 
multi-family residential (30 units per acre) housing developments. Additional multi-family housing is under construction within the study 
area and the rest is dominated by a mix of old and new retail. To the east is a mix of medium and low-density housing and farther up 
Longley Lane there is a large industrial zoning. Redevelopment opportunities for TOD exist on smaller lots close to Virginia St. and is 
mostly infill. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
47 



SOUTH MEADOWS PARKWAY 

Figure 3.6 South Meadows Parkway Transit Focus Area 

 

 

   

  

 
     

         
  

    
  

 

  

The predominant zoning along South Virginia Street in this area is MS consisting of largely traditional commercial operators including car 
dealerships, RV sales, public storage, and big box stores. The South Creek Retail Center located at the intersection of South Meadows 
Pkwy and South Virginia St is newer mixed-use development with an enhanced focus on pedestrian access. Redevelopment opportunities 
are available across the street from the South Creek Retail Center and on vacant infill lots. The City limits may be expanded here to increase 
the redevelopment opportunities. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
48 



MCCABE DRIVE 

Figure 3.7 McCabe Drive Transit Focus Area 

 

 

   

  

 
   

   
           

        
    

 

  

The zoning along South Virginia Street is largely MS but this area has the largest available vacant land along South Virginia Street. A 
large vacant lot recommended for TOD exists across from two high density multi-family residential developments, one of which is 
currently under construction. Other older developments exist in this area and Bishop Manogue Catholic High School, located in Washoe 
County is surrounded by less transit supportive car dealerships. Any future transit-supportive projects in this area could enhance the 
transit opportunities and serve the existing transit supportive residential. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
49 



DAMONTE RANCH PARKWAY 

Figure 3.8 Damonte Ranch Parkway Transit Focus Area 

 

 

   

  

 
      

     
          

     
  

    

 

  

The area is primarily MS and PUD zoning to the east supporting a big box retail development with a light industrial business park. These 
large parking lots may eventually be feasible for infill redevelopment, but these opportunities are limited based on the age of the existing 
retail. The TOD opportunities are largely infill lots to the west of South Virginia Street and include opportunities to expand the City Limits 
into Washoe County. The Tamarack Casino is largely reliant on transit for many of its employees and as the area develops additional 
opportunities for expansion and redevelopment around the casino exist. These future developments can take advantage of transit 
supportive development and serve the existing multifamily that exists along Arrowcreek Parkway. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
50 



 

 

   

  

 

   
      

   
 
 
 

 

     
  

 

  
  

 
   

   

 

 
 

Downtown Damonte 

The Downtown Damonte transit focus area (Figure 3.9) falls almost entirely within the Damonte Ranch PUD zoning with small sections of 
public facilities zoning. There are currently no redevelopment opportunities that exist due to the PUD built-out. The most important single 
Study Area planned development, in terms of transit-supportive land use, is Downtown Damonte, the planned mixed-use focal point for 
the broader Damonte Ranch cluster of residential development in south Reno. The developer partnership of Nevada Pacific Development 
Corp. and The Di Loreto Companies describe the project in their site planning materials as “a walkable canvas of dining, housing, office, 
retail, medical, recreational, and commercial opportunities with a target occupancy date of late 2024 to early 2025.” 

That 73-acre project, as proposed, would include up to 900 residential units – almost one quarter of the total residential unit development 
in the larger Damonte Ranch master-planned development. As such, the Downtown Damonte area alone could account for as many future 
added residents as are projected for the entire northern two-fifths of the Study Area, above Foothills Blvd./South Meadows Pkwy. 

In short, Downtown Damonte, despite not being a prototypical pedestrian-focused TOD, has a great deal of promise for being a TOD 
catalyst given its planned future density of housing units, employment, and likely clustering of dining and shopping. While employees of 
the development’s lodging and retail establishments would be possibly transit-dependent, most of the new pool of prospective riders 
would likely include mostly riders-by-choice, given the upscale nature of most of the conceived project components for the site therefore 
requiring a significant increase in awareness and acceptance of mass transit use among the higher wage earners. 

Downtown Damonte Concept Drawing 

South Virginia Street TOD 
51 



DOWNTOWN DAMONTE 

 

 

   

  

 

 

   Figure 3.9 Downtown Damonte Transit Focus Area 

South Virginia Street TOD 
52 



PIONEER PARKWAY 

Figure 3.10 Pioneer Parkway Transit Focus Area 

 

 

   

  

 
   

 

  

    

 

  

The Pioneer Parkway transit focus area is located in the heart of the Pioneer Parkway PUD and consists entirely of the PUD zoning. This 

development was approved in 2008 but has yet to break ground. The connection from the terminus of Damonte Ranch Parkway to the 

Veterans Parkway/Geiger Grade (SR 341)/Mount rose Highway (SR 431) roundabout is anticipated to be completed as part of this 

development. With the potential to add thousands of residential units, this focus area can encourage transit supportive design into the 

future development, including serving the existing affordable housing project located along Gieger Grade (SR 341). 

South Virginia Street TOD 
53 



SUMMIT MALL 

Figure 3.11 Summit Mall Transit Focus Area 

 

 

   

  

 
     

     
      

       
  

 

  

The tentative southern terminus is located within a regional lifestyle retail center known as The Summit Mall which includes 65 stores with 
just over 500,000 square feet of surface-parked retail space representing a concentration of possible employment and the Inova 
Apartment complex that includes a portion of units dedicated to affordable housing. A large industrial employment center to the south 
is currently planned but the more notable opportunities for a future transit supportive development include revitalizing existing centers 
where large parking areas could be converted to vertical parking with additional commercial added. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
54 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
    
   

CHAPTER 4 
CONNECTING SOUTH VIRGINIA STREET 
TRANSPORTATION VISION AND SCENARIOS 

South Virginia Street TOD 
55 



 

 

   

  

    
     

  

 

  

 

  

   

 
 

  

 

  

 

  

  

 

  

  

 

 
      

  

   

 

  

   

 

  

  

  

  

   

     

 

   

 

  

 
 

  

Transit Supportive Land Use 
Transit exists to get people where they want to go, such as home, work, school, a friend’s house, or an appointment. In other words, there 

must be a market for transit to serve. Transit demand is strongly related to six factors: 

 Population and Population Density: Transit relies on having more people in close proximity to service. Higher population density 

makes it possible to provide higher levels of transit service. 

 Socioeconomic Characteristics: People may be more or less likely to use transit based on socioeconomic characteristics. For 

example, households with one or no cars are much more likely to use transit than households with several cars. 

 Jobs and Job Density: Traveling to and from work often accounts for the most frequent type of transit trip. As a result, the location 

and density of jobs is a strong indicator of transit demand and the level of transit service that is possible. 

 Land Use Patterns: In all cities, there is a strong correlation between land use patterns and transit ridership. In areas with denser 

development, mixed-use development, and a good pedestrian environment, transit can be very convenient for more people. 

 Major Activity Centers: Large employers, universities, tourism destinations, and other high-activity areas attract large volumes of 

people and can generate a large number of transit trips. 

 Travel Flows: People use transit to get from one place to another. Major transit lines such as rapid transit services or high 

frequency bus routes are designed to serve trips or corridors with high volumes of travel. 

Of these six factors, population and job density are the most important when it comes to demand for transit and how much service is 

feasible to provide. This is because transit viability hinges on the intensity and distribution of land use. 

Future Development 
Looking to the future, the TMRPA’s 2022 Washoe County Consensus Forecast anticipates the county to grow at a rate of 0.92 percent. 

This would result in an increase in population of 98,299 and an increase in employment totaling 68,000 jobs from 2022 to 2042. 

Considering the range of development that is allowed in the zoning that was discussed earlier, and considering there are nearly 700 acres 

of vacant land with the potential of more through infill and redevelopment, the amount of growth that is absorbed within the study area 

will depend on the type of development that occurs in these areas.  Therefore, the best way to plan for future growth will be through 

analyzing several development scenarios. These scenarios will help to predict the types of population and job growth that the study area 

can anticipate over the next thirty years to help better predict the type of transit that can be supported. 

The following scenarios are based on the Traffic Analysis Zones (TAZ) that intersect the study area.  From the TAZs the forecasted 

population growth and job growth were then projected based on specific scenarios impacting land use changes within the study area. 

This allowed each scenario to project where the population and job growth would occur throughout the study area. In all a total of ninety 

(90) TAZs were analyzed as part of this process. Under each scenario specific population growth rates and job rates were applied to the 

existing TAZ totals based on the opportunity areas identified in Chapter 3 (Figure 3.2). A comparison of the scenarios and change in each 

TAZ group by scenario can be referenced in Appendix B – Land Use Tech Memo. 

It should be noted that these growth scenarios will be used to model future transit routes and the anticipated ridership. While the types 

of development proposed in these scenarios directly impact the population and job growth, the total population and jobs will help to 

determine the type of transit that can serve the study area. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
56 



 

 

   

  

   
       

    

      

 

     

     

      

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

 

 

Future Development Scenarios 2020-2050 
The three potential development scenarios for how the study area will grow over the next three decades utilize current zoning designations 

and vacant land and redevelopment opportunities. Each scenario anticipates how the type of future development can impact the potential 

to add additional population and jobs growth which then affect the types of transit that can be supported in the study area. The projected 

population and job growth in the following scenarios are based on a percentage of the total estimated regional growth forecasted by the 

Truckee Meadows Regional Planning Agency as discussed above. The years 2020-2050 pick up where the last census data leaves off and 

looks at the development pattern of the last thirty years (1990-2020), as analyzed in Chapter 1. How much regional growth is absorbed 

within the study area will depend on the level of density constructed on the vacant and redeveloped land. 

SCENARIO 1 

Scenario 1 anticipates development of vacant 

land/redevelopment under the status quo. Future 

development within vacant land along South Virginia 

Street will continue to be a broad range of uses and 

densities that may or may not support transit. 

Population Increase: 15,000 

Job Growth: 15,000 

Figure 4.1: Development Scenario 1 

South Virginia Street TOD 
57 



 

 

   

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

   

  

 

 

  

 

  

SCENARIO 2 

Scenario 2 anticipates a more active role using the Transit Focus 

Areas discussed in Chapter 3 to help guide transit supportive 

developments along the corridor. Development outside the 

Transit Focus Areas is anticipated to remain a mix of non-transit 

and transit supportive development. This scenario assumes: 

Population Increase: 21,000 

Job Growth: 19,000 

Figure 4.2: Development Scenario 2 

South Virginia Street TOD 
58 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

   

 

  

  

   

 

          

    

  

  

 

  

 

SCENARIO 3 

Scenario 3 anticipates infill transit supportive development 

throughout the South Virginia Corridor with concentrated nodes 

of higher development at the identified Transit Focus Areas in 

Scenario 2. In this scenario development throughout the study 

area is similar to that within the Mixed Use Urban (MU) zoning 

designation, north of the study area. This scenario assumes: 

Population Increase: 32,000 

Job Growth: 30,000 

Figure 4.3: Development Scenario 3 

South Virginia Street TOD 
59 



 

 

   

  

  
  

  

    

   

 

 

    

 

  

 

 
 

     

    

 

Future Transit in the Study Area 
Expanding transit in the study area will depend on how the future growth patterns represent the development scenarios discussed in the 

previous section. Figures 4.1 through 4.3 not only show the types of development based on population growth, but also the estimated 

number of riders per day. The average riders per day is derived from the existing BRT lines currently provided by RTC, the Virginia Line 

and Lincoln Line, which host between 6.5% and 4.5% of the surrounding population. Table 4.1 below compares the relationship between 

the two BRT routes and the projected populations for each development Scenario. 

To determine which transit service would best serve the study area, Figure 4.4 shows the correlation and accompanying thresholds 

between corridor land use characteristics (e.g., population and job densities) and transit service types and treatments. The main takeaway 

from this research is that denser corridors are more supportive of high capacity and more frequent transit service. 

Figure 4.4: Land Use Characteristics vs Transit Service Typology 

Looking at the ridership potential for each development scenario in Table 4.1 and comparing it to appropriate transit in Figure 4.4, it 

provides support that it would be able to support fixed route transit service along South Virginia Street. Although the number of average 

South Virginia Street TOD 
60 



 

 

   

  

  

  

    

 

   

 

 

 

  
  

     

    

  
 
  

     

      

      
     

 
   
  
    
    

 

 

  

      

   

 

  

daily riders based on the current population seems promising, there are many factors that influence ridership beyond population and 

further analysis and modeling should be required prior to proposing any type of transit service. This would be the first step towards 

providing BRT service in the study area as this should be introduced in a phased approach. With the introduction of the FlexRIDE service 

that currently provides on demand service to portions of the study area, as well as Route 56, a fixed route service running along South 

Virginia Steet is the next logical step towards BRT. 

Table 4.1: Projected Transit Ridership 

RTC Route Corridor Population1 
Average Daily 

Riders2 

% of Riders 

Per Pop. 

Lincoln Line 50,700 2,280 4.5% 

Virginia Line 67,300 4,250 6.5% 

Study Area Projected Population 
Ridership 

Potential3 

% of Riders 

Per Pop. 

Existing South Virginia Street Corridor 43,0001 1,290 – 2,150 3-5% 

Development Scenario 14 58,000 1,740 – 2,900 3-5% 

Development Scenario 24 64,000 1,920 – 3,200 3-5% 

Future Growth Scenario 34 75,000 2,400 – 4,000 3-5% 

Notes: 
1. 2020 population of census tracts adjacent to each corridor 
2. 2019 average daily ridership 
3. Forecast potential South Virginia Street ridership based on corridor population 
4. Forecasted 2050+ population based on land use scenarios and level of future infill/redevelopment 

The success of a fixed route service in the study area will depend on serving the most populated areas. A detailed analysis of four (4) 

alternative routes are discussed in detail in Appendix 2 – Transit Technical Memo. Currently the most logical extension would include 

stops at Meadowood Mall in the north, and the Downtown Damonte area in the south. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
61 



 

 

   

  

     
 

  

 

 

 

   
 

     

    

   

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

   

   

   

     

   

Efforts to Support Development Scenarios 
Success of transit in the study area is not only influenced by land use decisions made outside jurisdictional control. The use of right of 

way and context of the roadway corridor will also have an impact on the level of transit that can be supported along South Virginia Street. 

As noted throughout the Plan, NDOT is finalizing its SMP, the recommendations for which, once implemented, could have a profound 

effect on future transit and development. 

Safety Management Plan 

As part of the SVTOD plan improvement considerations were given to recommendations made in the Roadway Safety Audit (RSA) of S. 

Virginia Street from East Patriot Blvd to Mount Rose Highway. Safety improvements will be evaluated for inclusion in the updated Nevada 

Department of Transportation Safety Management Plan as shown in Figure 4.5. The proposed improvements will be incorporated into 

the NDOT right of way in the future to increase safety and plan for transit within the South Virginia Street Corridor shown in Figure 4.6. 

Figure 4.5: SMP Improvements 

Certain elements of the proposed improvements being considered can be included along any portion of the NDOT right-of-way. Since 

the NDOT SMP was being conducted during the same time as the SVTOD plan, RTC and NDOT staff worked closely during this process 

to ensure that efforts being considered. The final preferred alternative for this portion of the corridor will be outline in the NDOT SMP. 

Any element shown in Figure 4.5 above can be mixed and matched throughout the corridor and may be provided in a phased approach. 

Therefore, ongoing coordination between NDOT and RTC to ensure each agency's needs will be met and to preserve right of way for 

future transit enhancements will continue. The addition of bike/ped facilities and improved safety (crosswalks, lighting, reduced speeds, 

etc.) will also go a long way to providing transit-supportive infrastructure. This will influence and encourage additional transit-supportive 

development as is supported in this plan. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
62 



 

 

   

  

 

  

 

 

 

Figure 4.6: SMP Corridor, E. Patriot Blvd to Mount Rose Highway 

South Virginia Street TOD 
63 



 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
    

 

CHAPTER 5 
MOVING SOUTH VIRGINIA STREET FORWARD 
IMPLEMENTATION 

South Virginia Street TOD 
64 



What will the Next 30 Years Bring? 
Over the past three decades, the study area population has boomed from 1,500 to 43,000 (based on US Census tracts located within the 

Study Area). With nearly 700 acres of vacant land still available and more potential for redevelopment in older areas, the study area has 

the ability to absorb much of the regional growth that is anticipated in the Truckee Meadows. Planning now for the future growth will 

allow the infrastructure to support a more multimodal, walkable corridor with higher density development concentrated around transit 

focus areas.  The Mixed  Use Suburban Zoning provides the framework for higher density to support a more robust transit system; however, 

transit supportive development patterns have been slower to take shape. Action items to help encourage transit supportive development 

have been identified in Table 5.1 below. Many of these action items will require ongoing support and continued partnership among the 

agencies with various responsibilities within the study area; both from an implementation perspective as well as working together to find 

opportunities to encourage more sustainable growth patterns. 

Table 5.1: SVTOD Action Plan 

SVTOD ACTION PLAN 

Action Timing Responsibility Implementation Notes 

Land Use 

LU1 Expand City Boundary to include opportunity 

areas into Mixed Use Suburban Zoning 

S City of 

Reno/TMRPA 

Will require a Regional Plan and City 

Master Plan. 

LU2 Expand Mixed Use Urban Zoning F City of Reno Currently ends at Meadowood Mall. 

Transportation 

T1 Analyze Opportunity for a fixed route service 

along S. Virginia Street 

S RTC 

T2 Continue partnership to Implement Safety 

Management Plan recommendations 

S/F NDOT/RTC/City of 

Reno 

T3 Concept design and seek grant fundings for a 

Shared Use Path along S. Virginia Street 

M NDOT/RTC 

T4 Implement a Shared Use Path along S. 

Virginia Street 

L NDOT/RTC 

Investments towards TOD 

I1 Look at vacant and redevelopment parcels for 

opportunity to purchase for future TOD/Bus 

Station 

F RTC/City of Reno Seek grant funding 

I2 Continue to monitor growth and 

development in the corridor 

Annually RTC/City of 

Reno/TMRPA 

TMRPA could potentially create an 

annual report on where 

growth/density changes are 

occurring by corridor identified in 

the Master Plan. This could help 

identify where things stand relative 

to the level of transit service being 

provided. 

I3 Explore public/private partnerships with 

landowners/developers 

F RTC/City of Reno 

 

 

   

  

 
   

    

      

 

  

   

 

  

 

 

  
 

    

 

  

  

 

 

 

  

     

 

  

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   

 

   

 

  

 

 

    

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

   

 
  

   

  

   

Timing: 
S – Short Term (Complete by 2027) 

M – Medium Term (Complete by 2030) 

L – Long Term (Complete by 2050) 

F – Future, No Timeline (As funding/partnering/opportunity is available) 

South Virginia Street TOD 
65 



 

 

   

  

 
  

   

  

 

 

    

 

 

   

 

 

 

    

  

 

       

 

   

 

 

    

 

   

 

  

  

 

  

  

  

  

 

   

    

    

       
 

 

Implementation 

The SVTOD further builds on the framework for improving the South Virginia Street Corridor to accommodate future growth as identified 

in the 2019 Truckee Meadows Regional Plan and the City of Reno ReImagine Master Plan. The SVTOD provides direction on how to 

accomplish a sustainable growth pattern for the South Virginia Street Corridor supported by transit and multimodal options by targeting 

three major categories as outlined in the SVTOD Action Plan (Table 5.1), Land Use, Transportation, and Investment in Transit Oriented 

Development. 

Land Use Strategies: 

 The Study Area has favorable zoning of Mixed Use Suburban to encourage transit supportive development. Expand that Zoning area 

where feasible to try and encourage redevelopment and infill around identified transit focus areas. This includes incorporating some 

of the Washoe County area into City of Reno in order to expand the Mixed Use zoning. 

 The current zoning does allow less intense non-transit supportive uses. Focus efforts on working with the City of Reno to identify 

ways to incentivize or gradually increase development standards for the transit focus areas to encourage higher density uses. 

Transportation Strategies: 

 Continue partnership with NDOT to transform South Virginia Street into a multimodal corridor. Transforming the right of way into a 

complete street will increase land values and encourage more transit supportive development patterns. Adding bike and pedestrian 

amenities as a first step will be a major improvement in the corridor. 

 Providing transit service to currently proposed higher intense developments such Downtown Damonte will provide quick wins and 

show an investment in transit for the Study Area. 

 Continue to increase the level of transit service as growth occurs in the corridor. 

Investment in Transit Oriented Development: 

 Continue to collaborate with the City of Reno, developers, and landowners around transit focus areas to explore opportunities to 

encourage transit supportive development patterns. Identifying infrastructure or financial incentives, providing a funding partnership 

opportunity for increased density, or simply reserving area for future transit amenities are some examples of helping encourage a 

development to do more. 

 Identify opportunity parcels around transit focus areas and explore funding opportunities to acquire the land for a future transit 

supportive development. Explore partnering opportunities with publicly owned parcels, some of which are owned by the Washoe 

County School District. 

 Collaborate with existing underutilized infill site landowners and developers to explore partnerships for redevelopment and 

incorporating transit and multimodal connectivity opportunities. Meadowood Mall parking areas could be a great candidate for a 

future partnership where mixed use higher density housing and vertical parking provide an opportunity to support a mobility hub 

without impacting the existing mall. 

The evolution of South Virginia Street is largely dependent on outside influences and will continue to respond to growth and the private 

market. Planning for and continuing to encourage sustainable growth is essential to ensure this corridor is a testament to the vibrant 

changes shaping our community. It starts with investments in the infrastructure, followed by collaboration and public/private partnerships, 

and continuing to phase in transit to support the future housing and employment opportunities in the corridor. 

South Virginia Street TOD 
66 



 

 

  



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

   

    

    

   

    

     

   

    

    

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

     

  

  

 

 

 

 

   

   

  

 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXISTING CONDITIONS ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

Background .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Study Purpose and Need .......................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Study Area ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Existing Roadway Conditions .................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Existing Traffic Conditions ........................................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Existing Land Use .......................................................................................................................................................................................12 

Existing Demographics ............................................................................................................................................................................17 

Existing Plans and Studies ......................................................................................................................................................................18 

Tables 

Table 1: Transportation Plans and Studies 

Figures 

Figure 1: Study Area 

Figure 2: Influences Along the Corridors 

Figure 3: Roadway 

Figure 4: Existing Sidewalk 

Figure 5: Existing Bike Facilities 

Figure 6: Existing Transit Facilities 

Figure 7: Signalized 

Figure 8: Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) 

Figure 9: Crash Density (2016-2020) 

Figure 10: Pedestrian/Bicyclist/Vehicle (2016-2020) 

Figure 11: Jurisdiction Map 

Figure 12: Master Plan 

Figure 13: Zoning 

Figure 14: Vacant Land 

Figure 15: Age by Block Group 

Figure 16: Median Income by Block Group 

Figure 17: Population by Block Group 

Figure 18: Existing Conditions Executive Summary 

i 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

         

          

        

   

 

  

      

       

      

         

        

     

 

       

          

     

    

          

   

 

 

        

      

    

     

        

        

     

         

     

 

 

       

       

         

        

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

Background 
Virginia Street runs from Red Rock Road in the north valleys to Mount Rose Highway in the south valleys and is 

also considered US 395 Alternative Highway and was the historical north/south connection through Reno up until 

the construction of Interstate-580 (I-580). Virginia Street is famous for the Virginia Street Bridge, the Reno Arch 

and connects the downtown core, University of Nevada Reno, Midtown, and North/South Reno. 

Study Purpose and Need 
Virginia Street within the McCarran Ring (N. McCarran Blvd to S. McCarran Blvd), has been developed as a major 

corridor, complete with multi-modal transportation elements including the Virginia Line Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 

service, The BRT currently runs along Virginia and Center Street with service arriving every ten minutes taking 

passengers from the University of Nevada Reno in the north to the Meadowood Mall in the south. As the area 

continues to grow and additional density is being developed along Virginia Street, there may be a need to expand 

the BRT service to the south. 

South Virginia Street, from S. McCarran Boulevard to the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) has transitioned over the 

last 50 years from a rural highway connecting Reno and Carson City, to a high-density mixed-use corridor. This 

transition is still underway. Resulting in a patchwork of transit elements throughout the S. Virginia Street corridor. 

Identifying the existing conditions within the study area will help to establish opportunities and needs and identify 

how the future extension of the BRT can create a multi-modal, transit‐supportive development pattern that meets 

the growth and development needs of the region. 

Study Area 
The study corridor extends along South Virginia Street from the BRT route’s current terminus at the Meadowood 

Mall transfer station to the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431). A majority of the corridor has already been developed 

(S. McCarran Blvd. to S. Meadows Pkwy) but the area south of Damonte Ranch Parkway remains mostly vacant 

with several high-density projects being planned. Therefore, an alternate study route has been included to see if 

an alternative BRT route, off Virginia Street, could be more successful. This corridor is identified as 

Damonte/Wedge Alternative. The project boundary, or study area, is based on an approximate three-quarter 

mile walking distance from the South Virginia Street and Damonte/Wedge Alternative corridors using existing 

streets. The entire study area includes 6,025 acres. A majority of which is within the City of Reno jurisdiction with 

portions of Unincorporated Washoe County to the west. 

Corridors: 

South Virginia Street: Is bound by Meadowood Mall in the north and the Summit Mall in the south. 

Specifically, the ±5.61 miles are between South McCarran Boulevard to Mount Rose Highway (SR 431). 

Damonte/Wedge Alternative: A circular corridor that is adjacent to many multi-family developments, the RTC 

Park and Ride in the Summit Mall, and the University of Nevada Redfield Campus. The ±6.31 miles including 

1 



 

 

 

 

  

    

      

     

       

          

  

 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

portions of Damonte Ranch Parkway from South Virginia Street to the terminus of Damonte Ranch Parkway. 

Future Damonte Ranch Parkway which includes a connection from Steamboat Parkway to Mount Rose 

Highway/Geiger Grade Road. Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) from Geiger Grade Road to Wedge Parkway; 

Wedge Parkway from SR 431 to Arrowcreek Parkway; and Arrowcreek Parkway from Wedge Parkway to South 

Virginia Street. 

Figure 1: Study Area 

2 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 
 

 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Figure 2: Influences Along the Corridors 

3 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

  

 
 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Existing Roadway Conditions 

Figure 3: Roadway 

4 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

      

     

        

        

     

       

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Cross Sections: 

The South Virginia Street Corridor transitions from a four to six lane street with intermittent sidewalk and bike 

lanes. Generally, the vacant properties along the corridor have a shoulder and drainage ditch where newer 

developments have curb and gutter. Sections A, B, & C identified below, are found throughout the corridor. 

Speeds range from 45 miles per hour to 55 mph. The Damonte/Wedge Alt Corridor is a wider range of street 

sections with six lane roads found along Damonte Ranch Parkway and the Mount Rose Highway, with smaller 

collector streets at Wedge Parkway and Arrowcreek Parkway (Sections C, D, and E). Speeds range from 35 mph 

to 55 mph. 

5 



South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

6 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

      

      

         

      

      

 

 

    

    

     

       

        

 

  

 

 

     

        

        

          

   

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Sidewalk/Pedestrian Path and Bike Facilities: 

The South Virginia Corridor has been developed over many years and under many different land use policies 

resulting in an incomplete pedestrian network. Currently only 52% of the corridor has existing sidewalk on either 

side of the street. Bike facilities area missing completely on about 18% of the corridor with at least one bike lane 

or path existing on at least one side of the street. Resulting in unreliable bike travel along South Virginia Street. 

Furthermore, the existing bike lanes are inconsistent in size and markings throughout the corridor and may not 

be a good representation of an existing facility. 

The Damonte/Wedge Alternative has been mostly developed within Planned Unit Developments (PUD’s) and 

therefore are more well served by consistent existing sidewalk/pedestrian paths with 78% of the corridor with a 

sidewalk/pedestrian path on either side. Bike facilities are also provided on nearly the entire corridor with an 

existing bike trail along Mount Rose Highway, these facilities connect to a larger network found throughout the 

residential development to the east and will help connect pedestrians to areas outside of the study area. 

Figure 4: Existing Sidewalk Figure 5: Existing Bike Facilities 

Bus Facilities: 

Existing bus services are limited south of McCarran Boulevard with Route 56 Serving South Virginia from South 

Meadows Parkway to Damonte Ranch Parkway. This route mainly serves the employment areas to the east of 

South Virginia Street along Double R Boulevard. The Carson City Route runs the entirety of the South Virginia 

Street Corridor from the Park and Ride at the Summit Mall to Meadowood Mall Transfer Station. However, this 

7 



 

 

 

 

  

    

        

       

    

 

 

   

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

is a commuter route connecting riders from Reno to Carson City and only runs during the weekdays in the 

mornings and evenings. Limited bus stops are located along South Virginia Street and one bus stop and the RTC 

Park and Ride is located along the Damonte/Wedge Alternative Corridor. 

Figure 6: Existing Transit Facilities 

8 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

    

        

 

 

 

     

         

 

 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Existing Traffic Conditions 

The study area was analyzed for existing traffic conditions and other road user data. This information is used to 

identify areas where traffic conditions could benefit from BRT and identify potential ridership. 

Signalized Intersections: 

There are fourteen (14) signalized intersections along the South Virginia Street Corridor and 13 located along 

the Damonte/Wedge Alternative with the majority of them located along Damonte Ranch Parkway to the 

west. 

Figure 7: Signalized 

9 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

       

   

        

     

   

 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Signalized intersections are important when considering BRT as they are the biggest influence on travel times 

and are generally associated with higher traffic volumes and higher crash rates. When considering this, one 

important dataset is the annual average daily traffic (AADT), which was obtained from NDOT’s Traffic Records 

Information Access (TRINA) application. The traffic counts mapped over the corridor segments over a 5-year 

period and is summarized in the map below. 

Figure 8: Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) 

10 



 

 

 

 

  

    

        

    

     

       

      

 

 

     

    

     

    

    

  

 

  

  

 

 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

The map shows the segments with the highest traffic along the South Virginia Corridor are located between 

Longley Lane and South Meadows Parkway with AADT volumes above 20,000. The Damonte/Wedge Alt 

Corridor shows the highest AADT count located between South Virginia Street and I-580 with similar counts 

along Damonte Ranch Parkway and Steamboat and the Mount Rose Highway. It is anticipated that the future 

Damonte Ranch Connection will see similar AADT volumes. 

Crash Data: 

Five-year crash data between the years 2016-2020 were analyzed along the corridors and included over one-

thousand crash reports. Crashes along the corridors are concentrated at the intersections and areas with higher 

traffic counts. More importantly when looking at BRT, crashes involving pedestrians should be considered with 

greater importance since identifying multi-modal and transit improvement should help to minimize these. The 

map below shows recorded crashes within a five-year period along the corridor and the recorded pedestrian 

crashes including vehicle vs. pedestrian/bicyclist. 

Figure 10: Pedestrian/Bicyclist/Vehicle (2016-2020) 

Figure 9: Crash Density (2016-2020) 

11 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

      

    

        

   

     

         

 

 

  

  

 

 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Existing Land Use 
Land use is dictated by Master Plan and Zoning designations set by the city or county and determines the types 

of development found within the study area. Knowing these designations will help to understand future 

developments within the study area. Typically, BRT is favorable to mixed use land designations which promote 

high density development and encourage multi-family/attached housing, large commercial developments, and 

employment centers with a robust multi-modal transportation network. Within the study area these include the 

City of Reno Master Plan and Zoning with portions to the west that are under Washoe County jurisdiction. 

Figure 11: Jurisdiction Map 

Figure 12: Master Plan 

12 



 

 

 

 

  

    

   

    

  

   

 

  

   

 

 

   

 

  

    

 

   

  

 

   

  

    

  

       

      

   

     

        

     

       

         

        

           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
  

 

 
 

 

 
  

 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
   

 

     
  

       

 

-

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

ment (I, IC, & ME) 

Mixed Use 
(MU, MS, GC, 

NC, & PO) 

Special 
Purpose (SPD, 
PUD, & RSIC) 

Multi-Family 
(MF14, MF21, 

& MF30) 

Master Plan and Zoning: 

The majority of the Master Plan Study Area Zoning Designations 
designations within the study area 

is Suburban Mixed Use (SMU) 
Parks, Recreation, & Open Space Other 

which promotes a mixed-use Industrail/Employ (OS, PGOS, & PR) (GR, UT-5) 

zoning designation that is Public Facility 

favorable to BRT services. The (PF & PSP) 

underlying zoning typically 
Large Lot 

associated with this master plan Residential 

designation allows commercial or (LDS, LLR-1, & 
LLR2.5) 

high-density residential. The map 

below shows the distribution of Medium Lot 
the zoning districts throughout Residential 

(MDS, HDR, the study area. The three major 
SF-5, & SF-3)

zoning designation within the 

are Small Lot study area Mixed Use Urban 
Residential 

(MU), Mixed Use Suburban (SMU), 
(HDS, LDU, SF-

and Planned Unit Development 11, & SF-8) 

(PUD). While the MU zoning 

designation is traditionally 

favorable to BRT, the SMU 

designation, which has no 

minimum density requirement may not be as favorable to encourage high density development on its own. The 

third, the PUD zoning is unique since it refers to a specific planned community with varying development standards 

throughout the study area. 

Each PUD is unique and typically has different development standards than those found in the standard City of 

Reno Zoning Code. The three PUD’s within the study area include Double Diamond PUD, Damonte Ranch PUD, 

and Pioneer Parkway PUD. The development standards are detailed in the respective PUD Handbooks and 

generally allow high density development within the study area. But like the SMU zoning designation, may not 

have minimum density standards to encourage high density along the corridor. More importantly, the PUD’s are 

the largest area of vacant land within the study area and will largely determine the future development of the 

study area in the south. What the future development looks like may be hard to predict since the density range is 

so large. 

13 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

 
 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Figure 13: Zoning 

14 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

  

  

    

       

  

    

      

  

   

  

       

    

    

    

    

    

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

    
  

  
   

  
  

  
  

   
  

  
   

  
  

  

                    

           

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Vacant Land: 

A total of 940 acres of vacant land has been identified 

within the study area. The mixed use zoning designations 

do not have a maximum density and the two PUD’s with the 

most vacant land (Damonte Ranch and Pioneer Parkway) 

have a maximum residential density of 105 du/ac. The 

potential growth within these areas will be difficult to 

predict. However, utilizing proposed development data 

from the City of Reno, as well as using data associated with 

future development projections conducted by the Truckee 

Meadows Regional Planning Agency Regional (TMRPA) in 

the 2019 Regional Plan, there is the potential to anticipate 

an additional increase of over 4,000 residential units, and 

over 400 acres of nonresidential that will be added to the 

study area over the next 20 years. To help understand the 

potential growth of the study area it will be important to 

communicate with landowners, the City of Reno, Washoe 

County, and TMRPA to better understand and predict the 

potential growth. 

VACANT LAND ZONING (940 
ACRES) 

MDS  (12 MU   (26 
Acres) Acres) 

MS 
(530 Acres) 

PUD 
(372 Acres) 

Approved Tentative Maps in Study Area 

Name 

Dwelling
Units 

Remaining 
Pecetti Ranch Townhomes 79 
Damonte Ranch Village 21 80 
Rancharrah Village 6A 12 
Braesview Custom 23 
The Village at ArrowCreek 124 
Gateway at Galena 361 

Total 679 

Approved PUD's Residential Growth 
Potential in Study Area 

Name Dwelling Units 
South Meadows III 1,000 
Rancharrah 300 
Damonte Ranch 1,500 
Double Diamond 200 
Pioneer Parkway 750 

Total 3,750 

15 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

   

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Figure 14: Vacant Land 

16 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

    

     

     

          

   

  

 

 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Existing Demographics 
The demographics within the study area will help to identify potential ridership and will be important to consider 

as riders in areas of high population, low to mid median income, and between the ages of 18-35 tend to be the 

population to most likely benefit from BRT. Analyzing the 2020 US Census data can help to understand the 

existing population but areas of vacant land should also be considered as these areas will most likely see the 

demographics change in the future. 

Figure 15: Age by Block Group 

Figure 16: Median Income by Block Group 

17 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

      

    

        

        

     

 

   

        

       

      

 

 

 

 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Figure 17: Population by Block Group 

Existing Plans and Studies 
The study area has been analyzed in several existing studies and future plans which may include portions of the 

study corridors. Therefore, it is important to recognize these plans and to coordinate resources where 

appropriate. This process ensures that this study considers the recommendations of previous plans and at the 

same time recognizes changing conditions in the study area and the ensuing changes to the relevance of some 

of these older documents. The Transportation Plans and Studies Table highlights the sections of documents that 

are relevant to the Virginia Street Corridor. 

It should be noted that the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) is currently conducting a Safety 

Management Plan from Mount Rose Highway to Patriot Boulevard that will focus on improving safety along the 

South Virginia Street Corridor. This study will communicate with NDOT Staff to coordinate any efforts to 

collaborate BRT improvements that are identified with this study. 

18 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

  

    

   

  

        

     

       

      

    

    

     

   

   

     

   

   

  

   

 

 

 

   

 

   

 

     

     

   

   

    

    

      

     

     

 

 

       

         

      

   

       

    

    

  

   

     

  

 

  

 

  

  

      

       

    

 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Table 1: Transportation Plans and Studies 

Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

Virginia Street Corridor 

Investment Plan 

RTC The Virginia Street Corridor Investment Plan identifies Final April 

2014 near term and long term transportation improvements 

that will be made along Virginia Street from North 

McCarran Boulevard to Mount Rose Highway. These 

recommended improvements will be included in the 

Regional Transportation Plan 2013-2035 for 

implementation. The study follows a context sensitive 

approach that identifies: 

• Decision-making process 

• Virginia Street context, including geography 

and community values 

• Vision and goals 

• Area needs 

• Investment plan 

Transit Oriented 

Development in the 

Truckee Meadows: Bridging 

the Gap Between Planning 

and Implementation 

TMRPA The primary purpose of this paper is to assist Revised July 

2009 stakeholders in the Truckee Meadows in bridging the 

gap between TOD planning and implementation. 

Accordingly, this paper contains four parts. Part I 

provides a brief macro-scale framework for TOD and 

serves as an introduction to potential policy 

considerations in the Truckee Meadows. Part II 

contains a more focused assessment of the current 

status of Centers and TOD Corridors in the Truckee 

Meadows. 

Building on the introductory framework in Part I and 

summary of current conditions in Part II, the bulk of 

the paper is found in Part III where policy, planning, 

and implementation approaches are considered that 

may better support TOD in the Truckee Meadows. 

Part III describes the current challenges facing 

transit-oriented development in the Truckee 

Meadows and presents a series of innovative 

approaches being employed in various metropolitan 

areas around the country. Part IV concludes this 

paper with a series of approaches for moving 

forward. 

2050 Regional 

Transportation Plan 

RTC The 2050 RTP identifies the long-term transportation 

investments that will be made in the urbanized area of 

Reno, Sparks, and Washoe County, Nevada, also 

19 



South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

 

 

 

 

  

    

  

    

     

      

  

   

  

        

    

    

    

     

     

     

    

    

  

 

  

  

  

       

   

   

   

     

     

  

     

     

    

   

   

  

 

 

 

     

   

    

    

   

   

       

   

     

      

  

     

     

  

 

 

        

   

      

        

        

 

 

20 

Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

known as the Truckee Meadows. The RTP presents 

transit investments such as the Virginia Street RTC 

RAPID project. 

City of Reno Bicycle and 

Pedestrian Master Plan 

RTC The Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan is part of the 

Regional Transpiration Commission’s (RTC) Regional 

Transportation Plan (RTP). The RTP guides 

transportation investments in Reno, Sparks, and part 

of Washoe County over a 20-30 year period. This 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan is the official 

policy document addressing the development of 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities for transportation 

purposes in the Truckee Meadows. 

Final June 

2017 

Bicycle, Pedestrian, & 

Wheelchair Data Collection 

Program Annual Report 

RTC This 2017 Annual Report for the RTC Bicycle, 

Pedestrian, and Wheelchair Data Collection Program 

(“Program”) provides a detailed review of bicycling, 

walking and wheelchair use at key locations 

throughout Reno, Sparks, and Washoe County. This 

ongoing collection of active transportation data 

supplements data for motorized traffic and transit 

ridership data to develop a more complete picture of 

overall travel behavior in our communities. The data 

collection methodology, collection times, and analysis 

factors follow the National Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Documentation Project (NBPDP). 

Final 2017 

South Meadows 

Multimodal Transportation 

Study 

RTC The purpose of this multimodal study is to identify 

needs and long-term transportation improvements 

for regional roads and intersections in the South 

Meadows area. This study focuses on traffic 

operations analysis and capacity improvements, safety 

improvements, pedestrian and bicycle connectivity, 

and transit service needs. The goals of the study are 

the following: 

• Improve roadway safety for all users 

• Plan regional roadway and intersection 

capacity improvements 

• Expand pedestrian and bicycle connectivity 

• Enhance public transportation connectivity 

and travel options 

Final April 

2020 

Mt. Rose Corridor Plan NDOT This Corridor Plan is focused on potential 

improvement concepts between Veterans Parkway 

and Douglas Fir Drive. This segment of highway forms 

a transition from an urban setting on the east to a 

more suburban and rural feel on the west. Mt. Rose 

Final April 

2022 



South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

 

 

 

 

  

    

  

    

      

        

    

 

 

     

      

     

     

       

        

   

     

       

      

 

   

 

  

  

 

      

     

     

      

  

     

     

       

  

     

 

 

 

   

       

     

   

    

    

   

    

    

    

 

  

 

  

 

      

   

      

     

    

   

      

  

 

21 

Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

Highway is a primary travel route from Reno to Incline 

Village and the Lake Tahoe North Shore, resulting in a 

mixture of local commuters and tourists utilizing the 

roadway. 

A critical area facing current and future congestion is 

the segment between S. Virginia Street and the 

Veterans Parkway roundabout. This segment serves as 

a primary connection to a significant residential area, 

as well as to SR 341, which provides access to Virginia 

City. Working closely with the RTC, the study team 

identified needed operational improvements to the 

existing roundabout. The improvement would not 

only enhance the operations of the roundabout, but 

also provide better lane utilization along the west 

approach. 

South Virginia Street Transit 

Oriented Development 

Corridor Plan 

City of 

Reno 

The South Virginia Street Transit Oriented 

Development (TOD) Corridor Plan is divided into two 

sections: the Corridor Plan and Station Area Plans. The 

Corridor Plan describes the boundary, time frame, 

relationship to other plans and identifies policies for 

development within this TOD. The development 

concept, circulation, land use, and zoning that apply 

to the parcels are included in the plan for each station 

area. Development standards and processing 

provisions are included in the Reno Municipal Code. 

Draft 

November 

2006 

Reno Sparks ADA Right-of-

Way Transition Plan 

RTC The Reno Sparks Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan ADA 

Transition Plan of 2011 provides a roadmap to making 

pedestrian facilities accessible to persons with 

disabilities. The plan inventories bicycle and 

pedestrian ADA deficiencies, categorizes the severity 

of those deficiencies, and translates those 

determinations into sets of needs. Virginia Street 

deficiencies identified in the plan’s analysis include 

transit stops, driveways, and sidewalk obstructions 

and deficiencies. 

Draft 2019 

Transportation 

Optimization Plan 

Strategies (TOPS) 

RTC The Transit Optimization Plan Strategies (TOPS) serves 

as the basis for changes to RTC’s public transportation 

services over the next five years (FY23-FY27). It also 

sets out the work plan for RTC’s Public Transportation 

Division during this period. This document analyzes 

the existing public transportation services operated by 

RTC. It also helps determine the merit for potential 

Final July 

2022 



South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

 

 

 

 

  

    

  

    

  

    

 

    

  

 

        

      

    

        

      

        

   

   

  

    

 

  

 

     

      

       

     

    

       

     

     

    

    

     

       

    

  

 

 

   

     

  

 

 

 

  

     

        

  

    

    

    

      

  

     

  

  

 

 

22 

Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

transit routes connecting to or running parallel to the 

Virginia Street Corridor. 

Land Use and Area Plans 

Truckee Meadows Regional 

Plan 

TMRPA The Regional Plan describes the type, location, and 

pattern of growth and development that local 

governments and agencies in the region believe will 

best deliver the multiple aspects of quality of life 

desired by current and future residents of our area. In 

relation to the South Virginia Street TOD Study, this 

plan addresses infill development scenarios along the 

study corridor. 

Final 2019 

ReImagine Reno: City of 

Reno Master Plan 

City of 

Reno 

The ReImagine Reno process was an opportunity to 

assess and explore trends and key issues that would 

influence the City’s future, as well as an opportunity to 

articulate a shared, community-wide vision for the 

future and to explore potential trade-offs associated 

with that vision. The result is a Master Plan that 

provides a road map for the City as it continues to 

grow and evolve. The Master Plan reflects the ideas, 

values, and desires of the community, aligning these 

with a range of plans, policies, and initiatives in place 

or underway in both Reno and the wider region. 

Moving forward, the Master Plan will help guide both 

day-to-day decision-making, short-term actions, and 

longer-term initiatives and strategies to achieve the 

community’s vision. 

This Plan describes existing conditions along the 

Virginia Street corridor as well as recommendations 

and implementation strategies. 

Final 

November 

2021 

Washoe County Master 

Plan 

Washoe 

County 

The Master Plan is used to determine the most 

desirable location of each type of development. The 

plan has policies and maps designed to define 

development suitability and conserve natural 

resources (e.g. protect critical environmental areas, 

define water resources, enhance visual and scenic 

corridors, etc.) It also includes growth forecast as well 

as policies and maps reflecting desires related to land 

uses and transportation. Finally, the Master Plan has 

standards and maps to guide provisions of public 

services and facilities. The public services and facilities 

Final 

November 

2020 



South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

 

 

 

 

  

    

  

    

     

 

   

 

     

    

   

     

   

     

  

    

      

      

   

    

   

    

    

   

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

       

      

   

      

    

  

  

   

  

 

 

 

 

Transportation Plans and Studies 

Document Owner Description Status 

are implemented through the Capital Improvement 

Program. 

Ozone Advance Path 

Forward 

U.S. EPA The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 

establishes health-based National Ambient Air Quality 

Standards (NAAQS) for six criteria pollutants including 

ozone. Ozone concentrations are strongly linked to 

population, employment, and on-road vehicle miles 

traveled (VMT). Growth in these three categories 

increases air pollutant emissions and ozone 

concentrations. Ever since EPA promulgated the 2008 

ozone NAAQS, the Washoe County Health District, Air 

Quality Management Division (AQMD) has been very 

proactive to encourage voluntary initiatives to 

improve air quality and avoid violating the ozone 

standard. Short-term initiatives targeted technology 

(i.e., smog check programs and clean school busses) 

and behavior (i.e., Employee Trip Reduction and Safe 

Routes to School). Long-term initiatives focused on 

shaping land use development patterns and the built 

environment. These initiatives were intended to 

increase transportation choices and reduce the 

impacts of on-road motor vehicles. 

Updated 

April 2016 

Complete Streets Master 

Plan 

RTC The purpose of the Complete Streets Master Plan is to 

identify the Regional Transportation Commission of 

Washoe County’s (RTC) long range strategy for 

complete street treatments in the Reno-Sparks 

metropolitan area. This plan addresses: 

• Safety 

• Traffic flow 

• Connections for all modes of travel 

July 2016 

23 



 

 

 

 

  

    

 
 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Existing Conditions Tech Memo 

Figure 18: Existing Conditions Executive Summary 

24 



 
 

  

 June 7, 2024 



 

 
 

 

  

    

 
   

   
   

   

   
   

   
   

    
   

    
     

   
  

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................................................1 

Plan Purpose.............................................................................................................................................................................1 

Project Goals ............................................................................................................................................................................1 

TOD Guiding Principles ........................................................................................................................................................1 

STUDY AREA............................................................................................................................................2 

Existing Transit in the Corridor..........................................................................................................................................3 

Existing Land Use and Historical Growth.......................................................................................................................4 

Reno’s Projected Growth and Land Use Policy Environment for South Virginia Street ..............................5 

SUPPORTING TRANSIT ALONG SOUTH VIRGINIA STREET ..............................................................11 

Characteristics of Transit-Supportive Development .............................................................................................. 12 

TOD Opportunities for the South Virginia Street Corridor ................................................................................. 15 

How Supportive of Transit are the Current and Expected Patterns of Corridor Development? ........... 18 

Future Development Scenarios ...................................................................................................................................... 20 

Other Factors Influencing Future Transit Demand ................................................................................................. 23 

Land Use Tools to Increase TOD Level Development in the Corridor............................................................. 24 

Tables 

Table 1: South Virginia Context Relative to Criteria for Transit-Supportive Development 

Figures 

Figure 1: Study Area 

Figure 2: Existing Conditions 

Figure 3: Corridor Population 

Figure 4: Suburban Corridor 

Figure 5: Regional Corridor 

Figure 6: Neighborhood Corridor 

Figure 7: Multi-Modal Hubs 

Figure 8: Zoning 

Figure 9: Growth Opportunities 

Figure 10: TAZ Groups and Growth Opportunities 

Figure 11: Users of the Existing Meadowood BRT Platform by Home Location and Wage Quartile, 2023 

Figure 12: Where Industrial Employees Live and Work in the Region 

Figure 13: Key Policy Mix Recommendations by Tentative Station Location 

i 



 

 
 

 

  

    

 

  
               

       
    

              
 

      
      

 
  

  
   
  
  
  

 
  

         
 

 

 
   

 

   

     

  

     

 

     

     

 

    

    

  

 

 
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

   
    

  
 

–

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

INTRODUCTION 

Plan Purpose 
The South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Study’s (South Virginia TOD) purpose is to analyze the 
need for future transit service in the South Virginia Street corridor (Corridor) from Meadowood Mall to Mt. Rose 
Highway based on regional demand, and current and future growth. The South Virginia TOD will also analyze the 
land use planning tools that will encourage a walkable, transit-supportive development pattern that meets the 
growth and development needs of the region. 

The purpose of this Land Use Technical Memorandum is to provide an overview of existing land use, development 
patterns, and future growth scenarios and how they may influence transit service in the Corridor. 

Project Goals 
The goals of the South Virginia TOD are to: RTP 2050 Transit Vision: 
 Promote multimodal transportation within the corridor “Extend Virginia Line RAPID to 
 Create continuity throughout the corridor Mt. Rose Highway Providing 
 Allow for the safe movement of all forms of transportation transit connectivity to 
 Improve transit service employment, education, 
 Encourage mixed use development commercial, and residential 

centers in South Reno would 
This memo focuses on the analysis and recommendations that would 

opportunities, expand travel 
options, and encourage transit 

improve access to 
support the goals related to improving transit service and 
multimodal transportation options. 

TOD Guiding Principles supportive development along 
South Virginia Street.”  WALK /CYCLE- Provide infrastructure improvements along 

Virginia Street to improve the nonmotorized transportation 

networks in the corridor. 

 CONNECT – Locate future transit stops in areas that promote 

walking and cycling to access transit and maximize corridor connectivity. 

 TRANSIT – Expand transit service to better serve existing and future residents and employees along South 

Virginia Street. 

 MIX – Encourage economic development and plan for mixed uses, income, and demographics. 

 DENSIFY – Optimize density on vacant and infill properties and encourage redevelopment opportunities to 

support transit in the corridor. 

 COMPACT – Optimize transit service in the corridor to improve ridership. 

 SHIFT – Transform South Virginia Street to accommodate all users and increase safe non-auto mobility in 

the corridor. 

1 



 

 
 

 

  

    

  
    

       
        
             

       

   

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

STUDY AREA 
The Corridor begins at its intersection with S. McCarran Blvd at Meadowood Mall and extends ±6 miles south to 
the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) intersection. In addition to the Corridor, the Damonte Ranch Parkway and 
Wedge Parkway corridors are also included as these areas have seen recent multifamily development as well as 
current planned developments that have the potential to be transit supportive. The general study area follows 
these corridors and includes a walking distance of up to 1/2-mile as depicted in Figure 1 below. 

Figure 1: Study Area 

2 



 

 
 

 

  

    

    
   

  
  

        
   

  
   

 
    

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Existing Transit in the Corridor 
Transit services in south Reno, south of Meadowood Mall, are very limited compared to services along north 
Virginia, north of Meadowood Mall. RTC operates the existing Virginia Line Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) from the 
University of Nevada, Reno to the Meadowood Mall transfer center on 10-minute service intervals between 6 am 
to 1 am, and there are several connecting routes as well. Looking at South Virginia Street, RTC has limited service 
(Figure 2 below) via Route 56 which deviates from South Virginia Street, and the RTC Regional Connector which 
is focused only on morning and afternoon commuters between Reno and Carson. Route 56 provides 30 min service 
from 5:30 am to 4:30 pm and hourly service from 5 pm to 10 pm. 

South Reno continues to grow and transit service has not expanded to match that growth. It was noted during the 
initial project visioning public workshops that a few of the employers in South Reno struggled to retain employees 
as the lack of timely transit has created conflicts for employee schedules. 

Figure 2: Existing Conditions 

3 



 

 
 

 

  

    

     
     

   
   

  
                  

  

    
  

   
   

     
 

   

               
       

   
   

                 
   

 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Existing Land Use and Historical Growth 
Over the past three decades and post the completion of Interstate 580 (I-580), the stretch of South Virginia Street 
extending from S. McCarran Boulevard to the Mount Rose Highway (SR 431) has transformed from a rural highway 
linking Reno and Carson City into a suburban arterial connecting nodes of development. This transition has 
resulted in a diverse mix of land uses and outdated infrastructure that has not kept up with the regional changes. 
Over the past thirty years, from 1990 to 2020, the population in the study area exploded from a population of 
±1,500 to ±43,000 people (US Census). 

Pre 1990s the corridor was rural with limited development, some low-density large lot residential under Washoe 
County jurisdiction, and large ranch land. By 2000, the extension of US 395 (I-580 today) was under construction, 
planned developments in the South Meadows area were underway with planning of Damonte Ranch in process 
transforming the land use from rural to a typical suburb of Reno. The following decade, between 2000 and 2010 
major master planned developments including Damonte Ranch, Curti Ranch, and Carmella Ranch began to take 
shape, along with the completion of the US 395 extension to Mt Rose Highway, changing South Reno into a very 
desirable community in the region. 

Development hit a slowdown following the Great Recession but has largely recovered over the past decade as 
development in South Reno has exploded. Primarily fueled by the region’s growth in employment from Tesla and 
the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center (TRIC). The surge in development and population over the last decade has 
transitioned development patterns to higher density including smaller lots and an increase in single family 
attached and multifamily, a trend that is continuing for South Reno. Figure 3 below provides a comparison of 
population and development patterns within the project study area over the past 30 years. 

Figure 3: Corridor Population 

4 



 

 
 

 

  

    

    
   

          
           

 
     

             
  

     
   

   
   

   
  

 
 

 

       
 

       
      

                   
  

  
   

         
           

     

  
               

 
                

  

     
       
    
      
    

    
    

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Past Planning Efforts for South Reno 
To keep up with development patterns, the City of Reno adopted a Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Plan for 
South Virginia Street in 2006 which changed the zoning along South Virginia Street to mixed-use to intensify 
development to support transit. Following the Great Recession, the market conditions led the City of Reno to 
rethink a variety of past planning efforts leading to the adoption of the 2017 Reimagine Reno Master Plan. As a 
result of the Reimagine Reno Plan, the 2006 South Virginia Street TOD Plan was removed and the TOD overlay 
zoning along the Corridor was converted to a zoning designation of Suburban Mixed Use.  The zoning change 
was meant to keep, in theory, a transit supportive mixed-use zoning without needing an overlay with unlimited 
density and commercial floor area. However, the zoning change did remove the minimum density and commercial 
floor area requirements essentially opening the door for a broader range of uses including less transit supportive, 
low intense development. Master Planned Developments in South Reno remained as part of the Reimagine Reno 
Plan which have seen higher density (both single and multifamily units) completed or under construction the past 
several years in Damonte Ranch. The first mixed-use type development was recently announced for Damonte 
Ranch identified as ‘Downtown Damonte”. The proposed mixed-use district will include retail, shops, restaurants, 
office space, and residential apartments (www.downtowndamonte.com). The Pioneer Parkway Master Planned 
Community south of Downtown Damonte on the future extension of Damonte Ranch Parkway has not yet started 
and would allow for additional high density or mixed-use development. 

Reno’s Projected Growth and Land Use Policy Environment for South Virginia Street 
Reno is a fast-growing city within the booming Truckee Meadows region of Northern Nevada, which is expected 
to continue to grow as a result of the employment boom triggered by Tesla and TRIC east of Reno and Sparks. 
According to the Truckee Meadows Regional Planning Agency (TMRPA) the region is expected to grow by 100,000 
people and over 80,000 jobs in the next 20 years. That growth will continue to influence the Corridor. As Reno 
continues to grow, regional planning efforts by TMRPA and the City of Reno continue to emphasize more 
sustainable development patterns (Reimagine Reno Guiding Principle 2-Respsonible and Well Managed Growth) 
including focusing on infill and mixed-use development (Reimagine Reno Guiding Principle 4-Vibrant 
Neighborhoods & Centers) and improving multimodal connectivity (Reimagine Reno Guiding Principle 5-Well-
Connected City & Region). City and regional planning efforts are further analyzed in the following sections as 
these documents specifically relate to encouraging TOD for South Virginia Street. 

South Virginia Street’s Role Within the Reimagine Reno Master Plan 
Reno’s master plan, Reimagine Reno identifies regional centers, corridors, and nodes that will support regional 
growth. Within that framework, planning for the Study Area is, wholly or in part, influenced and guided by multiple 
classifications. These classifications each have an Area Specific Policy related to each. The Area Specific Policies 
related to the Study Area: 

 Is identified as a Suburban Corridor providing connectivity to a growing South Reno, 
 Identifies the Meadowood Mall area as a connecting Regional Center, 
 Provides connectivity to four Community/Neighborhood Center hubs, 
 Connects two Industrial/Logistics or Employment Areas, and 
 Connects Outer Neighborhood areas offset from the corridor itself. 

Each of these Area-Specific Policies in the Reimagine Reno Master Plan includes descriptions of desired character, 
along with policy guidance for development density and land use typologies, which are discussed below. 

5 

www.downtowndamonte.com


 

 
 

 

  

    

 
   

     
   

 
   

   
   

   
 
 

  
     
   

  
   

 
    

  
     

    
  

        
  

 
  

    
 

 
    

  
 
 

    
  

 
   

 
 

 
  

 

    

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Figure 4: Suburban Corridor 

Figure 5: Regional Centers 

Area Specific Policy: Suburban Corridor 
The Corridor is identified as a Suburban corridor (Figure 4). 
Suburban corridors are auto oriented in character and serve 
areas generally outside the McCarran loop. A mix of higher 
density residential, retail, commercial, and other 
employment- and service-oriented uses is encouraged along 
suburban corridors. Although the corridor is classified as 
suburban, the Area Specific Policies that follow below 
support the gradual transition of the city’s suburban 
corridors over time by providing a greater degree of 
flexibility in development patterns and intensity in the near-
term (as the S. Virginia Corridor transitions to an urban 
corridor), encourages nodes of higher-intensity 
development to enhance access to services, housing 
options, and support expanded transit service over time. 

Area Specific Policy: Employment Areas 

(Industrial/logistics areas) 
There are two Employment Areas adjacent to the Corridor 
(blue shaded areas in Figure 5). Access to housing options 
and services within close proximity of industrial/logistics 
areas plays an important role in supporting live-work 
opportunities for the local workforce and reducing the 
need for cross-town trips. These employment areas and their 
connectivity to the Corridor may help influence the need for 
additional housing along the corridor, as well as generate 
additional transit ridership. 

Area Specific Policy: Regional Centers 
The north end of the Corridor includes a Regional Center 
(Figure 5). Regional centers serve residents of the City of 
Reno and the broader region, as well as visitors from across 
the state and country. Regional centers include a diverse 
mix of uses, including, but not limited to high-density 
office, residential, hotel, entertainment (including gaming), 
retail, and supporting uses. Regional centers are well-
served by the region’s multi-modal transportation 
network and serve as a hub for service to other destinations 
within the region. 

6 



Figure 6: Neighborhoods 

 

 
 

 

  

    

   
   

   
 
          

   
  

  
  

  
 
   

   
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

   
   

  
 

  
    

    
 

           
   

 
 

  
  

  
  

  
    
         

 
          

 

   

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Figure 7a: Community/Neighborhood Centers 

Area Specific Policy: Community/Neighborhood Centers 
The Corridor includes several community/neighborhood 
centers (Figure 7a). Community/neighborhood centers 
provide opportunities for supporting services (e.g. restaurants, 
cafes, small retail stores, medical offices) intended to meet the 
needs of the immediate neighborhood. Walkable, small-scale 
neighborhood centers exist in several of the city’s central 
neighborhoods, while larger community centers such as those 
anchored by a grocery store or other large retail tenant may 
include a vertical or horizontal mix of residential and/or 
office uses in addition to retail/commercial uses. 
Community/ neighborhood centers should have a cohesive 
and pedestrian-oriented design that features public/ 
community gathering spaces and enhanced 
pedestrian/bicycle connections to surrounding 
neighborhoods. The design principles that follow provide 
general guidance to support the revitalization of existing 
centers (Figure 7b) and the design of new centers. The 
Corridor has several existing centers with large parking areas 
that have the potential for revitalization and added density and 
a greater mix of uses that would also help encourage transit 
supportive development. 

Area Specific Policy: Outer Neighborhoods 
The Corridor provides connectivity for several surrounding 
outer neighborhoods (Figure 6). As outlined in ReImagine 
Reno, Outer neighborhoods include the city’s older suburban 
areas, generally outside or adjacent to the McCarran loop, as 
well as newer suburban developments. They are generally 
comprised of single family detached homes and have a 
cohesive character. While new development continues to occur 
in some outer neighborhoods, others are in need of 
revitalization and reinvestment. Significant capacity for 
future residential development lies in outer neighborhoods. 
Opportunities to encourage a broader mix of housing 
types and supporting non-residential uses and amenities in 
outer neighborhoods are encouraged in order to meet 
changing community needs. 

7 



South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Figure 7b: Revitalization of Existing Centers 

 

 
 

 

  

    

 

  
                 

   
     

  
  

  
 

  
 

    

Land Use Designation and Zoning 

While the southern half of the Study Area includes some residential and related parcels along its western edge 
that lie within unincorporated Washoe County, most of the Study Area – including all parcels adjacent to either 
South Virginia Street - fall within the land-use policy jurisdiction of the City of Reno. Under Reimagine Reno, the 

dominant master plan 
designation for the 
Corridor is Suburban 
Mixed-Use (SMU), with 
zoning to match (MS, 
Mixed-Use Suburban). 

8 



 

 
 

 

  

    

  

   

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Figure 8: Zoning 

9 



 

 
 

 

  

    

      

 
       

 
 

   
 

      
 

 
 

 

   

   

  

 
  

 

      
   

              
     

    
                 

              
  

  

    
     

      
                 

  
         

  

      
    

   
  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

The SMU master plan designation is described as follows in Reimagine Reno: 

Low to moderate density with no minimum density requirements. Concentrated nodes of higher-intensity 
development are encouraged at major intersections, near existing or planned transit stations, and in other 
intensely developed areas of the city. Residential development at a density greater than 30 dwelling units per acre 
is appropriate in these locations. 

Furthermore, the characteristics of the SMU master plan designation encourage transit supportive densities along 
the corridor. Provides an opportunity for a broader mix of uses in a more suburban context while also preserving 
opportunities for higher-density infill and redevelopment in the future (for example, if transit services are 
expanded to serve the area). 

Although the SMU designation includes several conforming “Base Zoning Districts,” the Study Area is 
predominantly under just one, Mixed-Use Suburban (MS). Requirements for development in the MS zone is 
excerpted from the City’s zoning ordinance below: 

18.02.308 MS: Mixed-Use Suburban Zoning 

(a) Purpose The MS district is intended to 
accommodate a mix of low-intensity, auto-
oriented uses, while supporting the gradual 
transition of the city's suburban corridors to a mix 
of higher-density residential, retail, commercial, 
and other employment- and service-oriented 
uses. 

The MS zoning does not require a minimum or maximum for residential density or floor area ratio (FAR) and has 
very permissive setback requirements (if any, in some cases). There is no stated height limit, just a requirement for 
site review for buildings over 55 feet. These standards are conducive to transit-oriented development, which is 
often pushing the limits of allowable density. Unfortunately, the no minimum density and FAR presents a serious 
challenge to the type of zoning that would normally be a principal component of a set of transit-supportive land 
use policies as it allows for developments that are less transit supportive. To date the MS zoning along South 
Virginia Street has produced large scale autocentric developments including car dealerships with large asphalt 
parking areas, large industrial developments, and scattered multifamily projects with little to no multimodal 
connectivity to the surrounding area. 

In addition to the MS zoning, at the south end of the Study Area Damonte Ranch and the surrounding areas have 
their own Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning, which identifies specific land uses and standards for various 
parts of the master planned community. Similar to the MS zoning the PUD provides the upmost flexibility for use 
standards and would allow for a broad range of uses that may or may not be transit supportive. Unlike South 
Virginia Street, the Damonte Ranch area is the only node within the project corridor to date that has seen higher 
density development concentrated around commercial including the Downtown Damonte mixed-use 
development recently announced. 

In conclusion, the Reimagine Reno Master Plan provides a framework for the Corridor to grow into a more 
urbanized corridor with a focus on node densification and supporting future transit and multimodal connectivity. 
The zoning within the corridor is largely where the disconnect occurs between what is being constructed in the 
corridor and the vision of the master plan as a result of a wide spectrum of what is allowed. 

10 



 

 
 

 

  

    

  
               

 
   

   
 

   
     

  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

         
    

       
        

 
  

  
     

        
     

   
               

 
     

  

  
  

   
      

     
   

     

  
        

       

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

SUPPORTING TRANSIT ALONG SOUTH VIRGINIA STREET 
One of the most important challenges to overcome to achieve a long-term vision of TOD along South Virginia 
Street relates to the current disconnect between land-use policy and actual on-the-ground development. 
Specifically, except the planned Downtown Damonte area, there seems to be little momentum favoring the 
development of compact, walkable, mixed-use built environments along South Virginia Street. To increase actual 
mixed-use development understanding the policies are only part of the equation.  Understanding outside 
influences such as the private market, private landowners and developers, and the desire of the political 
jurisdictions to encourage shifts in development patterns have been and will continue to be the main components 
driving certain development along South Virginia Street. 

Private Market Influences: 
Development patterns along South Virginia Street have largely been left 
up to the private market with no standards or requirements for 
enhancing multimodal connectivity or setting minimum standards for 
mixed-use development. This has led to a mix of both transit supportive 
development: Multi-family developments, hotels, some walkable 
commercial (South Creek Crossing); and non-transit supportive 
development: Industrial park, recent increase in car dealerships. This 
creates a challenge for multimodal connectivity and continues to keep 
the corridor more autocentric. It also creates challenges for transit 
planning and understanding how future development patterns will 
continue. Given the broad range of uses allowed under the mixed-use 
zoning it is likely that development patterns will continue to change 
annually based on regional demand. 

Private Landowners/Developers: 
There are over 950 acres of vacant land and redevelopment opportunities as well as several planned projects in 
the Corridor (identified in Figure 9), some of which are planned to be more transit supportive such as the 
“Downtown Damonte” mixed-use development. Transit has not been a priority and is not at the top of mind for 
future development projects. Continuing to explore opportunities for partnerships, incentives, and garnering 
support around a vision for future multimodal connectivity and its benefits will be key to helping shape future 
development patterns. With the current flexibility of mixed-use zoning landowners and developers will lean more 
towards keeping it that way and will not favor new regulations or zoning standards that may limit their options 
for a future project or land sale. 

Political Influences: 
The City of Reno is underway on zoning code updates and City staff has indicated that there has not been a desire 
to make a shift to require minimum density and commercial floor area requirements or limit uses to encourage 
TOD for the Suburban Corridors. It was expressed by City staff that the TOD plan from 2008 was removed as part 
of the 2017 Reimagine Reno Master Plan, and the Suburban Mixed-Use zoning would allow for more TOD without 
minimum standards. There was no indication from City of Reno staff that changes to the zoning code would be 
considered to try and support TOD in the near future within the Corridor. 

NDOT: 
The Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) has a Safety Management Plan underway within the Study 
Area that is exploring future multimodal enhancements within the South Virginia Street right of way, which is 

11 



 

 
 

 

  

    

 
    

      
 

     
     

   
           

    
    

 

   
  

 
               

 

   
  

   
 

 

   
    

 

 
   

   
      

   
     

 

                 
 

  
               

   
   

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

controlled by NDOT. Leveraging the partnership with NDOT to continue to improve multimodal enhancements in 
the corridor will be key to supporting future transit and overall connectivity for bike and pedestrians along South 
Virginia Street. Enhanced roadway improvements may also increase the likelihood of more mixed-use type 
developments. 

Encouraging TOD without the help of more defined zoning tools will require focusing on nodes that have the most 
potential to support transit rather than the entire corridor; education on the benefits of TOD’s, public and private 
partnerships, and leveraging incentives that can help influence development patterns, as well as working with 
agency partners such as NDOT to improve multimodal connectivity through infrastructure projects. These tools 
will allow the existing zoning to remain while influencing more transit supportive developments along the nodes 
identified in the Reimagine Reno Master Plan. 

The benefits of TOD for the corridor: 

Reduced Traffic Congestion: Enhanced public transit options like BRT which can significantly decrease 
the reliance on personal vehicles, leading to less congested roads and smoother traffic flow. 

Health and Lifestyle Improvements: Reduced pollution levels and the promotion of more active 
modes of transportation, like walking and biking to transit stops, can contribute to healthier bodies 
and minds in the community. 

Environmental Advantages: Public transit systems are instrumental in reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions and local air pollution, contributing to a cleaner, healthier urban environment. 

Local Economic Growth: Effective transit not only boosts property values and business attractiveness 
but also stimulates broader economic development by better connecting industry to the workforce it 
relies on. 

Increased Social Equity: A well-implemented transit system democratizes mobility, offering more 
equitable access to employment, education, and services across all socio-economic groups, especially 
when connected with affordable housing efforts. 

The following sections further analyze the characteristics of and opportunities for future transit supportive 
development along South Virginia Street. 

Characteristics of Transit-Supportive Development 
A transit system and the built environment it operates in are mutually dependent when it comes to realizing the 
above benefits. Even the highest quality vehicles, stations, and operating systems may not attract a sizable number 
of riders away from auto-reliance unless the surrounding land uses and public infrastructure are thoughtfully 
designed to support, and benefit from, that transit. 

This means thinking about how we design our neighborhoods – from the placement of buildings to the mix of 
shops, homes, and places of work. Ensuring that station areas have sufficient headcounts to generate rides is only 
one part of an equation that also involves factors like non-auto connectivity, physical orientation of uses, safety, 
and aesthetic desirability; it's about creating vibrant, attractive areas that naturally and safely encourage transit 
use. Here, we will explore the key elements that make up a transit-supportive neighborhood and why getting these 
details right is crucial for the success of future transit service and to help achieve broader regional goals and 
policies. 

12 



 

 
 

 

  

    

  
     
    

 
  

 
  

  
  

    
    

 
  

     
  

  
  

      
  

 
 
 

  
 

   
  

 

       
  

 
 

 
  

      
  

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Compact and Focused Development 
General Compactness: Compact development, as 
opposed to very low-density development, supports 
transit systems by efficiently utilizing land. This approach 
creates walkable, interconnected neighborhoods, 
facilitating public transit use. People and destinations are 
the life’s blood of transit ridership, and compact design 
means more individuals and potential destinations per 
acre of corridor land. 

Focused Intensity Near Stations: An outcome to the 
criteria of compactness is that station areas should 
emerge as pulse points of activity and development 
density. Because BRT systems do not make stops between established station areas, corridor-adjacent properties 
that are not within walking distance of a station typically do not contribute much to ridership, either in terms of 
resident riders or destinations for BRT passengers. 

Development density is therefore less critical for non-station stretches of corridor (meaning that low-density auto-
oriented uses interested in locating on the corridor should be steered to non-station areas to the extent possible). 
Pleasing, human-friendly architecture, landscaping, and site design near stations is critical for making the required 
density palatable, and even attractive to residents and neighbors. 

Mix of Uses 

A mix of residential, commercial, and recreational spaces 
within walking distance of transit stations can enhance 
livability and encourage transit use. Not every station 
needs to include a full mix of residential and commercial 
uses, but primary stations that serve as end of the line 
points or multi-modal transportation hubs certainly 
should. 

The mix of uses can be horizontal (side-by-side) or 
vertical (e.g. apartments above ground-floor 
commercial), as dictated by the market and developer 
preferences, so long as stations can potentially serve a 
variety of potential riders and destinations. In addition to 
smoothing out the distribution of passenger demand across stations and dayparts, mixed-use environments can 
enable shared parking opportunities and increase the vibrancy and activity levels around stations (which can also 
have safety benefits). 

13 



 

 
 

 

  

    

 
    

 
   

 
 
 

   
  

  
      

 
 

   
  

   
     

     
   

  
 

   
 
 
 
 

  

  
            

            
   

   

  
 

 

 
  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Pedestrian and Bicycle-Friendly Design 
Safe, convenient pedestrian and cycling infrastructure 
is vital to encourage transit use and support a healthy 
community. This criterion is most important directly 
adjacent to station areas, physically connecting 
passengers with the station platforms to and from 
buildings, trails, or parking areas. Design details for 
those last hundred feet of connections may only 
appear closer to the actual opening of the system, but 
the wider network of bicycle/pedestrian trails, 
crosswalks, walkways, lighting, and other elements, 
both along the route and into the city at large, should 
be planned for and in place well in advance. 

Connectivity and Accessibility 

Easy and direct access to transit stations from a variety 
of other transportation modes is key for a successful 
TOD. This criterion overlaps with the last in its emphasis 
on trail networks and other forms of bike/ped 
connectivity, but crucially also extends to local non-BRT 
bus route connections. Shuttle services to hotels and 
workplaces located outside the corridor should also be 
cultivated and accommodated to and from major 
stations. Increasingly, station areas will also need to plan 
for ride-share and other taxi-like travel modes with 
convenient, non-disruptive pick-up/drop-off zones (a 
category of accommodation that will likely grow to 
include driverless cars). 

Affordable Housing 

Incorporating affordable housing near transit stations is critical to attract and support transit-dependent 
populations, such as lower to middle-income riders. In the Reno-Sparks metro, awareness and appreciation of 
transit is currently limited to lower and middle-income populations that already rely heavily on transit to get 
around. While increased awareness and acceptance of transit may grow through education and promotion efforts, 
operational feasibility of a South Virginia transit line will depend on the ability of significant numbers of transit-
users to find housing they can afford near future station areas. Most cities with effective transit service consider 
transit access and housing affordability to be integral components that work together as part of a comprehensive 
approach to building social equity. 

14 



 

 
 

 

  

    

      
     

          
            

  
   

   
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

   
  

 
 

 
 
 

 

   
  

 
  

 
 

   
   

   
 
 
 
 

  
  

   

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

TOD Opportunities for the South Virginia Street Corridor 
The Corridor, while predominantly suburban, includes a mix of vacant parcels and potential redevelopment sites. 
Currently, there are over 230 acres of identified vacant land and redevelopment opportunities as well as over 500 
acres of planned developments along the Study Area as identified in Figure 9. Until quite recently, almost all 
developments along the inner 
portions of the corridor were 
commercial – ranging across retail, 
auto dealerships, low-rise office, 
lodging/casino, and light industrial. 
More recently over the past five or so 
years Reno, like much of the Western 
U.S. experienced a boom in 
multifamily residential development. 
Examples of which can now be found 
along the central portions of the 
corridor amid commercial uses. In 
fact, many of the remaining empty 
land assemblies and identified 
redevelopment possibilities include 
medium to high density residential 
as part of the proposed use plans. 
Planned developments are primarily 
concentrated around Damonte 
Ranch. While some planning and 
design has been discussed much of 
the acreage has yet to see actual 
building permits filed and could 
change depending on market 
conditions. 

Some of the more notable 
opportunities for a future TOD 
include revitalizing existing centers 
as outlined in the Reimagine Reno 
Master Plan such as Meadowood 
Mall and Summit Mall where large 
parking areas could be converted to 
vertical parking with additional 
commercial added. There is one TOD 
mixed-use development planned in 
the corridor on Damonte Ranch 
Parkway, Downtown Damonte, which 
could provide a great opportunity to 
work with the developers to better 
serve that planned project in the 

Figure 9 – TOD Opportunities 

15 



 

 
 

 

  

    

      
   

 

        
  

 
 

  
   
   

 
  

 
  

 
       

  

   
  

          
   

   

 
      

   

       
   

   
  

 
  

 
  

  
 

   
   

   
   

 
  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

near future. These notable TOD projects are further described below and would provide a great opportunity to 
create book ends for the corridor to help encourage transit ridership and improve the potential for expanding the 
Virgina BRT line south of Meadowood Mall. 

Opportunities for Infill/Revitalizing an Existing Center – Meadowood Mall 
Though they include a concentration of lower-paying 
jobs and are popular travel destinations for shoppers, 
suburban shopping malls like Meadowood, near the 
northern end of the Study Area are not developed 
with transit service in mind. Although Meadowood is, 
in fact, the southern terminus of the existing Virginia 
Street BRT line, that station area is within a 
commercial development dominated by surface 
parking and auto-oriented interior transportation 
facilities. 

In the near term, that property may continue to 
expand its bike and pedestrian amenities and other 
transit-supportive design accommodations, which 
should help improve its functional role as a potential 
multimodal hub. Over the longer planning horizon, 
Meadowood is a good candidate for more dramatic redevelopment, following in the path of many aging suburban 
enclosed malls across the country - shifting away from a purely retail destination function to a mix of land uses 
including residential, scaled-back and more neighborhood-serving retail, along with “other” uses and services that 
could include educational, medical, entertainment or even tech-oriented employment. 

With a property roughly the same size as the planned Downtown Damonte (nearly 70 acres within the mall 
perimeter road), such a repurposing, if planned with transit service as an integral component, could make the 
Meadowood Mall property an excellent source for (and beneficiary of) future BRT ridership. 

Opportunities for Infill/Revitalizing an Existing Center – Summit Mall 
The tentative southern terminus for the proposed system 
extension would be located within a regional lifestyle retail center 
known as The Summit Mall. The center, largely completed in 
2007, includes some 65 stores with just over 500,000 square feet 
of surface-parked retail space. Adjacent to the retail, a 132-room 
upscale Hyatt Place hotel is under construction, due for 
completion later in 2024. 

Also adjacent, just south and west of the retail center, but within 
easy walking distance to a likely BRT station location, are the 
recently completed (2019) Innova apartments, with 581 units. 
Apartments in the project are primarily market-rate, but 10 
percent of units are reserved as affordable. Alongside the 
apartments is a 100,000-square foot self-storage facility and a 
park-and-ride surface lot serving existing bus system riders. Just 
to the south, across Mount Rose Highway, approximately one 

16 



 

 
 

 

  

    

  
 

   
  

  
   

  
 

                  
     

 

   
  

  
 

  
  

 
    

   
        

 
 

  
 

  
     

     
 

 

  

         
 

  
                

      
   

  

      
    

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

million square feet of industrial space is under construction, with plans for additional future industrial or 
commercial on the remaining land parcels. 

While the development at this node is quite suburban in density and layout, the property does represent a 
concentration of possible transit-dependent employment in the retail and hospitality sectors, with future additions 
of industrial employees likely to be less transit-dependent. In combination with residents from the large apartment 
project, the site has the potential to contribute significant ridership to a future BRT terminus station. 

Because of the relatively recent vintage of retail development on the site, this node may not have as much potential 
in the foreseeable future for aggressive, blank-slate redevelopment as the older Meadowood Mall property 
(previously discussed). That said, the abundance of surface parking could be viewed as land with at least some 
good mixed-use redevelopment potential, including added housing density, over the long term – provided some 
structured parking is added to the mix. 

Planned TOD Development - Downtown 
Damonte 
The most important single Study Area planned 
development, in terms of transit-supportive land use, 
is Downtown Damonte, the planned mixed-use focal 
point for the broader Damonte Ranch cluster of 
residential development in south Reno. The 
developer partnership of Nevada Pacific 
Development Corp. and The Di Loreto Companies 
describe the project in their site planning materials 
as “a walkable canvas of dining, housing, office, retail, 
medical, recreational, and commercial opportunities 
with a target occupancy date of late 2024 to early 
2025.” 

That 73-acre project, as proposed, would include up 
to 900 residential units – almost one quarter of the total residential unit development in the larger Damonte Ranch 
master-planned development. As such, the Downtown Damonte area alone could account for as many future 
added residents as are projected for the entire northern two-fifths of the Study Area, above Foothills Blvd./South 
Meadows Pkwy. 

The mix of uses in Downtown Damonte would be primarily horizontal in nature, as opposed to a vertical mix 
having living units above storefront retail. As of late 2022 site plans, there would be 244,000 square feet of retail 
in the form of specialty shopping, dining, and bars, together with 150,000 square feet of class A office space. 
Adding to this trip-generating potential would be 180 new hotel rooms. 

Adjacent to Downtown Damonte are parcels under development as a technology campus to be either wholly or 
largely occupied by Ridgeline Inc., a financial technology company that is anticipated to have more than 1,500 
employees. That campus is very likely to be surfaced parked and not particularly compact – built to serve a 
workforce primarily expected to commute in by automobile. Nevertheless, it represents a large pool of relatively 
concentrated workers, some of which could be attracted to conveniences of BRT over time. 

In short, Downtown Damonte, despite not being a prototypical pedestrian-focused TOD (or even directly reflecting 
the possibility of a transit station in its planning materials), has a great deal of promise for being a TOD catalyst 

17 



 

 
 

 

  

    

  
 
 
 

      
   

 

           
    

      
  

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

given its planned future density of housing units, employment, and likely clustering of dining and shopping. While 
employees of the development’s lodging and retail establishments would be possibly transit-dependent, most of 
the new pool of prospective riders would likely include mostly riders-by-choice, given the upscale nature of most 
of the conceived project components for the site. As such, converting that planned new density into future transit 
ridership would require a significant increase in awareness and acceptance of mass transit use among the higher 
wage earners likely to make up the majority of new residents, shoppers, diners, hotel guests, and office employees 
in Downtown Damonte. 

How Supportive of Transit are the Current and Expected Patterns of Corridor Development? 
The following table summarizes how the existing and likely future built environment stack up against criteria for 
being transit-supportive. Because most station area locations are still tentative at this point, commentary relative 
to potential individual stations is necessarily limited. 

18 



 

 
 

 

  

    

    

      

    

 
 

 

   
 

    
 

 

   
  

 
  

 

 
   

    
  

     
     

    
    

     
  

 

    
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
   

 

      
     

      
  

    
 

  
 

 

 
   

  
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

         
    

       
    

 
  

     
        

        
    

  
       

    

   
  

  
 

        
 

  
   
      

       
      

  
 

      
   

       
 

  
   

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Table 1: South Virginia Context Relative to Criteria for Transit-Supportive Development 

How transit-supportive? (1=not at all, 2=slightly, 3=moderately, 4=strongly, 5=very strongly) 

Criteria Current Context Trajectory Notes 

Compact & 
Focused 
Development 

1 to 2 – overall 

3 - some multifamily and 
industrial areas (depending 
on station location) 

4 - Downtown Damonte, 
as proposed. 

1 to 3 overall, 
moderately supportive 
in multifamily and 
industrial/employment 
areas 

Some recent multifamily developments have 
increased the overall corridor density, but none are 
particularly compact, from a typical TOD 
perspective. There is considerable job density overall 
in the industrial areas east of Sierra Center Parkway, 
though development is not particularly compact. In 
general, patterns of density are more randomly 
distributed than focused at likely station areas 

Mix of Use 

1 to 2 at likely station areas 
overall. 

3 at Meadowood Mall 
terminus area and a few 
other potential station areas 
(Longly/Huffaker, McCabe, 
South Meadows Pkwy and 
Damonte, but far from likely 
future transit station areas) 

4 at Downtown 
Damonte, as proposed 

1 to 2 over much of the 
remaining corridor 

Though the corridor includes an impressive mix of 
uses overall, there are few developments near 
possible transit focus areas featuring a real mixed-
use type development outside of the proposed 
Downtown Damonte. Most multifamily 
developments are separated by horizontal 
commercial or industrial uses, and generally are not 
well connected to services. 

Pedestrian & 
Bicycle-
Friendliness 

1 to 2 overall 

3 to 4 at Downtown 
Damonte (Potential for 
5 should NDOT 
implement separated 
facilities as identified by 
the South Virginia Street 
Safety Management 
Plan) 

Nearly the full extent of South Virginia Street is 
flanked by sidewalks in the north with little sidewalks 
found south of Patriot Boulevard, but except in a few 
areas around new developments. Where sidewalks 
exists these are directly adjacent to the busy arterial 
traffic and interrupted frequently by curb cuts. 
Crosswalk protection and lighting are inconsistent. 
Some bike trails can be found intersecting S. Virginia, 
but not along it. Plans for Downtown Damonte 
reference being ped/bike friendly, but few details are 
available. NDOT is in the process of a Safet y  
Management Plan for South Virginia, which has 
proposed a separated bike path and larger sidewalks. 

Connectivity 
1 to 2 overall 
2 to 3 at Meadowood Mall 

3 to 4 at Downtown 
Damonte 

Unlike older parts of Reno surrounding the existing 
Virginia St. BRT, South Virginia lacks an urban grid of 
surrounding local streets, instead relying on a loose 
network of parkways, partially connected streets, 
and private roads built to satisfy one or two 
developments at a time with little regard for overall 
connectivity. Meadowood Mall serves an intermodal 
function for 2-3 local bus lines, providing access to 
the North Virginia BRT. 

Housing 
Affordability 

1 to 2 overall 1 to 2 over much of the 
corridor 

Several Affordable housing projects exist but almost 
all have no access to transit. Establishing reliable 
transit service along S. Virginia Street will help to 
incentivize more affordable housing projects. 

19 



 

 
 

 

  

    

   
                

 
 

   
    

    
   

        
 

   
  

         
    

        
       

             
  

     
      

 
 

                 
              

  
 

   

  

  

  

    

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Future Development Scenarios 
Looking to the future, the TMRPA and the 2022 Washoe County Consensus Forecast anticipates the county to 
grow at a rate of 0.92 percent. This would result in an increase in population of 98,299 and an increase in 
employment totaling 38,000 jobs from 2022 to 2042. Considering the range of development that is allowed in the 
zoning that was discussed earlier, and considering there are over 700 acres of vacant and redevelopment 
opportunities, the amount of growth that is absorbed within the study area will depend on the type of 
development that occurs in these areas.  Therefore, the best way to plan for future growth will be through analyzing 
several development scenarios. These scenarios will help to predict the types of population and job growth that 
the corridor can anticipate over the next 20+ years to help better predict the type of transit that can be supported. 

The following scenarios are based on the Traffic Analysis Zones (TAZ) that intersect the study area.  From the TAZ 
the forecasted population growth and job growth were then projected based on specific scenarios impacting land 
use changes within the opportunity areas within the corridor. The data originated from the Truckee Meadows 
Regional Plan projections and were modified based on growth scenarios further described in the Scenario Growth 
Opportunity by TAZ Group Table on page 22. In all a total of ninety (90) TAZ were analyzed as part of this process. 
Under each scenario specific population growth rates and job rates were applied to the existing TAZ totals based 
on the opportunity areas identified in Figure 9. Figure 10 shows groups of TAZs that were analyzed for growth 
potential based on opportunities for future development and an estimated increase in population and 
employment were calculated for each TAZ group based on a certain percent increase in population (Scenario 1 – 
1%, Scenario 2 – 1.5%, and Scenario 3 – 2%).  A comparison of the scenarios and change in each TAZ group by 
scenario are provided on the following pages. 

It should be noted that these growth scenarios will be used to model future transit routes and the anticipated 
ridership. While the types of development proposed in these scenarios directly impact the population and job 
growth, the total population and jobs will help to determine the type of transit that can serve the study area. 

Existing South Virginia Street Corridor 43,0001 

Future Growth Scenario 1 58,000 

Future Growth Scenario 2 64,000 

Future Growth Scenario 3 75,000 

1Based on 2020 US Census Tracts in the study area. 

20 



 

 
 

 

  

    

 

  

    

21 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Figure 10: TAZ Groups and Growth Opportunity Areas 



 

 
 

 

  

    

       

 
     
   

               
  

 
               

 

 
     

    
    

          
 
 

 

 
    
      

     
  

  
      

 

 
 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Table: Scenario Growth Opportunities by TAZ Group 

Scenario 1: Historic Development Patterns 
Scenario 1 anticipates a growth scenario that anticipates historic development patterns along the corridor to 
continue. This assumes that a broad range of intensities and developments ranging from car dealerships which 
are less transit supportive, to multi-family housing which is more transit supportive are anticipated to occur in the 
vacant land. This scenario assumes little to no infill/ redevelopment within the corridor. The population and job 
growth rate is assumed at one percent (1.0%). This results in a net increase of 14,866 people and 14,868 jobs 
throughout the study area. 

Scenario 2: Transit Focus Areas 
Scenario 2 assumes a growth model similar to the one highlighted in the ReImagine Reno Master Plan that allows 
a broad range of intensities to continue along the corridor but provides an increase in mixed-use developments 
that are more transit supportive around the major nodes (Figure 13 – Transit Focus Areas) and a mix of less transit 
supportive developments outside of these areas. The population growth rate under this scenario is approximately 
one and a half percent (1.5%) and a job growth rate of a little more than one percent (1.2%). This results in a net 
increase of 21,005 people and 18,747 jobs throughout the study area. 

Scenario 3: Urban Corridor 
Scenario 3 assumes transit supportive development anticipated along the full corridor, not just at the proposed 
transit focus areas. This assumes a growth model which is typically seen with the Mixed-Use Urban (MU) zoning 
designation which includes a minimum density requirement of 0.75 Floor Area Ratio (FAR) for non-residential 
development and 18 dwelling units per acre (du/acre) for residential. The population and job growth rate under 
this scenario is near two percent (2.0%). This results in a net increase of 26,005 people and 23,433 jobs throughout 
the study area. 

22 



 

 
 

 

  

    

     
     

 
   

  

 
     

    
  

 
    

       
      

  
 
 
 

     
  

 
 

   
    

  
 

  

 
  

     
  

   
   

 

  

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Other Factors Influencing Future Transit Demand 
Two crucial factors affecting potential ridership involve conditions outside the corridor study area. One factor 
relates to the home locations of current users of BRT, as related to income and wage levels, and how that is likely 
to impact future ridership and justify the need for additional affordable housing choices in the corridor. The second 
involves the scattered nature of employment destinations within the Reno market. 

Transit-Dependence and Affordable Housing 

To better understand the critical role which affordable housing may play in a future South Virginia BRT system, 
Placer.ai cellphone geofencing data was utilized to look at the home locations of people who had visited the 
existing Meadowood platform over the past year (and thus presumably used the existing BRT serving downtown). 
That ridership “catchment” area was then overlayed on a map of residents by wage levels at a census block level. 

The map at left shows a dark outline encompassing 
households accounting for the majority (actually, 70 
percent) of platform visits. Note that ridership, by this 
measure, is very closely tied to a census block being 
in the lowest regional quartile for wages. This strongly 
suggests that BRT ridership in Reno is, at least 
currently, heavily driven by transit-dependent 
residents. 

Transit dependence, in turn, is logically tied to a need 
for affordable housing. While there are a few 
affordable multifamily projects along the Corridor, 
housing in the study area is predominantly market 
rate, limiting the number of would-be transit users on 
the corridor. Without additions of affordable housing, 
the ridership dynamic would likely be largely made 
up of lower-income commuters living north of 
Meadowood Mall commuting south to work in the 
industrial employment concentration lying east of the 
interstate or the large retail centers on the corridor 
itself. Adding affordable housing at station areas 
would allow the corridor to more quickly be a source 
of northbound commuters, helping to even out the 
demand for service and add new riders. 

Figure 11: Users of the Existing Meadowood BRT Platform 
by Home Location and Wage Quartile, 2023 

Meadowood 

home catchment 

area for current 

platform visitors 

(70% of visits) 

Bottom Wage Quartile 

Top Wage Quartile 

23 

https://Placer.ai


24 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Scattered Worksite Destinations 
While the corridor itself contains (or is adjacent to) a substantial concentration of industrial and retail jobs, most 
potential workplace destinations for prospective future corridor residents are not accessible via the north or future 
south BRT segments. In the case of industrial, other than the jobs found in or near the northeast reaches of the 
study area, most workplace locations can be found either in south Sparks or far north and east in Storey County. 
Without a strong complement of transfer buses or shuttles, most of this area employment will be unreachable via 
South Virginia BRT.  

Land Use Tools to Increase TOD Level Development in the Corridor 
Recapping the Policy Challenges of Reno’s Existing Zoning 
The ReImagine Reno Master Plan identifies the encouragement of alternate forms of transportation as a strategy 
element include some language on Transit-oriented/transit-supportive development, with just a paragraph under 
5.4C saying that the City should… 

Prioritize transit-oriented development in regional and employment centers, along urban 
corridors and other locations that are currently served by or are planned to be served by high-
frequency transit service (i.e., peak hour headways of 15 minutes or less) and/or fixed-route 
transit (i.e., bus rapid transit). Continue to encourage transit-supportive development in more 
remote employment centers, suburban corridors, and other locations that are currently served 
by high-frequency transit during peak hours. 

Addressing the challenge of extending transit service into suburban south Reno, requires a multi-faceted 
approach. Since zoning regulations already permit a high degree of density and flexibility but the current 
development pattern isn't aligning with transit-oriented goals, the table below highlights some strategies that the 

Figure 12: Where Industrial Employees Live and Work in the Region 



25 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

city might consider. By employing a combination of these strategies, Reno can encourage developments that are 
more aligned with promoting a transit-supportive environment even in areas that currently exhibit auto-centric, 
suburban characteristics. 

Toolkit Recommendations 
Tools for promoting transit-supportive development can be grouped into four main categories: Land Use, 
Economic (including Incentives and Financing), Public Outreach, and System Related as shown in the following 
TOD Toolkit table. There are many overlaps and dependencies across the various tools and they are intended to 
be used in combination, leveraging one another towards the goal steering transit-oriented and transit-supportive 
development.  

Phased Implementation: Consider a phased approach to implementing any of the tools shown below. Particularly 
in the case of overlay, or focused re-zoning, which can be perceived as particularly onerous. Start with less stringent 
requirements and gradually increase them, allowing developers time to adjust and plan for the changes. 

Monitor and Adjust Policies: Continuously monitor the impact of major program elements such as overlay zoning 
and be willing to adjust policies if they are not working as intended. This adaptive approach shows developers 
that the city is responsive to their needs and the market realities. 

TOD Toolkit 

Category Tools & Policy Recommendations Case Study Examples 

Land Use 
Planning, Design 
 
Tools involving 
elements of the 
City’s general 
plan, land use 
regulations, and 
approaches to 
urban design 

Master Plan Designations:  
Municipal land use planning begins with the master plan. 
The City should consider changes to the way South Virginia 
Street is categorized under Reno’s master plan framework. 
Current designations may place too much emphasis on the 
corridor’s suburban nature, downplaying its potential as a 
valuable extension of the existing BRT line to the north. 

Canyon Park (Bothell, WA) – 
General Plan Designation – 
Swift Green Line (BRT) – 
Subarea Plan (part of the city’s 
Comprehensive plan) identifies 
the neighborhood as a 
transportation hub (2020) 
 
2230 North Station (Provo, 
UT) – Station Area Plan – 
Utah Valley Express (BRT) – 
Station Area Plan being 
completed to guide mixed-use 
and commercial development 
near an existing station 
adjacent to a Walmart 
Neighborhood Market (2024) 
 
 
 
Transit Overlay District 
(Vancouver, WA) – 
Rezoning/Overlay Zones – C-
TRAN (BRT) – District 

Station Area Plans:  
One of the most important elements in successful transit 
projects across the country is dedicated individual station 
area planning. This can be a valuable incentive tool for 
developers already contemplating projects around station 
areas that include transit-supportive elements. These plans, 
typically co-sponsored by the transit agency and 
municipality, involve a process that brings community 
stakeholders to the table early to become better informed as 
to the goals and benefits of transit and the key 
characteristics of transit supportive development.  
 
By soliciting input about desires and concerns from station 
area neighbors, the process helps to secure community buy-
in and overcome resistance through transparent problem-
solving. A station area plan may or may not involve an 
actively interested developer or developers but should 



26 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Category Tools & Policy Recommendations Case Study Examples 

always yield important insights into potential development 
challenges and opportunities at the individual site level. 
Timing is important for station area planning. There needs to 
be some degree of certainty, usually in the form of secured 
funding, that the transit systems will be built, with 
preliminary decisions already made relative to system 
elements and platform locations.   

established along BRT lines, 
with Tier 1 density allowed 
adjacent to stations and lower-
intensity Tier 2 density allowed 
elsewhere along the lines 
(2021) 
 
 
Murray Fireclay Area TOD 
(Murray, UT) – Design 
Guidelines – Utah Valley 
Express (BRT) – Streetscape, 
building, and pedestrian 
environment design guidelines 
for TOD areas (2021) 

Focused Rezoning or Overlay Zones: 
Either as complement to, or instead of, individually 
negotiated development agreements (described in the next 
section, Economic Tools), consider implementing overlay 
zones at key arterial intersections intended for station areas. 
These overlays can set more specific guidelines or 
requirements for development in these areas, focusing on 
mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly designs that support BRT 
usage. Any design standards included in overlay regulations 
should be flexible enough to accommodate a range of 
potential development concepts. 
 
While overlay zoning directly addresses the primary 
observed challenge (lack of density, compactness, and land 
use mix around most prospective station areas), it does carry 
some risk of unintended consequences – potentially adding 
levels of bureaucracy and cost that may actually discourage 
station-area development relative to non-station areas. This 
can be countered by offering clear guidelines and assistance 
for developers navigating the overlay zoning regulations, 
including workshops, detailed guides, or dedicated city staff 
to help with compliance questions.  

Balancing Regulation with Incentives:  
Ensure that any additional regulations introduced by overlay 
zoning are balanced with incentives. This could mean 
offering tax abatements, density bonuses, or other financial 
incentives to developers who comply with the overlay 
requirements. The key is to make compliance more attractive 
than avoiding it.  

Urban Design Guidelines:  
As part of a program of zoning overlays, or separately, 
develop urban design guidelines that encourage 
developments to be pedestrian-friendly and easily accessible 
to BRT stations. This should include guidelines on building 
orientation, street frontages, and connectivity.  
 



27 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Category Tools & Policy Recommendations Case Study Examples 

Reimagining Reno speaks to this, but in fairly general terms 
that could be spelled out in more concrete design terms, 
with recommendations and illustrations offering guidance 
on dimensions, materials, and key functional 
interrelationships of urban amenities. 
A set of urban design guidelines for BRT stations was 
developed in 2009 as part of planning efforts for the existing 
northern portion of the system. Those guidelines should be 
revisited and updated in light of the contextual differences 
along South Virginia south of McCarran.  

Economic Tools 
(incl. Incentives 
& Financing) 
 
These tools cover an 
overlapping set of 
real estate 
approaches, funding 
mechanisms, and 
selective favorable 
treatments that help 
to bridge economic 
feasibility gaps for 
desired projects. 

Infrastructure Improvements:  
Public sector investments in infrastructure improvements 
represent one of the most important categories of incentives 
available to make areas around future BRT stations more 
attractive for development. Such spending may come 
directly from the City as part of its capital improvements plan 
or can be channeled through mechanisms like tax-increment 
financing (see below).  
 
Either way, these investments can help encourage desired 
private sector projects by taking on costs that would 
otherwise be borne by the developer. Even for nearby off-
site costs that private developers would not be expected to 
bear, public investments such as streetscaping, pedestrian 
and bicycle pathways, and public spaces, can also improve 
the value of TOD projects while signaling a degree of 
permanence and commitment on the part of the City to 
supporting a high-quality built environment. 

Division Transit Project 
(Portland, OR) – 
Infrastructure Improvements 
– TriMet Frequent Express 
(BRT) – New BRT line 
accompanied by safety 
improvements near stations, 
including new sidewalks, bike 
lanes, and crosswalks (2022) 
 
SR 522 TOD (Kenmore, WA) 
– Public-Private Partnerships 
– City of Kenmore (BAT) – 
The City of Kenmore invested 
$80 million in infrastructure 
improvements along SR 522, 
including BAT lanes to improve 
bus service. The City 
assembled property downtown 
and sold it to developers who 
built 230 new TOD units (2010) 
 
LA County Land Banking 
Pilot (Los Angeles, CA) – 
Land Bank – Metro and LA 
County (new transit stations) 
– Metro and LA County are 
collaborating on a pilot 
program to make surplus land 
acquired for new transit 
facilities available for joint 
development (2022) 
 
Metro TOD Program 
(Portland, OR) – Land Bank – 

Development Agreements:  
These are commonly used as a means of formalizing 
negotiated commitments between the City and developers, 
such as trading public infrastructure investment for 
developer adjustments to site design and land use mix. 
These may range from complex agreements spanning 
multiple topics to relatively simple ones. For a simple 
example, a city might agree to pay for undergrounding of 
electrical utility lines serving a project in exchange for 
dedication of a certain percentage of multifamily units as 
permanently affordable. 
 
A development agreement, and the related memoranda of 
understanding (MOU) represent a more individualized 
means to encourage desired transit-supportive 
characteristics in private developments. Such case-by-case 
negotiating of policies and requirements stands in contrast 



28 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Category Tools & Policy Recommendations Case Study Examples 

to more strictly applied frameworks such as a detailed 
overlay zoning district with pre-specified use and design 
requirements and little room for custom tailoring.  
 
For the highly varied assortment of potential station area 
environments along South Virginia, the development 
agreement approach may be preferred for its flexibility – 
perhaps accompanied by a set of TOD overlay standards that 
are more focused on guidelines and incentives than 
prohibitions or requirements. 

Metro Regional Government 
(all transit stations) – 
Program includes a variety of 
TOD-targeted incentives, 
including Metro acquisition of 
land for future affordable 
housing (1998) 
 
Jamestown Square (Kansas 
City, MO) – Tax Abatement – 
Ride KC (streetcar) – KCATA 
approved bonds for two 
apartment projects near a 
planned streetcar stop to 
provide private developer with 
20-year tax abatement (2022) 
 
North College MAX BRT 
Corridor (Fort Collins, CO) – 
Tax-Increment Financing – 
North College Urban 
Renewal Authority – TIF 
district established in 2004 and 
expires in 2029. Currently has 
$20 million to support 
priorities within the plan area, 
including gap financing for 
affordable housing (2004) 

Public-Private Partnerships & Joint Development: 
Engage with developers through public-private partnerships. 
This approach can ensure that new developments are 
aligned with the city's transit goals. For instance, the city 
might offer land or development rights at a reduced cost in 
exchange for developments that incorporate specific transit-
friendly features. This notion of public-private partnerships 
pervades the TOD landscape around U.S. transit systems. 
 
This approach would typically work hand-in-hand with the 
value incentive of public sector investments in infrastructure 
improvements and would require a custom case-by-case 
approach – finding publicly-funded improvement that 
developers find sufficiently valuable to warrant tweaking 
project elements in a transit-supportive direction. 

Land Banking:  
If feasible, the City or RTC could consider purchasing 
additional key parcels of land along the BRT route, especially 
around planned station areas. This gives the City more 
control over how these areas are developed in the future and 
allows for value capture – allowing the City to realize gains 
in residual land value that can be passed on to developers as 
incentives or used to fund other incentive elements listed 
here.  
 
RTC already controls two large land parcels on the east side 
of South Virginia near where a terminal station facility 
(potentially including a park & ride lot) might be located. The 
City and/or RTC could investigate the potential of acquiring 
a similar land assembly on the Meadowood Mall property 
that would eventually be part of BRT (or intermodal) facilities 
at that terminus. More aggressive assembly could seek to 
control a future TOD development site adjacent to that 
station, setting the stage for a potential joint development 



29 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Category Tools & Policy Recommendations Case Study Examples 

assuming there is market feasibility in support of a full mall 
redevelopment along TOD lines. 

Tax Abatement & Fee Waivers: 
One of the simplest tools for encouraging development is 
allowing the removal of certain taxes or fees that would 
otherwise be paid by the developer for projects that meet 
certain specific TOD criteria. This approach obviously 
requires the City to forego some portion of a currently 
applicable revenue stream. From the developer’s 
perspective, temporary property tax abatement and/or 
waiving of certain impact fees may be more enticing than 
the payment-in-kind structure of targeted public 
infrastructure investments. To the extent that the savings 
freed up by abatement can be spent across a variety of 
development costs (as opposed to earmarked for a specific 
infrastructure item), it can be seen as more flexible money. 
Tax-abatement incentives for desired TOD projects is a 
common element in BRT and LRT policy across many systems 
in the U.S. 

Tax-Increment Financing:  
TIF is one of the most common funding mechanisms used to 
help finance transit-supportive development projects. In 
general, TIF programs identify blighted and under-
performing real estate in the City, produce redevelopment 
plans, and work with private developers to implement those 
plans by reinvesting a portion of new, incremental property 
and sales tax revenues generated from new real estate 
development.  
 
In Reno, the Economic Development/Redevelopment 
Agency (RDA) administers such programs, identifying 
blighted areas, developing plans, and coordinating the 
allocation of TIF funds across infrastructure investments, 
land assembly, and other allowed spending items. This 
approach can function as the primary vehicle for making 
transit-supportive infrastructure investments of the kind 
described in the section above. 
 
South Virginia Street (both above and below McCarran) is 
already identified as a priority area by the RDA, which 
explicitly references the need to work towards 
accommodating a future BRT right-of-way and implement 
Complete Streets along the corridor.  



30 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Category Tools & Policy Recommendations Case Study Examples 

Eventual redevelopment of the Meadowood mall property 
could be an excellent candidate for future use of TIF funding 
in line with the RDA’s stated mission. 

Selective Project Streamlining:  
Once preliminary station area locations are solidified, the 
City can institute a policy of prioritizing consideration and 
streamlining of approvals processes for projects that are 
located near stations and that include qualifying transit-
supportive elements. Uncertainties in the entitlement (and 
even construction/inspection) phases present risks for 
developers and lenders that may deter transit-supportive 
project elements. Streamlining can help reduce that risk. 

Marketing Assistance:  
To the extent that the City (and potentially RTC) can take on 
some costs of marketing for critical transit-supportive 
developments, such as multifamily housing at station areas, 
they can help developers by increasing the pace of lease-up 
(for apartments) and sales absorption (for condos). This can 
be very appealing to lenders motivated to minimize their 
time to payoff. This incentive would necessarily come later in 
the process as station area planning begins to spur 
development projects. Direct marketing support would 
almost certainly require a budget line item for the public 
sector participant, so the City or RTC would need to weigh 
those costs against the “quick win” type benefits of 
encouraging rapid absorption or lease-up for a high-
visibility project. 

Affordable and Workforce Housing:  
Coordinating with State and other jurisdictions on low-cost 
affordable housing loans and other affordable housing 
incentives addresses a critical source of future ridership and 
is central to the with the big picture of transit’s economic 
benefits. The Nevada Housing Division has the ability to 
issue tax-exempt housing revenue bonds and non-
competitive tax credits for qualified housing projects, 
lowering the cost of capital and improving proforma project 
feasibility. 
 
An important requirement of the Division’s program is that 
local jurisdictions must put up 50 percent of the needed 
bonding authority. Such programs require a high degree of 
coordination between state and local authorities but 
represent an important part of the finance puzzle for 
developers of affordable housing.  



31 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Category Tools & Policy Recommendations Case Study Examples 

Outreach and 
Public Relations 

Community Engagement and Education:  
A general lack of awareness of likely BRT benefits for 
commuters and developers appears to be a major potential 
shortfall constraining interest in transit supportive 
development. The City and RTC can step up efforts to work 
with local communities to educate them about the benefits 
of transit-oriented development. Community support can be 
a powerful tool in encouraging developers to consider 
transit-oriented projects. This type of outreach would be 
most focused during system planning but would presumably 
continue through early-phase BRT service rollout. 

 

Engage Developers to Leverage Existing Projects:  
Work with private sector developers of existing and planned 
projects to incorporate transit-friendly features. This could 
include improving pedestrian access to BRT stations or 
providing amenities like bike-sharing stations. This strategy 
could be especially important in helping to shape last-mile 
amenities and infrastructure within the Downtown Damonte 
and Pioneer Parkway development area. In the more distant 
future, eventual redevelopment of the Meadowood Mall 
property (and potentially some densification/infill at The 
Summit) should involve extensive cooperation with transit 
planning. 

Success Stories and Demonstrations:  
Look for “quick win” possibilities. Be prepared to showcase 
successful developments that have complied with the 
overlay zoning (or other policy changes) as examples and 
enjoyed added real estate value as a result. Demonstrating 
the potential benefits and feasibility can encourage others to 
follow suit. 

Community Support and Advocacy:  
Build community support for developments within station 
area nodes, when local residents and businesses advocate 
for such developments, it can create a more favorable 
environment for developers and may help reduce resistance 
to regulatory burdens such as overlay zones. 

Finding Shared Parking Opportunities:  
Major manufacturing and other industrial employment 
projects planned for the portions of the study area may be 
good locations for shared parking taking advantage of 
predictable large-scale work shift arrangements. These can 
be taken into consideration for targeted reductions in 
parking requirements at key locations. 



32 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Category Tools & Policy Recommendations Case Study Examples 

System-Related 
 
Operational Tools 
involving the 
logistics of system 
operations and the 
surrounding 
transportation and 
parking 
environment 

Early Express-Only Phase:  
Awareness of and existing attitudes towards mass transit in 
Reno may currently limit prospects for attracting riders-by-
choice, it may be especially important to enhance the 
convenience and commuting speed of the transit system. 
This can be done by significantly reducing the total number 
of stops so as to create more of an express service between 
key TOD focus areas such as The Summit, Downtown 
Damonte, and the current Meadowood terminus (which 
would presumably become more of a multi-model hub).  

 

Transit Prioritization:  
Another way to enhance perceptions of convenience (and 
actual convenience/timeliness) for BRT is to aggressively add 
signalization priority for BRT vehicles at normally congested 
intersections. This is a fairly common BRT advantage across 
U.S. systems and one that may see opportunities for 
increased efficiency and effectiveness through advances in 
AI-supported software.  

Lane Dedication:  
One advantage of the more suburban environment along 
South Virginia is that there may be more opportunities to 
find stretches of right-of-way suitable for BRT-only travel. In 
combination with signal prioritization, any chance to allow 
buses to circumvent auto congestion via dedicated lanes will 
improve system efficiency and speed – in turn improving the 
perceived value of BRT among choice riders. 

Parking Regulations:  
Revisit parking regulations. Reducing minimum parking 
requirements for developments near BRT stations can 
discourage car use and encourage developers to use land 
more efficiently. 

Recommended Policy Tool Combinations Across Likely Transit Focus Areas 
Each of the above policy tools have the potential to play a role in steering the built environment of the Corridor 
to be more transit-supportive and better positioned to benefit from the presence of transit. Those transit-
supportive characteristics are primarily important around future station areas, or likely nodes focused on transit, 
where residents and businesses can take advantage of pedestrian and other non-auto access to the service. 
Because each of the prospective nodes has its own unique combination of opportunities and challenges, the mix 
of policy tools for promoting transit-supportive development will need to be tailored to work across each separate 
node. The following Figure13 applies policy approaches across the current set of tentative transit focus areas. 

  



33 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

 

 

 
  

Downtown Damonte 
Engage Developers to spotlight transit 

and tweak last-mile design elements to 

address station access, safety, and 

wayfinding. 

Quick Win. Despite late start, position 

development as early TOD success to 

encourage similar project density at other 

station areas. 

Consider Marketing Assistance to help 

jump-start lease-up and reward transit-

supportive design considerations, while 

associating BRT benefits with development. 

Meadowood Mall 
Land Banking anticipating future mall redevelopment, ensuring platform-area site control 

and enabling value capture, in conjunction with future Tax Increment Financing. 

Explore PPP & Joint Development around aggressive Station Area Planning as mixed-use 

TOD, including Workforce & Affordable Housing Incentives for residential components.  

Station Area Planning and Design Guidelines to ensure transit-supportive elements for 

redevelopment, with selective Infrastructure Improvements as negotiating lever. 

Encourage Redevelopment of parking lot at Meadowood Mall to consolidate parking into 

parking garages and add high density residential development with some public amenity use.  

 

 

Summit Sierra 
Unlike Meadowood, this newer center may not 

fully redevelop, so focus on optimizing transit-

supportiveness of few remaining parcels (and 

piecemeal redevelopment sites) via Design 

Guidelines and Community/Developer 

Outreach. 

Consider adding structured parking as a publicly 

funded Infrastructure Improvement to reduce 

surface parking footprint and enable some 

incremental infill. 

Figure 13: Key Policy Mix Recommendations by Tentative Station Location 

Interior Arterial Stations  
Design Guidelines to differentiate station areas from other corridor land 

use, promoting compactness, transit-orientation, connectivity. 

Workforce & Affordable Housing Incentives to help steer high-likelihood 

riders closer to transit access. 

Consider offering Infrastructure Improvements as incentive for including 

transit-supportive elements in private sector projects. 

Corridor-Wide 
General Plan Designations to better identify and 

align as TOD corridor. 

Community Outreach, educating and boosting 

BRT/TOD awareness among public and 

development community of transit benefits/value. 

Offer Workforce & Affordable Housing 

Incentives in station areas to increase potential 

ridership support. 

Pursue Infrastructure Improvements that 

prioritize completing pedestrian and bike network 

connectivity between station areas and 

surrounding neighborhoods. 

RTC should pursue Land Acquisition for joint land 

partnerships near transit focus areas.  



34 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Suburban BRT is Cutting Edge 
Although the above recommendations mention other (typically BRT) transit systems there are no good “success 
stories” to apply to the present context under consideration. The transit extension down South Virginia would 
involve a foray into a more suburban environment. There are a few newly opened lines (in Vancouver, Washington, 
and Ogden, Utah, for example) that serve areas with similar suburban characteristics and several proposed or 
under construction suburban BRTs (in Fort Collins, Colorado, and metro Seattle, for example), but none of those 
have accumulated a body of performance evidence relative to the transit system or the corridor’s success in 
promoting suburban TOD. As such, the recommendations given in this memo are based on professional 
judgement given the conditions and constraints faced on South Virginia, informed by some case study BRT 
systems that share similarities but are typically less suburban in character. 

The suburban context of the proposed extension of the South Virginia BRT line limits the range of potential case 
studies that can be looked at for meaningful comparison. A number of cities across the Western U.S. have suburban 
BRT lines that are either in planning stages or are very recently opened. As such, those routes have yet to establish 
a record of ridership performance on which to attribute system “success”. Proposed and new suburban BRT 
systems include:  

 Tucson, AZ – proposed BRT extension north from downtown/university campus north to suburban foothills 
(an alignment that more closely resembles the existing northern segment of the South Virginia line).  

 Fort Collins, CO – two planned extensions from their existing MAX BRT, one connecting the main CSU campus 
with a planned western satellite campus eager to participate in transit planning.  

 Vancouver, WA – Red Line and Mill Plain Line additions in largely suburban settings, both opened in 2023. 
Another line addition still in conceptual planning would extend service nine miles north across a context 
resembling the proposed South Virginia extension.  

 Metro Seattle, WA – several proposed BRT (and related bus-based) lines envisioned for suburban settings, but 
not yet constructed.  

Suburban BRT Case Study Focus: Provo-Orem Utah Valley Express BRT 
Only the Utah Valley Express (UVX), a BRT system opened in 2018, connecting Provo and Orem, has a reasonably 
similar suburban operating environment to the South Virginia setting and enough ridership track record to 
evaluate performance. That line is generally considered a ridership success story, with an impressive 14,600 daily 
riders just one year after opening. Part of the high ridership for the UVX line has been due to the policy of free 
fares, a policy which the Utah Transit Authority is in the process of transitioning to a sliding scale based on a set 
of affordability factors. The UVX line, as it is now known, offers frequent headways --service every six minutes at 
peak times, and every 10 minutes off-peak. About half its 10.5-mile route is in exclusive travel lanes for buses not 
shared with other vehicles. Like other BRT systems, buses have extra doors and limited stops. Buses are also longer 
than normal — 60 feet instead of 40.  
 
Land Use Framework: 
Although similarly suburban, the land use context along the UVX alignment differs significantly from that found 
along the South Virginia study area. The major difference is the UVX line includes both the Brigham Young 
University (a mid-point stop), as well as the Utah Valley University, a largely commuter college facility with 
enrollment of over 43,000 students. In addition, UTA and constituent local governments have been quite 
aggressive in terms of promoting transit-oriented development, largely through the use of joint development 
ventures leveraging land purchased well in advance of system planning and intentionally integrated into station 
area land use planning in cooperation with developers and public institutions.  



35 

 
 

 

  

South Virgina Street TOD Study | Land Use Tech Memo 

Population Density Comparison: South Virginia Extension Service Area vs. Provo-Orem UVX Service Area 
 

  
Source: U.S. Census, ESRI, and Leland Consulting Group  
 
Employment Density Comparison: South Virginia Extension Service Area vs. Provo-Orem UVX Service Area 
 

 
Source: U.S. Census, ESRI, and Leland Consulting Group  
 
Although generally suburban in nature, the Provo-Orem line was built to serve an area far more densely used than 
the South Virginia study area. As the figure above illustrates, as of 2020, the UVX line’s half-mile service area has 
nearly 3.7 times the population density as the comparable service area for the proposed South Virginia BRT 
extension alignment and approximately 1.7 times the employment density. Even without growth assumed for the 
Provo-Orem Line, under the more aggressive “Option 3” scenario for South Virginia, the UVX catchment area will 
still have more than double the population density and a 25% higher employment density.  This case study shows 
that South Virginia Street, while continues to grow, still has a way to go in terms of density required to generate 
ridership that would support future BRT level transit.  



 

South Virginia Street  

TOD Study 

RTC Washoe 

DRAFT Transit 

Technical 

Memorandum 

June 2024 

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 1 

1 Introduction & Background ........................................................................................... 1 

Memo Purpose ................................................................................................................................................. 1 

Study Area & Project Goals ......................................................................................................................... 1 

2 Transit Supportive Land Uses ......................................................................................... 5 

Transit Ridership Factors............................................................................................................................... 5 

South Viriginia Corridor Population ......................................................................................................... 7 

3 Existing Conditions .......................................................................................................... 8 

Characteristics of Regional Transit Riders .............................................................................................. 8 

Existing Transit Service in the Study Area ............................................................................................ 10 

4 BRT Conceptual Alternatives ........................................................................................ 16 

Operations Planning Concepts ................................................................................................................. 16 

EXISTING VIRGINIA LINE BRT .................................................................................................................... 16 

Proposed Stop Locations ............................................................................................................................ 17 

Alternative 1 – Summit Mall ...................................................................................................................... 22 

Alternative 2 – Damonte Ranch ............................................................................................................... 24 

Alternative 3 – Summit Mall / Damonte Ranch Loop ...................................................................... 26 

Alternative 4 – Extension of Existing Virginia Line BRT to damonte ranch ............................. 29 

Alternatives Comparison............................................................................................................................. 31 

5 Corridor Ridership Forecasts ........................................................................................ 34 

STOPS Ridership Modeling Forecasts .................................................................................................... 34 

6 Recommendations for Next Steps ............................................................................... 36 

FTA Alternatives Analysis ............................................................................................................................ 36 

Opportunities to Build Transit Ridership Prior to BRT Investment ............................................. 37 

 
 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 1 

1 INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND 

MEMO PURPOSE 
The South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Study’s purpose is to analyze the need 

for future transit service in the South Virginia Street corridor from Meadowood Mall to Mt. Rose 

Highway based on regional demand, and current and future growth. The TOD Study will also analyze 

the land use planning tools that will encourage a walkable, transit‐supportive development pattern 

that meets the growth and development needs of the region.  

The purpose of this Transit Technical Memorandum is to provide an overview of transit alternatives 

that could be considered to support that visioning for an expansion of RTC’s Virginia Line Bus Rapid 

Transit (BRT) service along the South Virginia Street corridor. The following sections of the memo 

present existing conditions influencing current transit service and potential future BRT service, existing 

Virginia Line BRT ridership trends north of the study area, and transit service phasing recommendations 

that would support the future vision to implement BRT within the study area. 

STUDY AREA & PROJECT GOALS 

Study Area 

The study area for the South Virginia TOD Study extends along South Virginia Street within Reno and 

portions of unincorporated Washoe County between Meadowood Mall in the north and Summit Mall 

in the south, including a small portion of Mt Rose Highway at the far southern end. The study area 

expands to the east on the southern end of the corridor to include the Downtown Damonte area 

encompassing higher density housing and retail destinations.  The full study area is shown in Figure 

1.   

As shown in Figure 2, land adjacent to the South Virginia Street corridor is zoned for a mix of uses 

throughout, with a primarily mixed-use urban designation north of Neil Road and a primarily mixed-

use suburban designation to the south. The Damonte Ranch area is zoned as planned unit 

development and residential uses of varying intensity with the highest densities being in the 

Downtown Damonte area.  

Project Goals 

The goals of the South Virginia TOD Study are to: 

▪ Promote multimodal transportation within the corridor 

▪ Create continuity throughout the corridor 

▪ Allow for the safe movement of all forms of transportation 

▪ Improve transit service 

▪ Encourage mixed-use development 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 2 

This memo focuses on the analysis and recommendations that would support the goals related to 

improving transit service and multimodal transportation options. 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 3 

 

Figure 1 – Existing Transit Service in relation to the Study Area 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 4 

 

Figure 2 - Zoning in the Study Area 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 5 

2 TRANSIT SUPPORTIVE LAND USES 

TRANSIT RIDERSHIP FACTORS 

Transit exists to get people where they want to go, such as home, work, school, a friend’s house, or an 

appointment. In other words, there must be a market for transit to serve. 

Transit demand is strongly related to six factors: 

▪ Population and Population Density: Transit relies on having more people in close proximity 

to service. Higher population density makes it possible to provide higher levels of transit 

service. 

▪ Socioeconomic Characteristics: People may be more or less likely to use transit based on 

socioeconomic characteristics. For example, households with one or no cars are much more 

likely to use transit than households with several cars. 

▪ Jobs and Job Density: Traveling to and from work often accounts for the most frequent 

type of transit trip. As a result, the location and density of jobs is a strong indicator of transit 

demand and the level of transit service that is possible. 

▪ Land Use Patterns: In all cities, there is a strong correlation between land use patterns and 

transit ridership. In areas with denser development, mixed-use development, and a good 

pedestrian environment, transit can be very convenient for more people. 

▪ Major Activity Centers: Large employers, universities, tourism destinations, and other high-

activity areas attract large volumes of people and can generate a large number of transit 

trips. 

▪ Travel Flows: People use transit to get from one place to another. Major transit lines such as 

rapid transit services or high frequency bus routes are designed to serve trips or corridors 

with high volumes of travel. 

Of these six factors, population and job density are the most important when it comes to 

demand for transit and how much service is feasible to provide. 

This is because: 

▪ The reach of bus transit is generally limited to one-quarter mile of a bus stop. 

▪ As a result, the size of the transit market depends on how many people or jobs are within 

that area. Higher densities near a transit stop mean that there are more people or jobs within 

that area, which means that there is a larger market for transit service. 

▪ Larger markets support more frequent service, while smaller markets with fewer people or 

jobs can support only less frequent service. 

Based on research conducted by Nelson\Nygaard, Figure 3 shows the correlation and accompanying 

thresholds between corridor land use characteristics (e.g., population and job densities) and transit 

service types and treatments. The main takeaway from this research is that denser corridors are more 

supportive of high capacity and more frequent transit service. 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 6 

 

Figure 3 – Land Use Characteristics vs Transit Service Typology 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 7 

SOUTH VIRIGINIA CORRIDOR POPULATION  
The South Virginia Street corridor is targeted in the City of Reno Master Plan for future growth, which 

has held true with an increase in population and employment over the past decade. However, growth 

in transit service has not matched the recent growth in population and employment in the corridor.  

To better understand future ridership potential in the corridor current population and future growth 

scenarios (further described in the South Virgina TOD Land Use Tools Memorandum) were developed 

based on current land use and the land available for infill and redevelopment opportunities. To 

calculate the potential ridership for the South Virginia Street corridor, population were analyzed for 

the existing BRT routes. Figure 4 provides a comparison of the existing BRT Line populations along 

with the existing and projected populations for the South Virginia Street corridor growth scenarios. 

Based on the average daily ridership observed for the two existing BRT lines, daily ridership is 4.5% - 

6.5% of the corridor population. It is reasonable to assume that the proposed Virginia Line extension 

would serve a slightly lower percentage of the corridor population when compared to the existing 

Virginia Line based on its lower overall density.  

 

RTC Route Corridor Population1 
Average Daily 

Riders2 

% of Riders Per 

Pop. 

Lincoln Line  50,700 2,280 4.5% 

Virginia Line 67,300 4,250 6.5% 

Study Area Corridor Population 
Ridership 

Potential3 

% of Riders Per 

Pop. 

Existing South Virginia 

Street Corridor 
43,0001 1,290 – 2,150 3-5% 

Future Growth Scenario 14 58,000 1,740 – 2,900 3-5% 

Future Growth Scenario 24 64,000 1,920 – 3,200 3-5% 

Future Growth Scenario 34 80,000 2,400 – 4,000 3-5% 

Notes: 

1. 2020 population of census tracts adjacent to each corridor 

2. 2019 average daily ridership 

3. Forecast potential South Virginia Street ridership based on corridor population 

4.  Forecasted 2050+ population based on land use scenarios and level of future 

infill/redevelopment  

Figure 4 – Corridor Population Compared to Existing BRT Lines 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 8 

 

 

3 EXISTING CONDITIONS 

CHARACTERISTICS OF REGIONAL TRANSIT 

RIDERS 
Replica1 data for Washoe County from Spring 2023 was analyzed to better understand the trip-making 

and demographic characteristics of the transit market. The Replica dataset includes detailed attributes 

for all trips by primary mode.  

This data is meant to augment the ridership modeling and forecasting results and to help inform any 

future service planning and phasing recommendations. 

Figure 5 provides a summary of high-level findings from the regional Replica data and additional 

detail is provided below. 

  

 

 

 
1 Replica is a data platform that provides simulations of the complete activities and movements of residents, visitors, 

and commercial vehicle fleets in a region and season on a typical day. The output of each simulation is a complete, 

disaggregate trip and population table for an average weekday and average weekend day in the subject season (e.g., 

Fall 2021). The model represents a 24-hour period with second-by-second temporal resolution, and point-of-interest-

level spatial resolution. This data is used in planning work to understand the mobility trends and specific demographic 

characteristics of the population in a given study area. 

63.2%

18.5%

11.2%

4.5%

1.2%

0.8%

0.5%

0.2%

Private auto

Auto passenger

Walking

Commercial vehicle…

Biking

Other

Public transit

Taxi/TNC

Percent of All Trips by Primary Mode

2.1%

3.2%

3.2%

4.5%

5.0%

5.7%

6.4%

8.1%

12.7%

17.2%

32.0%

Lodging (hotels etc.)

Errands

Recreation

Commercial (freight)

School

Other

Social

Eat

Work

Shop

Home

Percent of All Trips by Purpose

Figure 5 – Existing Trip Characteristics in Reno 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 9 

• Trip Purpose. 42% of transit trips are made for the purpose of going to work, which is 

significantly higher than the 12% for all modes.  

o There are employment centers along the South Viriginia corridor that are not currently 

served by frequent transit suggesting that there may be an opportunity to maximize 

ridership along South Virginia by ensuring that service is provided to employment 

centers. 

• Trip Duration. The average duration of a transit trip is 39.9 minutes, 16.6 minutes for auto-

based trips, and 13.5 minutes for active trips. 2 

• Trip Distance. The average distance of a transit trip is 5.1 miles, an auto-based trip is 6.2 miles 

and an active trip is 1 mile. 

• Vehicle Availability. 76% of transit trip takers did not have a vehicle available for the trip, 

meanwhile less than 3% of the remaining trip takers did not have a vehicle available. 

• Household Income. The median household income of transit trip takers is $54,800, an auto-

based trip taker is $91,600, and an active trip taker is $75,200. 

• Household Size. 34% of transit trip takers are from single-person households, whereas auto-

based trip takers are from a single-person household only 11% of the time. 

• Age. The average age of a transit trip taker is 46; meanwhile, the average age of an auto-based 

trip taker is 41 and 37 for an active trip taker. 

• Sex. 58% of transit trip takers are male and 42% are female. This proportion is more balanced 

for auto-based and active trips with male trip takers accounting for 51% of the trips and female 

for 49%.  

• Tenure. 71% of transit trip takers are renters whereas only 38% of non-transit trip takers are 

renters. 

• Commute Mode. 53% of transit trip takers already commute via public transit versus less than 

1% of auto-based trips commuting by public transit. 

• Employment Status. 90% of transit trip takers are employed. This is higher than the 70% of 

auto-based trip takers and 61% of active trip takers. 

• Time of Day. Almost half of all transit trips occur during the typical peak travel periods. 22% 

occur between 6:00 am and 9:00 am and 25% occur between 4:00 pm and 7:00 pm. 36% of 

trips occur during the middle of the day, from 9:00 am to 4:00 pm. 

• Land Use. 65% of transit trips originate from these top three land uses: retail (27%), multi-

family (25%), and mixed use (14%). Single-family residential land uses account for 11% of 

transit trips. A deeper dive into the destination land use of work trips revealed that 33% went 

to retail land uses, suggesting that retail workers represent a significant transit market. 

 
2 Auto-based trips include trips taken by auto, taxi or TNC. Active trips include biking and walking trips. 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 10 

EXISTING TRANSIT SERVICE IN THE STUDY 

AREA 
RTC provides public transit services to the greater Reno-Sparks area. RTC has a fleet of 65 buses for 

fixed-routes services and provides approximately five million transit rides per year on 20 routes. Most 

of the Local routes in the RTC system operate 30-minute or hourly service seven days per week, with 

the operating hours varying based on the corridor. 

RTC currently operates BRT service on Virginia Street (Virginia Line) and 4th Street/Prater Way (Lincoln 

Line). These corridors have proven to be successful with the Viriginia Line (along with the Route 1 Local 

underlay service) providing over one million rides per year on the five-and-a-half-mile route between 

the University of Nevada, Reno and Meadowood Mall. The Lincoln Line is a shorter route at 

approximately three-and-a-half-miles between the 4th Street Station in Downtown Reno and 

Centennial Plaza in Downtown Sparks. The Lincoln Line (along with the Route 11 Local underlay service) 

provides over 700,000 annual rides. The BRT Lines provide frequent service with headways of 10 

minutes throughout the day on weekdays and 12 minutes on weekends. The span of service for the 

two BRT Lines varies with the Viriginia Line providing service into the late evening hours past midnight. 

The Lincoln Line service operates from approximately 6 am to 8:30 pm. Along with a premium level of 

service, the BRT Lines include enhanced stations with larger shelters and real-time passenger 

information, among other amenities consistent with BRT service. 

RTC also operates FlexRIDE microtransit, vanpool, Access ADA paratransit service, and partners with 

taxis and transportation network companies (TNCs), such as Uber and Lyft to provide service that can 

provide more flexibility for ADA passengers.  

The South Virginia Street Study Area is currently served by Route 56, a standard fixed route, and the 

Regional Connector, which is a commuter route that operates between Reno and Carson City. 

Paratransit service is also available in the area, as well as RTC’s vanpool and taxi/TNC programs. RTC 

plans to add FlexRIDE to the Damonte Ranch area in May 2024, but does not have any other immediate 

plans for expansion in the area. These services are described below as it will be critical to integrate 

them with the potential future extension of the Virginia Line.  



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 11 

Route 56 

Local bus service within the South 

Meadows and Damonte Ranch areas is 

currently provided by Route 56, 

operating between Meadowood Mall in 

the north and Damonte Ranch in the 

south (see Figure). Route 56 operates at 

the following frequencies:  

▪ Monday – Friday 

− 5:30am – 5pm: 30 minutes 

− 5pm – 10pm: 60 minutes 

▪ Saturday 

− 6am – 8pm: 60 minutes 

▪ Sunday 

− 7am – 6pm: 60 minutes 

Route 56’s alignment largely parallels 

the S. Virginia Street corridor to the east, 

including a clockwise loop along Double 

R Boulevard, Damonte Ranch Parkway, 

S. Virginia Street, and South Meadows 

Parkway in the southern portion of the 

route. As of October 2019, Route 56 was 

observed to have an average weekday 

ridership of approximately 750 

boardings. This places Route 56 on the 

lower range of average ridership for an 

RTC route. There are eight routes in the post-2020 network that average fewer daily riders than Route 

56. 

Figure 6 - RTC Route 56 Map 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 12 

RTC Regional Connector 

Regional, commuter-focused bus 

service along the S Virginia Street 

corridor is currently provided by 

the RTC Regional Connector, 

operating between Downtown 

Reno in the north and Carson City 

in the south (see Figure  7). The 

Regional Connector operates at 

the following frequencies:  

▪ Monday – Friday 

− Southbound 

o 5:45am – 6:45am: 

30 minutes 

o 3pm – 5:30pm: 60 

– 90 minutes 

− Northbound 

o 6:50am – 7:50am: 

30 minutes 

o 4:15pm – 6:45pm: 

60 – 90 minutes 

Primarily traveling on Interstate 

580 between Reno and Carson 

City, the Regional Connector has 

several stops along S Virginia 

Street, including at Meadowood 

Mall and Summit Mall. 

RTC FlexRIDE 

FlexRIDE is RTC’s curbside-to-curbside on-demand transit service, operating seven days a week in 

select areas of Sparks/Spanish Springs, Somersett/Verdi, and North Valleys. This type of on-demand 

service can function both as first- and last-mile travel to and from fixed-route transit hubs, and as a 

means of providing transit in areas that cannot support fixed-route service, such as those with low 

population densities, irregular street networks, or unique and challenging geographies. Connections 

to fixed-route service are provided at transit hubs, transfer points, and other key bus stops. 

Figure 7 - RTC Regional Connector Route Map 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 13 

While no FlexRIDE service is 

currently provided in the South 

Meadows and Damonte Ranch 

areas, RTC is planning to 

implement FlexRIDE service in 

these areas in May 2024(see 

Figure 8)3 In addition to the 

service area itself, FlexRIDE is 

anticipated to provide service to 

the following destinations outside 

of the service area: 

▪ Raley’s at Galena Junction 

▪ UNR Redfield Campus 

▪ South Valleys 

Library/Sports Complex 

▪ Reno Ice 

▪ South Meadows Walmart 

▪ IGT 

▪ DMV 

▪ WinCo 

▪ Smith’s 

▪ United States Post Office 

 

 

 

 

Meadowood Mall Transfer Center 

The Meadowood Mall Transfer Center is located between the south end of the mall and Meadowood 

Mall Circle. The transfer center is comprised of seven bays, serving RTC Routes 1, 9, 12, 54, and 56, as 

well as the Virginia Line and the Regional Connector. Amenities at the transfer center include three 

shelters, benches, and trashcans. RTC is currently in the process of designing a new transfer center at 

Meadowood Mall to the east of the existing location (see Figure 9).  

 
3 The Damonte Ranch FlexRIDE service area is preliminary and will be undergoing a formal RTC Washoe public 

participation and review process. 

Figure 8 - Proposed Damonte Ranch RTC FlexRIDE Service Area 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 14 

 

 

 

Bus Stops 

Outside of the Meadowood Mall Transfer Center, existing bus stops within the study area are currently 

served by RTC Route 56 and the Regional Connector. Stops are primarily comprised of a bus stop flag 

on the sidewalk, with roughly half of the stops including a bench and two with a shelter. Figure 10 

displays the current level of amenities for existing bus stops on S Virginia Street, and Figure 11 lists 

the details of all existing stops within the study area. Only two stops along the corridor currently have 

shelters.  

Figure 9 - Proposed Meadowood Mall Transfer Center Relocation 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 15 

 

Figure10 - Existing Bus Stops on S Virigina Street for Route 56 & the Regional Connector 

Stop Name Direction Routes Amenities 

Meadowood Mall Cir and S Virginia St EB 1, 9 Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and Longley Ln NB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and Longley Ln SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and E Patriot Blvd SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and Holcomb Ranch Ln SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and South Meadows Pkwy 

(Winco Entrance) 
NB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk, shelter, bench 

S Virginia St and Artisan Means Way NB 56 Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and McCabe Dr (Auto 

Center Dr) 
NB 56, Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk 

S Virginia St and McCabe Dr SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk, bench 

S Virginia St and Trinity Ln NB 56, Regional Connector 
Flag, sidewalk, shelter, bench, 

trashcan 

S Virginia St and Trinity Ln  SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk, bench 

S Virginia St and Damonte Ranch Pkwy NB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk, bench 

S Virginia St and Damonte Ranch Pkwy 

(Arrowcreek Pkwy) 
SB Regional Connector Flag, sidewalk, bench 

Figure 11 - Existing Bus Stops and Amenities on S Virginia Street 

 

  



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 16 

4 BRT CONCEPTUAL ALTERNATIVES 

OPERATIONS PLANNING CONCEPTS 
Four conceptual BRT service alternatives were developed for this study to illustrate the level of 

operations investment that would be needed by RTC to support a new BRT line serving the South 

Virginia Street and Damonte Ranch destinations. The operational investment is one of the key pieces 

of information that is necessary when determining whether to move forward with a transit capital 

project. These concepts are intended to be a starting point that could be used for future corridor 

planning including a formal Alternatives Analysis that would be required to seek federal funding to 

support a BRT transit capital investment for the South Viriginia Street corridor. 

Remix transit planning software was used to calculate the operating statistics and estimated operations 

costs for all service alternatives in this study. The annual operations costs from Remix were evaluated 

for accuracy compared to actual RTC operations cost and were deemed to be within reason and valid 

for planning purposes to evaluate service options as part of this analysis.  

EXISTING VIRGINIA LINE BRT 
The existing Virginia Line BRT service operates within the City of Reno between the University of 

Nevada, Reno (UNR) in the north and Meadowood Mall in the south. Primarily traveling on Virginia 

Street, the Virginia Line BRT connects UNR, RTC’s 4th Street Station, Downtown Reno, the Riverwalk 

District, Midtown Reno, and Meadowood Mall as it travels north to south. Operational statistics for the 

existing Virginia Line BRT are shown in Figure 10.  

 

Existing Virginia Line BRT 

Peak Operational Vehicles 7 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 12.34 

Stations (total) 26 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 0.51 

Weekday Frequency (min) 10.6 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6:30am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 9pm) / 

60 min (9 – 11pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate  $3.10 million (Remix estimate) | $3.43 million 

(RTC 2019-2020 estimate) 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 17 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 30,966 

Figure 12 - Existing Virginia Line BRT Operations Summary 

 

PROPOSED STOP LOCATIONS 
The proposed stop locations for each alternative are based on a combination of regional growth plans, 

best practices including the current spacing found with the Virginia Line, and an analysis of current 

and future land uses. Based on the City of Reno ReImagine Reno Master Plan, which was updated in 

2021, the South Virginia Street corridor is mostly identified as Suburban Mixed Use (SMU) which 

encourages “concentrated nodes of higher-intensity development…at major intersections.” 

Furthermore, the plan identifies four multi-modal hubs which shall, “incorporate transit stops and other 

multi-modal facilities.” The four areas are located at the Meadowood Mall, South Meadows Parkway, 

Damonte Ranch Parkway, and the Summit Mall as shown in Figure 13.   

 

 

 
Figure 13: Multi-Modal Hubs identified in the ReImagine Reno Master Plan 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 18 

In addition to the multimodal hubs identified in the ReImagine Reno Master Plan, many of the major 

intersections including Longley Lane, South Meadows Parkway, and Damonte Ranch Parkway were 

prioritized because of connectivity to the surrounding neighborhoods. Further, best practices indicate 

stops should be placed approximately one-half mile apart to decrease travel times and increase 

ridership. This approach is consistent with RTC’s existing BRT stop spacing. Finally, existing and future 

conditions were considered including the potential for development of higher densities, employment 

nodes, and areas of future growth potential.  

Figure 14 shows the composite of the current and future conditions and the relationship with the 

proposed stop locations. As the figure shows, the highest growth opportunity within the study corridor 

shows a deviation from South Virginia Street along Damonte Ranch Parkway. The proposed stop 

locations align with the locations with the highest density or planned growth along the corridor 

including the stop along Damonte Ranch Parkway. A few of the stops are in less dense segments of 

the corridor to maintain consistent stop spacing and should be considered for targeted growth 

locations in the future.  

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 19 

 

 

 

 

Figure 14: Land use analysis composite relative to proposed stop locations 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 20 

 

 

Considering all of the above criteria a total of eight stop locations were identified, six stop locations 

along South Virginia Street and two which deviate from South Virginia Street at Damonte Ranch 

Parkway and follow the planned connection between Damonte Ranch Parkway and Veterans Parkway. 

These eight stop locations and the opportunities that surround them are shown in Figure 16. 

Figure 15: Stop Locations and Names 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 21 

Proposed 

Stop 

Location 

Major 

Intersection 

ReImagine 

Reno 

Multi-

Modal 

Hub 

Existing 

Employment 

Node 

Existing 

Multifamily 

Vacant Land or 

Redevelopment  

Opportunities 

Future 

Population 

Growth 

Future 

Employment 

Growth 

Meadowood 

Mall 
X X X X X X X 

Longley 

Lane 
X  X X   X 

South 

Meadows 

Parkway 

X X X  X X X 

McCabe 

Drive 
  X X X X X 

Damonte 

Ranch 

Parkway 

X  X  X  X 

Downtown 

Damonte 
X X X X X X X 

Pioneer 

Parkway 
    X X X 

Summit 

Mall 
X X X X X X X 

 
The table identifies three major stop locations that include all criteria of an ideal stop location. The two 

north and south anchor points, Meadowood Mall in the north and the Summit Mall in the south justify 

the beginning and end of the proposed route. The third, in the area identified as Downtown Damonte, 

currently has the highest potential for concentration of riders and the greatest opportunity to include 

future development that will serve riders for transit along the corridor. Therefore, as part of this effort, 

alternatives explore the possibility of a transit route deviating from South Virginia Street to capture 

and serve the current and future population near Downtown Damonte. 

Figure 16: Factors influencing recommended stop locations. 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 22 

ALTERNATIVE 1 – SUMMIT MALL 

Route Description 

Alternative 1 would provide service along S 

Virginia Street between Meadowood Mall in 

the north and Summit Mall in the south, as 

shown in Figure 17.  

Stations would be at Longley Lane, South 

Meadows Parkway, McCabe Drive, Trinity 

Lane, and Damonte Ranch Parkway, and 

would connect riders to Bishop Manogue 

High School, Tamarack Casino, and various 

residential, retail and employment 

destinations along S Virginia Street. 

To estimate the operational statistics shown 

in Figure 8, daily service frequency was 

assumed to be 15 minutes between 6am and 

7pm and 30 minutes between 7pm and 

10pm. 15-minute headways is the minimum 

level of service that would be considered BRT. 

Operational statistics were also estimated for 

a “Robust Service Level Option” where service 

levels and spans match those of existing 

Virginia Line BRT. In this scenario, buses 

would operate at the frequencies and spans 

indicated in Figure 9. 

 

 

 

 

Alternative 1 – Summit Mall 

Peak Operational Vehicles 4 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 11.92 

Stations (total) 12 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 0.98 

Frequency (min) 15 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate  $2.05 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 20,500 

Figure 18 - Alternative 1 Operations Summary 

Figure 17 - Alternative 1 Alignment & Stations 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 23 

Alternative 1 – Summit Mall – Robust Service Level Option 

Peak Operational Vehicles 6 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 11.92 

Stations (total) 12 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 0.98 

Weekday Frequency (min) 10.6 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6:30am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 9pm) / 

60 min (9 – 11pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate  $2.79 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 27,851 

Figure 19 - Alternative 1 Robust Service Levels Operations Summary 

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 24 

ALTERNATIVE 2 – DAMONTE RANCH  

Route Description 

Alternative 2 would provide service along 

South Virginia Street and Damonte Ranch 

Parkway between Meadowood Mall in the 

north and Damonte Ranch Town Center in 

the south, as shown in Figure 20.  

Stations would be at Longley Lane, South 

Meadows Parkway, McCabe Drive, and 

Trinity Lane, and would connect riders to 

Bishop Manogue High School, and various 

residential, retail and employment 

destinations along S Virginia Street, mixed 

use retail and employment at the Damonte 

Ranch Town Center, and residences along 

Damonte Ranch Parkway. 

To estimate the operational statistics 

shown in 21, daily service frequency was 

assumed to be 15 minutes between 6am 

and 7pm and 30 minutes between 7pm 

and 10pm.  

Operational statistics were also estimated 

for a “Robust Service Level Option” where 

service levels and spans match those of 

existing Virginia Line BRT. In this scenario, 

buses would operate at the frequencies 

and spans indicated in Figure 22. The proposed stop and route within Damonte Ranch is preliminary 

and would need to be finalized as the project moves forward.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 20 - Alternative 2 Alignment & Stations 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 25 

 

Alternative 2 – Damonte Ranch Town Center 

Peak Operational Vehicles 4 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 11.07 

Stations (total) 10 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 1.11 

Frequency (min) 15 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate  $1.95 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 19,400 

Figure 21 - Alternative 2 Operations Summary 

 

 

Alternative 2 – Damonte Ranch Town Center – Robust Service Level Option 

Peak Operational Vehicles 6 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 11.07 

Stations (total) 10 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 1.11 

Weekday Frequency (min) 10.6 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6:30am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 9pm) / 

60 min (9 – 11pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate  $2.64 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 26,378 

Figure 22 - Alternative 2 Robust Service Levels Operations Summary 

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 26 

ALTERNATIVE 3 – SUMMIT MALL / DAMONTE 

RANCH LOOP 

Route Description 

Alternative 3 would operate as two independent loop routes, differentiated by a clockwise or 

counterclockwise direction of travel around the loop created by S Virginia Street, Damonte Ranch 

Parkway, Sage Hill Road, and Veterans Parkway. Each trip for both routes would begin and terminate 

at Meadowood Mall, extending to Summit Mall in the south, as shown in Figure .  

Stations would be at Longley Lane, South Meadows Parkway, McCabe Drive, Trinity Lane, Damonte 

Ranch Parkway, Damonte Ranch Town Center, and Veterans Drive, and would connect riders to Bishop 

Manogue High School, Tamarack Casino, and mixed-use retail and residential destinations along S 

Virginia Street, Damonte Ranch Parkway, and Veterans Parkway. 

To estimate the operational statistics shown in Figure 24, daily service frequency was assumed to be 

15 minutes between 6am and 7pm and 30 minutes between 7pm and 10pm.4  

Operational statistics were also estimated for a “Robust Service Level Option” where service levels and 

spans match those of existing Virginia Line BRT. In this scenario, buses would operate at the 

frequencies and spans indicated in the table below. 

 

 
4 Each loop route would operate independently at a 30-minute frequency from 6am – 7pm and a 60-minute 

frequency from 7 – 10pm. Service for both loop routes would overlap along S Virginia Street between Meadowood 

Mall and Damonte Ranch Parkway, creating 15-minute frequency from 6am – 7pm and 30-minute frequency from 7 – 

10pm along that portion of the route. Bi-directional service along the loop portion of the route would operate at a 

30-minute frequency from 6am – 7pm and a 60-minute frequency from 7 – 10pm. 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 27 

 

Figure 23 - Alternative 3 Alignment & Stations 

 

Alternative 3 – Summit Mall / Damonte Ranch Loop 

Peak Operational Vehicles 4 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 13.5 

Stations (total) 15 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 1.04 

Frequency (min) 15 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate  $2.16 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 21,700 

Figure 24 - Alternative 3 Operations Summary 

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 28 

Alternative 3 – Summit Mall / Damonte Ranch Loop – Robust Service Level Option 

Peak Operational Vehicles 6 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 13.5 

Stations (total) 15 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 1.04 

Weekday Frequency (min)5 10.6 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min)6 12.3 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min)7 12.3 min (6:30am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 9pm) / 

60 min (9 – 11pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate  $2.90 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 29,046 

Figure 25 - Alternative 3 Robust Service Levels Operations Summary 

 

 
5 On weekdays, each loop route would operate independently at a 21.2-minute frequency from 6am – 7pm, a 60-

minute frequency from 7 – 10pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 10 – 11:59pm. Service for both loop routes would 

overlap along S Virginia Street between Meadowood Mall and Damonte Ranch Parkway, creating a 10.6-minute 

frequency from 6am – 7pm, a 30-minute frequency from 7 – 10pm, and a 60-minute frequency from 10 – 11:59pm 

along that portion of the route. Bi-directional service along the loop portion of the route would operate at a 21.2-

minute frequency from 6am – 7pm, a 60-minute frequency from 7 – 10pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 10 – 

11:59pm.  

6 On Saturdays, each loop route would operate independently at a 24.6-minute frequency from 6am – 7pm, a 60-

minute frequency from 7 – 10pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 10 – 11:59pm. Service for both loop routes would 

overlap along S Virginia Street between Meadowood Mall and Damonte Ranch Parkway, creating a 12.3-minute 

frequency from 6am – 7pm, a 30-minute frequency from 7 – 10pm, and a 60-minute frequency from 10 – 11:59pm 

along that portion of the route. Bi-directional service along the loop portion of the route would operate at a 24.6-

minute frequency from 6am – 7pm, a 60-minute frequency from 7 – 10pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 10 – 

11:59pm. 

7 On Sundays, each loop route would operate independently at a 24.6-minute frequency from 6:30am – 7pm, a 60-

minute frequency from 7 – 9pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 9 – 11pm. Service for both loop routes would 

overlap along S Virginia Street between Meadowood Mall and Damonte Ranch Parkway, creating a 12.3-minute 

frequency from 6:30am – 7pm, a 30-minute frequency from 7 – 9pm, and a 60-minute frequency from 9 – 11pm along 

that portion of the route. Bi-directional service along the loop portion of the route would operate at a 24.6-minute 

frequency from 6:30am – 7pm, a 60-minute frequency from 7 – 9pm, and a 120-minute frequency from 9 – 11pm. 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 29 

ALTERNATIVE 4 – EXTENSION OF EXISTING 

VIRGINIA LINE BRT TO DAMONTE RANCH 
Alternative 4 would extend the existing Virginia Line BRT south of Meadowood Mall, creating a 

continuous route between the University of Nevada, Reno in the north and Damonte Ranch in the 

south, as shown in Figure 7.  

Between Meadowood Mall and Damonte Ranch, Alternative 4 would provide service along S Virginia 

Street and Damonte Ranch Parkway, with stations located at Longley Lane, South Meadows Parkway, 

McCabe Drive, and Trinity Lane. These stations would connect riders to Bishop Manogue High School, 

various residential, retail and employment destinations along S Virginia Street, mixed use retail and 

employment at the Damonte Ranch Town Center, and residences along Damonte Ranch Parkway. 

Alternative 4 operational statistics were estimated through assuming service levels and spans that 

match those of existing Virginia Line BRT as shown in Figure . Buses would operate at the frequencies 

and spans indicated in the table below. 

Alternative 4 – Damonte Ranch 

Peak Operational Vehicles 10 

Roundtrip Length (mi) 23.43 (12.36 miles of the existing Viriginia Line 

with 11.07 being new service) 

Stations (total) 36 

Average Station Spacing (mi) 0.69 

Weekday Frequency (min) 10.6 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Saturday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 10pm) / 60 

min (10 – 11:59pm) 

Sunday Frequency (min) 12.3 min (6:30am – 7pm) / 30 min (7 – 9pm) / 

60 min (9 – 11pm) 

Annual Operating Cost Estimate  $4.81 million 

Annual Operating Hours Estimate 48,085 

Figure 26 - Alternative 4 Operations Summary 

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 30 

 

Figure 37 - Alternative 4 Alignment & Stations 

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 31 

ALTERNATIVES COMPARISON 
A snapshot of the service and passenger experience pros and cons related to the four BRT service 

alternatives is provided below in Figure 8. As this corridor continues to develop, the potential service 

options could be updated to align station locations with new developments or pedestrian and bicycle 

facilities. These will be important factors in developing a final BRT service recommendation. 

Opportunities to connect with the planned FlexRIDE or Route 56 should be considered when 

comparing the benefits of potential service plans. 

Alternative Pros Cons 

Alternative 1 – Summit 

Mall 

▪ Shorter roundtrip length 

resulting in lower estimated 

annual operating costs 

▪ Most direct BRT route staying 

on the South Viriginia corridor 

▪  

▪  

▪ Fewest destinations served, 

does not directly serve 

Downtown Damonte missing a 

large ridership opportunity 

(lowest ridership potential of 

the alternatives) 

▪ Would require connecting 

transit service or FlexRIDE to 

reach the Damonte Ranch 

destinations. 

▪ Would require passengers 

traveling from the North 

Viriginia corridor to transfer to 

a new route. 

Alternative 2 – 

Damonte Ranch  

▪ Shortest roundtrip length 

▪ Lowest estimated annual 

operating cost 

▪ Serves one of the highest 

ridership nodes 

▪ Fewer destinations served 

including existing density near 

Summit Mall (lower ridership 

potential) 

▪ Would require connecting 

transit service or FlexRIDE to 

reach the Summit Mall 

destinations. 

▪ Would require passengers 

traveling from the North 

Viriginia corridor to transfer to 

a new route. 

Alternative 3 – Summit 

Mall/Damonte Ranch 

Loop 

▪ Greatest number of 

destinations served (highest 

ridership potential) 

▪ Longest roundtrip length 

▪ Highest estimated annual 

operating cost 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 32 

Alternative Pros Cons 

▪ Largest geographic coverage 

that would likely be more 

productive for generating 

ridership than connecting 

service that would require a 

transfer. 

▪ Lower level of service in loop 

portion of route 

▪ Would require passengers 

traveling from the North 

Viriginia corridor to transfer to 

a new route. 
 

Alternative 4 – 

Extension of Current 

Virginia Line BRT to 

Damonte Ranch8 

 

▪ Fewest number of peak 

operational vehicles required 

compared to scenarios where 

Alternatives 1, 2, or 3 and 

existing Virginia Line BRT 

service would be operated as 

separate routes 

▪ Shortest roundtrip travel time 

compared to scenarios where 

Alternatives 1, 2, or 3 and 

existing Virginia Line BRT 

service would be operated as 

separate routes 

▪ Lowest estimated annual 

operating cost compared to 

scenarios where Alternatives 1, 

2, or 3 and existing Virginia 

Line BRT service would be 

operated as separate routes 

▪ Passengers would not need to 

transfer for trips to the north 

Viriginia corridor 

▪ Fewer destinations served 

including existing density near 

Summit Mall (lower ridership 

potential) 

▪ Would require connecting 

transit service or FlexRIDE to 

reach the Summit Mall 

destinations. 

 
8 Alternatives 1, 2, and 3 above assume that BRT service south of Meadowood Mall would be provided through a 

separate bus route than that of the existing Virginia Line BRT north of Meadowood Mall. In contrast, Alternative 4 is 

an extension of the existing Virginia Line BRT, combining service north and south of Meadowood Mall into one bus 

route. Because of this, the “Pros” and “Cons” listed for Alternative 4 compare against scenarios where existing Viriginia 

Line service would be maintained and a new, separate BRT line south of Meadowood Mall, either Alternative 1, 2, or 3, 

would operate concurrently (i.e., for comparison with Alternative 4, operational statistics for Alternatives 1, 2, or 3 

assume that two separate routes are operated and are combined with the statistics of the existing Virginia Line BRT). 

Assumed service levels and spans for Alternative 4 match those of the existing Virginia Line BRT. 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 33 

Figure 48 - Pros and Cons of BRT Service Alternatives 

 

Figure 9 displays a comparison of estimated operational statistics for the four BRT service alternatives, 

assuming service levels and spans that match those of the existing Virginia Line BRT. To provide an 

accurate comparison between Alternative 4, which includes the full Virginia corridor between the 

University of Nevada, Reno and Damonte Ranch, and the other three alternatives, operational statistics 

for Alternatives 1, 2, and 3 were combined with those of the existing Virginia Line BRT. This ensures 

that, for comparison purposes, each alternative considers the full Virginia corridor from the University 

of Nevada, Reno in the north to either Summit Mall or Damonte Ranch in the south.  

As shown in Figure 9, there would be cost efficiencies associated with operating BRT service in the 

Virginia Street corridor south of Meadowood Mall as an extension of the existing Virginia Line BRT 

(Alternative 4) compared to operating service north and south of Meadowood Mall as two 

independent routes (Alternatives 1, 2, and 3). When determining whether to operate service south of 

Meadowood Mall as an extension of existing service, the ability to maintain on-time performance along 

the full route between the University of Nevada, Reno and Summit Mall or Damonte Ranch would need 

to be considered.  

Alternative 

Annual 

Operating 

Cost 

Estimate 

Peak 

Operational 

Vehicles 

Roundtrip 

Length 
Stations 

Annual 

Operating 

Hours 

Estimate 

Existing Virginia Line + Alt 1 

– Summit Mall 
$5.89 million 13 24.26 mi 38 58,817 

Existing Virginia Line + Alt 2 

– Damonte Ranch 
$5.74 million 13 23.41 mi 38 57,344 

Existing Virginia Line + Alt 3 

– Summit Mall/ Damonte 

Ranch Loop 

$6.00 million 13 25.84 mi 41 60,012 

Alt 4 – Existing Virginia Line 

Extension to Damonte Ranch 
$4.81 million 10 23.43 mi 36 48,085 

Figure 59 – Operations Comparison of BRT Service Alternatives 

 

 

  



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 34 

5 CORRIDOR RIDERSHIP FORECASTS 

STOPS Ridership Modeling Forecasts  

The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) has developed the Simplified Trips-on-Project Software 

(STOPS) that can be used to develop ridership forecasts for transit corridor projects. As part of this 

study, multiple STOPS model approaches were developed for the South Virigina Street corridor to 

evaluate ridership potential of the conceptual BRT service alternatives. The STOPS-based approaches 

relied on underlying Census data and a transit rider origin-destination survey conducted in 2017. Given 

the limited existing transit service/historical ridership and existing development in the project study 

area, using STOPS to forecast ridership for the South Viriginia corridor, especially the southern end of 

the corridor, proved challenging. The results were nonetheless useful in providing high-level 

verification of four conceptual BRT alignments and potential ridership scenarios identified in the 

population analysis shown in Figure 9. However, the STOPS model would need to be refined for a more 

formal FTA Alternatives Analysis, which is necessary if the RTC were to apply to the FTA for discretionary 

grants to fund a future extension of the Virginia Line.  

Four conceptual alignment/service alternatives were evaluated with the STOPS model. The conceptual 

alternatives are described in greater detail in the next section (Section 3) of the report. In addition to 

the four conceptual BRT alternatives, two land use alternatives were developed, tested, and analyzed 

to determine the impact that transit-supportive land use outcomes might have on ridership forecasts. 

And finally, STOPS includes a setting that represents the “visibility” of various levels of partial-fixed 

guideway transit services, such as BRT. Higher visibility settings are intended to represent features that 

improve the reliability and attractiveness of BRT, such as exclusive lane and/or signal priority treatment. 

Multiple variations of the visibility setting were tested to determine the potential impact that BRT 

service enhancements might have on ridership forecasts. 

Initial forecasts based off the STOPS model indicate that the BRT service alternatives could generate 

between 1,000 and 2,000 additional daily riders in the South Virginia Street corridor by 2050. The lower 

end of the range would represent basic BRT service without a transit-supportive land use future, while 

the higher end of the range includes enhanced BRT service along with the realization of transit-

supportive land uses.  

While the overall magnitude of the STOPS-based forecasts is lower than the population-based 

ridership projections discussed in Figure 9, it is perhaps more useful to focus on the significant 

percentage changes in ridership that emerged from the STOPS modeling and testing. Those 

percentage changes in ridership outcomes are discussed in further detail below, but overall, initial 

STOPS modeling suggests that ridership forecasts could increase by 46% to 53% over initial 

baseline forecasts. 

Several key findings that emerged from the STOPS modeling have broader implications for subsequent 

phases of this project, as noted below: 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 35 

• By a large margin, the existing Virginia Line consistently shows up as the strongest performer 

in terms of ridership. This is not only the case for near-term ridership forecasts, but also for the 

long-term. This confirms the existing Virginia Line as a logical foundational choice to build off 

and extend future service. 

• Transit-supportive land uses matter. Sensitivity testing conducted with additional land use 

alternatives indicated that complementary land uses could boost ridership 15%-22%. 

• Stop location/spacing positively influences ridership. Average stop spacing for the existing 

Virginia Line is every half-mile. Proposed average stop spacing for the four conceptual BRT 

alternatives under consideration in this study is one-mile. Sensitivity testing conducted with 

the STOPS model during the latter phases of this study indicated that stop spacing closer 

to the existing Virginia Rapid Line could yield ridership gains of 15%-20%. 

• BRT enhancement treatments mean additional ridership. A visibility factor of .15 was used to 

calibrate the current year STOPS model. This factor represents the current level of visibility for 

the existing Virginia and Lincoln Lines. Factors of .30 and .50 were tested to determine the 

potential impact that enhancements might have on ridership outcomes for the four conceptual 

BRT alternatives under consideration in this study. The results of the sensitivity testing 

indicated that BRT treatment enhancements such as exclusive lanes and/or signal 

prioritization could mean a ridership bump of 10%-26%. 

 

Should this project advance for further study, additional model calibration and refinement will be 

required to utilize STOPS for this corridor and for any FTA discretionary grant processes. In particular, 

the model would greatly benefit from a post-pandemic rider survey to update current behavior and 

more refined assumptions around future station access.  While the forecasts based off the STOPS 

model are lower than the population-based ridership potential discussed in the previous section, they 

provide useful data points and findings to consider for the evaluation of the corridor for future BRT 

service. 

The table below represents projected ridership from the STOPs model of the overall Virginia Line 

assuming a full route was in place from the UNR campus to Damonte Ranch/Summit Mall. 

 
2020 Baseline 2050 (Low) 2050 (High) 

 
Virginia 

Line Project Total 

Virginia 

Line Project Total 

Virginia 

Line Project Total 

Alternative 1 6,900 1,000 7,900 8,450 1,250 9,700 8,800 1,900 10,700 

Alternative 2 6,850 950 7,800 8,350 1,200 9,550 8,800 1,900 10,700 

Alternative 3 6,850 950 7,800 8,350 1,200 9,550 8,800 1,850 10,650 

Alternative 4 6,700 850 7,550 8,250 1,050 9,300 8,650 1,500 10,150 

Figure 30 – STOPS Model Forecasts for Alternatives 

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 36 

6 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR NEXT 
STEPS 

 

FTA ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS 
Based on the preliminary ridership forecasts completed as part of this effort along with the 

recommendations for TOD supportive land use improvements, the corridor could be a candidate for 

future BRT capital investment. A full Alternatives Analysis incorporating an updated STOPS ridership 

model should be completed as a first step in determining the feasibility for a full BRT investment. The 

service alternatives outlined in Section 3 should be used as a starting point for options to evaluate.  

An important part of an Alternatives Analysis process is to determine capital and operating funding 

sources to support a new transit capital investment. This should include an evaluation of whether to 

pursue a Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Small Starts Capital Investment Grant (CIG). Figure 31 

shows a summary of the evaluation criteria that are used to evaluate projects for eligibility and award 

of federal CIG grants.  

 

Figure 31- Capital Investment Grant Evaluation Criteria Summary 

 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 37 

OPPORTUNITIES TO BUILD TRANSIT 

RIDERSHIP PRIOR TO BRT INVESTMENT 
In addition to continuing with further study, there are opportunities to make incremental 

improvements to transit service along the South Virginia Street corridor that could build ridership to 

further support the future investment. These improvements could be made in coordination with new 

development along the corridor. 

Phase 1 – Implement a Fixed Route Along on South Viriginia 

Prior to the delivery of full BRT service along the South Virginia Street corridor south of Meadowood 

Mall, interim service at frequencies lower than that of full BRT but greater than service levels provided 

by the Regional Connector could be introduced between Meadowood Mall, Summit Mall, and 

Damonte Ranch.  

This would be beneficial if funding for operating transit service along the corridor becomes available 

ahead of funding for capital expenditures associated with full BRT service and passenger amenities. 

Introducing a route along South Virginia Street could also assist RTC in starting to build a ridership 

base along the corridor south of Meadowood Mall that could help build community and funding 

support for full BRT service delivery. This interim service could supplement the existing, or work in 

conjunction with a modified Route 56 service. Introducing service as a local route prior to a full BRT 

investment is also an opportunity to evaluate which stops are the most productive and would be good 

candidates for capital investments or to help inform how many stations would be needed for a future 

BRT route.  

Phase 2 – Bus Stop Improvements 

An interim step for enhancing transit service within the study area could be the improvement of 

passenger amenities at existing bus stops along the portions of Route 56 and the RTC Regional 

Connector that overlap with any of the proposed alternatives described above. Within the quickly 

growing study area, RTC Washoe could coordinate with those responsible for the development of 

properties adjacent to existing or potential bus stops on the improvement of passenger facilities and 

safe access to them.  

Phase 3 – BRT Service Implementation 

After the implementation of interim transit service along the South Virginia Street corridor, ridership 

should be monitored to gauge the potential viability of BRT service within the study area. This interim 

service ridership, along with future ridership potential driven by planned changes in land use intensity 

and the enhanced service levels and passenger amenities associated with BRT, should be considered 

key factors in determining when BRT should be implemented.  

In connecting the planned FlexRIDE on-demand service area to South Virginia Street BRT within the 

study area, considerations would need to be given to the provision of space within BRT station 



South Virginia TOD Study – Transit Technical Memo 

RTC Washoe 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates | 38 

footprints for on-demand transit use, the deployment of rides to align with fixed-route schedules, and 

the maintenance of sufficient vehicle capacity to handle peak-period demand connecting to fixed-

route service. Potential connection points between FlexRIDE and South Virginia Street BRT are shown 

in Figure 8. 

The analysis in this study suggests extending the existing Virginia Line route may be a good option to 

provide enhanced transit service to the South Viriginia study area. This could be done incrementally 

with an initial extension to Damonte Ranch. The service could be modified to serve additional stops or 

destinations in response to continued development along the corridor. 



  

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 6.4.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Bill Thomas, Executive Director

  SUBJECT: RTC Strategic Roadmap for FY 2025-2027

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Acknowledge receipt of the RTC Strategic Roadmap for FY 2025-2027 and provide input and direction 
regarding next steps.

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION

At the Board’s workshop in March 2024, the Board discussed updated Strategic Goals to align with the 
Board's Vision Board for our community network experience:

(1) Expand public transportation utilization.
(2) Promote neighborhood mobility.
(3) Explore Truckee River as a mobility corridor.
(4) Proactively manage congestion.
(5) Improve network safety.
(6) Sustainable maintenance of our roads.
(7) Be an engage organization.

The attached document outlines workplans for staff to successfully accomplish the Board direction 
received to update these goals for FY 2025. These workplans include detailed outcomes, champions, 
approaches, objectives, and measures of success for all goals. Staff will return to the Board for additional 
policy decisions or with finalized reports.

Erica Olsen of OnStrategy will present the updates that have been made to the roadmap in order to receive 
direction from the Board.



RTC Strategic Roadmap for FY 2025-2027
Page 2

FISCAL IMPACT

Funding for this item is included in the approved FY 2024 budget, and there is no additional cost in 
connection with this agenda item.

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION

03/22/2024 Board Workshop.
06/16/2023 Acknowledged receipt of the RTC Strategic Roadmap for FY 2024 and provide input and 

direction regarding next steps.



   

 

   

 

 
 

 
 

,mmtt 
 
 

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP FOR FY23  
Strategic Plan Summary as of June 2022 

  

Transit 
Planning for the future growth of 
our community. Reaching & 
serving diverse populations. 

Connected 
Neighborhoods 
Connected bike network with 
connected neighborhoods.  

River Corridor 
Downtown planning designed for 
walking, biking, and cars. 
Connecting both downtowns. 

Systemwide 
Performance 
Maintain the system to achieve 
20-30 min network. 

Safety 
Safe school zones, safe 
pedestrian walkways, and equal 
access for ADA communities. 

Sustainable 
Maintenance 
Sustainable approach to 
maintenance. 

Communication & 
Collaboration 
Increased community collaboration, 
outreach, and inclusivity of Spanish-
speaking population. 

Long-term Planning & 
Financial Stewardship 
Stop being reactive and start being 
proactive. Less “prioritizing the 
squeaky wheel.” 

 
 

 
 

VISION BOARD FOR OUR COMMUNITY  
NETWORK EXPERIENCE 
Strategic Plan Summary as of June 2022 
  What we value in our community network experience… 

As Summary 2024 Board Retreat 



   

 

   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

STRATEGIC GOALS 

#1 Expand public transportation 
utilization. 

#2 Promote neighborhood mobility. 

#3 Explore the Truckee River as a 
mobility corridor. 

#4 Proactively manage congestion.  

#5 Improve network safety.  

#6 Sustainable maintenance of 
our roads. 

#7 Be an engaged organization.  

 

STATEMENT OF CULTURE 

RESPECT 
Respect is demonstrated through our work as subject matter experts, by actively 
listening and effectively communicating with others, and interacting ethically. 

TRUST 
Trust is shown through accountability in our tasks, acting with integrity, and being 
responsive to stakeholders.  

COMMITMENT 
Commitment is illustrated by exceeding expectations, being collaborative, and 
keeping public service at the forefront of our actions. 

  

  

 
 

 
 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP FY25-27 
Strategic Plan Summary as of Summer 2024 

 
  

OUR MISSION 

Building a better 
community through 
quality 
transportation.  

 

 



 

 

3 

 

 
 
 
  

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 
FY25-27 I As of Summer 2024 



 

 

4 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

Mission and Culture 
Mission Statement 

Building a better community through quality transportation. 
 

Statement of Culture 
The Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County is committed to a culture that exhibits respect, 
trust, and commitment in our work and interactions between employees and with the public, businesses, 
regional partners, and other agencies.  

 

RESPECT  
Respect requires understanding and appreciating the expertise and contributions of others and interacting 
with others in a way that reflects that understanding and appreciation. Respect is demonstrated through our 
work as subject matter experts by actively listening and effectively communicating with others and 
interacting ethically. 

 

TRUST 
Trust requires giving others the benefit of the doubt with regard to their motives and character and by giving 
others the opportunity to express their beliefs and be accountable for their actions. Trust is shown through 
accountability in our tasks, acting with integrity, and being responsive to stakeholders. 

 

COMMITMENT 
Commitment requires embracing individual responsibility for achieving team goals and taking the action that 
is necessary to follow through on that responsibility and achieve those goals. Commitment is illustrated by 
exceeding expectations, being collaborative, and keeping public service at the forefront of our actions. 

 
  



 

 

5 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

Strategic Goals  

#1 Expand public transportation utilization. 

#2 Promote neighborhood mobility. 

#3 Explore Truckee River as a Mobility Corridor.  

#4 Proactively manage congestion.  

#5 Improve network safety.  

#6 Sustainable maintenance of our roads. 

#7 Be an engaged organization.  



 

 

6 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

 

Strategic Goal  
#1 Expand public  

transportation utilization.  
Success looks like… an increase in ridership. 

Why? Provide access to everyone who needs and wants public transportation through a 
suite of options to meet current ridership and deliver additional opportunities to serve 
more of our residents.  

Champion: Director of Public Transportation     Detailed Plan: TOPS 

OUR APPROACH  
Equitable and Accessible Ridership: The RTC is committed to increasing ridership by improving equity and ensuring 
access to its services. This effort will particularly focus on the needs of Spanish-speaking and student populations. 

Reliable and Safe Service: The agency continuously works to enhance RTC public transit, aiming to deliver a service 
that is both safe and reliable. A friendly customer environment remains a high priority. 

Service Innovation: The RTC places a strong emphasis on service innovation to upgrade public transit and enrich the 
customer experience. These innovations are designed to meet evolving user needs and preferences. 

Financial Sustainability: The agency strives to use its resources efficiently focusing on maximizing ridership while 
expanding service coverage. This approach ensures the financial sustainability of RTC services. 

OUTCOMES & FY25 FOCUS 

Agency Outcomes FY25 Initiatives 

Enhance service  
frequency & availability. 

Implement service changes.  
  

Focus on attracting the next generation of riders to 
include Spanish-speaking population and youth. 

Revise facilities (specifically 4SS & CP) to make more inviting. 
  
Pilot project for "Free for Kids" during summer. 
  
Enhanced marketing for students and Spanish speaking 
populations. 

Proactively plan for the future growth of our system 
and service demand. 

Complete Tahoe Study to determine our role. 
 
Begin design of Replacement Maintenance Facility. 
  
Start TOPS. 

 



 

 

7 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

 

KPIs 

KPI FY24 Actuals Target Direction 

Increase system ridership. 7.13% increase Up 

Increase in jobs accessible with transit. 17.8K increase Up 

Increase in population with transit available. 121K increase Up 

On-time performance (RIDE). 89.0% Up 

On-time performance (FlexRIDE). 91.4% Up 

On-time performance (ACCESS). 87.2% Up 

Passengers per service hour (RIDE). 20.38 Up 

Number of students riding buses (EdPass) 41.66% increase Up 

Number of Spanish language contacts 
(Transit app usage) New FY25 Baseline 



 

 

8 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

 

Strategic Goal  
#2 Promote neighborhood 

mobility. 
Success looks like… More people choosing to walk or 
ride bikes within neighborhoods and expand the 
interconnection between neighborhoods. 

Why? Increase accessibility and mobility options as well as reduce congestion and 
emissions in our region.  

Champion: Director of Planning  Detailed Plan: Active Transportation Plan 

OUR APPROACH  
Sustainable, Dedicated Approach to Active Transportation: The RTC has established an Active Transportation Program 
committed to planning, funding, and implementing neighborhood networks. This approach aims to support sustainable 
transportation options across the community. 

Complete, Connected Neighborhoods: Through the development of Neighborhood Network Plans, the agency will 
establish localized priorities tailored to specific neighborhood connectivity needs. These plans are designed to foster 
complete and connected communities. 

OUTCOMES & FY25 FOCUS 

Agency Outcomes  FY25 Initiatives 

Achieve a more balanced mode split. 

(more people walking and biking) 

Establish the ATP program, with dedicated staffing. 

Capture and track performance measures of ATP plan. 

All neighborhoods in the greater Reno-Sparks area have 
a neighborhood plan. 

Create two Neighborhood Plans.  

Improved regional connectivity between neighborhoods. Baseline total throughput to assess did we improve the overall 
connection? (Focus on 1-2 regional roads; track the 
relationship between the TAZs) 

 



 

 

9 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

KPIs 
KPI FY24 Actuals Target Direction 

Increase in pedestrian and bicycle trips New FY25 Baseline 

Number of miles of bicycle facilities constructed 4.79 miles Up 

Number of miles of pedestrian facilities constructed New FY25 Baseline 

Number of residents within a 15-minute ride from a school on a low-
stress network New FY25 Baseline 

 
  



 

 

10 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

 

Strategic Goal  
#3 Explore the Truckee River as a 

mobility corridor. 
Success looks like... Exploring opportunities to improve 
the Truckee River as a transportation corridor.   

Why? To support community efforts around the Truckee River. 

Champion: Planning Director     Detailed Plan: Corridor Plan 

OUR APPROACH 
Capitalize on Transportation Opportunities: The RTC will intensify its efforts to redefine the utilization of the Truckee 
River for transportation purposes. This strategic focus includes identifying areas for improvement and specific 
projects aimed at enhancing transportation infrastructure and services along the river. 

Work With All Jurisdictions: The agency's efforts will be inherently cross-jurisdictional, involving close collaboration 
with regional partners and community groups. This cooperative approach is designed to ensure that transportation 
initiatives are comprehensive, well-coordinated, and beneficial across multiple jurisdictions. 

OUTCOMES & FY25 FOCUS 

Outcomes  FY25 Initiatives & KPIs 

Shape the path forward and regional jurisdiction 
approaches the river such as multi-use paths. 

Identify the existing conditions; inventory of what is 
out there today. 

Define RTC’s role. 

 

  



 

 

11 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

 

Strategic Goal  
#4 Proactively manage 

congestion. 
Success looks like... maintaining or improving systemwide 
performance without capacity reduction by maximizing 
the current roadway capacities. 
Why? Maximize our existing resources and manage quality of life as the region grows.  

Champion: Director of Engineering  Detailed Plan: ITS SMP & Corridor Studies 

OUR APPROACH 
Regional Traffic Management: In collaboration with regional partners, the RTC is set to establish a Traffic Management 
Center. This center will centralize proactive and reactive management of arterial operations, enhancing efficiency and 
response times across the network. 

Addressing Key Growth Areas in North Valleys and TRIC: The RTC's strategic focus includes enhancing reliability 
through the development of the Traffic Management Center, conducting corridor studies, and creating new 
connections. These initiatives are designed to support rapid growth areas, improving overall transportation fluidity and 
connectivity. 

OUTCOMES & FY25 Focus 

Outcomes  FY25 Initiatives  

Dynamically manage traffic across the region. 

 

Complete the TMC infrastructure, staffing & funding approvals. 

Complete the RTP. 

Increase transportation options that connect 
to growth areas outside of Washoe County 
Metropolitan Area. 

Reno-Sparks-TRIC Rail Alternatives Modes Study – underway. 

Preparing the BLM Permit Application for TRI Center Northern 
Connection. 



 

 

12 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

KPIs  

KPI FY24 Actuals Proposed Direction 

     Number of green traffic lights per every red traffic light New 
FY25 Baseline  

(3.7) 

     Number of signal timing improvements New FY25 Baseline 

% of signals connected to high-speed fiber 75% Up 

Average trip time (in McCarran) - INRX data 10.73 minutes Maintain 

Average trip time (regional urban area) - INRX data 11.05 minutes Maintain 

Average commute time (Peak Times) New FY25 Baseline 

 
  



 

 

13 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

 

Strategic Goal  
#5 Improve network  

safety. 
Success looks like... Realize a tangible reduction in both 
the severity and frequency of traffic crashes. 
Why? Safety is our number one priority. 

Champion: Directors of Engineering & Planning Detailed Plan: Intersection Safety 
Priority Plan  
& RTP 

                                        

OUR APPROACH  
Strategic Safety Planning: Implementing an agency-specific Comprehensive Safety Action Plan involves advanced data 
collection and analysis to identify and prioritize safety improvements across the regional road network. This method 
focuses on developing a strategic approach to systematically enhance road safety based on empirical data. 

Enhanced Data Utilization and Risk Prediction: Updating the high-injury network and collecting comprehensive 
roadway attribute data are crucial to improving safety. This includes developing a predictive safety tool to estimate 
crash risks and severity across different corridors and intersections, enabling a proactive approach to roadway safety. 

Equity & Vulnerability Focus: Prioritizing vulnerable road users and underserved communities ensures that safety 
interventions address those most at risk. By focusing on reducing fatalities, serious injuries among these groups and 
considering the equity impact of safety plans, this method aims to create a more inclusive, effective road safety 
approach. 

Rapid Implementation & Community Engagement: Utilizing quick-build projects allows for the swift testing and 
evaluation of low-cost, high-impact safety countermeasures. Engaging stakeholders through outreach ensures that 
the safety initiatives align with community needs, fostering a collaborative approach to improving roadway safety. 

  



 

 

14 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

OUTCOMES & FY25 FOCUS 

Outcomes FY25 Initiatives 

Remove roadway segments and intersections off the High-
Injury Network. 

Complete the University-area Implementation Study. 

Develop a more data-driven approach to Road Safety. Utilize federal funding to improve corridor safety on West 
4th Street and Sixth Street. 
 
Initiate a process for data collection related to road safety. 

Sync up with the WC Infrastructure Plan project timing with 
RTC’s Active Transportation Program. North Valleys High School: Analyze along with neighboring 

elementary schools in a neighborhood plan. 

Stead Elementary 

KPIs 

KPI FY24 Actuals Target Direction 

Number of awareness campaigns completed 1 Maintain 

Number of intersections improved on High-Injury Network  New FY25 Baseline 

# of signalized and unsignalized intersections analyzed for safety  New 
FY25 Baseline (40 - 20 
signalized and 20 non-

signalized) 

# of (% of) regional roadways (or segments) analyzed for safety New FY25 Baseline 

 

  



 

 

15 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

 

Strategic Goal  
#6 Sustainable maintenance of 

our roads. 
Success looks like... Finding the optimal balance within the 
region on what we spend on maintenance and investing in 
developing new roads. 
Why? To ensure we are optimizing available funding to maximize the overall health of 
our regional roadway network.  

Champion: Director of Finance          Detailed Plan: Roadway Maintenance Needs Study 

OUR APPROACH 
Lead Regional Coordination: Create a regional approach to road maintenance in partnership with regional partners 
and the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT). This strategy will streamline efforts and resources, ensuring 
more efficient and consistent road maintenance across jurisdictions. 

Long-Term Financial Planning: Align revenue and expenses with the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) and the Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP) to deliver projects when the community needs them most. This alignment ensures that 
financial resources are efficiently utilized to meet long-term transportation infrastructure goals. 

Federal Funding: Identify and secure federal funding for large infrastructure projects, safeguarding limited resources 
through prudent management and the application of Street and Highways Policy. This approach enhances the financial 
stability of transportation projects and ensures adherence to high infrastructure development standards. 

OUTCOMES & FY25 FOCUS 

Outcomes  FY25 Initiatives  

Identify funding gaps related to regional road maintenance 
by jurisdiction and identify possible mechanisms to fill those 
gaps with our regional partners.  

Complete Maintenance Study. 

Support local jurisdiction in the pursuit of federal funding for 
roadway maintenance needs.  

Community-Directed Spending assistance with local 
jurisdiction submission. 

Recommendations for policy options for taxes and fees for 
EVs in Washoe County. 

Complete the third-party study by the Guinn Center 

 

 



 

 

16 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

KPIs  

KPI FY24 Actuals Target Direction 

Miles of road surface replaced New FY25 Baseline 

PCI for Regional Roads 80 80 

Federal funding applied for with local jurisdictions New 
FY25 Baseline  

($6 Million) 

Annual budget adherence within 5% (Capital). 95% Up 

Funding available to deliver scheduled projects coming within 
5% of estimate (Capital). 73.1% Up 

Sq. Ft. of pavement preservation completed 
15M Maintain 

 
  



 

 

17 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

 
Strategic Goal  
#7 Be an engaged organization. 

Success looks like... a proactive approach to our work 
that is responsive to the needs of our staff and community. 
Why? Planning ahead is critical to our effectiveness. We are the builders of our 
community’s transportation future. 

Champion: Executive Director    

OUR APPROACH 
Foster Staff Engagement and Development: Integrate employee feedback into strategic decisions to better align 
everyone with the organizational direction and foster a sense of inclusion and purpose. This integration is 
complemented by continuous professional growth opportunities that enhance staff engagement and support, 
ultimately building a more dedicated and skilled workforce. 

Enhance Communication Dynamics: Strengthen both internal and external communications by establishing clear, 
feedback-inclusive channels within the organization, extending to contract employees and riders. This approach 
ensures that all stakeholders are informed and can contribute to the dialogue, enhancing overall communication 
effectiveness and responsiveness. 

  



 

 

18 

 

FY25-27  
As of Summer 2024

 

STRATEGIC ROADMAP 

OUTCOMES & FY25 FOCUS 

Outcomes FY25 Initiatives  

Foster engaged, developing & supporting staff. 

 

Complete Comp & Class Study. 

Identify P4P adjustment. 

Complete Executive Coaching & training contract. 

Outline staffing needs for TMC. 

Organization-wide celebration of accomplishments. 

Strengthen contractor-employee relationships. Support contractors to enhance employee satisfaction.  

Effective communication – internally & externally. 
 

Develop a calendar of outreach activities throughout the 
year.  
Implement periodic snap surveys.  

Recommend how to best tell RTC’s story publicly. 

 

KPIs 

KPI FY24 Actuals Target Direction 

Number of public engagement interactions (2-way conversations) 24 Maintain 

Social media engagement scores  New FY25 Baseline  

Number of RTC proactive good news stories (e.g. Op-Eds) New FY25 Baseline 

Number of Snap Surveys 3 Maintain 

 



  

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 6.5.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director

  SUBJECT: FY 2025 RTC Goals

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Approve the RTC Goals for Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 (July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2025).

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION

The attached draft goals for the Agency for FY 2025 have been developed based on the updated RTC 
Strategic Roadmap, March 2024 Board Retreat, and FY 2025 budget process. In accordance with RTC's 
Personnel Rules, the Board sets performance goals for the Agency. Each year, the Board is asked to 
approve goals for the agency at or near the beginning of each fiscal year. The attached draft goals are 
aligned with the RTC's Strategic Roadmap and reflect the Board's priorities for the Agency. They are also 
measurable and achievable, and they are aligned with the Agency's resources.

FISCAL IMPACT

Funding for this item is included in the approved FY 2025 budget and there is no additional cost in 
connection with this agenda item.

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION

6/16/2023 Approved the RTC Goals for FY 2024.



Engineering 
1) Begin Design:

a. Pyramid Way/Sparks Boulevard/Highland Ranch Intersection
b. Keystone Avenue Bridge Replacement
c. Moya Boulevard Widening Project
d. Sixth Street for All Project

2) Begin Project Construction:
a. 2025 Pavement Preservation Program
b. Arlington Avenue Bridges
c. Sparks Boulevard Capacity Improvement
d. Mill Street Capacity & Safety

3) Complete Project Construction:
a. 2024 Pavement Preservation Program
b. Raleigh Heights Rehabilitation
c. Steamboat Parkway Improvement/South Meadows Traffic Enhancements
d. N Virginia Street University Rehabilitation
e. S Virginia Street & I580 Exit 29 Capacity & Safety

4) Begin implementation of ITS Master Plan and standup of Traffic Management Center:
a. Implement new centralized Regional Advanced Traffic Management System (ATMS)
b. Update Regional ITS and Signal Asset Management Data
c. Implement a regional traveler information service (511)
d. Initiate Capability Maturity Model (CMM) Assessment

5) Prepare the BLM Permit Application for Lemmon Valley-Spanish Springs Connector and the La Posada
Connection.

6) Complete the University-area Implementation Study.
7) Initiate Orange Book update.

Planning 
8) Initiate:

a. Lake Tahoe Study to determine RTC role
b. TRIC Rail Implementation Plan
c. Truckee River Transportation Network Study
d. Two Neighborhood Plans

9) Complete:
a. Regional Freight Plan
b. Regional Travel Characteristics Study
c. Regional Transportation Plan Update

10) Establish the Active Transportation Plan program, including tracking of performance measures.
11) Develop a Safety Action Plan for the Truckee Meadows, in collaboration with the School District.
12) Define options for formally integrating TRIC into transportation planning.

FY 2025 RTC GOALS 

DRAFT



FY 2025 RTC GOALS 

Public Transportation & Operations 
13) Initiate update to TOPS Plan.
14) Utilize project management application on major capital projects to improve collaboration

with Engineering Department.
15) Complete design of Meadowood Mall Transit Station.
16) Begin design on replacement maintenance facility.
17) Conduct summer free fares for youth pilot.
18) Update 4SS and CP for improved rider experience.
19) Increase outreach efforts to potential riders within the Spanish-speaking and student

populations
20) Support contractors to enhance contractor-employee satisfaction.

Executive 
21) Explore opportunities to improve the Truckee River as a transportation corridor.
22) Complete executive coaching and training contract for Director Team. Initiate executive

coaching for Leadership Team (supervisors).
23) Develop a learning library to enhance the effectiveness of staff reports and research.
24) Complete comp. and class study, including identification of Pay-for-Performance future

plan.
25) Continue culture efforts through periodic snap surveys and telling the story of RTC.
26) Secure Federal Funding for Sun Valley Blvd Phase 2 Construction.
27) Complete analysis of local and regional maintenance needs and potential solutions via

maintenance study.
28) Select FM/HRIS evaluator bid to upgrade internal software systems.
29) Better align anticipated budget expenditures to capital improvement project timelines.
30) Coordinate Community-Directed Spending assistance with local jurisdiction submission.
31) Complete a third-party study regarding fuel tax funding source augmentation for Washoe

County.
32) Strategically adjust goals as needed throughout the year to respond to Board direction in a

prompt manner.DRAFT



  

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 7.1.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Bill Thomas, Executive Director

  SUBJECT: Executive Director Report

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Monthly verbal update/messages from RTC Executive Director Bill Thomas - no action taken.

FISCAL IMPACT

There is no fiscal impact related to this action.

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION

There has been no previous Board action taken.



  

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 7.2.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Paul Nelson, Government Affairs Officer

  SUBJECT: Federal Report Discussion

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Monthly verbal update/messages from Paul Nelson, RTC Government Affairs Officer on federal matters 
related to the RTC - no action will be taken.

FISCAL IMPACT

There is no fiscal impact related to this action.

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION

There has been no previous Board action taken.



  

Meeting Date: 7/19/2024                                                                         Agenda Item: 7.3.

  To: Regional Transportation Commission

  From: Tracy Larkin Thomason, NDOT Director

  SUBJECT: NDOT Report

RECOMMENDED ACTION

Monthly verbal update/messages from NDOT Director Tracy Larkin Thomason or designated NDOT 
Deputy Director - no action will be taken.

FISCAL IMPACT

There is no fiscal impact related to this action.

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION

There has been no previous Board action taken.


	Draft Meeting Minutes for 06/21/2024
	Procurement Activity Report
	Planning Activity Report
	Advisory Committee Activity Report
	Engineering Activity Report
	Public Transportation and Operations Activity Report
	Community and Media Outreach Activity Report
	Sierra Street Bridge Replacement Project CMAR Delivery Method
	2025-2026 University of Nevada Reno (UNR) Pavement/Materials Interlocal Cooperative Agreement
	Administrative Settlement - Jentz Family Trust
	Resolution regarding Intention to Sell Property to City of Reno
	Spare Labs, Inc. Amendment 1 (Order Form #SL-5055)
	Token Transit, Inc., Hardware/Software Upgrade
	2050 Regional Transportation Plan, Amendment No. 3
	83rd Session of the Nevada Legislature Discussion
	Arlington Avenue Bridges Project - Construction Manager-at-Risk (CMAR) Construction Contract
	South Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development Plan
	RTC Strategic Roadmap for FY 2025-2027
	FY25 RTC Goals
	Executive Director Report
	Federal Report Discussion
	NDOT Report



